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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See
the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☒

Non-accelerated filer  ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☒
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standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting
under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.   ☐
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an
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Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).     Yes ☐   No   ☒
The aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant on June 30, 2023, based on the closing price of $9.36 for shares of the Registrant’s Class A Common
Stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange, was approximately $ 231.8 million. Shares of common stock beneficially owned by each executive officer, director, and holders of
more than 10% of our common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive
determination for other purposes.

The registrant had 84,655,539 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding and 251,033,906 shares of Class V Common Stock outstanding as of March 1, 2024.

Documents incorporated by reference:

Portions of the registrant's definitive Proxy Statement for its 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of
December 31, 2023, are incorporated by reference into Part III, Items 10-14 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Where You Can Find More Information

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Annual Report"), "we," "our," "us," "Hagerty," "HGTY," and the "Company" refer to Hagerty, Inc., formerly known as
Aldel Financial Inc. ("Aldel"), and its consolidated subsidiaries including The Hagerty Group, LLC ("The Hagerty Group"), unless the context requires otherwise.
We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").
General information about us can be found at investor.hagerty.com. Our Annual Report, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, as
well as any amendments to those reports, are available free of charge through our website at investor.hagerty.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we
file them with, or furnish them to, the SEC. The SEC also maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements, and other information
regarding SEC registrants, including Hagerty, Inc.

We use our investor relations website, investor.hagerty.com, as a means of disclosing information which may be of interest or material to our investors and for
complying with disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Accordingly, investors should monitor our investor relations website, in addition to following our
press releases, SEC filings, public conference calls, webcasts, and social media channels. Information contained on or accessible through, including any reports
available on, our website or social media channels is not a part of, and is not incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report or any other report or document
we file with the SEC. Any reference to our website in this Form 10-K is intended to be an inactive textual reference only.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report, as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made by us, contain statements that constitute "forward-
looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements contained in this Annual Report other than
statements of historical fact, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, our business
strategy and plans, products, services, and technology offerings, market conditions, growth and trends, expansion plans and opportunities, and our objectives
for future operations. Forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as "anticipate," "believe," "envision," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may,"
"plan," "predict," "project," "target," "potential," "will," "would," "could," "should," "continue," "ongoing," "contemplate," and other similar expressions, although not
all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect
our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These
forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including those described in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" in this
Annual Report. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this Annual Report may not occur and actual
results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in forward-looking statements include, among other things, our ability
to:

• compete effectively within our industry and attract and retain our insurance policyholders and paid HDC subscribers (collectively, "Members");

• maintain key strategic relationships with our insurance distribution and underwriting carrier partners;

• prevent, monitor, and detect fraudulent activity;

• manage risks associated with disruptions, interruptions, outages or other issues with our technology platforms or our use of third-party services;

• accelerate the adoption of our membership products as well as any new insurance programs and products we offer;

• manage the cyclical nature of the insurance business, including through any periods of recession, economic downturn or inflation;

• address unexpected increases in the frequency or severity of claims;

• comply with the numerous laws and regulations applicable to our business, including state, federal and foreign laws relating to insurance and rate
increases, privacy, the internet, and accounting matters;

• manage risks associated with being a controlled company; and

• successfully defend any litigation, government inquiries, and investigations.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking
statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, performance, or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements
will occur. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our
management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the effect of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. The forward-looking statements in this Annual
Report represent our views as of the date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason
after the date of this Annual Report or to conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations.
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PART I

ITEM 1: BUSINESS

Company Overview

We are a market leader in providing insurance for classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. Through our insurance model, we act as a Managing General Agent
("MGA") by underwriting, selling and servicing classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies. Then, due to our consistent track record of delivering strong
underwriting results, we reinsure a large portion of the risks written by our MGA subsidiaries through our wholly owned subsidiary, Hagerty Reinsurance Limited
("Hagerty Re"). In addition, we offer Hagerty Drivers Club ("HDC") memberships, which can be bundled with our insurance policies and give subscribers access
to an array of products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive enthusiast events, our proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency
roadside assistance, and special vehicle-related discounts. Lastly, to complement our insurance and membership offerings, we also offer Hagerty Marketplace
("Marketplace"), where car enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance collector cars. Through these offerings, our goal is to be the world's most trusted and preferred
brand for enthusiasts to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy the special cars that are their passion.

The backbone of our ecosystem is our fast-growing insurance business. People take excellent care of the things they love, and we take great pride in protecting
and preserving their treasured vehicles. For almost 40 years, we have consistently grown our insurance business and currently insure approximately 2.4 million
classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. We have built a strong reputation for providing excellent customer service through our passionate member service center,
resulting in a Net Promoter Score ("NPS") of at least 82 in recent years, an insurance policy retention rate close to 90%, and a typical policy life of approximately
nine years.

HDC and Marketplace, as well as our media and entertainment platforms, work synergistically with our insurance business to drive retention and loyalty and
enable auto enthusiasts to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy their special cars, whether it be on the road, on the track, in the garage, at an event, or through our
media content. We believe the combination of these complementary offerings creates an enthusiast-centered ecosystem of products and services, generating
multiple points of monetization, resulting in an attractive recurring revenue business model with relatively low customer acquisition costs that benefit from
increasing scale.

With a rich heritage spanning over 40 years, the first Hagerty company was founded in 1984. Hagerty, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was formed in 2020 and
became a public company traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") in 2021.

Industry and Market Opportunity

We love cars and we are not alone, as evidenced by the large and growing collector car market. We estimate that there are approximately 46 million insurable
collector cars in the United States ("U.S."), of which approximately 11 million are pre-1981 and 35 million are post-1980 collectibles. On this basis, we estimate
that the U.S. market translates into $18 billion of annual premium for insurable collector cars based on our average vehicle premium of approximately $381 per
year. Over the last decade, we have increased our written premium by a compound annual growth rate ("CAGR") of 13%, powered primarily by strong growth in
the number of our insurance policies in force. While we have become one of the leading providers of insurance for pre-1981 classics, with an estimated market
share of 13.3% in that cohort, we estimate our market share for post-1980 collectibles is only 1.7%, resulting in an overall collector car market share of under
5%. We believe that our strong brand and value proposition focused on our "Guaranteed Value" insurance policies position us well to capture a larger share of
this growing market over the coming decade.
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In order to fully capitalize on this opportunity, we perform a data-driven Member and vehicle analysis to understand vehicle ownership data, demographic data,
vehicle usage, and values. Based upon this analysis, we are able to identify key vehicle markets, explore additional opportunities within these markets, overlay
demographic and usage data to enrich our approach and leverage the information to better serve the auto enthusiast community.

Business Model and Competitive Strengths

The Hagerty brand has been carefully curated over the last four decades by providing Members with excellent customer service through our passionate team of
automotive experts. We have become known as an auto enthusiast brand for car people, by car people. We believe that consumers who feel a part of an
enthusiast community or club are more engaged and have higher renewal rates than those who simply purchase a good or service. With an insurance policy
retention rate of nearly 90% and an average policy life of nine years, we have demonstrated a strong recurring revenue model that benefits from a combination
of high insurance policy retention, new Member growth, and increases in premium rates driven, in part, by increasing valuation.

The enthusiast community created by our insurance, membership and Marketplace offerings is enhanced by our media and entertainment platforms, as well as
our renowned car events, which generate positive ongoing engagement with current Members, as well as interest from prospective members, in our brand,
products and services. Our media content features the work of talented automotive content creators, journalists, and storytellers who bring the automotive world
to life in exciting and unexpected ways across a variety of digital, print, and video media formats. Our media team covers entertainment, news, market
information, and vehicle valuation trends, all of which helps generate an engaged audience that drives retention and brings new Members into our ecosystem.

Our enthusiast-centered ecosystem is built for car lovers, enabling them to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy the special cars that are their passion, thereby
increasing our share of their discretionary spending. We believe that this enthusiast-centered business model, with a focus on community and engagement, is a
significant advantage over competitors who, without strong affinity or engagement, are left to compete mainly on price.
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Insurance

We provide insurance for approximately 2.4 million classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. Our insurance business model positions us to control the pricing and
underwriting of the insurance policies, benefit from steady commission income and engage directly with consumers. We operate an omnichannel distribution
model, including our direct sales channel serviced by our employee agents, our vast network of independent agents and brokers, and our insurance distribution
partners. We believe this system of cooperation and partnership creates a win-win situation that allows us to capture more of the collector car and enthusiast
vehicle insurance market.

Our insurance business generates two types of revenue: (1) commissions and fees earned by our MGA subsidiaries from the underwriting, sale and servicing of
classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies, and (2) insurance premiums earned for the risk assumed by Hagerty Re.

We utilize our data science capabilities to benefit both our MGA activities, as well as our risk-taking activities through Hagerty Re. Some examples of how we
utilize data science include:

• Underwriting and Risk Assessment: Decades of data allow us to accurately assess the risk associated with insuring collector cars through actuarial
analysis, which leads to more efficient underwriting and appropriate pricing.

• Market Analysis: Machine learning algorithms are designed to analyze data on collector car sales and values to identify trends and initiate automated
marketing, sales and servicing workflows.

• Customer Service: AI-powered tools provide instant and accurate responses to Member inquiries, freeing up our member service agents to handle more
complex issues and improve the Member experience.

• Claims Processing: Streamlining the claims process by automating routine tasks and flagging potential fraud.

We are investing substantial resources in research and development to enhance our platform, develop new products and features, and improve the speed,
scalability, and security of our platform infrastructure. Our research and development organization consists of world-class engineering, product, data, and design
teams. These teams work collaboratively to bring our products to life, from conception and validation to implementation.

Managing General Agent

We earn commission revenue from the underwriting, sale, and servicing of classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies on behalf of our insurance
carrier partners. Our insurance products are unique due to our omnichannel distribution approach, meaning we sell our insurance wherever our policyholders
need us. This omnichannel approach allows us to offer our insurance products across three channels: (1) directly to consumers; (2) through independent agents
and brokers; and (3) through strategic distribution partnerships with large traditional auto insurers. Historically, our MGA subsidiaries have earned a base
commission of approximately 32% of written premium, as well as an additional contingent
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underwriting commission ("CUC") of up to 10%. In December 2023, our alliance agreement and associated agency agreement with Markel Group, Inc.
("Markel"), which generated approximately 95% of our total commission revenue in 2023, was amended to increase the base commission rate on our personal
lines U.S. auto business to 37% and to adjust the profit share commission factors to scale annually from -5% to a maximum of +5% of written premium, with
80% of the expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024. Refer to the section titled "Markel Alliance" below. Markel is a related party to the Company.
Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information.

Our insurance offerings are centered around our "Guaranteed Value" insurance policy which differentiates our coverage from the standard auto insurance
market by insuring covered vehicles at their agreed upon value, rather than the depreciated value typically provided by standard auto coverage. We work closely
with our Members to determine the right amount of coverage for their vehicle, utilizing Hagerty Valuation Tools ("HVT"), which has been built over decades of
collecting vehicle sales information. If a vehicle experiences a covered total loss, we pay the full amount of the vehicle's insured value without any depreciation.

In addition, our MGA subsidiaries also handle the claims for our insurance products to ensure our Members receive a high level of service focused on the
unique requirements of repairing vintage and rare vehicles.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, MGA commission and fee revenue represented 37%, 39%, and 44%, respectively, of our total
revenue.

Direct Sales Channel

Our direct sales channel is serviced by our employee agents working across all 50 states and three countries to drive new business flow. Approximately 45% of
our total U.S. auto written premium is generated through direct sales. As discussed above under "Business Model and Competitive Strengths", we have created
an auto enthusiast ecosystem that connects with Members across multiple points of engagement whereas typical insurance companies engage with their
customers only at the point of purchase and upon renewal.

Independent Agent and Broker Channel

Approximately 33% of our total U.S. auto written premium is generated by our relationships with over 49,000 independent agents and brokers, including the
independent agents in our partnership channel, as discussed below. These independent agents and brokers represent all top 10 brokers in the U.S. by revenue.
We are often told by agents and brokers that partnering with us brings value and joy to their enthusiast clients that is unmatched in the industry. Our high-
engagement and experiential approach to the market is often co-branded by independent agents and brokers to deliver auto enthusiasts an experience the
agent or broker could not deliver themselves. As a result, both brands benefit symbiotically through longer-lasting and more intimate customer relationships.

Partnership Channel

We also market our insurance products through our insurance distribution partners, who account for approximately 22% of our U.S. auto total written premium.
This channel consists of partnerships with 9 of the top 10 largest auto insurers, as ranked by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners based upon
2022 direct premiums written, including State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm"). Under these arrangements, we generally make our
specialty insurance products and related services available to the carrier's agents, who then refer or present Hagerty to their customers. Our track record of
expertise and growth creates opportunities for cultivating strong, mutually beneficial partnerships that allow us to continue to meaningfully grow our share of the
collector car market in the U.S.

Most insurance companies offer and compete for multi-line insurance: auto, homeowners, umbrella, watercraft, aircraft, and other exclusive collectibles. Our
focus on collector car products and services reduces competitive threats for partners and raises their confidence in transacting with us. Furthermore, we focus
our investments on developing capabilities that serve the interests of the car enthusiast market. This depth and discipline of focus has enabled us to maintain a
"neutral" and non-threatening partner of choice position with the highest quality automobile insurance companies in the market as we help them reduce the risk
of losing a customer and the total value of the bundled insurance and membership offerings.

Our approach to partnerships enables complementary growth. Our business model is attractive to our partners because we offer a full-service solution for their
customers and their special cars. We handle product development and pricing, sales and service, underwriting, and claims services on behalf of our carrier
partners, and we offer Member benefits tailored to the enthusiast all through our proprietary technology and by our sales and service teams. For partners, our
focus on the collector car space allows them to focus on other parts of their business portfolios. We then align financial interests so both parties benefit from the
relationship, which creates strong and more durable institutional bonds. When our partners win and grow, we do as well. We take great care to build
partnerships with companies who share our intense focus on customer service.
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Strategic Agreements

State Farm Alliance

Hagerty has a 10-year master alliance agreement with State Farm under which State Farm's customers, through State Farm agents, are able to access
Hagerty's features and services. This program began issuing policies in four initial states in September 2023. Under this agreement, State Farm paid Hagerty an
advanced commission of $20.0 million in 2020, which is being recognized as "Commission and fee revenue" over the remaining life of the arrangement.

In conjunction with the master alliance agreement, the Company also entered into a managing general underwriter agreement whereby the State Farm Classic+
policy is offered through State Farm Classic Insurance Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of State Farm. The State Farm Classic+ policy is available to new
and existing State Farm customers through their agents on a state-by-state basis. Hagerty is paid a commission under the managing general underwriter
agreement and ancillary agreements for servicing the State Farm Classic+ policies. Additionally, we have the opportunity to offer HDC membership to State
Farm Classic+ customers which provides Hagerty an additional revenue opportunity.

State Farm is a related party to the Company. Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information.

Markel Alliance

Markel is the ultimate parent company of Essentia Insurance Company ("Essentia"), which serves as the dedicated carrier for the specialty classic and collector
vehicle insurance policies sold by our U.S. MGA subsidiaries. Essentia is exclusive to our U.S. MGA subsidiaries and only writes insurance policies we produce.
Under this arrangement, we are licensed and appointed as Essentia’s MGA and are authorized to develop insurance products, underwrite, bill, and perform
claims services for policies written through Essentia. State laws govern many of the activities under this relationship and our MGA subsidiaries must maintain the
appropriate licensing as a producer and, where required, as an MGA, plus additional requirements in some states for claims adjusting.

Essentia cedes premiums and risk through quota share reinsurance agreements to three of our key insurance distribution partners with the remaining retained
premium being ceded to its affiliate, Evanston Insurance Company ("Evanston"). Evanston, in turn, cedes a portion of the business it reinsures from Essentia to
Hagerty Re. For Evanston to take credit for reinsurance under applicable state law, Hagerty Re maintains funds in trust for the benefit of Evanston.

On December 18, 2023, the Markel Alliance Agreement was amended to, among other things, (i) include a new definition of "Enthusiast Business", and remove
Enthusiast Business from both definitions of "Restricted Business" and "Alliance Business"; (ii) delay the Company's acquisition rights to Essentia until 2026 at
the earliest and 2030 at the latest and; (iii) grant the Company a new waiver to pursue a strategic opportunity with a third party insurance company. In connection
with the amendments to the Markel Alliance Agreement, the Company and Markel also amended the agency agreement referenced in the Markel Alliance
Agreement to increase the base commission rate on our personal lines U.S. auto business to 37% and to adjust the profit share commission factors to scale
annually from -5% to a maximum of +5% of written premium, with 80% of the expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024. The Markel and Hagerty
agreements governing the relationship expire at the end of 2030 and include extension periods.

Markel is a related party to the Company. Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information.

Aviva Canada Alliance

Aviva Canada Inc. ("Aviva") is the parent company of Elite Insurance Company which serves as the carrier for our Canadian MGA subsidiary ("Hagerty
Canada") collector vehicle insurance program. The relationship with Aviva in Canada is exclusive with respect to specialty, enthusiast, classic, and collector
vehicle insurance, with the exception of the Quebec province, where a third-party insurance agency carries the appropriate licenses and authority to submit
business to Elite Insurance Company. Elite Insurance Company and Hagerty Re have a reinsurance quota share agreement. The terms of the Aviva
agreements expire in 2030 and include a 5-year extension. Canadian provincial laws govern many of the activities under this relationship and, in addition to
appropriate carrier licensing requirements, Hagerty Canada must maintain the appropriate licensing.

Hagerty Re

Because we have confidence in the risks underwritten by our MGA subsidiaries, we reinsure a large portion of that risk and share in the underwriting profit
through Hagerty Re, which is registered as a Class 3A reinsurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act of 1978. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021, Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share, or assumed risk, was approximately 80 %, 70 %, and 60 %, respectively. We anticipate that Hagerty Re's U.S. quota
share will remain at 80 % going forward.
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Hagerty Re allows us to efficiently deploy capital and create steady, consistent underwriting results due to our deliberate approach to managing risk and
employing actuarial discipline to the underwriting process, which has resulted in an attractive average loss ratio of 43% over the last three years. This compares
favorably to the overall auto insurance industry average of approximately 69%, excluding loss adjustment expenses.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, Hagerty Re earned premium represented 53%, 51%, and 48%, respectively, of our total revenue.

Membership

We offer HDC memberships to our insurance policyholders as a way to strengthen the bonds of those relationships. As of December 31, 2023, approximately
three-quarters of new insurance policyholders also purchase a subscription to HDC. In addition, we offer HDC memberships as a stand-alone product to
continue to build the broader enthusiast community. Our focus on HDC membership offerings is intended to build a community of car lovers that are loyal to the
Hagerty brand due to the multiple valuable points of engagement we provide.

Typical insurance businesses engage with their customers only a few times a year. Through our diverse Membership offerings, we deploy an ecosystem of
engagement, including both physical (through events and social functions) and digital platforms (through media content, social media engagement, market news
and valuation data) that can result in numerous touchpoints with Members each year. We believe our leading NPS and strong retention rates reflect the
effectiveness of our enthusiast ecosystem.

Marketplace

The market for buying and selling collector cars is substantial, encompassing live and time-based online auctions, as well as private sales. We estimate that
there are approximately 46 million insurable collector cars in the U.S., valued at approximately $1.0 trillion. In 2023, we observed approximately 300,000 buy/sell
collector car transactions representing approximately $14.2 billion in total value trading hands in our U.S. insurance book, or approximately 1.4% of the
estimated U.S. market value. We believe we can differentiate ourselves from other platforms and services by injecting a higher level of trust into this marketplace
by using our existing size, scale, improved processes, and trusted brand status.

Marketplace leverages the power of our ecosystem by providing a platform where enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance collector cars. At the high-end of the
collector car market, where values typically exceed $100,000, our wholly owned subsidiary, Broad Arrow Group, Inc. ("Broad Arrow"), helps collectors and
enthusiasts buy and sell at live auctions and also facilitates private sales. At lower price points, typically below $100,000, Hagerty Marketplace offers time-based
online auctions, as well as classified listings through Hagerty Classifieds, which enables collectors and enthusiasts to buy and sell collector cars through our
digital platform. Lastly, through Broad Arrow Capital LLC ("BAC"), we provide financing solutions to qualified collectors and businesses in the U.S., Canada, the
U.K., and certain European countries by structuring loans secured by their collector cars. Loans underwritten by BAC are typically $250,000 or higher, with a
focus on classic and collector cars that are typically not financed by traditional banks and lenders.

Marketplace utilizes HVT, our valuation tool used by over three million people each year to access current and historic pricing data on more than 48,000
collector vehicle models based on our robust proprietary database.

Business Attributes

Intellectual Property

We believe our intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business. We rely on trademarks, patents, copyrights, trade secrets, license
agreements, intellectual property assignment agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements, and electronic and physical security measures
to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Though we rely in part upon these legal, contractual, and other protections, we believe that factors such as the
skill and ingenuity of our employees and the functionality and frequent enhancements to our platform are large contributors to our success. We intend to pursue
additional intellectual property protection on such enhancements to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost-effective.

As of December 31, 2023, we have two issued patents in the U.S. and one in Canada. The issued patents generally relate to (i) our vehicle information number
decoder, which allows us to determine vehicle configuration details and associated vehicle values and (ii) our method and system for storage and selective
sharing of vehicle data. The issued patents are expected to expire in August 2030, May 2031, and May 2033, respectively. We continually review our
development efforts to assess the existence and the ability to protect new intellectual property.
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We have trademark rights in our name, our logo, and other brand indicia, and have trademark registrations for select markets in the U.S., Canada, U.K.,
European Union ("E.U."), and Australia. We have copyrights for our media and entertainment content and registered copyrights for our vehicle information tools
in the U.S. We also have registered various domain names related to our brand for websites that we use in our business, including Hagerty.com.

Although we believe our intellectual property rights are valuable and strong, intellectual property rights are sometimes subject to invalidation or circumvention.
Refer to the section titled "Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business — Our intellectual property rights are extremely valuable and if they are not properly
protected, our products, services, and brand could be adversely impacted." within Part I, Item IA — Risk Factors, in this Annual Report for additional information.

Seasonality

Due to our significant North American footprint, our revenue streams, and in particular, commission and fee revenue, exhibit seasonality, with a larger
percentage of revenue derived in the second and third quarters, while the first and fourth quarters generate lower revenue and profitability. This seasonality is
due to the fact that more vehicles are driven and purchased during the second and third quarters, and our twelve-month insurance policies renew during those
same quarters. We expect to experience seasonal fluctuations in our quarterly operating results, which may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our
business.

Competition

We believe that our business model of integrated products and services is unique. While there are a number of other specialty insurance companies that offer
collector car insurance, we believe our enthusiast-centered ecosystem, with a focus on community and engagement, is a significant competitive advantage over
competitors who, without strong affinity or engagement, are left to compete primarily based on price. We experience some competition in the larger standard
auto insurance market as the majority of collectible vehicles are currently insured through national carriers. However, in lieu of competing directly with standard
auto insurance carriers, we have formed relationships with many of them to offer their customers our membership subscription model coupled with our specialty
insurance products. These relationships with the largest auto insurance carriers allows us to provide a high-touchpoint experience resulting in more appropriate
levels of cost coverage and higher overall service satisfaction of Members.

Government Regulation

We operate across jurisdictions in North America and Europe and our businesses (in particular, insurance) are subject to comprehensive and detailed regulation
and supervision. Each jurisdiction in which we operate has established supervisory agencies with broad administrative powers for various business practices (for
example, financial services consumer protection and data protection). While we are not aware of any proposed or recently enacted domestic or international
regulation that would have a material impact on our operations, earnings, or competitive position, we cannot predict the effect that future regulatory changes
might have on us.

Investments

As of December 31, 2023, the substantial majority of our portfolio of investable assets was held by Hagerty Re, which holds only cash and cash equivalents and
Canadian Sovereign and Provincial fixed income securities. As we continue to grow and strengthen our track record, Hagerty Re intends to prudently diversify
its portfolio, while maintaining a low tolerance for risk. Hagerty Re manages its investment portfolio in accordance with an investment policy approved by its
Board of Directors, which seeks to generate an attractive total return on an after-tax basis on its investment assets, over the long-term, subject to compliance
with all of the following constraints and objectives: (i) comply with certain portfolio-level and asset-level class constraints; (ii) preserve capital by assuming only a
modest amount of risk of principal loss; (iii) ensure sufficient liquidity to meet obligations; (iv) comply with all legal, regulatory, and contractual requirements; and
(v) employ an efficient portfolio in terms of assumed risk and relative to expected return.

Human Capital

Our performance-based culture is shaped by our people, and their engagement, accountability and alignment with our key objectives as an organization. Our
strategy involves hiring great people, providing challenging and meaningful work, and investing in their professional and personal development, and we believe
this creates a strategic advantage for us. In 2022, we transitioned to a "remote-first" work model, which we believe enables us to attract top talent and provide
employees the flexibility they increasingly seek. Our objectives include effectively identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing, and integrating our existing and
additional employees. As of December 31, 2023, we had 1,732 total employees, 1,726 of which were full-time employees. None of our employees are
represented by a labor union or covered by collective bargaining agreements.
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Compensation

Our compensation programs are designed to attract, retain and motivate talented, deeply qualified and committed individuals who believe in our mission, while
rewarding employees for long-term value creation. We have a pay-for-performance culture in which employee compensation is aligned to company performance,
as well as individual contributions and impacts. The potential for stock-based compensation awards through our equity incentive plan, as well as the opportunity
to participate in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan are designed to align employee compensation to the long-term interests of our stockholders, while
encouraging them to think and act like owners. We strive for a fair, competitive, transparent and equitable approach in recognizing and rewarding our
employees.

Health and Wellness

The health and wellness of our employees and their families is integral to our success. We have a comprehensive benefits program to support the physical,
mental and financial well-being of our employees. We have a self-insured medical plan in which our employees pay up to 29% of the monthly estimated
premiums. In addition to core medical benefits, we offer maternity and paternity benefits, as well as employee assistance programs to support the mental health
of our employees. Additionally, aside from our competitive paid time off program, we offer caregiver time off, which provides employees 40 hours each year of
paid time off for caregiver responsibilities.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

Our diversity, equity, and inclusion objective is to be a company where each employee genuinely belongs, is respected and valued, and can do their best work.
We take this to heart not just within our Company, but also within the broader automotive enthusiast community.

To help achieve our goals, we ensure fair and transparent processes in talent assessment and hiring, performance management and career progression and
retention. We are creating a stronger sense of inclusion and belonging for our employees in general with a lens on representation. Engagement and belonging
are fueled by having a meaningful connection to others and opportunities to grow and develop careers. Across these dimensions, we are building programs,
systems and tools that foster greater belonging.

We intend to continue to invest and further develop our leadership training and support to ensure that all leaders — those promoted, developing or hired — 
understand how to lead, keeping our diversity and inclusion principles top of mind in every aspect of their role.

Business Combination

On December 2, 2021, The Hagerty Group, LLC completed a business combination with Aldel Financial Inc. ("Aldel"), and Aldel Merger Sub LLC ("Merger
Sub"), a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of Aldel (the "Business Combination"). In connection with the closing, (i) Aldel changed
its name from Aldel Financial Inc. to Hagerty, Inc., and (ii) we were organized in what is commonly known as an "Up-C" structure in which substantially all of the
assets and liabilities of Hagerty, Inc. are held by The Hagerty Group.

Refer to Note 8 — Business Combination in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information on the Business Combination.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Described below are certain risks and uncertainties that we believe are applicable to our business and the industry in which we operate, and some of which are
beyond our control. The following factors are not the only risks and uncertainties we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we
currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that affect us. You should carefully read the following risks as well as the cautionary
statements referred to in "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" herein. If any of the risks and uncertainties described below or
elsewhere in this Annual Report actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected, the trading price
of our securities could decline, and you might lose all or part of your investment.

Risk Factors Summary

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties of which you should be aware. Among others, these risks relate to:

• our ability to attract and retain Members and compete effectively within our industry;

• our dependence on a limited number of insurance distribution and underwriting carrier partners;

13



TABLE OF CONTENTS

• our ability to prevent, monitor and detect fraudulent activity;

• our reliance on a limited number of payment processing services;

• our reliance on a highly skilled and diverse management team and workforce and a unique culture;

• our ability to successfully execute and integrate future acquisitions, partnerships and investments;

• issues with our technology platforms and our ability to anticipate or prevent cyberattacks;

• the limited operating history of some or our membership products and the success of any new insurance programs and products we offer;

• our susceptibility to inflation, interest rate, and foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

• our ability to continue to develop, implement, and maintain the confidentiality of our proprietary technology and prevent the misappropriation of our data;

• the cyclical nature of the insurance business and our dependence on our ability to collect vehicle usage and driving data;

• compliance with the numerous laws and regulations applicable to our business, including state, federal and foreign laws relating to insurance and rate
increases, privacy, the internet, accounting matters, tax, and economic sanctions;

• unexpected increases in the frequency or severity of claims, including increases caused by catastrophic events;

• our reinsurers may not pay claims on a timely basis, or at all, which may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations;

• unexpected changes in the interpretation of our coverage or provisions, including loss limitations and exclusions;

• significant fluctuations in the collector car market and asset values may materially impact our ability to obtain and sell consigned property within our
Marketplace business;

• our only material asset is our interest in The Hagerty Group, and, accordingly, we will depend on distributions from The Hagerty Group to pay our taxes,
including payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement ("TRA");

• whether investors or securities analysts view our stock structure unfavorably, particularly our dual-class structure;

• Hagerty Holding Corp. ("HHC") controls us, and its interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future;

• we are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the NYSE listing requirements, as a result, we will qualify for, and intend to rely on, exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements; and

• our common stock, including trading price declines from missed earnings guidance, trading volatility, lack of dividends, and anti-takeover provisions in
our governing documents.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have experienced significant Member growth over the past several years, and our continued business and revenue growth are dependent on our
ability to continuously attract and retain Members and we cannot be sure we will be successful in these efforts, or that Member retention levels will
not materially decline.

If consumers do not perceive our service offerings to be of value, including if we introduce new or adjust existing features, adjust pricing, coverage or service
offerings, or change the mix of offerings in a manner that is not favorably received by consumers, we may not be able to attract and retain Members. We may,
from time to time, adjust the pricing or the pricing model itself, which may not be well received by consumers, and which may result in existing Members
canceling their membership or obtaining services from a competitor and may result in fewer new Members joining our programs. In addition, many of our
Members are referred to us through word-of-mouth from existing Members. If our efforts to satisfy our existing Members are not successful, we may not be able
to attract new Members, and as a result, our ability to maintain and/or grow our business will be adversely affected.

A large percentage of our revenues are derived from sales through direct-to-consumer sales, including through digital channels. If we fail to meet consumer
expectations for the Member experience through digital or other sales channels, our growth may be impacted through the loss of existing Members or inability to
attract new Members.
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A large percentage of our products and services are distributed through a few relationships and the loss of business provided by any one of them
could have an adverse effect on us.

In addition to our direct sales efforts and independent channels, we market our insurance products through several insurance distribution partners. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, approximately 16% of our commission revenues were attributable to four distribution partner marketing relationships. For two of
these distribution partners, we have long-term arrangements, one of which has an expiration date in 2029 and the other in 2030. The other relationships have
shorter durations. Upon expiration or termination of these agreements, these partners may decide not to continue to distribute our products and services or may
be unwilling to do so on terms acceptable to us. If we are not successful in maintaining existing relationships and in continuing to expand our distribution
relationships, or if we encounter regulatory, technological, or other impediments to delivering our services to Members through these relationships, our ability to
retain Members and grow our business could be adversely impacted. In addition, the broker/agent relationships with many of the partners we work with may
change and their own internal strategy about how products are marketed may change, and, where we do not have exclusivity, we face competition by providers
who seek to build or strengthen the relationships without distribution partners, which could cause a loss of focus on or exposure to our products and services,
adversely impacting new sales.

We may not be able to prevent, monitor, or detect fraudulent activity, including transactions with insurance policies or payments of claims as well as
transactions through our Marketplace business.

If we fail to maintain adequate systems and processes to prevent, monitor, and detect fraud, including employee fraud, agent fraud, fraudulent policy
acquisitions, vendor fraud, buyer or seller marketplace sales fraud, fraudulent claims activity, or if an inadvertent error occurs because of human or system error,
our business could be materially adversely impacted. Fraud schemes have become increasingly more sophisticated and are ever evolving into different avenues
of fraudulent activity. While we believe that any past incidents of fraudulent activity have been relatively isolated, we cannot be certain that our systems and
processes will always be adequate as fraudulent activity and schemes continue to evolve. Our employees are required to take anti-fraud training, and we use a
variety of tools to protect against fraud, but the trainings and these tools may not always be successful at preventing fraud.

Instances of fraud may result in increased costs, including possible settlement and litigation expenses, and could have a material adverse effect on our business
and reputation. In addition, failure to monitor and detect fraud and otherwise comply with state Special Investigation Unit requirements can result in regulatory
fines or penalties.

We rely on the expertise of our Chief Executive Officer, senior management team, and other key employees. If we are unable to attract, retain, or
motivate key personnel, our business may be severely impacted.

Our success depends on the ability to attract, retain, and motivate a highly skilled and diverse management team and workforce. Our Chief Executive Officer is
well known and respected in our industry. He is an integral part of our brand and his departure would likely create difficulty with respect to both the perception
and execution of our business. Additionally, the loss of a member of our senior management team, specialized insurance experts or key personnel might
significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our strategic business objectives and could harm our business. We rely on a small number of highly specialized
insurance experts, the loss of any one of whom could have a disproportionate impact on our business. Our compensation arrangements, such as our equity
award programs, may not always be successful in attracting new employees and retaining and motivating our existing employees. Moreover, if and when our
equity awards are substantially vested, employees under such equity arrangements may be more likely to leave, particularly if the underlying shares have seen
a significant appreciation in value.

Our inability to ensure that we have the depth and breadth of management and personnel with the necessary skills and experience could impede our ability to
deliver growth objectives and execute our operational strategy. As we continue to expand and grow, we will need to promote or hire additional staff, and it may
be difficult to attract or retain such individuals in a timely manner and without incurring significant additional costs. If we are not able to integrate new team
members or if they do not perform adequately, our business may be harmed.

Our unique culture has contributed to our success, and if we are not able to maintain this culture in the future, our business could be harmed.

Our culture supports a high level of employee engagement, which translates into a service model that produces a high level of Member satisfaction and
retention. We face a number of challenges that may affect our ability to sustain our culture, including:

• failure to identify, attract, reward, and retain people in leadership positions in our organization who share and further our culture, values, and mission;

• the size and geographic diversity of our workforce and our ability to promote a uniform and consistent culture across all our offices and employees
working remotely;
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• competitive pressures to move in directions that may divert us from our mission, vision, and values;

• the continued challenges of a rapidly evolving industry; and

• the increasing need to develop expertise in new areas of business needed to execute our growth plans and strategy.

If we are not successful in instilling our culture in new employees, or maintaining our culture as we grow, our operations may be disrupted, and our financial
performance may suffer.

Our future growth and profitability may be affected by new entrants into the market or current competitors developing preferred offerings.

Our business is rapidly growing and evolving, and we have many competitors across our different offerings. The markets in which we operate are highly
competitive and we may not continue to compete effectively within our industry. We face competition from large, well-capitalized national and international
companies, including other insurance providers, technology companies, automotive media companies, automotive auction and marketplace providers, other
well-financed companies seeking new opportunities, or new competitors with technological or other innovations. Many of our competitors have substantial
resources, experienced management, strong marketing, underwriting, and pricing capabilities. Because collector auto insurance constitutes a significant portion
of our overall business, we may be more sensitive than other providers of insurance to, and more adversely affected by, trends that could decrease auto
insurance rates or reduce demand for auto insurance over time, such as industry advances in mileage-based or usage-based insurance offerings, changes in
vehicle technology, autonomous or semi-autonomous vehicles, or vehicle sharing arrangements. In addition, there are limited barriers to entry in the automotive
lifestyle business. Accordingly, more established brands with significantly more resources may compete against us in the automotive lifestyle business in the
future. If we are unable to compete effectively, we may not be able to grow our business and our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

As a result of a number of factors, including increasing competition, negative brand or reputational impact, changes in geographic mix or product mix, and the
continued expansion of our business into a variety of new areas, we may not be able to continue to grow our revenues at a high rate or at all. We may also
experience a decline in our revenue growth rate as our revenues increase to higher levels. Our revenue growth may be impacted if there is a deceleration or
decline in demand for our products and services due to changing market dynamics or demographic shifts.

Future acquisitions or investments contain inherent strategic, execution, and compliance risks that could disrupt our business and harm our
financial condition.

We may pursue acquisitions or investments to grow our business in line with our strategic objectives. Any acquisition or investment (whether for service
offerings, technology, or product offerings, or for other external uses) may not achieve the desired return sought. These acquisitions or investments may also
result in unforeseen liabilities or expenses, such as higher than expected costs due to market competition, regulatory approval requirements, delays in
implementation, lost opportunities that could have been pursued with cash being used, litigation or regulatory enforcement post-acquisition or investment,
contingent liabilities, implementation cost, misalignment of culture, loss of technology through theft or trade secrets exchanged, loss of key partners/vendors,
currency exchange rate for foreign investment, timing within overall economic environment, carrying costs, and tax liabilities. Additionally, the risks from future
acquisitions or investments could result in impairment charges against goodwill and intangible assets or increases in the liabilities on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets, as well as missed earnings results.

16



TABLE OF CONTENTS

We may be subject to cyberattacks, and our reliance on third party providers for technology and service mean our operations could be disrupted due
to the lack of resiliency in the operations of other companies, or a breach in their obligations to us, and could impair the operability of our website
and other technology-based operations.

Cyberattacks, denial-of-service attacks, ransomware attacks, business email compromises, computer malware, viruses, social engineering (including phishing)
and other malicious internet-based activity are prevalent in our industry and such attacks continue to increase. We also utilize third-party providers to host,
transmit, or otherwise process electronic data in connection with our business activities. We or our vendors and business partners may experience attacks,
unavailable systems, unauthorized access, or disclosure due to employee or other theft or misuse, denial-of-service attacks, sophisticated attacks by nation-
state and nation-state supported actors, and advanced persistent threat intrusions. Despite our efforts to ensure the security, privacy, integrity, confidentiality,
availability, and authenticity of information technology networks and systems, processing and information, we may not be able to anticipate, or to implement,
preventive and remedial measures effective against all data security and privacy threats. The recovery systems, security protocols, network protection
mechanisms, and other security measures that we have integrated into our systems, networks, and physical facilities, may not be adequate to prevent or detect
service interruption, system failure, data loss or theft, or other material adverse consequences. No security solution, strategy, or measures can address all
possible security threats or block all methods of penetrating a network or otherwise perpetrating a security incident. The risk of unauthorized circumvention of
our security measures, or those of our third-party providers, clients, and partners has been heightened by advances in computer and software capabilities and
the increasing sophistication of hackers who employ complex techniques, including without limitation, the theft or misuse of personal and financial information,
counterfeiting, "phishing" or social engineering incidents, ransomware, extortion, publicly announcing security breaches, account takeover attacks, denial or
degradation of service attacks, malware, fraudulent payment, and identity theft.

In 2021, we experienced an unauthorized access into our online insurance quote feature whereby attackers used personal information already in their
possession to obtain additional consumer data, including driver’s license numbers. While none of our systems or databases were compromised or significantly
disrupted as part of this incident and the costs associated with the incident and our remediation efforts were not material, we could be subject to litigation or
regulatory enforcement actions. In 2023, the Company accrued an estimated liability related to this incident based on the facts known by management and
developed through its assessment of the current status of ongoing dialog with the regulatory investigators. The amount of the estimated liability is not material to
our Consolidated Financial Statements, though any actual fines, penalties, or settlements may differ from our estimates and the amounts accrued.

Any regulatory enforcement actions, or future cyberattacks on our systems, could cause irreparable harm to our reputation and lead our current and prospective
Members away from using our services. Further, we may be required to expend significant financial and operational resources in response to a security breach,
including repairing system damage, increasing security protection costs by deploying additional personnel and protection technologies, and defending against
and resolving legal and regulatory claims, all of which could be costly and divert resources and the attention of our management and key personnel away from
our business operations.

Some of our membership products are newer and have limited operating history, which makes it difficult to forecast operating results. We may not
show profitability from these newer products as quickly as we anticipate or at all.

The success of new product and service introductions depends on a number of factors, including timely and successful development, market acceptance, our
ability to manage the risks associated with new product production ramp-up issues, the availability of application software for new products, the effective
management of purchase commitments and vendor relationships in line with anticipated product demand, the availability of products in appropriate quantities
and at expected costs to meet anticipated demand, and the risk that new products and services may have quality or other defects or deficiencies. Accordingly,
we cannot determine in advance the ultimate effect of new product and service introductions and transitions. If our new products or services are not well
received, or if we are unable to introduce them in a cost-effective manner, we may not be able to realize a profit on those products and services and may, in fact,
recognize losses for some time. This could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to payment processing risks which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We currently rely on a limited number of payment processing services, including the processing of payments from credit cards and debit cards, and our business
would be disrupted if any of the vendors become unwilling or unable to provide these services to us, and we are unable to find a suitable replacement on a
timely basis. If we or our processing vendors fail to maintain adequate systems for the authorization and processing of credit card transactions, it could cause
one or more of the major credit card companies to disallow our continued use of their payment products. In addition, if these systems fail to work properly and,
as a result, we do not charge our customers’ credit cards on a timely basis, or at all, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed.
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The payment methods that we offer also subject us to potential fraud and theft by criminals, who are becoming increasingly more sophisticated, seeking to
obtain unauthorized access to, or exploit weaknesses that may exist in the payment systems. There are potential legal, contractual, and regulatory risks if we
are not able to properly process payments. If we are unable to comply with applicable rules or requirements for the payment methods that we accept, or if
payment-related data is compromised due to an incident or a breach, we may be liable for significant costs incurred by payment card issuing banks and other
third parties, subject to fines and higher transaction fees, subject to potential litigation or enforcement action, or our ability to accept or facilitate certain types of
payments may be impaired.

In addition, our customers could lose confidence in certain payment types, which may result in a shift to other payment types or potential changes to our
payment systems that may result in higher costs. If we fail to adequately control fraudulent credit card transactions, we could face civil liability, diminished public
perception of our security measures, and significantly higher credit card-related costs, each of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Rising inflation and interest rates may affect demand for our products and services.

Global economic conditions, including increases in inflation and interest rates, have resulted in uncertainty in consumer discretionary spending, employment rate
fluctuations and overall volatility in the financial markets. These unfavorable economic conditions have led, and in the future may lead, consumers to reduce their
spending on collectible cars and related services, which in turn could lead to a decrease in the demand for our products and services. Our sensitivity to
economic cycles and any related fluctuation in consumer demand may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

Rising interest rates increase our cost of borrowing and could adversely affect our results of operations.

The Federal Reserve Board significantly increased the federal funds rate in 2023 and while it has indicated that rates are expected to decrease in 2024, there is
no certainty how significant, if any, such rate cuts will be. A sustained elevated interest rate environment will have a corresponding impact to our costs of
borrowing and may have an adverse impact on our ability to raise funds through the offering of our securities or through the issuance of debt due to higher debt
capital costs, diminished credit availability, and less favorable equity markets. Any significant additional federal fund rate increases may have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As we continue to grow operations in different geographic locations, additional risk related to foreign currencies may have an impact on revenue and
our results of operations.

We have foreign operations, and in some instances, collect from customers in foreign currencies. The exchange rates we use to consolidate our foreign entities
may be less favorable to us than the actual exchange rates used to convert the funds into U.S. dollars. These foreign exchange risks could have a material
negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our technology platforms may not function properly, which might subject us to loss of business and revenue, breach of contractual obligations, and
place us out of compliance with state and federal rules and regulations.

We utilize numerous technology platforms throughout our business for various functions, including to gather Member data in order to determine whether or not to
write and how to price our insurance products, to process many of our claims, to issue and service our membership products, and to provide valuation services.
We use proprietary artificial intelligence algorithms in certain circumstances within our underwriting processes for efficiency. Our technology platforms are
expensive and complex. The continuous development, maintenance, and operation of our technology platforms may entail unforeseen difficulties, including
material performance problems or undetected defects or errors. We may encounter technical obstacles, and it is possible that we may discover additional
problems that prevent our technology from operating properly. If our platforms do not function reliably, we may incorrectly select our Members, bill our Members,
price insurance products, or incorrectly pay or deny insurance claims made by our Members. These errors could result in inadequate insurance premiums paid
relative to claims made, resulting in increased financial losses. These errors could also cause Member dissatisfaction with us, which could cause Members to
cancel or fail to renew their insurance policies with us or make it less likely that prospective Members obtain new insurance policies from us. Additionally,
technology platform errors may lead to unintentional bias and discrimination in the underwriting process, which could subject us to legal or regulatory liability and
harm our brand and reputation. Any of these eventualities could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

18



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Our future success depends on the ability to continue to develop and implement technology to transform or replace legacy technology, and to
maintain the security and confidentiality of this technology in compliance with evolving privacy laws.

Our future success depends on our ability to continue to develop, implement, and maintain the security and confidentiality of our proprietary technology in
compliance with evolving privacy laws. Changes to existing laws, their interpretation or implementation, or the introduction of new laws could impede our use of
this technology or require that we disclose our proprietary technology to our competitors, which could negatively impact our competitive position and result in a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on internet and mobile technologies and applications to market our products and services. Any future legal or regulatory requirements
impacting these applications or that restricts our ability to collect or use personal data may impact how we interact with our Members and
prospective Members, and could potentially have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operations.

We rely in part on internet and mobile applications to execute our business strategy. We are subject to domestic and international laws and regulations
governing our activity and transactions both offline and online through the internet and mobile applications, including (i) how personal data can be collected,
used, shared, transferred, stored, or otherwise processed ("Privacy Laws"), (ii) cybersecurity and data security obligations, and (iii) protections relating to our
marketing and advertising activities (together with Privacy Laws, "Internet Laws"). Existing and future Internet Laws may impede our use of the internet to
interact with current and future Members and to effectively market our products and services. In particular, an increasing number of Privacy Laws regulate our
ability to use personal data for targeted or cross-context behavioral advertising, as well as give individuals the ability to opt out of such advertising.

It is possible that (i) the Internet Laws or general business laws and regulations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one
jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules or our practices; (ii) as new Internet Laws and consumer expectations are adopted, our compliance
obligations may increase; (iii) government regulatory authorities may interpret and amend their Internet Laws and may require us to incur substantial costs to
comply, and we may be penalized or precluded from carrying on our current activities; (iv) we may be subject to individual or class action claims by plaintiffs
using both new and pre-existing Internet Laws based on new technologies, some of which are part of our marketing efforts, and; (v) our practices have not
historically complied, do not currently comply, or will not fully comply in the future with all Internet Laws.

Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any Internet Laws could result in: (i) damage to our reputation, including consumer trust, (ii) a loss in
business potentially leading to lower revenue and Member growth; (iii) proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or private litigants including,
for example, the Data Security Incident referenced in Note 24 — Commitments and Contingencies in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report; (iv) significant
additional expense and time in defending regulatory proceedings or legal actions; (v) imposition of monetary liability; (vi) disgorgement of personal data and any
algorithms trained on, or products or services derived from, such personal data; (vii) regulatory proceedings or legal actions distracting management; (viii)
increased cost of doing business; (ix) decreased use of our mobile applications or websites by current and future Members; (x) contractual liability to indemnify
and hold harmless third parties from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with the Internet Laws. In addition, our insurance coverage relating to any
damages or expenses may not be sufficient to compensate for the liabilities we may incur. Any legal or regulatory requirements that restrict how we interact with
our Members and future Members, or our actual or perceived failure to comply with Internet Laws, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to prevent or address the misappropriation of Hagerty-owned data.

From time to time, third parties may misappropriate our data through website scraping, bots, or other means and aggregate this data on their websites with data
from other companies. In addition, copycat websites or mobile apps may misappropriate data and attempt to imitate our brand or the functionality of our website
or our mobile app. If we become aware of such websites or mobile apps, we intend to employ technological or legal measures in an attempt to halt their
operations. However, we may be unable to detect all such websites or mobile apps in a timely manner and, even if we could, technological and legal measures
may be insufficient to halt their operations.

In some cases, particularly in the case of websites operating outside of the U.S., our available remedies may not be adequate to protect us against the effect of
the operation of such websites or mobile apps. Regardless of whether we can successfully enforce our rights against the operators of these websites or mobile
apps, any measures that we may take could require us to expend significant financial or other resources, which could harm our business, financial condition or
results of operations. In addition, to the extent that such activity creates confusion among consumers or advertisers, our brand and business could be harmed.
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Changes in social attitudes may make ownership of collector vehicles less desirable, leading to a decline in demand for our products and services.

Changing consumer preferences and social attitude toward options such as electric vehicles and/or autonomous driving could have a material impact on our
business. The traditional business model of car sales is starting to be complemented by a range of diverse, on-demand mobility solutions, especially in dense
urban environments that proactively discourage private-car use. This shift, along with a significant rise in the annual growth of car sharing members and
autonomous and electric vehicles in the markets we currently conduct business, could have a trickle-down effect to the collector car space and create a drop in
demand for our products and services, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

An inadequate strategy to address and respond to issues of diversity, equity, and inclusion could leave us insufficiently prepared for significant
cultural shifts affecting our marketplace and may create a negative brand image, leading to the alienation of our employees and clients.

Companies must achieve diversity if they want to acquire and retain talent, build employee engagement, and improve business performance. Diversity, equity,
and inclusion have been shown to drive higher innovation, enhanced job performance, less employee turnover, and greater profits. If there is not a focus on
developing a cohesive strategy to create a sense of belonging with clear and impactful diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives, we could potentially put
ourselves in a position where our brand and/or sales are impacted as a result of a failure to create a successful strategy.

Performance of our investment portfolio is subject to a variety of investments risks that may adversely affect our financial results.

Our results of operations depend, in part, on the performance of our investment portfolio. We seek to hold a portfolio of investments in accordance with our
investment policy and routinely reviewed by our Investment Committee.

The significant majority of our investment portfolio is invested in cash and cash equivalents and fixed maturity securities. This portfolio mix may change over time
if we elect to diversify our holdings into other asset classes. In recent years, interest rates have been at or near historic lows, however, throughout 2023, interest
rates have steadily risen. Should the recent rate increases cease or decline, including as a result of steps taken by the federal government to slow inflation, such
as the passage of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, a low interest rate environment would continue to place pressure on our net investment income,
particularly as it relates to these securities and short-term investments, which, in turn, may adversely affect our operating results. Recent and future increases in
interest rates could cause the values of our fixed income securities portfolios to decline, with the magnitude of the decline depending on the duration of
securities included in our portfolio and the amount by which interest rates increase.

Risks for all types of securities are managed through the application of our investment policy, which establishes investment parameters that include, but are not
limited to, maximum percentages of investment in certain types of securities and minimum levels of credit quality. We cannot be certain that our investment
objectives will be achieved, and results may vary substantially over time. In addition, although we seek to employ investment strategies that are not correlated
with our insurance and reinsurance exposures, losses in our investment portfolio may occur at the same time as underwriting losses and, therefore, exacerbate
the adverse effect of the losses on us.

We may require additional capital in the future, which may not be available or may only be available on unfavorable terms. We may also encounter
difficulty in obtaining funds to meet our commitments.

We are exposed to credit risk, or liquidity risk, through our banking partners. If we were to experience operating losses and are not able to generate additional
liquidity through a capital raise or other cash infusion, we may need to secure additional sources of funds, which may or may not be available. Additionally, a
failure to generate additional liquidity could negatively impact our ability to operate our business.
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To the extent that cash flows generated by our operations are insufficient to fund future operating requirements, or that our capital position is adversely impacted
by a decline in the fair value of our investment portfolio, losses from catastrophic events or otherwise, we may need to raise additional funds. We also may be
required to liquidate fixed maturity securities, which may result in realized investment losses. Any further sources of capital, including capacity needed for letters
of credit, if available at all, may be on terms that are unfavorable to us. Our access to additional sources of capital will depend on a variety of factors, such as
market conditions, the general availability of credit, the availability of credit to the industries in which we operate, our financial condition, results of operations,
credit ratings and credit capacity, as well as pending litigation or regulatory investigations. Our ability to borrow under our revolving credit facilities and letter of
credit facilities is contingent on our compliance with the covenants and other requirements under those facilities. Similarly, our access to capital may be impaired
if regulatory authorities or rating agencies take negative actions against us. Additionally, to reduce the risk of a bank failure, we engage only with high-quality
counterparties with high credit ratings. Our inability to obtain adequate capital when needed could have a negative impact on our ability to invest in, or take
advantage of opportunities to expand our businesses, such as possible acquisitions or the creation of new ventures, and inhibit our ability to refinance our
existing indebtedness on terms acceptable to us. Any of these effects could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our day-to-day operations create transactions, events, and conditions that may give rise to the need for accounting estimates to be recognized or
disclosed in the financial statements. There is a risk that these estimates are incorrect, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and/or financial condition for accounting purposes.

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts of our assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses. If these estimates or assumptions are incorrect, it could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and/or financial condition. We
have identified several accounting estimates as being "critical" to the fair presentation of our financial condition and results of operations because they involve
major aspects of our business and require us to make judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain. Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates" within Item
7 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information.

Risks Related to Our Insurance Products and Services

The insurance products that we develop and sell for our underwriting carriers are subject to regulatory approval, and we may incur significant
expenses in connection with the development and filing of new products before revenue is generated from new products.

The insurance products that we develop and sell require regulatory approvals in each respective jurisdiction. This product development and filing cycle can take
time. The product development and filing process can be challenging and expensive. The process can also be delayed, given the unknown timelines in which
insurance departments might take to review and approve filings. Questions and objections from insurance departments can also delay the product launch date.
Moreover, there could be an inability to obtain regulatory approval on a product filing.

The nature of the product development and filing cycles may cause us to experience delays between the time we incur expenses associated with research and
development and the time we generate revenues, if any, from the new products. If we spend a significant amount of resources on research and development,
and our efforts do not lead to the successful introduction or improvement of products that are competitive in the marketplace, this could materially and adversely
affect our business and results of operations.

Additionally, there could be a change in the anticipated Member demand for a product we are developing before the product is released. Member demand could
decrease after the development cycle has begun. A decrease in Member demand for a new or improved product could cause us to fall short of our sales targets,
and we might not be able to avoid the substantial costs associated with the product’s development or improvement. If we are unable to complete product
development and filing cycles successfully, in a timely manner, that meets Member demand for new or improved products, and generate revenues from these
future products, the growth of our business could be harmed.
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As an MGA, we operate in a highly regulated environment for our insurance product distribution and face risks associated with compliance
requirements, some of which cause us to make judgment calls that could have an adverse effect on us.

The insurance industry in which we operate is subject to extensive regulation. We are subject to regulation and supervision both federally and in each applicable
local state or provincial jurisdiction. In general, these regulations are designed to protect Members, policyholders, and insureds and to protect the integrity of the
financial markets, rather than to protect stockholders or creditors. Our ability to conduct business in these jurisdictions depends on our compliance with the rules
and regulations promulgated by federal and state or provincial regulatory bodies and other regulatory authorities. Maintaining compliance with rules and
regulations is often complex and challenging, and it sometimes requires us to make determinations that require judgments regarding uncertain issues that
ultimately may be resolved differently than we have determined, which could have an adverse effect on us.

We may not be able to adapt effectively and timely to any changes in law.

A failure to comply with regulatory requirements, or changes in regulatory requirements or interpretations, can result in actions by regulators, potentially leading
to penalties and enforcement actions, and in extreme cases, revocation of an authority to do business in one or more jurisdictions. This could result in adverse
publicity and potential damage to our brand and reputation in the marketplace. In addition, we could face lawsuits by Members and other parties for alleged
violations of these laws and regulations.

State insurance laws grant supervisory agencies, including state insurance departments, broad administrative authority. Canadian, Bermuda, and U.K. insurance
regulators and, in the U.S., state insurance regulators and the National Association of Insurance Commissioners continually review existing laws and
regulations, some of which affect our business. These supervisory agencies regulate many aspects of the insurance business, including the licensing of
insurance brokers and agents and other insurance intermediaries; the handling of third-party funds held in a fiduciary capacity; and trade practices, such as
marketing, advertising, and compensation arrangements entered into by insurance brokers and agents. Individuals who engage in the solicitation, negotiation, or
sale of insurance, or provide certain other insurance services, generally are required to be licensed individually. Insurance laws and regulations govern whether
licensees may share commissions with unlicensed entities and individuals. We believe that generally any payments we make to third parties are in compliance
with applicable laws. However, should any regulatory agency take a contrary position and prevail, we will be required to change the manner in which we pay fees
to individuals and entities for placing insurance policies through us.

Regulatory review or the issuance of interpretations of existing laws and regulations may result in the enactment of new laws and regulations that could
adversely affect our operations or our ability to conduct business profitably. It is difficult to predict whether, and to what degree, changes resulting from new laws
and regulations will affect the industry or our business.

We do business with a limited number of key underwriting carrier partners in our insurance markets, and we may not be able to find suitable
replacements for our existing carriers.

We work with a limited number of carriers in the U.S., Canada, and the U.K. for our personal lines insurance products, and there is a risk that if one or more of
the carriers becomes impaired or terminates its relationship with us that our profitability may be adversely affected. If a carrier partner relationship terminates or
there is loss of strategic support or alignment, we may be unable to transition to a new relationship without disruption, increased cost, lost profits, or lost market
share, or a combination of the foregoing.

We derive a large portion of our revenue from commissions and quota share reinsurance on the sale of personal lines insurance products in the U.S. primarily
through our exclusive relationship with Essentia, in Canada through our exclusive relationship with Aviva's Canadian subsidiary, Elite Insurance Company, and
in the U.K., through our relationship with Aviva. If these carriers were to experience liquidity problems or other financial (such as rating agency downgrades) or
operational difficulties, we could encounter business disruptions as a result, and our results of operations may suffer.

Our contracts with each of Markel and State Farm, regarding the State Farm Classic+ program, contain provisions that allow those partners to terminate our
agreements with them at any time upon the occurrence of a change of control. One of the events triggering a change of control would occur if the Hagerty family
ceases to own shares representing a majority of our voting power. Accordingly, if we experience a change of control, including as a result of the Hagerty family's
sale of a sufficient number of shares to result in their controlling less than a majority of their voting power, we could lose our agreements with one or both of
these partners, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and financial results.
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A regulatory environment that requires rate increases to be approved and that can dictate underwriting and pricing and mandate participation in loss
sharing arrangements may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Political events and positions can affect the insurance market on occasion, including efforts to reduce rates to a level that may prevent us from being profitable or
may not allow us to reach our goals. If the loss ratio for the insurance programs that we administer is favorable to that of the industry, regulatory authorities could
impose rate restrictions, require payment of premium refunds to policyholders, or could challenge or delay efforts to raise rates. Rate changes may be required
for us to achieve our goals related to profitability and return on equity. If we were to experience challenges in obtaining approvals for rate changes, that could
limit us in reaching our targeted goals and profitability. For example, certain states have enacted laws that require an insurer conducting business in that state to
participate in assigned risk plans, reinsurance facilities, and joint underwriting associations. Certain states also require insurers to offer coverage to all
consumers, often restricting an insurer’s ability to charge the price it might otherwise charge. Laws and regulations of many states also limit an insurer’s ability to
withdraw from one or more lines of insurance there, except pursuant to a plan that is approved by the state insurance department. This limitation can prolong and
provide additional challenges for strategic business plans related to conversions, transfers, and book rolls. Although we are not an insurer, our business,
financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected by any of these factors, as they are applicable to the insurance programs we administer.

The underwriting companies that we work with, and our insurance agencies, are periodically subject to examinations and audits by insurance
regulators, which could result in adverse findings, enforcement actions, require payments of fines or penalties, and necessitate remedial actions.

In the U.S., our insurance agencies operate as an MGA for Essentia and also operate in this capacity for State Farm Classic Insurance Company in order to
service the State Farm Classic+ program. Essentia is currently domiciled in Missouri and has a classic auto insurance program in all 50 United States, plus the
District of Columbia. We operate as the MGA for the Essentia program in all 51 jurisdictions. We also operate a similar auto insurance program in Canada
(underwritten by Elite Insurance Company) and in the U.K. (underwritten by Aviva).

Additionally, under its license as a Class 3A insurer, Hagerty Re must meet and maintain the relevant solvency margin, and liquidity and other ratios applicable
under Bermuda law. Hagerty Re's license limits it to accepting only business produced through our MGA that is underwritten by carriers rated A- or better by
A.M. Best or similar rating agency.

Insurance regulators periodically subject the underwriting companies that we work with to conduct audits and examinations to assess compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, financial condition, and the conduct of regulated activities. These examinations and audits may be conducted during a
jurisdiction’s normal review cycle, or because of a targeted investigation. Our insurance agencies can also be subject to regulatory audits and exams. A formal
examination or audit provides insurance regulators with a significant opportunity to review and scrutinize the underwriting companies we work with, the
insurance programs we administer, and our operations.

As a result of an examination or an audit, an insurance regulator could determine that an underwriting company’s financial condition or capital resources are less
than satisfactory. An insurance regulator could also determine that there are other aspects of either the underwriting company or our operations that are less
than satisfactory, or that either us or the underwriting company that we work with are in violation of applicable laws or regulations. These types of examination or
audit findings could lead an insurance regulator to require either us or the underwriting company that we work with to take one or more remedial actions or
otherwise subject us to regulatory scrutiny, impose fines and penalties, or take further actions.

We cannot predict with precision the likelihood, nature, or extent, including the associated costs, of any necessary remedial actions, or any financial impact that
could result from an examination or audit. Any regulatory or enforcement action or any regulatory order imposing remedial, injunctive, or other corrective action
against us or any of the underwriting companies we work with resulting from these examinations or audits could have a material adverse effect on our business,
reputation, financial condition and results of operations.
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We rely on external data and our digital platform to collect and evaluate information that we utilize in producing, pricing, and underwriting insurance
policies (in accordance with the rates, rules, and forms filed with regulators, where required), managing claims and customer support, and improving
business processes. Any future legal or regulatory requirements that might restrict our ability to collect or utilize this data could potentially have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and prospects.

We use our digital platform to collect data points that we evaluate in pricing and underwriting insurance policies, managing claims and customer support, and
improving business processes. Our business model is dependent on our ability to collect vehicle and personal data. If federal, state, or international regulators
were to determine that the type of data we collect, the process we use for collecting this data, or how we use it, unfairly discriminates against a protected class of
people or otherwise violates applicable data Privacy Laws and regulations, regulators could prohibit or restrict our collection or use of this data. In addition, if
legislation were to restrict our ability to collect personal data, it could impair our capacity to underwrite insurance cost effectively, negatively impacting our
revenue and earnings.

The insurance business, including the market for property and casualty insurance, is historically cyclical in nature, and there may be periods with
excess underwriting capacity and unfavorable premium rates, which could adversely affect our business.

We operate primarily in North America and the seasonality of driving in that region has caused a large portion of our revenue to be generated in the spring and
summer months of each year. This in turn impacts operational cash flows and could produce volatility in our earnings. Fluctuations in our operating results could
be due to a number of other factors, many of which may be outside of our control, including competition, frequency and severity of catastrophic events, levels of
capacity, adverse litigation trends, regulatory constraints, general economic conditions, and agreement on underwriting appetite with our carrier partners, and
other factors. The supply of insurance is related to prevailing prices, the level of insured losses, and the level of capital available to the industry that, in turn, may
fluctuate in response to changes in rates of return on investments being earned in the insurance industry. As a result, the auto insurance business historically
has been a cyclical industry characterized by periods of intense price competition due to excessive underwriting capacity, as well as periods when shortages of
capacity increased premium levels. We operate in a specialty sector of the auto insurance market and need to be mindful of these and other factors which could
impact our operations. Demand for insurance depends on numerous factors, including the frequency and severity of catastrophic events, levels of capacity, the
introduction of new capital providers, and general economic conditions. All of these factors fluctuate and may contribute to price declines generally in the
insurance industry. We cannot predict with certainty whether market conditions affecting the auto insurance market and the insurance market in general will
improve, remain constant, or deteriorate. Negative market conditions may impair our ability to underwrite insurance at rates we consider appropriate and
commensurate relative to the risk assumed. Additionally, negative market conditions could result in a decline in policies sold, an increase in the frequency or
severity of claims and premium defaults, and an uptick in the frequency of fraud, including the falsification of claims. If we cannot underwrite insurance at
appropriate rates, our ability to transact business will be materially and adversely affected. Any of these factors could lead to an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The reinsurance that Hagerty Re purchases to protect against catastrophic and large losses may be unavailable at current coverage terms, limits, or
pricing.

The business that Hagerty Re reinsures is exposed to catastrophic events that are inherently unpredictable and may cause capacity in the reinsurance market to
become scarcer leading to rate increases or changes in coverage terms, or a combination of both. This in turn may cause Hagerty Re to retain more risk, be
unable to accept risk and grow, or require greater capital investment that may not be available, in each case resulting in lower profits, as well as a material effect
on our financial condition and results of operations.

Unexpected increases in the frequency or severity of claims may adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

We may experience increases in claim frequency on occasion. Short-term trends with an increase in claim frequency may not continue over the longer term. Any
changes in claim frequency might be derived from changes in miles driven, driving behaviors, macroeconomics, weather-related events, or other factors. A
significant increase in claim frequency could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We could also experience increases in the severity of claims. Changes in bodily injury claim severity can be impacted by inflation in medical costs, litigation
trends and precedents, regulation, and the overall safety of automobile travel. Changes in auto property damage claim severity can be driven by inflation in the
cost to repair vehicles, including parts and labor rates, the mix of vehicles that are declared total losses, the availability of parts to repair vehicles, and an
increase in value for collector vehicles. Unanticipated increases in claim severity can arise from events that are inherently difficult to predict. Although we pursue
various loss management initiatives to mitigate future increases in claim severity, these initiatives may not successfully identify or reduce the effect of future
increases in claim severity. A significant increase in claim severity could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Severe weather events, catastrophes, and unnatural events are unpredictable, and we may experience losses or disruptions from these events.

Our business may be exposed to catastrophic events such as tornadoes, tsunamis, tropical storms (including hurricanes), earthquakes, windstorms, hailstorms,
severe thunderstorms, wildfires and other fires, as well as non-natural events such as explosions, riots, pandemics, terrorism, or war, which could cause
operating results to vary significantly from one period to the next. We may incur catastrophe losses in our business in excess of: (i) those experienced in prior
years, (ii) the average expected level used in pricing, (iii) current reinsurance coverage limits, or (iv) loss estimates from external tornado, hail, hurricane, and
earthquake models at various levels of probability. In addition, we are subject to Member insurance claims arising from weather events such as winter storms,
rain, hail, and high winds.

There is generally an increase in the frequency and severity of Member insurance claims when severe weather conditions occur. The incidence and severity of
severe weather conditions and catastrophes are inherently unpredictable and the occurrence of one catastrophe does not render the possibility of another
catastrophe greater or lower. The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the event
and the severity of the event. In particular, severe weather and other catastrophes could significantly increase our costs due to a surge in claims following such
events and/or legal and regulatory changes in response to catastrophes that may impair our ability to limit our liability under our policies. Severe weather
conditions and catastrophes can cause greater losses, which can cause our liquidity and financial condition to deteriorate.

Climate change may affect the occurrence of certain natural events, such as an increase in the frequency or severity of wind and thunderstorm events, eruptions
of volcanoes, and tornado or hailstorm events due to increased convection in the atmosphere; more frequent wildfires and subsequent landslides in certain
geographies; higher incidence of deluge flooding and the potential for an increase in severity of the hurricane events due to higher sea surface temperatures.
Additionally, climate change may cause an impact on the demand, price and availability of insurance, as well as the value of our investment portfolio. Due to
significant variability associated with future changing climate conditions, we are unable to predict the impact climate change will have on our business.

If the risks within the insurance programs that we offer on behalf of our underwriting carriers are not priced and underwritten accurately with
competitive, yet profitable, rates, our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

As an MGA, we operate under delegated underwriting authority in the U.S. In general, the premiums for the insurance policies in our program are established at
the time a policy is issued and, therefore, before all of the underlying costs are known. The accuracy of the pricing is subject to our ability to adequately assess
risks, estimate losses, and comply with insurance laws and regulations. Like others in the industry, we rely on estimates and assumptions in setting the premium
rates. We also utilize the data that we gather through our interactions with Members.

Establishing adequate premium rates is necessary, together with investment income, if any, to generate sufficient revenue to offset losses, loss adjustment
expenses, and other costs. If we do not accurately assess the risks that are underwritten, adequate premiums may not be charged to cover losses and
expenses, which would adversely affect our results of operations and our profitability. Moreover, if we determine that the prices are too low, insurance
regulations may prevent non-renewing insurance contracts, non-renewing Members, or raising prices. Alternatively, we could set the premiums too high, which
could reduce our competitiveness and lead to lower revenues, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Pricing involves the acquisition and analysis of historical loss data and the projection of future trends, loss costs, expenses, and inflation trends, among other
factors, for each of the products in multiple risk levels and many different markets. In order to accurately price the policies, we must, among other factors:

• collect and properly and accurately analyze a substantial volume of data from our Members;

• develop, test, and apply appropriate actuarial projections and rating formulas;

• review and evaluate competitive product offerings and pricing dynamics;

• closely monitor and timely recognize changes in trends;

• project both frequency and severity of our Members’ losses with reasonable accuracy; and

• in many jurisdictions, obtain regulatory approval for the resulting rates.
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We may not have success in implementing a pricing methodology accurately in accordance with our assumptions. Our ability to accurately price policies is
subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to:

• insufficient, inaccurate, or unreliable data;

• incorrect or incomplete analysis of available data;

• uncertainties generally inherent in estimates and assumptions;

• our inability to implement appropriate actuarial projections and rating formulas or other pricing methodologies;

• incorrect or incomplete analysis of the competitive environment;

• regulatory constraints on rate increases or coverage limitations;

• our inability to accurately estimate investment yields and the duration of our liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses; and

• unanticipated litigation, court decisions, and legislative or regulatory actions or changes to the existing regulatory landscape.

To address the potential errors or desired or required changes in our current business model, we may be compelled to increase the amount allocated to cover
policy claims, or to address other economic factors resulting in an increase in future premium rates, or to additionally or alternatively adopt different underwriting
standards. Any of these changes may result in a decline in new business and renewals and, as a result, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Reinsurance subjects Hagerty Re to counterparty risk where reinsurers fail to pay or timely pay claims due to insolvency or otherwise fail to honor
their obligations.

Hagerty Re is legally obligated to pay claims under the reinsurance agreements where Hagerty Re has assumed risk, regardless of whether Hagerty Re is able
to secure its own reinsurance for ceded reinsurance coverages. If one or more of Hagerty Re's reinsurance providers become insolvent or default in payment
when reimbursement is sought by Hagerty Re, this may have a material effect on Hagerty Re's financial condition and results of operations as well as its ability
to accept risk. Such an event may cause Hagerty Re to require capital investments that may not be available.

Unexpected changes in the interpretation of coverage or provisions, including loss limitations and exclusions, in the insurance policies we sell and
service could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.

We have specifically negotiated loss limitations and exclusions in the policies we sell and service, and these limitations and exclusions may not be enforceable
in the manner we intend. As industry practices and legal, judicial, social, and other conditions change, unexpected and unintended issues related to claims and
coverage may emerge. While these limitations and exclusions help us assess and mitigate our loss exposure, it is possible that a court or regulatory authority
could nullify or void a limitation or exclusion, or legislation could be enacted modifying or barring the use of such limitations or exclusions. These types of
governmental actions could result in higher than anticipated losses and loss adjustment expenses, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations. In addition, court decisions have eliminated long standing coverage limitations by a narrow reading of policy exclusions. Under
the insurance laws, the insurer typically has the burden of proving an exclusion applies and any ambiguities in the terms of a loss limitation or exclusion
provision are typically construed against the insurer. These types of cases and the issues they raise may adversely affect our business by either broadening
coverage beyond our underwriting intent or by increasing the frequency or severity of claims. In some instances, these changes may not become apparent until
sometime after we have issued insurance contracts that are affected by the changes. As a result, the full extent of liability under the insurance contract may not
be known for many years after a contract is issued. There could also be additional exposure with claims for other household vehicles that are not covered under
an insurance policy issued by us, such as for someone’s regular use vehicle. It is possible that our underwriting companies that we write business through may
share in liability with these types of claims in certain instances.
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Hagerty Re's actual ultimate loss liability could potentially be greater than our loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Significant periods of time often elapse between the occurrence of an insured or reinsured loss, the reporting of the loss to us, and our payment of that loss. To
recognize liabilities for unpaid losses, we establish reserves as balance sheet liabilities representing estimates of amounts needed to pay reported and
unreported losses and the related loss adjustment expenses. The process of estimating loss reserves is a difficult and complex exercise involving many
variables and subjective judgments. As part of the reserving process, we review historical data and consider the impact of such factors as:

• trends in claim frequency and severity;

• changes in operations;

• emerging economic and social trends;

• trends in insurance rates;

• changing mix of insured risks;

• inflation or deflation; and

• changes in the regulatory and litigation environments.

This process assumes that past experience, adjusted for the effects of current developments and anticipated trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting future
events. There is no precise method, however, for evaluating the impact of any specific factor on the adequacy of reserves, and actual results will differ from
original estimates. As part of the reserving process, we regularly review our loss reserves and make adjustments as necessary. Future increases in loss
reserves for our underwriting operations will, and for our program’s services operations may, result in additional charges to earnings, which may be material. Our
estimates could prove to be inadequate, and this underestimation could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Hagerty Re is required to maintain its reserves and financial condition in accordance with Bermuda law and the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement
("BSCR") administered by the Bermuda Monetary Authority ("BMA"). Inadequate current reserves may adversely affect earnings in future periods, as well as the
ability to continue to accept risk, and Hagerty Re's ability to maintain its financial condition and meet solvency requirements necessary to maintain its license in
Bermuda. Under Bermuda law, Hagerty Re is prohibited from declaring or making payment of a dividend if it fails to meet its minimum solvency margin or
minimum liquidity ratio. Prior approval from the BMA is also required if Hagerty Re's proposed dividend payments would exceed 25% of its prior year-end total
statutory capital and surplus.

Our expansion into different insurance products and jurisdictions may subject us to additional costs and expenses, and our plans might not be as
profitable as projected.

We believe that the growth of our business and revenue depends in part upon our ability to: (i) retain our existing Members and add new Members in our current,
as well as new, geographic markets; (ii) add new insurance programs and products; and (iii) add to and continue to grow our offering of non-insurance
automotive enthusiast-related products.

Expanding into new geographic markets and introducing new products takes time, requires us to navigate and comply with extensive regulations, and may
happen more slowly than we expect or than it has occurred in the past. If we were to lose Members, our value might diminish. A future loss of Members could
lead to higher loss ratios, loss ratios that cease to decline, or declining revenue — any of which would adversely impact our profitability. If we are unable to
remain competitive on Member experience, pricing, or insurance coverage options, our ability to grow and retain our business may also be adversely affected. In
addition, we might not be able to accurately predict risk segmentation of new and renewal Members or potential Members, which could also reduce our
profitability.

While a key part of our business strategy is to retain and add Members in our existing markets, we may also seek to expand our operations into new markets
and new products. In doing so, we may incur losses or otherwise not be successful in entering new markets or introducing new products. Our expansion into
new markets and new products may place us in unfamiliar competitive environments and involve various risks, including competition, government regulation, the
need to invest significant resources, and the possibility that returns on such investments might not be achieved for several years, or at all.
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We may not be successful in these efforts, and even if we are successful, these efforts may increase or create the following risks, among others:

• we might not be able to effectively use search engines, social media platforms, content-based online advertising, and other online sources for generating
traffic to our website;

• potential Members in a particular marketplace could generally not meet the underwriting guidelines;

• demand for new products or expansion into new markets may not meet our expectations;

• new products and expansion into new markets may increase or change our risk exposures, and the data and models we use to manage those exposures
may not be as effective as those we use in existing markets or with existing products;

• models underlying automated underwriting and pricing decisions may not be effective;

• efforts to develop new products or expand into new markets or to change commission terms may create or increase distribution channel conflicts;

• in connection with the conversion of existing policyholders to a new product, some policyholders’ pricing may increase while the pricing for other
policyholders may decrease, the net impact of which could negatively impact retention and profit margins;

• changes to our business processes or workflow, including the use of new technologies, may give rise to execution risk;

• our products might not be competitive in terms of Member experience, pricing, or insurance coverage options;

• there could be barriers in obtaining the governmental and regulatory approvals, licenses, or other authorizations necessary for expansion into new markets
or in relation to our products (such as line, form, underwriting, and rating approvals), or such approvals could contain conditions that impose restrictions on
our operations (such as limitations on growth);

• our digital platform might experience disruptions;

• we could suffer reputational harm to our brand resulting from negative publicity, whether accurate or inaccurate;

• we may not be able to offer new and competitive products, to provide effective updates to our existing products, or to keep pace with technological
improvements in our industry;

• we might not be able to maintain traditional retail agent relationships;

• Members may have difficulty installing, updating, or otherwise accessing our website on mobile devices or web browsers as a result of actions by us or
third parties;

• Members may be unable or unwilling to adopt or embrace new technology;

• technical or other problems may frustrate the Member experience, particularly if those problems prevent us from generating quotes or paying claims in a
fast and reliable manner;

• we might not be able to address Member concerns regarding the content, data privacy, and security generally or for our digital platform specifically;

• we may not identify or enter joint ventures with strategic partners or we may enter into joint ventures that do not produce the desired results; or

• there may be challenges in, and with the cost of, complying with various laws and regulatory standards, including with respect to the insurance business
and insurance distribution, capital and outsourcing requirements, data privacy, tax, and regulatory restrictions.

These efforts may require additional investments by us, some of which could be significant. These costs may also include hiring additional personnel, as well as
engaging third-party service providers, and other research and development costs. If we grow our geographic footprint or product offering at a slower rate than
expected, or if we are unable to overcome the challenges listed above, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected.
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Our reliance on technology and intellectual property from third parties for pricing and underwriting insurance policies, handling claims, and
maximizing automation, could cause an adverse impact on our business and operations if these third parties become unavailable or provide us with
inaccurate information.

We use data, technology, and intellectual property licensed from unaffiliated third parties in certain components of our products, including insurance industry
proprietary information that we license, and we may license additional third-party technology and intellectual property in the future. Any errors or defects in this
third-party technology and intellectual property could result in errors that could harm our brand and business. In addition, licensed technology and intellectual
property may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Also, should a company refuse to license its proprietary information to us
on the same terms that it offers to our competitors, we could be placed at a significant competitive disadvantage. If any technology and intellectual property we
license from others becomes unavailable, we may not be able to find replacement technologies at a reasonable cost or at all, which could materially harm our
business and results of operations.

Denial of claims or the failure to accurately and timely pay claims on behalf of our underwriting carriers could have an adverse impact on our own
business, financial condition and prospects.

We must accurately and timely evaluate and pay claims that are made under the insurance policies in our program. There are many factors that could affect our
ability to pay claims accurately and timely, including the efficiency of our claims processing, the training and experience of our claim’s adjusters, and our ability
to develop or select and implement appropriate procedures and systems to support our claims functions.

The risks included in our insurance programs are typically those of an antique, classic, or collectible vehicle nature. Adjusting claims on these types of risks
often requires specialized knowledge of collector vehicles, so our claims staff is trained to have collectible vehicle expertise to provide an efficient, yet
comprehensive, claims experience. The manner in how we handle claims is a differentiating factor for our business, and an inability to be able to continue to
offer a timely and comprehensive claims experience could undermine our brand and position in the insurance marketplace. Additionally, any failure to pay claims
accurately or timely could also lead to regulatory and administrative actions or material litigation, loss or reduction in reinsurance recoverable, or result in
damage to our reputation, any one of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
If our claims adjusters are unable to effectively process our volume of claims in the manner that our Members expect, our ability to grow our business while
maintaining high levels of Member satisfaction could be compromised, which in turn, could adversely affect our reputation, financial condition and results of
operations.

A downward change in Essentia’s financial strength rating may adversely affect our ability to conduct business as currently conducted.

Essentia’s ability to underwrite business is dependent upon its financial strength rating as evaluated by independent rating agencies. In the event that Essentia is
downgraded (or if Evanston is downgraded), we believe our ability to write business through Essentia would be adversely affected. In the normal course of
business, we evaluate Essentia’s capital needs to support the amount of business it writes in order to maintain its financial strength ratings.

Hagerty Re is subject to regulatory requirements to maintain its license in Bermuda as a Class 3A insurer.

Hagerty Re is registered as a Class 3A insurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act. The BMA issues regulations and other guidance prescribing requirements that
Bermuda-licensed insurance companies, like Hagerty Re, are required to comply with. For example, the BMA requires Bermuda-licensed insurers to maintain a
minimum level of capital and surplus, comply with restrictions on dividends, make financial statement filings, prepare a financial condition report, maintain a
head office in Bermuda from which insurance business is directed and managed and allow for the performance of certain periodic examinations of financial
condition. These statutes and regulations may restrict Hagerty Re's ability to write reinsurance contracts, distribute funds and pursue its investment strategy.

Under its license as a Class 3A insurer, Hagerty Re must meet and maintain the relevant solvency margin, and liquidity and other ratios applicable under
Bermuda law. For example, Hagerty Re's license limits it to reinsuring business that is underwritten by carriers rated A- or better by A.M. Best or similar rating
agencies. Additional operational requirements for Hagerty Re in Bermuda include:

• maintaining a principal office in Bermuda and having a certain number of Bermuda-domiciled managers involved in overseeing operations;

• obtaining prior approval for changes in ownership/transfers of shares;

• having restrictions on dividends;

• complying with Bermuda know-your-customer and anti-bribery type laws;
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• having audited financial statements and being subject to BMA examination; and

• carrying out operations in accordance with its filed and approved business plan.

Failure to operate properly in accordance with Bermuda law could cause Hagerty Re's license to be restricted or revoked, result in possible supervisory control
of Hagerty Re and its assets and termination of reinsurance agreements with its ceding insurers. Additionally, Bermuda insurance statutes, regulations and the
policies of the BMA are less restrictive than U.S. insurance statutes and regulations. Insurance supervisors in the U.S. may review Hagerty Re's activities and
determine that Hagerty Re is subject to a U.S. jurisdiction’s licensing requirements or determine that our U.S.-domiciled underwriting partners cannot transact
business with us. Any such determination would have an adverse impact on Hagerty Re's operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Hagerty Marketplace

If we are unable to realize the anticipated synergies and cost savings from the Broad Arrow acquisition and integration, or if we are unable to retain
the key employees, the business, financial condition and results of operations of our Marketplace business could be materially and adversely
affected.

In 2022, Hagerty purchased Broad Arrow and its consolidated subsidiaries in an all-stock transaction. Broad Arrow offers services for buying, selling and
financing collector cars, primarily through auctions and facilitating private sales, and enables the Company to further leverage respective product offerings under
Marketplace.

It is possible that the synergies and cost savings anticipated by the acquisition and integration of Broad Arrow into Hagerty could take longer than anticipated
and could result in the loss of valuable employees, Member and supplier relationships, the disruption of each party’s ongoing businesses, processes, and
systems, or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures, practices, policies, and compensation arrangements, any of which could adversely affect our
ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Broad Arrow acquisition.

Broad Arrow is largely a service business in which the ability of its employees to develop and maintain relationships with potential sellers and buyers of collector
cars is essential to its success. Broad Arrow's business, financial condition, and results of operations are highly dependent on a small number of team members
who generate substantially all of Broad Arrow's revenues. Therefore, our ability to attract, motivate, and/or retain those key employees is critical, and the loss of
any key revenue generator could have a disproportionate impact on our Marketplace business. Our compensation arrangements, such as our sales incentive
plan and equity award programs, may not always be successful in attracting new employees and motivating and retaining key employees.

Competition in the global collector car sales market and the variability of the value, demand and availability of quality collector cars for sale may
adversely impact the business, results of operations, and financial condition of our Marketplace business.

We compete with other collector car auction houses, dealers, brokers and classifieds platforms to obtain valuable consignments to offer for sale either at auction
or through private sale. The level of competition is intense and can adversely impact our ability to obtain valuable consignments for sale, as well as the
commission margins achieved on such consignments.

The values and availability of quality collector cars for sale is influenced by a number of factors not within our control. The supply and demand for collector cars,
and therefore the values of collector cars, are influenced not only by overall economic conditions, but also by changing trends in the collector car market as to
which vehicles and provenance are most sought after and by the collecting preferences of individual collectors. Marketplace businesses generate revenues
through fees and commissions generally based on a percentage of the final sale price, which can fluctuate based on the market dynamics. Further, the fees and
commissions we charge may be lowered based on both the level of compensation and the market dynamics between supply and demand for collector cars.
These conditions and trends are difficult to predict and may adversely impact our ability to obtain and sell consigned property and our ability to maintain our fee
structure, which may cause significant variability in our results of operations from period to period.

Many major consignments, and specifically large single-owner collection sale consignments, are often driven by personal circumstances of the owner, including
but not limited to death, divorce, and/or other financial circumstances, all of which are unpredictable and may cause significant variability in our results of
operations from period to period.
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We could be exposed to losses in the event of title, authenticity or other claims related to damage or theft.

The assessment of collector cars offered for auction or private sale can involve potential claims regarding title, authenticity of chassis and vehicle identification
numbers, provenance, and condition. The vehicles we sell may be subject to statutory warranties as to title or other limited warranties that cannot be disclaimed
under our General Conditions of Sale that are published online or in our auction sale catalogs and the terms stated in, and the laws applicable to, agreements
governing private sale transactions. Our assessment of the vehicles we offer is based on scholarship and research, but necessarily requires a degree of
judgment from our car specialists and researchers. In the event of a title, authenticity or other claim against us, we may have recourse against the consignor or
seller of the property and may have the benefit of insurance, but a claim could nevertheless expose us to losses and to reputational risk.

Valuable collector cars are exhibited and stored at events and facilities around the world. Although we maintain security measures at our premises and
insurance, valuable property may be subject to damage or theft. The damage or theft of valuable property despite these security measures and insurance could
have a material adverse impact on our business and reputation.

If we are unable to maintain or obtain our dealer licenses, auctioneer licenses, and/or other applicable permits and licenses as required in certain
jurisdictions in which we operate, or plan to operate, such licensing issues may adversely impact the business results of operation, and financial
condition of our Marketplace business.

Several businesses underneath our Marketplace business operate under a dealer license, auctioneer license, and/or other permits and licenses in certain
jurisdictions in which we operate as a dealer, auction house, lender, or intermediary to facilitate the auction, sale, purchase, or financing of collector cars. Our
inability to maintain the necessary licenses or permits as required in those jurisdictions may adversely impact the business, results of operations, and financial
condition of our Marketplace business. Also, our inability to obtain the necessary licenses or permits as required in new jurisdictions in which we plan to operate
may adversely impact the growth of the business, results of operations, and financial condition.

The limited operating history of BAC may not represent BAC’s future operating results, as minimal loan losses on the BAC loan portfolio to date may
not be indicative of future loan loss experience and our ability to realize proceeds from the sale of collateral for BAC loans may be delayed or limited.

BAC, our wholly owned collector car financing business, has a limited operating history and has incurred minimal losses on its loan portfolio. Accordingly, despite
our conservative loan underwriting standards, our current loan loss experience may not be indicative of the future performance of the loan portfolio. In situations
when there are competing claims on the collateral or mispricing of the collateral value for BAC loans and/or when a borrower and/or the collateral becomes
subject to a dispute, including but not limited to bankruptcy, litigation or insolvency laws, our ability to realize proceeds from the sale of collateral may be limited
and/or delayed.

Changes to tax laws may affect the volume of collector vehicle inventory available for our Marketplace business, and increase our compliance risks.

Our collectors reside in various tax jurisdictions. Changes to tax laws or tax reporting obligations in any of these jurisdictions could adversely impact the ability
and/or willingness of our collectors to sell or purchase collector cars. Additionally, we are subject to laws and regulations involving sales, use, and other indirect
taxes which are assessed by various governmental authorities and imposed on certain transactions between us and our collectors. Changes to the laws and
regulations involving such sales, use, and other indirect taxes could increase the complexity of our compliance obligations. Generally, we are not responsible for
these indirect tax liabilities unless we fail to collect the appropriate amount of sales, use, or other indirect taxes or applicable tax exemption documentation.
Failure to collect the correct amount of indirect tax or applicable tax exemption documentation on a transaction may expose us to claims from tax authorities.
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Legal, Regulatory and Political Risks

The legal and regulatory requirements applicable to our business are extensive. If we are not able to comply, it could have an adverse effect on us.
Extensive regulation and potential further restrictive regulation could increase our operating costs and limit our growth.

We are subject to extensive laws, regulations, and supervision in the jurisdictions in which we transact business. These laws are complex and subject to change.
Changes can sometimes lead to additional expenses, increased legal exposure, increased required capital and surplus, delays in implementing desired rate
increases or business operations, and additional limits on our ability to grow or achieve targeted goals and profitability. Our business is highly dependent on the
ability to engage on a daily basis in financial and operational activities, many of which are highly complex, including, but not limited to, insurance underwriting,
claim processing, and providing products and services to businesses and consumers in a hospitable and efficient manner. These activities are subject to internal
guidelines and policies, as well as legal and regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to, those related to:

• data privacy and security;

• anti-corruption and anti-bribery;

• domestic and international economic sanctions;

• restrictions on advertising and marketing;

• restrictions on rebating and inducements related to insurance transactions;

• restrictions on sharing insurance commissions and payments of referral fees;

• restrictions related to underwriting and pricing of insurance;

• approval of policy forms and premiums;

• restrictions on the adjustment and settlement of insurance claims;

• restrictions on the sale, solicitation, and negotiation of insurance;

• rules regarding licensing, affiliations, and appointments;

• state-mandated premium rebates, refunds, or reductions as a result of potentially lower risk exposure due to emergency orders;

• regulation of registered securities, corporate governance and risk management; and

• periodic examinations of operations, finances, market conduct and claims practices.

While we believe that we have adopted adequate and effective risk management and compliance programs, compliance risks remain, especially as we become
subject to additional rules and regulations. The requirement to oversee and monitor the increasing speed and volume of regulatory changes could hinder our
ability to appropriately review, analyze, and implement processes to ensure compliance in a timely manner. Failure to comply with, or to obtain, appropriate
authorizations or exemptions under any applicable laws and regulations could result in restrictions on our ability to do business or undertake activities that are
regulated in one or more of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Any such failure could also subject us to fines, penalties, equitable relief, and
changes to our business practices.
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Future regulatory changes could limit or impact our business model.

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations is time consuming and personnel- and systems-intensive. The current political environment, and the current
high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and compliance obligations. Any changes in, or the
enactment of new, applicable laws and regulations may increase the complexity of the regulatory environment in which we operate, which could materially
increase our direct and indirect compliance costs and other expenses of doing business and have a material adverse effect on financial condition and results of
operations. Although state insurance regulators have primary responsibility for administering and enforcing insurance regulations in the U.S., such laws and
regulations are further administered and enforced by a number of additional governmental authorities, each of which exercises a degree of interpretive latitude,
including state securities administrators; state attorneys general, as well as federal agencies including the SEC, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, the
Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Insurance Office, the U.S. Department of Labor, the U.S. Department of Justice, and the National Labor Relations Board.
Similarly, there are governmental authorities in U.K., such as the Financial Conduct Authority; the BMA in Bermuda; and numerous federal and provincial
governmental and oversight organizations in Canada. Consequently, compliance with any particular regulator’s or enforcement authority’s interpretation of a
legal issue may not result in compliance with another’s interpretation of the same issue, particularly when compliance is judged in hindsight. Such regulations or
enforcement actions are often responsive to current consumer and political sensitivities, which may arise after a major event. Such rules and regulations may
result in rate suppression, limit our ability to manage our exposure to unprofitable or volatile risks, or lead to fines, premium refunds, or other adverse
consequences.

The federal government may also regulate aspects of our business, such as the protection of consumer confidential information or the use of consumer
insurance (credit) scores to underwrite and assess the risk of customers under the Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA") in the U.S. Among other things, for
insurance purposes, the FCRA requires that (i) there is a permissible purpose before obtaining and using a consumer report for underwriting purposes, and (ii)
there is compliance with related notice and recordkeeping requirements. Failure to comply with federal requirements under the FCRA or any other applicable
federal laws could subject us to regulatory fines and other sanctions. In addition, there is risk that a particular regulator’s or enforcement authority’s interpretation
of a legal issue or the scope of a regulator’s authority may change over time to our detriment. There is also a risk that changes in the overall legal environment
may cause us to change our views regarding the actions we need to take from a legal risk management perspective. This would necessitate changes to our
practices that may adversely impact our business.

Legal or regulatory requirements impacting the use of personal data may impact how we interact with our insurance customers and how we market
to future Members, and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operations.

We are subject to insurance regulatory requirements in the handling of personal data of our insurance customers and applicants in the jurisdictions in which we
operate. Existing and future Privacy Laws applicable to our regulated insurance activities may impact our ability to: (i) interact with existing insureds; (ii)
effectively market to future insurance customers; and, (iii) cross-sell additional products and services.

Laws and regulations govern how insurance related personal data can be collected, used, shared, transferred, and stored. As new Privacy Laws, regulations
and expectations are adopted, our compliance obligations may increase, and our ability to market to and reach Members may be impacted, potentially leading to
lower revenue and Member growth. We are subject to government regulatory authorities’ power to impose fines and penalties in their interpretation and
enforcement of insurance regulations regarding our processing and use of personal data. Such authorities may require us to incur substantial costs in order to
comply with such laws and regulations. Laws and regulations are broad in scope and subject to differing interpretations. In some areas of our business, we act
on the basis of our own or the industry’s interpretations of applicable laws or regulations, which may conflict from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In the event those
interpretations prove different from the interpretations of regulatory authorities, we may be penalized or precluded from carrying on our previous activities.
Additionally, we may be exposed to plaintiffs bringing class action claims. We cannot be sure that our practices have complied, currently comply, or will comply
fully with all such laws and regulations. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any of these laws or regulations could result in damage to our
reputation, a loss in business, and proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or private litigants. Any such proceedings or actions require us to
spend significant amounts in defense of these proceedings or actions, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business, decrease the use of our
mobile application or website by consumers and suppliers, and may result in the imposition of monetary liability. We may also be contractually liable to indemnify
and hold harmless third parties from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with any such laws or regulations. Our insurance coverage relating to any
data security and privacy damages and claim expenses may not be sufficient to compensate for all liabilities we may incur.
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Our intellectual property rights are extremely valuable and if they are not properly protected, our products, services, and brand could be adversely
impacted.

As we continue expanding our development of intellectual property across all channels, we may be unable to adequately protect and/or obtain appropriate rights,
leading to increased risk. Competitors may target certain products or services and seek to assert competing rights. If appropriate contractual measures are not
maintained, employees, contractors, and vendors may divulge trade secrets or claim ownership over our intellectual property.

New legislation or legal requirements impacting the use of petroleum-based vehicles and/or supporting autonomous vehicles could significantly
challenge and impact our core insurance model and company purpose.

A significant majority of our Members currently drive gas-powered vehicles and engage in automotive enthusiast activities where they are able to drive and enjoy
their vehicles. Changes in the law that create higher barriers to the use and enjoyment of their vehicles may in turn reduce the need or desire for many of our
products and services, leading to lost revenue and lower profits and the inability to deliver on our purpose in an impactful manner.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

Our stock may be diluted by future issuances of additional Class A Common Stock in connection with our incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise;
future sales of such shares in the public market or the expectations that such sales may occur could lower our stock price.

We may issue additional shares of Class A Common Stock in several ways:

By the Board of Directors (the "Board"). Our Amended and Restated Charter authorizes us to issue shares of our Class A Common Stock and options, rights,
warrants and appreciation rights relating to our Class A Common Stock and on the terms and conditions established by our Board in its sole discretion, whether
in connection with acquisitions or otherwise.

Under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. We have reserved 38,317,399 shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance under our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as
defined in Note 21 — Share-Based Compensation in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report). As of December 31, 2023, we have issued 965,517 shares under
this Plan.

Under the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. We have reserved 11,495,220 shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance under our 2021 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (as defined in Note 21 — Share-Based Compensation in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report). As of December 31, 2023, we have issued
197,819 shares under this Plan.

Under the Contribution and Exchange Agreement. We reserved 4,724,560 shares of Class A Common Stock for exchange under our Contribution and
Exchange Agreement (as defined within the Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of The Hagerty Group, incorporated by
reference within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual Report). As of December 31, 2023, we have exchanged 259,302 shares under the Contribution and Exchange
Agreement.

The compensation committee of our Board may determine the exact number of shares to be reserved for future issuance under its equity incentive plans at its
discretion. We will file one or more registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register shares of Common Stock or securities convertible
into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to our equity incentive plans. Any such Form S-8 registration statements will automatically
become effective upon filing. Accordingly, shares registered under such registration statements will be available for sale in the open market.

Any stock that we issue or exchange would dilute the percentage ownership held by the investors who purchase Class A Common Stock. The market price of
shares of our Class A Common Stock could decline as a result of newly issued or exchanged stock, or the perception that we might issue or exchange stock. A
decline in the price of our Class A Common Stock might impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of Class A Common Stock
or other equity securities.

Substantial blocks of our total outstanding shares may be sold into the market. If there are substantial sales of shares of our Class A Common Stock,
the price of our Class A Common Stock could decline.

The price of our Class A Common Stock could decline if there are substantial sales of our Class A Common Stock, particularly sales by our directors, executive
officers, and significant stockholders, or if there is a large number of shares of our Class A Common Stock available for sale. As of March 1, 2024, we have
84,655,539 shares of our Class A Common Stock outstanding. All of the shares of Class A Common Stock sold at the completion of our Business Combination
are available for sale in the public market. Shares held by directors, executive officers and other affiliates are subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and various vesting agreements.
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The market price of the shares of our Class A Common Stock could decline as a result of the sale of a substantial number of our shares of Class A Common
Stock in the public market or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of such shares intend to sell their shares.

Certain warrants to purchase our Class A Common Stock are now exercisable and could become exercisable in 2024, which could increase the
number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our stockholders.

PIPE Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 12,147,300 shares of Class A Common Stock became exercisable on the 30th day following the closing of the
Business Combination in accordance with the terms of the warrant agreement governing those securities. In addition, Public Warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 5,750,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and Underwriter Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 28,750 shares of Class A Common Stock
became exercisable on April 12, 2022 in accordance with the warrant agreement covering those securities. Each such PIPE Warrant, Underwriter Warrant and
Public Warrant entitles its holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share and will expire at 5:00 p.m., New
York time, five years after the closing of the Business Combination or earlier upon redemption or our liquidation. In addition, the Private Placement Warrants and
OTM Warrants became exercisable on December 2, 2022, subject to the achievement of certain trading thresholds pursuant to the terms of the Sponsor
Warrant Lock-up Agreement. To the extent warrants are exercised, additional shares of Class A Common Stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to our
then existing stockholders and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public
market could depress the market price of our common stock.

We qualify as an "emerging growth company" within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions from
disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies, it could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more
difficult to compare our performance to the performance of other public companies.

We qualify as an "emerging growth company" as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act. As such, we are eligible for and
intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, including (i) the exemption from the auditor attestation requirements with respect to
internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended ("Sarbanes-Oxley") and (ii) the exemptions from
say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-on-golden parachute voting requirements and (iii) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its
periodic reports and proxy statements. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market
value of Class A Common Stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of that fiscal year, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which we
have total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more during such fiscal year (as indexed for inflation), (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1
billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period or (iv) December 31, 2026. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging
growth company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities
Act as long as we are an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We intend to avail ourselves of such extended transition period and, therefore, we may not be subject to
the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies or that have opted out of using such
extended transition period. Investors may find the Class A Common Stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions, which may result in a less
active trading market for the Class A Common Stock and its price may be more volatile.

We qualify as, and have elected to be treated as, a "controlled company" within the meaning of the NYSE listing standards and, as a result, our
stockholders may not have certain corporate governance protections that are available to stockholders of companies that are not controlled
companies.

So long as more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held by an individual, a group, or another company, we will qualify as a "controlled
company" under the NYSE listing requirements. As of December 31, 2023, HHC controls approximately 67.7% of the voting power of our outstanding capital
stock. As a result, we qualify as, and elect to be treated as, a "controlled company" under the NYSE listing standards and will not be subject to the requirements
that would otherwise require us to have: (i) a majority of "independent directors," as defined under the listing standards of the NYSE; (ii) a nominating committee
comprised solely of independent directors; (iii) compensation of our executive officers determined by a majority of the independent directors or a compensation
committee comprised solely of independent directors; and (iv) director nominees selected, or recommended for the board of directors’ selection, either by a
majority of the independent directors or a nominating committee comprised solely of independent directors.

HHC may have its interest diluted due to future equity issuances or its own actions in selling shares of common stock, in each case, which could result in a loss
of the "controlled company" exemption under the NYSE listing rules. We would then be required to comply with those provisions of the NYSE listing
requirements.
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The dual class structure of our common stock may adversely affect the trading market for our Class A Common Stock.

S&P Dow Jones and FTSE Russell limit their eligibility criteria for inclusion of shares of public companies on certain indices, including the S&P 500, namely, to
exclude companies with multiple classes of shares of common stock from being added to such indices. In addition, several stockholder advisory firms have
announced their opposition to the use of multiple class structures. As a result, the dual class structure of our common stock may prevent the inclusion of our
Class A Common Stock in such indices and may cause stockholder advisory firms to publish negative commentary about our corporate governance practices or
otherwise seek to cause us to change our capital structure. Any such exclusion from indices could result in a less active trading market for our Class A Common
Stock. Any actions or publications by stockholder advisory firms critical of our corporate governance practices or capital structure could also adversely affect the
value of our Class A Common Stock.

The dual class structure of our common stock will have the effect of concentrating voting power with two stockholders, which will limit your ability to
influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control.

Our Class V Common Stock has 10 votes per share and our Class A Common Stock has one vote per share. Markel and HHC, who currently hold all of the
Class V Common Stock, together will hold a substantial majority of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. Because of the 10-to-1 voting ratio between
our Class V and Class A Common Stock, the holders of our Class V Common Stock will collectively control a majority of the combined voting power of common
stock and, therefore, will be able to control all matters submitted to our stockholders until the earlier of (i) 15 years from the date of the consummation of the
Business Combination and (ii) the date on which such share of Class V Common Stock is transferred other than pursuant to a Qualified Transfer (as defined in
our Amended and Restated Charter). This concentrated control will limit or preclude your ability to influence the outcome of important corporate matters,
including a change in control, for the foreseeable future.

Transfers by holders of Class V Common Stock will generally result in those shares losing their super voting rights, subject to limited exceptions, such as certain
transfers effected for estate planning or charitable purposes.

Our three largest stockholders hold significant voting power, have the right to designate directors to our Board and are entitled to preemptive rights
with respect to the issuance of new Class A Common Stock, which provides these stockholders with significant power to influence our business and
affairs.

Our three largest stockholders are HHC, Markel and State Farm. HHC controls approximately 67.7% of the voting power, Markel controls approximately 29.0%
of the voting power, and State Farm controls approximately 2.1% of the voting power. Pursuant to the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement among HHC,
Markel and State Farm, HHC has the right to designate two directors to our Board, and Markel and State Farm have each designated one director to our Board.
Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, each of HHC, Markel and State Farm has agreed to vote for the election of any director nominated by HHC, Markel
and State Farm in furtherance of the director designation rights described above. As a consequence, at present, the re-election in 2024 of the directors
designated by HHC, Markel and State Farm is assured.

Moreover, under the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, each of HHC, Markel and State Farm has a contractual preemptive right. Specifically, under the
terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, for so long as HHC, Markel and State Farm, as applicable, are entitled to nominate a director, each of HHC, Markel and
State Farm, as applicable, subject to certain conditions, has a preemptive right to purchase up to the amount of any new securities we propose to issue or sell
as is necessary to maintain the relative pro rata ownership position (determined on a fully diluted basis at the time of determination) of HHC, Markel and State
Farm, as applicable. Therefore, while other holders of our stock would risk suffering a reduction in percentage ownership in connection with a new issuance of
securities by us, HHC, Markel and State Farm would, through this preemptive right, have the opportunity to avoid a reduction in percentage ownership. As long
as HHC, Markel and State Farm continue to hold a significant portion of our outstanding common stock, each will have the ability to influence the vote in any
election of directors and over decisions that require stockholder approval.

By virtue of their voting power and Board designation rights, preemptive right to purchase additional equity securities in future stock offerings and approval
rights, HHC, Markel and State Farm, collectively and separately, have the power to significantly influence our business and affairs and the outcome of matters
required to be submitted to stockholders for approval, including the election of our directors, amendments to our charter, mergers, or sales of assets. Their
influence over our business and affairs may not be consistent with the interests of some or all of our other stockholders and might negatively affect the market
price of our common stock.
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We may redeem unexpired warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to the holders of such warrants, thereby making such
warrants worthless.

We have the ability to redeem outstanding warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, at a price of $0.01 per warrant,
provided that the last reported sales price of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period commencing once the warrants become exercisable and
ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which we give proper notice of such redemption and provided certain other conditions are met. If and when
the warrants become redeemable by us, we may not exercise our redemption right if the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock upon exercise of the
warrants is not exempt from registration or qualification under applicable state blue sky laws or we are unable to effect such registration or qualification. We will
use our best efforts to register or qualify such shares of Class A Common Stock under the blue sky laws of the state of residence in those states in which the
warrants were offered. Redemption of the outstanding warrants could force you (i) to exercise your Public Warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time
when it may be disadvantageous for you to do so, (ii) to sell your warrants at the then-current market price when you might otherwise wish to hold your warrants
or (iii) to accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be substantially less than the
market value of your warrants. None of the Private Placement Warrants or Underwriter Warrants are redeemable by us so long as they are held by the Sponsor,
FG SPAC Partners LP, the underwriter in Aldel's initial public offering, or their permitted transferees.

Because we have no current plans to pay cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock for the foreseeable future, you may not receive any return
on investment unless you sell your Class A Common Stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and there are no current plans to pay any cash dividends on our
Class A Common Stock for the foreseeable future. The declaration, amount and payment of any future dividends on shares of our Class A Common Stock will
be at the sole discretion of our Board. Our Board may take into account general and economic conditions, our financial condition and results of operations, our
available cash and current and anticipated cash needs, capital requirements, contractual, legal, tax, and regulatory restrictions, implications on the payment of
dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us and such other factors as our Board may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends
is limited by covenants of our existing and outstanding indebtedness and may be limited by covenants of any future indebtedness we incur. As a result, you may
not receive any return on an investment in our Class A Common Stock unless you sell our Class A Common Stock for a price greater than that which you paid
for it.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and applicable insurance laws could delay or prevent a change of control.

Certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter and Amended and Restated Bylaws may have an anti-takeover effect and may delay, defer or prevent
a merger, acquisition, tender offer, takeover attempt or other change of control transaction that a stockholder might consider in its best interest, including those
attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by our stockholders.

These provisions provide for, among other things:

• the ability of our Board to issue one or more series of preferred stock;

• advance notice for nominations of directors by stockholders and for stockholders to include matters to be considered at our annual meetings;

• certain limitations on convening special stockholder meetings; and

• limiting the ability of stockholders to act by written consent;

These anti-takeover provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if the third party’s offer may be considered beneficial by many of
our stockholders. As a result, our stockholders may be limited in their ability to obtain a premium for their shares. These provisions could also discourage proxy
contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions you desire.

Further, the insurance laws applicable to our regulated insurance subsidiaries prohibit any person from acquiring direct or indirect control of us or our regulated
insurance subsidiaries, generally defined as owning or having the power to vote 10% or more of our outstanding voting stock, without the prior written approval
of state regulators.
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Our Amended and Restated Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of
actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for
disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.

Our Amended and Restated Charter provides that, subject to limited exceptions, any (1) derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us under Delaware
law, (2) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, or other employee to us or our stockholders, (3)
action asserting a claim against us, our directors, officers or other employees arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"), our Amended and
Restated Charter or our Amended and Restated Bylaws (in each case, as may be amended from time to time), (4) action asserting a claim against us or any of
our directors, officers or other employees governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the State of Delaware or (5) other action asserting an "internal corporate
claim," as defined in Section 115 of the DGCL, in all cases subject to the court having personal jurisdiction over all indispensable parties named as defendants
shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject
matter jurisdiction thereof, another state or federal court located within the State of Delaware. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest
in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter described
above. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our
directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to
find these provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or
proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial
condition.

There is no public market for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

There is no established public trading market for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and we do not expect a market to develop. The Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock is not currently listed on any securities exchange or nationally recognized trading system, including the New York Stock Exchange, and we may
choose not to apply to list it in the future. Without an active market, the liquidity of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be limited.

Risks Related to Tax

We are a holding company, and our only material asset is our interest in The Hagerty Group, and we will therefore be dependent upon distributions
made by The Hagerty Group to pay taxes, make payments under the TRA and pay other expenses.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our ownership of The Hagerty Group units and our managing member interest in The Hagerty
Group. As a result, we will have no independent means of generating revenue or cash flow. Our ability to pay taxes, make payments under the TRA and pay
dividends (in the event that any dividends are declared) and other expenses will depend on the financial results and cash flows of The Hagerty Group and the
distributions we receive from The Hagerty Group. Deterioration in the financial condition, earnings or cash flow of The Hagerty Group for any reason could limit
or impair The Hagerty Group’s ability to pay such distributions. Additionally, to the extent that we need funds and The Hagerty Group is restricted from making
such distributions under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any financing arrangements, or The Hagerty Group is otherwise unable to provide
such funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
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The Hagerty Group will be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be subject to any entity-level U.S.
federal or state income tax. Instead, the taxable income of The Hagerty Group will be allocated to the members of The Hagerty Group, including us. Accordingly,
we will be required to pay income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of The Hagerty Group. Under the terms of The Hagerty Group, LLC
Agreement, The Hagerty Group is obligated to make tax distributions to the members of The Hagerty Group (including us) calculated at certain assumed tax
rates. In addition to tax expenses, we will also incur expenses related to our operations, including payment obligations under the TRA (and the cost of
administering such payment obligations), which could be significant. We intend to cause The Hagerty Group to make distributions to the members of The
Hagerty Group in amounts sufficient to cover all applicable taxes (calculated at assumed tax rates) and payments under the TRA. However, The Hagerty
Group’s ability to make such distributions may be subject to various limitations and restrictions including, but not limited to, restrictions on distributions that would
either violate any contract or agreement to which The Hagerty Group is then a party, including debt agreements, or any applicable law, or that would have the
effect of rendering The Hagerty Group insolvent. If our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the TRA and to fund our obligations, we may
be required to incur additional indebtedness to provide the liquidity needed to make such payments, which could materially adversely affect our liquidity and
financial condition and subject us to various restrictions imposed by any such lenders. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the TRA for
any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid; provided, however, that nonpayment for a specified period may constitute a
breach of a material obligation under the TRA and therefore accelerate payments due under the TRA.

Hagerty, Inc. is required to pay Legacy Unit Holders and any other persons that become parties to the TRA for certain tax benefits we may receive
and the amounts payable may be substantial.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into a TRA with HHC and Markel ("Legacy Unit Holders"). The Hagerty
Group intends to have in effect an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") for each taxable year in which TRA exchanges occur, which
is expected to result in adjustments to the tax basis of the assets of The Hagerty Group as a result of such TRA exchanges. The TRA generally provides for the
payment by Hagerty, Inc. to Legacy Unit Holders of 85 % of the cash tax benefits, if any, realized as a result of (i) tax basis adjustments resulting from TRA
exchanges in connection with or following the Business Combination, (ii) certain other tax benefits related to entering into the TRA, including tax benefits
attributable to making payments under the TRA. We expect that the payments required under the TRA could be substantial. Estimating the amount and timing of
realization of tax benefits subject to the TRA is by its nature imprecise.

Payments under the TRA will be based on the tax reporting positions determined, and the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") or another tax authority may
challenge all or a part of the existing tax basis, tax basis increases, or other tax attributes subject to the TRA, and a court could sustain such challenge. The
parties to the TRA will not reimburse Hagerty, Inc. for any payments previously made if such tax basis or other tax benefits are subsequently disallowed, except
that any excess payments made to a party under the TRA will be netted against future payments otherwise to be made under the TRA, if any, after the
determination of such excess. In addition, the TRA provides that if (1) Hagerty, Inc. breaches any material obligations under the TRA (including in the event
payments are more than three months late under the TRA, subject to certain exceptions), (2) Hagerty, Inc. is subject to certain bankruptcy, insolvency or similar
proceedings, or (3) at any time, Hagerty, Inc. may elect an early termination of the TRA, the obligations under the TRA (with respect to all The Hagerty Group
units, whether or not such units have been exchanged or redeemed before or after such transaction) would accelerate and become payable in a lump sum
amount equal to the present value of the anticipated future tax benefits calculated based on certain assumptions, including that Hagerty, Inc. would have
sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the tax deductions, tax basis and other tax attributes subject to the TRA.

The TRA also provides that, upon certain changes of control or other significant transactions, in the discretion of HHC and Markel, obligations under the TRA
may be accelerated and become payable in a lump sum as described above. Such acceleration would be based on certain assumptions, including that Hagerty,
Inc. would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits covered by the TRA. As a result, upon any
acceleration of the obligations under the TRA (including a change of control), Hagerty, Inc. could be required to make payments under the TRA that are greater
than 85 % of actual cash tax savings, which could negatively impact liquidity. The change of control provisions in the TRA may also result in situations where
HHC and Markel have interests that differ from or are in addition to those of our Class A stockholders.
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To the extent we receive tax distributions in excess of our actual tax liabilities and retain such excess cash, HHC and Markel may benefit from such
accumulated cash balances if they exercise their exchange rights.

Under the terms of The Hagerty Group LLC Agreement, The Hagerty Group is obligated to make tax distributions to the members of The Hagerty Group
calculated at certain assumed tax rates. Because tax distributions will be made pro rata based on ownership and due to, among other items, differences
between the tax rates applicable to us and the assumed individual income tax rate used in the calculation and requirements under the applicable tax rules that
The Hagerty Group’s net taxable income be allocated disproportionately to its unit holders in certain circumstances, tax distributions may significantly exceed the
actual tax liability for certain The Hagerty Group unit holders. If Hagerty, Inc. retains the excess cash we receive, Markel and HHC could benefit from any value
attributable to such accumulated cash balances as a result of their rights under the Exchange Agreement with the Legacy Unit Holders.

If The Hagerty Group were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we and The Hagerty Group
might be subject to potentially significant tax inefficiencies, and we would not be able to recover payments previously made by us under the TRA even if the
corresponding tax benefits were subsequently determined to have been unavailable due to such status.

The Hagerty Group intends to operate such that it does not become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
A "publicly traded partnership" is a partnership the interests of which are listed for trading on an established securities market or are readily tradable on a
secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof. Applicable U.S. Treasury regulations provide for certain safe harbors from treatment as a publicly traded
partnership, and The Hagerty Group intends to operate such that it will qualify for one or more of such safe harbors, although it may be unable to do so.

If The Hagerty Group were to become a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, significant tax inefficiencies
might result for Hagerty, Inc. and for The Hagerty Group, for example, if Hagerty, Inc. is not able to file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with The
Hagerty Group. In addition, Hagerty, Inc. may not be able to realize tax benefits covered under the TRA, and Hagerty, Inc. would not be able to recover any
payments previously made under the TRA, even if the corresponding tax benefits (including any claimed increase in the tax basis of The Hagerty Group’s
assets) were subsequently determined to have been unavailable.

Increases in applicable tax rates, changes in applicable tax laws or disagreements with tax authorities can adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Hagerty, Inc. will have no material assets other than the interest in The Hagerty Group, which holds, directly or indirectly, all of the operating assets of The
Hagerty Group’s business. The Hagerty Group, with the exception of certain corporate subsidiaries, will not be subject to U.S. federal or state income tax.
Hagerty, Inc. is a U.S. corporation that will be subject to U.S. corporate income tax on our worldwide operations, including our allocable share of any net taxable
income of The Hagerty Group. We will be subject to various U.S. federal, state and local taxes, in addition to taxes in other countries.

New U.S. laws and policy relating to income and non-income-based taxes may have an adverse effect on our business and future profitability. Further, existing
U.S. tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us. Increases in income tax rates or other
changes in income tax laws in any particular jurisdiction in which we operate or are otherwise subject to tax can reduce our after-tax income from such
jurisdiction and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Existing tax laws have been and could in the future be subject to
significant change.

We will be subject to reviews, examinations and audits by the IRS and other taxing authorities with respect to income and non-income-based taxes. Economic
and political pressures to increase tax revenues in jurisdictions in which we operate, or the adoption of new or reformed tax legislation or regulation, may make
resolving tax disputes more difficult and the final resolution of tax audits and any related litigation can differ from The Hagerty Group’s historical provisions and
accruals, resulting in an adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, the provision for income taxes involves a significant amount of judgement regarding the interpretation of relevant facts and laws in the jurisdictions
in which we operate. Our income tax expense and recorded tax balances can change significantly between periods due to a number of complex factors including
but not limited to, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities as well as increases or decreases to valuation allowances recorded against
our deferred tax assets.
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General Risk Factors

The price of our securities may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance and you could lose all or part of your investment
as a result.

The trading price of our common stock and warrants is likely to be volatile. The stock market recently has experienced extreme volatility. This volatility often has
been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. You may not be able to resell your shares or warrants at an attractive
price due to a number of factors such as those listed elsewhere in this "Risk Factors" section and this Annual Report, as well as the following:

• results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

• results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;

• public float and trading volume of our securities is low;

• changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates and investment recommendations by securities analysts and
investors;

• declines in the market prices of stocks generally;

• strategic actions by us or our competitors;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, joint ventures, other strategic relationships or capital commitments;

• any significant change in our management;

• changes in general economic or market conditions or trends in our industry or markets;

• changes in business or regulatory conditions, including new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our
business;

• future sales of our Common Stock or other securities;

• investor perceptions or the investment opportunity associated with our Common Stock relative to other investment alternatives;

• the public’s response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our filings with the SEC;

• litigation involving us, our industry, or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;

• guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or our failure to meet this guidance;

• the development and sustainability of an active trading market for our Common Stock;

• actions by institutional or activist stockholders;

• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles; and

• other events or factors, including those resulting from pandemics or epidemics, natural disasters, war, acts of terrorism or responses to these events.

These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants, regardless of our actual
operating performance.

In the past, following periods of market volatility, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation. If we were involved in securities litigation, it could
have a substantial cost and divert resources and the attention of executive management from our business regardless of the outcome of such litigation.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research reports about our business, or if they
downgrade our stock or our sector, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A Common Stock will rely in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our
business. We will not control these analysts. In addition, some financial analysts may have limited expertise with our business model and operations.
Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who do cover us downgrade our stock or industry, or the stock of any of our competitors, or publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research about our business, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports
on it regularly, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

Our cybersecurity strategy is predicated on a risk-based approach, which is continuously informed by the standards provided by organizations such as the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST"), the International Organization for
Standardization, the Payment Card Industry, and others. Cybersecurity represents an important input to our overall approach to enterprise risk management
("ERM").

Our cybersecurity program is based on a framework designed to safeguard the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our information assets. This program
encompasses enterprise security policies, procedures, and technical measures to manage risks, protect sensitive data, and ensure compliance with relevant
regulations. Our information security program utilizes a layered defense approach where components such as risk assessments, access controls, network
security, encryption, employee training, and continuous monitoring and response processes provide layers of protection for our systems and assets.

As part of our cybersecurity program, our information security team identifies and assesses material risks based on the NIST risk assessment model and then
collaborates with internal business and technical partners to proactively create internal risk treatment plans that address identified risk exposures. In addition, we
assess and manage cybersecurity risks through an incident security program which consolidates input from three primary departments, including our ERM
department, which operates out of the Office of the Chief Financial Officer, our Privacy department which operates out of the Office of the Chief Legal Officer,
and the Information Security department which operates out of the Office of the Chief Information Officer ("CIO"). Together, these departments provide subject
matter expertise and specialized resources to deliver concentric layers of risk management and defense against both internal and external threats.

In addition, our cybersecurity program includes third-party cyber risk assessments which evaluate the security posture of our vendors and partners to mitigate
potential vulnerabilities introduced through external connections. Data loss prevention controls are systematically implemented to prevent unauthorized data
exfiltration and to protect sensitive information from compromise.

Our information security program undergoes assessments conducted by both internal and external experts. The outcomes of these evaluations are
communicated to senior management and the Board for review.

Governance

The Board, through the Audit Committee, oversees our risk assessment and risk management activities, including our cybersecurity program. The Audit
Committee receives periodic reports from our CIO and is notified any time our incident security program has determined that a cybersecurity incident is material
or requires reporting to a regulatory body. Further, the Chair of the Audit Committee is regularly informed of both material and non-material cybersecurity risks
and incidents.

Our cybersecurity program is led by an experienced CIO and an experienced Chief Information Security Officer ("CISO"). Our CIO has extensive experience in
our industry with over 30 years of information technology experience, including extensive experience leading large global teams at several companies in his
tenure. Our CISO has over 35 years of information technology experience, including 24 years of experience as a CISO leading large cybersecurity teams at four
different insurance companies. Our CISO also has several industry recognized designations.

As part of our cybersecurity risk management program, our information security department identifies, assesses, and manages cybersecurity risks, whether
material or non-material. Through our Information Security department, the CIO
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and CISO work to ensure that key stakeholders are informed about the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity risks and incidents.

We have established and maintain incident response and recovery plans that address the detection, reporting, analysis, response, recovery, communication,
documentation, and post-incident review of cybersecurity incidents. We periodically test and evaluate such plans on a routine basis.

As of the date of this Annual Report, we do not believe that any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of previous cybersecurity incidents, are
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us, our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Traverse City, Michigan, and consist of approximately 109,500 square feet of office space at the main campus
location under a lease agreement that expires in March 2036. In the U.S., we lease additional office space in Ohio, Colorado, Connecticut, and Michigan.
Internationally, we lease offices in Canada, the U.K. and Germany. We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable for our current needs and that, should it
be needed, suitable additional or alternative space will be available to accommodate our operations.

In 2022, Hagerty approved an initiative to increase operational efficiencies and flexibility by transitioning to a "remote first" work model for employees. As a
result, we have subleased a portion of our office space in Ohio and Canada and intend to sublease portions of our office space in Colorado, Connecticut, and
Michigan.

In addition, we have three Hagerty Garage + Social locations in the U.S., which includes one location in California, and two locations in Florida. In Canada, we
have one location in Ontario.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are involved in various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the results of litigation and claims
cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these actions will have a material adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves and our partners by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third party proprietary rights or to
establish our proprietary rights. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can
have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Refer to Note 24 — Commitments and Contingencies in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are traded on the NYSE under the symbols "HGTY" and "HGTY.WS", respectively.

Stockholders of Record

As of March 1, 2024, there were 12 record holders of our Class A Common Stock and two record holders of our Class V Common Stock. Additionally, there
were 15 record holders of our PIPE Warrants, two record holders of our OTM Warrants and nine record holders of our Public Warrants, Private Placement
Warrants and Underwriter Warrants, in the aggregate, as of March 1, 2024. The number of record holders does not include persons who held shares of our
common stock or warrants in nominee or "street name" accounts through brokers.
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Dividend Policy

We do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock. Any declaration and payment of dividends will be at the sole discretion of our
Board, which may change our dividend policy at any time. Our Board will take into account:

• general economic and business conditions;

• our results of operations and financial condition;

• our available cash and current and anticipated cash needs;

• our capital requirements;

• contractual, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions and implications on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries (including
The Hagerty Group) to us; and

• such other factors as our Board may deem relevant.

Subject to funds being legally available, we intend to cause The Hagerty Group to make pro rata distributions to the other unit holders and us in an amount at
least sufficient to allow us and the other unit holders to pay all applicable taxes, to make payments under the TRA we entered into with The Hagerty Group unit
holders and to pay our corporate and other overhead expenses.

Hagerty, Inc. is a holding company and does not have material assets other than its ownership of units of The Hagerty Group, and as a consequence, our ability
to declare and pay dividends to the holders of our Class A Common Stock is subject to the ability of The Hagerty Group to provide distributions to us. If The
Hagerty Group makes such distributions, The Hagerty Group unit holders will be entitled to receive pro-rata distributions from The Hagerty Group. However,
because we must pay taxes, make payments under the TRA, and pay our expenses, amounts ultimately distributed as dividends to holders of our Class A
Common Stock are expected to be less than the amounts distributed by The Hagerty Group to its unit holders on a per share basis.

Assuming The Hagerty Group makes distributions to its members in any given year, the determination to pay dividends, if any, to holders of our Class A
Common Stock out of the portion, if any, of such distributions remaining after our payment of taxes, TRA payments and expenses (any such portion, an "excess
distribution") will be made by our Board. Because our Board may determine to pay or not pay dividends to holders of our Class A Common Stock, holders of our
Class A Common Stock may not necessarily receive dividend distributions relating to excess distributions, even if The Hagerty Group makes such distributions
to us.

Stock Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to
the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act.

The performance presentation shown below is being furnished as required by applicable rules of the SEC and was prepared using the following assumptions:

• A $100 investment was made in our Class A Common Stock, the Russell 2000 and our peer group as of December 3, 2021, which is the date our Class
A Common Stock began trading on the NYSE;

• Investment in our peer group was weighted based on the stock market capitalization of each individual company within the peer group at the beginning of
each period for which a return is indicated; and

• Dividends were reinvested on the relevant payment dates.
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Our customized peer group consists of the companies listed below.

Safety Insurance Group, Inc. Universal Insurance Holdings, Inc. Heritage Insurance Holdings, Inc.
Erie Indemnity Company BRP Group, Inc. Palomar Holdings, Inc.
Ryan Specialty Holdings, Inc. Kinsale Capital Group, Inc. Goosehead Insurance, Inc.
Tiptree Inc. United Fire Group, Inc. American Coastal Insurance Corporation
RLI Corp. Donegal Group Inc.
Horace Mann Educators Corporation

December 3,
2021

December 31,
2021 2022 2023

Hagerty, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 133.02 $ 78.89 $ 73.17 
Russell 2000 $ 100.00 $ 101.88 $ 81.06 $ 94.78 
Customized Peer Group $ 100.00 $ 103.47 $ 107.57 $ 131.15 

ITEM 6. [ Reserved ]

Not applicable.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to provide the reader of the financial statements with a
narrative from the perspective of management on the financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and certain other factors that may affect our operating
results. The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and related Notes included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and
analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ
materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed within "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of
this report.

The following discussion contains references to the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. A discussion of the Company’s results of operations comparing
results for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is included under the section entitled “Results of Operations” in Item 7 of Part II of the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Overview

We are a market leader in providing insurance for classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. Through our insurance model, we act as an MGA by underwriting, selling
and servicing classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies. Then, due to our consistent track record of delivering strong underwriting results, we reinsure
a large portion of the risks written by our MGA subsidiaries through our wholly owned subsidiary, Hagerty Re. In addition, we offer HDC memberships, which can
be bundled with our insurance policies and give subscribers access to an array of products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive
enthusiast events, our proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside assistance, and special vehicle-related discounts. Lastly, to complement our
insurance and membership offerings, we also offer Marketplace, where car enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance collector cars. Through these offerings, our
goal is to be the world's most trusted and preferred brand for enthusiasts to protect, buy and sell, and enjoy the special cars that are their passion.

Business Review

In 2023, we conducted a review of certain components of our operations which resulted in the sale or reorganization of certain businesses, including Hagerty
Garage + Social and DriveShare, as discussed below. This initiative supported our strategy to prioritize investments and resources in the areas of our business
that offer the strongest growth and profit potential. As a result of this review, we recognized approximately $4.0 million of losses and impairments in the third
quarter of 2023 related to actions taken with respect to Hagerty Garage + Social and DriveShare. We may incur additional losses and/or impairment charges in
future periods as a result of actions which we may take related to this review.

Hagerty Garage + Social

On September 29, 2023, Hagerty Ventures LLC ("HV"), a wholly owned subsidiary of The Hagerty Group, entered into an agreement with HGS Hub Holdings
LLC ("H3") to terminate the joint venture agreement governing Member Hubs Holding, LLC ("MHH"), which operates as Hagerty Garage + Social. In connection
with this agreement, H3's 20% equity interest in MHH was redeemed and MHH's equity interests in the Palm Beach, Florida and Redmond, Washington
locations of Hagerty Garage + Social were distributed to H3. Following the termination of the joint venture agreement, HV now owns 100% of MHH and its
remaining Hagerty Garage + Social locations in Delray Beach, Florida; Miami, Florida; Van Nuys, California; and Burlington, Ontario.

As a result of the joint venture termination, we recognized a loss of $2.9 million in the third quarter of 2023, as well as a $0.6 million loss related to the
termination of the real estate lease held by the Culver City, California location of Hagerty Garage + Social. Following this lease termination, MHH no longer
operates a Hagerty Garage + Social location in Culver City, California. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of
this Annual Report for additional information.

Hagerty DriveShare

In the third quarter of 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into an agreement to sell Hagerty DriveShare, LLC ("DriveShare"), a peer-to-peer rental platform for
collector vehicles, to a third party. The sale was completed on October 9, 2023. As a result of the sale, the Company recognized a $0.4 million loss in the third
quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information.

Recent Developments

On January 12, 2024, our subsidiary, Hagerty Insurance Holdings, Inc., agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Consolidated
National Insurance Company ("CNIC") for approximately $ 18.4  million, subject to upward or downward adjustment in accordance with the terms of the
agreement. The closing price will be comprised of approximately $ 10  million for CNIC's approved state licenses and $ 8  million for the expected capital and
surplus. We believe that the CNIC acquisition will allow us to continue driving high rates of written premium growth, better control our underwriting profits, and
offer new products and coverages to fill an underserved segment of the enthusiast vehicle market. Subject to the satisfactory completion of various closing
conditions, we expect to complete the CNIC acquisition during the second quarter of 2024.
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Key Performance Indicators

The tables below present a summary of our Key Performance Indicators, which include important operational metrics, as well as certain GAAP and non-GAAP
financial measures as of and for the periods presented. We use these Key Performance Indicators to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify
trends against planned initiatives, prepare financial projections, and make strategic decisions. We believe these Key Performance Indicators are useful in
evaluating our performance when read together with our Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operational Metrics
Total Written Premium (in thousands) $ 907,175 $ 776,664 
Loss Ratio 41.5 % 45.3 %
New Business Count — Insurance 254,386 234,520 

GAAP Measures
Total Revenue (in thousands) $ 1,000,213 $ 787,588 
Operating Income (Loss) (in thousands) $ 10,408 $ (67,566)
Net Income (in thousands) $ 28,179 $ 2,403 
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 0.19 $ 0.39 
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ 0.09 $ (0.07)

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands) $ 88,162 $ (1,940)
Adjusted Earnings (Loss) Per Share $ 0.04 $ (0.20)

December 31,
2023 2022

Operational Metrics
Policies in Force 1,401,037 1,315,977 
Policies in Force Retention 88.7 % 88.0 %
Vehicles in Force 2,378,883 2,234,461 
HDC Paid Member Count 815,007 752,754 
Net Promoter Score 82 83 

(1)    Total Written Premium is the total amount of insurance premium written by our MGA subsidiaries on policies that were bound by our insurance carrier
partners during the period. We view Total Written Premium as an important metric as it most closely correlates with our growth in insurance commission
revenue and Hagerty Re earned premium. Total Written Premium reflects the actual business volume and direct economic benefit generated from our policy
acquisition efforts.

(2)    Loss Ratio, expressed as a percentage, is the ratio of (i) losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred to (ii) earned premium in Hagerty Re. We view Loss
Ratio as an important metric because it is a powerful benchmark for profitability. This benchmark allows us to evaluate our historical loss patterns including
incurred losses and make necessary and appropriate adjustments. In 2023, our Loss Ratio improved to 41.5% from 45.3% in the prior year due, in part, to
better underwriting results. The comparison to the prior year is also favorably impacted by $10.0 million of catastrophe losses related to Hurricane Ian
incurred in 2022 that were not repeated in the current year.

(3)    New Business Count represents the number of new insurance policies issued by our MGA subsidiaries during the applicable period. We view New
Business Count as an important metric to assess our financial performance because it is critical to achieving our growth objectives. While Hagerty benefits
from strong renewal retention, new business policies more than offset those cancelled or non-renewed at expiration. Often new policies mean new
relationships and an opportunity to sell additional products and services.

(4)    Refer to "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for a description of this non-GAAP financial measure and a reconciliation to the most comparable GAAP
amount.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
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(5)    Policies in Force ("PIF") represents the number of current and active insurance policies as of the applicable period end date. We view PIF as an important
metric to assess our financial performance because policy growth drives our revenue growth, increases brand awareness and market penetration, generates
additional insight to improve the performance of our platform, and provides key data to assist us in strategic decision making.

(6)    PIF Retention represents the percentage of expiring insurance policies that are renewed on the renewal effective date, calculated on a rolling twelve
months basis. We view PIF Retention as an important measurement of the number of policies retained each year, which contributes to recurring revenue
streams from MGA commissions, membership fees, and earned premiums. It also contributes to maintaining our NPS, as discussed below.

(7)    Vehicles in Force represents the number of current insured vehicles as of the applicable period end date. We view Vehicles in Force as an important metric
to assess our financial performance because insured vehicle growth drives our revenue growth and increases market penetration.

(8)    HDC Paid Member Count represents the number of current Members who pay an annual membership subscription as of the applicable period end date.
We believe that HDC Paid Member Count is important because it helps us measure membership revenue growth and provides an opportunity to customize
our value proposition and benefits to specific types of enthusiasts, both by demographic and vehicle interest.

(9)    Hagerty uses Net Promoter Score ("NPS") as an important measure of the overall strength of our relationship with insurance policyholders and paid HDC
subscribers (who are collectively referred to herein as Members). NPS is measured twice annually through a web-based survey sent by email invitation to a
random sample of existing Members, which currently excludes customers in our new Marketplace business, and is reported annually using an average of the
two surveys. Often referred to as a barometer of brand loyalty and engagement, NPS is well-known in our industry as a strong indicator of growth and
retention.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

Commission and fee revenue

We generate commission and fee revenue through our MGA subsidiaries primarily from the underwriting, sale, and servicing of classic car and enthusiast vehicle
insurance policies on behalf of our insurance carrier partners. Commissions are earned for both new and renewed policies. In addition, under the terms of
certain of our contracts with insurance carriers, we have the opportunity to earn a CUC based on written or earned premium and the loss ratio results of the
insurance book of business.

Historically, our MGA subsidiaries have earned, on average, a base commission of approximately 32% of written premium, as well as a CUC of up to 10%. In
December 2023, our alliance agreement and associated agency agreement with Markel, which generated approximately 95% of our total commission revenue in
2023, was amended to increase the base commission rate to 37% and to adjust the profit share commission factors to scale from -5% to a maximum of +5% of
written premium, with 80% of the expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024.

Commission and fee revenue is earned when the policy becomes effective, net of allowances for policy changes and cancellations, as our performance
obligation is substantially complete when the policy is issued.

Earned premium

We earn reinsurance premium revenue for the risks assumed by Hagerty Re from the classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies underwritten by our
MGA subsidiaries. Hagerty Re is registered as a Class 3A reinsurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act of 1978.

Earned premium represents the earned portion of written premiums that Hagerty Re has assumed under quota share reinsurance agreements with our
insurance carrier partners, net of premiums ceded to various reinsurers and the cost of catastrophe reinsurance coverage. Premiums assumed and ceded are
recognized on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related reinsured policies, which is generally 12 months. The cost of catastrophe reinsurance coverage is
recognized over the contract period in proportion to the related earned premium.
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Membership, marketplace and other revenue 

We earn subscription revenue through HDC memberships, which can be bundled with our insurance policies and give subscribers access to an array of
products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive enthusiast events, our proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside
assistance, and special vehicle-related discounts. We also earn fee-based revenue from Hagerty Garage + Social memberships, which include storage services
in addition to the HDC Member benefits. Revenue from the sale of HDC and storage memberships is recognized ratably over the period of the membership. The
membership is treated as a single performance obligation to provide access to stated member benefits over the life of the membership, which is currently one
year.

Marketplace earns fee-based revenue primarily from the sale of collector cars through live auctions, time-based online auctions, and brokered private sales. In
addition, Marketplace earns revenue from financing provided to qualified collectors and businesses secured by their collector cars. Fee-based revenue earned
by Marketplace is recognized when the underlying sale is completed. Finance revenue is recognized when earned based on the amount of the outstanding loan,
the applicable interest rate on the loan, and the length of time the loan was outstanding during the period.

Lastly, other revenue includes sponsorship, admission, advertising, valuation and registration income. Other revenue is recognized when the performance
obligation for the related product or service is satisfied.

Operating Expenses

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits consist primarily of costs related to employee compensation, payroll taxes, employee benefits, and employee development costs.
Employee compensation includes wages paid to employees, as well as various incentive compensation plans. Employee benefits include the costs of various
employee benefit plans, including retirement, medical, dental, and wellness plans. Costs related to employee education, training, and recruiting are included in
employee development costs. Salaries and benefits are expensed as incurred except for those costs which are required to be capitalized, which are then
amortized over the useful life of the asset created, primarily software. Salaries and benefits are expected to increase over time as the business continues to
grow but will likely decrease as a percent of revenue.

Ceding commission, net

Ceding commission, net represents the commissions paid by Hagerty Re to insurance carrier partners for the risk assumed under the quota share agreements
with those carriers. These commissions represent Hagerty Re's pro-rata share of the carrier's costs including (i) policy acquisition costs, which primarily consists
of the commissions earned by our MGA subsidiaries, (ii) general and administrative costs, and (iii) other costs. Ceding commissions paid is recorded net of
commissions received by Hagerty Re related to ceded reinsurance premiums. Ceding commission, net is recognized ratably over the term of the related
reinsured policies, which is generally 12 months.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses represents our best estimate of the losses related to the risk assumed by Hagerty Re. Losses consist of claims paid, case
reserves, and incurred but not reported ("IBNR") costs, which are recorded net of estimated recoveries from reinsurance, salvage and subrogation. Loss
adjustment expenses consist of the cost associated with the investigation and settlement of claims. The estimates utilized in determining the amount of losses
and loss adjustment expenses recorded in a period are based on statistical analysis performed by our internal and external actuarial team. Reserves are
reviewed regularly and adjusted, as necessary, to reflect our estimate of the ultimate cost of settlement. (Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates" below.)

Sales expense

Sales expense includes costs related to the sale and servicing of insurance policies, as well as costs related to our Membership and Marketplace offerings, such
as broker expense, cost of sales, promotion expense, and travel and entertainment expenses. Broker expense is the compensation paid to our agent partners
and national broker partners when an insurance policy is written through a broker relationship. Broker expense generally tracks with written premium growth.
Cost of sales includes payment processing fees, emergency roadside service costs, postage and other variable costs associated with the sale and servicing of a
policy. Cost of sales also includes costs associated with vehicles held in our inventory and sold through Marketplace. Promotion expense includes various costs
related to branding, events, advertising, marketing, and customer acquisition. Sales expenses, in general, are expensed as incurred and will trend with revenue
growth.
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General and administrative services

General and administrative services primarily consist of expenses related to professional services, occupancy costs, and non-capitalized hardware and
software. These costs are expensed as incurred. We expect this expense category to increase in dollar amount over time but will likely decrease as a
percentage of revenue over the next few years after we reach scale to handle incoming business from new partnerships.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization reflects the recognition of the cost of our investments in various assets over their useful lives. Depreciation expense relates to
leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment, vehicles, hardware, and purchased software. Amortization relates to investments associated with
acquisitions, SaaS implementation, and internal software development, as well as investments made in and impairments of digital media content assets.
Depreciation and amortization are expected to increase in dollar amount over time but will likely decrease as a percent of revenue as investments in platform
technology reach scale.

Other Items

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

Our warrants are accounted for as liabilities and measured at fair value each reporting period, with changes in fair value recognized as non-operating income
(expense) in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. In general, under the fair value accounting model, in periods when our stock price increases, the
warrant liability increases, and we recognize additional expense. In periods when our stock price decreases, the warrant liability decreases, and we recognize
additional income. (Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates" below.)

Interest and other income (expense)

Interest and other income (expense) primarily includes interest income related to our cash balances and interest expense related to outstanding borrowings, as
well as changes in the value of the liability related to our TRA with Hagerty Holding Corp. ("HHC") and Markel. Refer to "Critical Accounting Estimates" and Note
22 — Taxation in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the TRA.

Income tax expense

The Hagerty Group is taxed as a pass-through ownership structure under provisions of the IRC and a similar section of state income tax law, except certain U.S.
corporate subsidiaries and foreign subsidiaries. Any taxable income or loss generated by The Hagerty Group is passed through to and included in the taxable
income or loss of all holders of The Hagerty Group units, including Hagerty, Inc. Hagerty, Inc. is taxed as a corporation and pays corporate federal, state, and
local taxes with respect to income allocated from The Hagerty Group.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the dollar and percentage change between the
two periods:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

REVENUE: in thousands (except percentages)
Commission and fee revenue $ 365,512 $ 307,238 $ 58,274 19.0 %
Earned premium 531,866 403,061 128,805 32.0 %
Membership, marketplace and other revenue 102,835 77,289 25,546 33.1 %
Total revenue 1,000,213 787,588 212,625 27.0 %

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and benefits 216,896 199,542 17,354 8.7 %
Ceding commission, net 251,805 191,150 60,655 31.7 %
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 220,658 182,402 38,256 21.0 %
Sales expense 156,378 140,781 15,597 11.1 %
General and administrative services 85,434 89,068 (3,634) (4.1)%
Depreciation and amortization 45,809 33,887 11,922 35.2 %
Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net 8,812 18,324 (9,512) (51.9)%
Losses and impairments related to divestitures 4,013 — 4,013 100.0 %

Total operating expenses 989,805 855,154 134,651 15.7 %
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 10,408 (67,566) 77,974 115.4 %

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 11,543 41,899 (30,356) (72.5)%
Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment — 34,735 (34,735) (100.0)%
Interest and other income 22,821 2,028 20,793 N/M

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 44,772 11,096 33,676 N/M
Income tax expense (16,593) (7,017) (9,576) (136.5)%
Loss from equity method investment, net of tax — (1,676) 1,676 100.0 %

NET INCOME $ 28,179 $ 2,403 $ 25,776 N/M

N/M = Not meaningful

Revenue

Commission and fee revenue

Commission and fee revenue was $365.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $58.3 million, or 19.0%, compared to 2022, consisting
of increases of $47.7 million related to renewal policies and $10.6 million related to new policies.

The increase in revenue from renewal policies was primarily related to an increase of 17.0% in the underlying policy premiums, as well as continued strong
policy retention. The increase in renewal policy premiums reflects sustained year-over-year growth in PIF, as well as rate increases in several states due to
inflation and higher vehicle repair costs, both of which contribute to higher premiums and, in turn, higher commission revenue.

The increase in revenue from new policies was driven by sustained year-over-year growth in New Business Count, as well as rate increases in several states.
The average premium on a newly issued policy increased 7.0% when compared to the prior year period as a result of writing policies with higher insured values
at higher premium rates. Accordingly, premiums from new policies increased $23.7 million, or 16.1%, during the year ended December 31, 2023. In turn, base
commission revenue from newly issued policies grew by $7.6 million, or 16.5%, over the same period.

Commission and fee revenue from agent sources increased $34.3 million, or 20.6%, and Commission and fee revenue from direct sources increased $24.0
million, or 17.0%, during the year ended December 31, 2023. Commission rates vary based on geography, but do not differ by distribution channel (i.e., whether
they are direct-sourced or agent-sourced).
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Earned premium

Earned premium at Hagerty Re was $531.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $128.8 million, or 32.0%, compared to 2022. This
increase correlates with the $162.1 million, or 34.2%, increase in assumed premium resulting from an increase in Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share from 70% in
2022 to approximately 80% in 2023.
Also contributing to the increase in Hagerty Re earned premium is the consistent growth in the volume of subject premiums written through our MGA
subsidiaries in the U.S.

The following table presents premiums assumed by Hagerty Re and the related quota share percentages for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
U.S. Canada U.K. Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Subject premium $ 754,746 $ 54,536 $ 9,129 $ 818,411 
Quota share percentage 81.0 % 35.0 % 80.0 % 77.8 %
Assumed premium in Hagerty Re 609,975 19,088 7,303 636,366 
Reinsurance premiums ceded (33,070)
Net assumed premium 603,296 
Change in unearned premiums (81,813)
Change in deferred reinsurance premiums 10,383 

Earned premium $ 531,866 

Year Ended December 31, 2022
U.S. Canada U.K. Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Subject premium $ 643,777 $ 50,434 $ 8,569 $ 702,780 
Quota share percentage 70.0 % 35.0 % 70.0 % 67.5 %
Assumed premium in Hagerty Re 450,644 17,652 5,998 474,294 
Reinsurance premiums ceded (10,749)
Net assumed premium 463,545 
Change in unearned premiums (60,264)
Change in deferred reinsurance premiums (220)

Earned premium $ 403,061 

Membership, marketplace and other revenue

Membership, marketplace and other revenue was $102.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $25.5 million, or 33.1%, compared to
2022.

Membership fee revenue was $52.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $7.2 million, or 16.0%, compared to 2022, which was
primarily attributable to an increase in new policies issued with a bundled HDC membership, as well as an increase in storage revenue attributable to more
Hagerty Garage + Social locations being in operation for most of the current year. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
membership fees were 51.0% and 58.5%, respectively, of total Membership, marketplace and other revenue. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments
Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to Hagerty Garage + Social.

Marketplace revenue was $28.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $14.9 million, or 109.1%, compared to 2022, which was primarily
attributable to the auction, private sale, and lending activities of Broad Arrow, which was acquired and consolidated into our results beginning in August 2022.
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Marketplace revenue was 27.8% and 17.7%, respectively, of total Membership, marketplace and other
revenue.
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Other revenue, which primarily includes sponsorship, admission, advertising, valuation and registration income, was $21.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, an increase of $3.4 million, or 18.6%, compared to 2022, primarily due to increased event sponsorship and admission revenue. For the
years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, other revenue was 21.2% and 23.8%, respectively, of total Membership, marketplace and other
revenue.

Costs and Expenses

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits were $216.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $17.4 million, or 8.7%, compared to 2022. This increase was
principally due to an increase in incentive compensation consistent with our improved year-over-year results, as well as an increase in stock-based
compensation expense. The overall increase in Salaries and benefits was partially offset by headcount reductions associated with the voluntary retirement
program (the "VRP") and reductions in force implemented in the fourth quarter of 2022 and first quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 15 — Restructuring, Impairment
and Related Charges in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for information related to our restructuring plans.

Ceding commission, net

Ceding commission, net at Hagerty Re was $251.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $60.7 million, or 31.7%, compared to 2022.
This increase is consistent with the 32.0% increase in Hagerty Re Earned premium, as discussed above.

The following table summarizes the components of Ceding commission, net for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands (except percentages)
Ceding commission:
Ceding commission – reinsurance assumed $ 256,000 $ 191,150 
Ceding commission – reinsurance ceded (4,195) — 

Ceding commission, net $ 251,805 $ 191,150 

Percentage of earned premium 47.3 % 47.4 %

Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses at Hagerty Re were $220.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $38.3 million, or 21.0%,
compared to 2022. This increase reflects higher 2023 incurred losses related to the increase in Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share during the period from 70% in
2022 to approximately 80% in 2023, as well as underlying growth in our business. While incurred losses increased, Hagerty Re's loss ratio improved to 41.5%
for the year ended December 31, 2023. This improvement was due, in part, to better underwriting results in the current year. In addition, prior year results
include $10.0 million of catastrophe losses related to Hurricane Ian. For the year ended December 31, 2022, Hagerty Re's loss ratio was 45.3%, including the
impact of Hurricane Ian, and 42.8%, excluding the impact of Hurricane Ian.

Sales expense

Sales expense was $156.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $15.6 million, or 11.1%, compared to 2022, which was primarily
attributable to an increase in broker expense of $9.4 million, consistent with written premium growth at our MGA subsidiaries across the agent distribution
channel. In addition, cost of sales increased $7.2 million, primarily driven by Broad Arrow vehicles sales and related commissions. Lastly, credit card processing
fees increased $2.1 million, primarily due to a shift in consumer preference towards credit cards as a payment method within our MGA subsidiaries. The overall
increase in Sales expense was partially offset by reductions in promotion and travel and entertainment costs of $2.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
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General and administrative services

General and administrative services expense was $85.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $3.6 million, or 4.1%, compared to 2022.
This decrease was driven by a reduction in professional services of $7.0 million, primarily in digital technology consulting, as well as a continued focus by
management on expense management. The overall decrease in General and administrative services expense was partially offset by a $4.8 million increase in
software subscription licenses.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense was $45.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $11.9 million, or 35.2%, compared to 2022.
This increase was due, in part, to a higher base of capital assets in 2023 as a result of digital platform investments made in recent years, which resulted in an
increase in Depreciation and amortization of approximately $5.8 million. Additionally, we incurred a $ 4.3 million loss related to digital media content asset
impairments in 2023 due to lower than anticipated advertising and sponsorship revenue associated with these assets.

Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net

During the year ended December 31, 2022, management approved an initiative to increase operational efficiencies and flexibility by transitioning to a "remote-
first" work model for employees. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2022, the Board approved the VRP, as well as a reduction in force (the "2022 RIF"). As a
result, in 2022, we recognized restructuring, impairment and related charges of $18.3 million, which primarily consisted of $12.2 million in employee severance-
related expenses related to the VRP and 2022 RIF and $6.2 million related to operating lease ROU asset impairments and related leasehold disposals.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board approved an additional reduction in force (the "2023 RIF") in the first quarter of 2023 and as a result,
recognized $5.4 million in employee severance-related expenses and a $0.4 million impairment charge to write-down the value of certain digital media content
assets. Additionally, in 2023, we recognized $3.1 million of charges associated with operating lease ROU asset impairments and related leasehold disposals in
connection with the Company's ongoing transition to a "remote-first" work model.

Refer to Note 15 — Restructuring, Impairment and Related Charges in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information with respect to our
restructuring initiatives.

Losses and impairments related to divestitures

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $4.0 million of losses and impairments related to Hagerty Garage + Social and
DriveShare, as discussed above under "Business Review". Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures in Item 8 of Part II of this
Annual Report for additional information.

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the change in the fair value of our warrant liabilities resulted in a gain of $11.5 million and $ 41.9  million,
respectively. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information with respect to our warrants.

Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized a revaluation gain on a previously held equity method investment of $34.7 million, which
represents the remeasurement of our 40% equity interest in Broad Arrow immediately prior to the Broad Arrow Acquisition in August 2022. Refer to Note 9 —
Acquisitions and Investments in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information with respect to our acquisition of Broad Arrow.

Interest and other income (expense)

Interest and other income (expense) was $22.8 million of income for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $2.0 million of income for the year ended
December 31, 2022. This increase was primarily due to a $19.5 million increase in interest income on cash balances, resulting from higher variable interest rates
and increased cash balances. In addition, the value of the TRA liability decreased by $2.6 million. These factors were partially offset by an increase in interest
expense of $0.5 million related to outstanding JPM Credit Facility borrowings due to higher variable interest rates.
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Income tax expense

Income tax expense was $16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $9.6 million compared to 2022. The increase in income tax
expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022 was primarily due to an increase in income before income tax expense of $46.0 million within
Hagerty Re, which is taxed as a corporation in the U.S. Refer to Note 22 — Taxation in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information with
respect to items affecting our effective tax rate.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Maintaining a strong balance sheet and capital position is a top priority for us. We manage liquidity globally and across all operating subsidiaries.

Key Developments — Financing Activities

In 2023, we took a number of actions to enhance our capital structure, strengthen our liquidity position, and provide additional financial flexibility including the
following:

• On June 23, 2023, Hagerty, Inc. issued 8,483,561 shares of our newly-designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price
of $80.0 million. This capital raise bolsters our cash balances and liquidity and provides working capital to drive profitable growth. Refer to Note 18 —
Convertible Preferred Stock in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

• On September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into an unsecured term loan credit facility with State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State
Farm") in the aggregate principal amount of $25.0 million (the "State Farm Term Loan"). As of December 31, 2023, Hagerty Re's statutory capital and
surplus included $25.0 million related to the State Farm Term Loan, which is recorded for statutory purposes as "Other Fixed Capital" and is also eligible
as "Tier 2 Ancillary Capital". This capital raise supports Hagerty Re's growth and we believe raising this additional capital was a positive factor that helped
Hagerty Re be assigned a financial strength rating of A- (Excellent) from AM Best. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual
Report for additional information related to the State Farm Term Loan.

• On November 28, 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into a Tenth Amendment to the JPM Credit Agreement (as defined below), which provides additional
operational flexibility to The Hagerty Group and its subsidiaries, and includes, among other things (i) additional baskets for investments, incurrence of
indebtedness and liens; (ii) changes to financial covenants; and (iii) the ability to issue additional indebtedness in the form of either incremental debt on a
pari-passu basis or on an asset-backed securitization basis. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional
information related to the JPM Credit Agreement.

• On December 21, 2023, Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as initial servicer, and its wholly owned subsidiary BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC, as borrower, entered
into a revolving credit agreement with a certain lender (the "BAC Credit Agreement"). The BAC Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility
(the "BAC Credit Facility") with an aggregate borrowing capacity of $75.0 million which will be used to fund the growth of BAC's asset-based lending
activities. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the BAC Credit Facility.

Sources and Uses of Liquidity

Our sources of liquidity include our: (i) balances of cash and cash equivalents; (ii) net working capital; (iii) cash flows from operations; (iv) borrowings from the
JPM Credit Facility (as defined below) to fund the general corporate needs of The Hagerty Group and its subsidiaries; and (v) borrowings from the BAC Credit
Facility to fund a substantial portion of the lending activities of BAC.

Our primary liquidity needs and capital requirements include cash required for: (i) the funding of business operations, including strategic investments; (ii) the
servicing and repayment of borrowings under the JPM Credit Facility, the BAC Credit Facility, and the State Farm Term Loan; (iii) the payment of income taxes;
and (iv) the funding of potential payments under the TRA.
Based on our current expectations, we believe that these sources of liquidity will be sufficient to provide an adequate level of capital to support our anticipated
short and long-term commitments, operating needs, and capital requirements.
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Financing Arrangements

JPM Credit Facility

The Hagerty Group has a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other financial institutions party thereto from time
to time as lenders, as amended (the "JPM Credit Agreement"). The JPM Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility (the "JPM Credit Facility") with
an aggregate borrowing capacity of $230.0 million. The JPM Credit Agreement matures in October 2026, but may be extended if agreed to by us and the
lenders party thereto. As of December 31, 2023, total outstanding borrowings under the JPM Credit Facility were $77.3 million. JPM Credit Facility borrowings
are collateralized by the assets of and equity interests in The Hagerty Group and its consolidated subsidiaries, except for (a) the assets held by the special
purpose entities related to the BAC Credit Facility and (b) all or a portion of certain foreign and certain excluded or immaterial subsidiaries. Under the JPM Credit
Agreement, we are required, among other things, to meet certain financial covenants, including a fixed charge coverage ratio and a leverage ratio. We were in
compliance with these financial covenants as of December 31, 2023.

Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information on the JPM Credit Facility.

BAC Credit Facility

On December 21, 2023, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and its wholly owned subsidiary BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC, as borrower, entered into the BAC Credit
Agreement. The BAC Credit Agreement provides for the BAC Credit Facility, which has an aggregate borrowing capacity of $75.0 million and is subject to a
borrowing base that is determined by a calculation that is primarily based upon a percentage of the carrying value of certain BAC notes receivable. As of
December 31, 2023, the borrowing base for the BAC Credit Agreement was $25.8 million.

The revolving borrowing period provided by the BAC Credit Agreement expires on December 21, 2025 and the BAC Credit Agreement matures on December
21, 2026. The revolving borrowing period and the maturity date of the BAC Credit Agreement may be extended by one year if requested by Broad Arrow Capital
LLC and agreed to by the administrative agent. Broad Arrow Capital LLC is not a borrower or guarantor of the BAC Credit Facility.

In conjunction with the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries transfer certain notes receivable originated by Broad
Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries to wholly owned, bankruptcy remote special purpose entities (each, an "SPE") to secure the borrowings under
the BAC Credit Agreement. These SPEs have the limited purpose of acquiring notes receivable or a certificate representing beneficial ownership interest therein
from Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries, with BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC also being the borrower under the BAC Credit Agreement. Assets
transferred to each SPE are legally isolated from the Company and its subsidiaries. Further, the assets of each SPE are owned by such SPE and are not
available to satisfy the debts or other obligations of the Company or any of its other subsidiaries. Broad Arrow Capital LLC continues to service the notes
receivable transferred to the SPEs.

Recourse to the Company and its subsidiaries that originated and transferred notes receivable that represent collateral under the BAC Credit Facility is limited to
(i) an obligation of the applicable seller to repurchase a note receivable if it is determined that there was a breach of any representation or warranty relating to
such note receivable as of the relevant date specified in the related transfer agreement and (ii) a limited guarantee covering certain liabilities that may result
under certain foreign exchange hedging activity of one of the SPEs.

Under the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC are required, among other things, to meet certain financial
covenants, including the requirement of Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as the servicer, to maintain a minimum tangible net worth, minimum liquidity balances, and an
indebtedness to tangible net worth ratio. As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the BAC Credit
Agreement.

Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the BAC Credit Agreement.

Capital and Dividend Restrictions

Through our reinsurance subsidiary, Hagerty Re, we reinsure the same personal lines risks that are underwritten by our MGA subsidiaries on behalf of our
insurance carrier partners. Hagerty Re's reinsurance operations are funded primarily through existing capital and net cash flows from operations. In addition, as
discussed above under "Key Developments — Financing Activities," on September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re bolstered its balance of cash and cash equivalents
with the $25.0 million in gross proceeds from the State Farm Term Loan. As of December 31, 2023, Hagerty Re had approximately $558.2 million in "Cash and
cash equivalents" and "Restricted cash and cash equivalents".
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We, and particularly Hagerty Re, pay close attention to the underlying underwriting and reserving risks by monitoring the pricing and loss development of the
underlying business written through our MGA subsidiaries. Additionally, Hagerty Re manages its investment portfolio in accordance with an investment policy
approved by its Board of Directors that seeks to generate an attractive total return on an after-tax basis on its investment assets, over the long-term, subject to
compliance with several constraints and objectives including a requirement to assume only a modest amount of risk of principal loss.

Capital Restrictions

In Bermuda, Hagerty Re is subject to the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement ("BSCR") administered by the BMA. No regulatory action is taken by the BMA
if an insurer’s capital and surplus is equal to or in excess of their enhanced capital requirement, as determined by the BSCR model. In addition, the BMA has
established a target capital level for each insurer which is 120% of the enhanced capital requirement. Hagerty Re maintained sufficient statutory capital and
surplus to comply with regulatory requirements as of December 31, 2023.

Dividend Restrictions

Under Bermuda law, Hagerty Re is prohibited from declaring or issuing a dividend if it fails to meet its minimum solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio. Prior
approval from the BMA is also required if Hagerty Re's proposed dividend payments would exceed 25% of its prior year-end total statutory capital and surplus.
The amount of dividends which could be paid by Hagerty Re in 2024 without prior approval is $54.7 million.

We believe that Hagerty Re's existing cash and cash equivalents, municipal securities, and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to support its working
capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. Hagerty Re's future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including its
reinsurance premium growth rate, renewal rates, underwriting results, successful entry in new geographic markets, and the continuing market adoption of its
product offerings.

Comparative Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

in thousands (except percentages)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 133,706 $ 55,328 $ 78,378 141.7 %
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities $ (52,647) $ (91,521) $ 38,874 42.5 %
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities $ 103,161 $ (28,084) $ 131,245 N/M

N/M = Not meaningful

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities primarily consists of net income, adjusted for non-cash items, and changes in working capital balances. Net cash provided
by operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is presented below:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 $ Change % Change

in thousands (except percentages)
Net income $ 28,179 $ 2,403 $ 25,776 N/M
Non-cash adjustments to net income 71,294 (5,547) 76,841 N/M
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 34,233 58,472 (24,239) (41.5)%

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 133,706 $ 55,328 $ 78,378 141.7 %

N/M = Not meaningful
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Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $133.7 million, an increase of $78.4 million, or 141.7%, compared to 2022.
This increase was due to a $102.6 million increase in Net income, after excluding non-cash adjustments, partially offset by a $24.2 million decrease in cash from
operating assets and liabilities.

The increase in Net income, after excluding non-cash adjustments, was primarily driven by organic growth across all areas of our business, as well as
management's cost containment measures. Also contributing to the favorable comparison to the prior year is an increase in interest income due to higher
variable interest rates earned on cash balances.

The decrease in cash from operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a decrease in Losses payable as a result of the settlement of claims, including
those related to Hurricane Ian. Also contributing to the change in operating assets and liabilities was the increase in Hagerty Re's U.S. quota share percentage
and organic revenue growth across our business.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 decreased $38.9 million when compared to 2022. The lower level of cash used in
investing activities was primarily due to a decrease in spending on internally developed software, as well as a lower level of acquisitions. Also contributing to the
year-over-year decrease is the $15.3 million Broad Arrow equity method investment made in January 2022 for which there was no comparable investment made
in the current year. The overall decrease in cash used in investing activities was partially offset by net cash outflows associated with the lending activities of
Broad Arrow, which increased $8.8 million compared to 2022. Refer to Note 4 — Notes Receivable and Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments in Item 8 of Part
II of this Annual Report for additional information related to the acquisition of Broad Arrow and its lending activities.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased $131.2 million when compared to 2022, primarily due to the issuance of
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which resulted in net cash proceeds of $79.2 million, after deducting issuance costs. In addition, Hagerty Re entered
into the State Farm Term Loan resulting in net cash inflows of $24.4 million, after deducting issuance costs, and Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as initial servicer, and
its wholly owned subsidiary BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC, as borrower, entered into the BAC Credit Agreement, resulting in net cash inflows of $22.9 million, after
deducting issuance costs.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Hagerty, Inc. expects to have adequate capital resources to meet the requirements and obligations under the TRA entered into with the Legacy Unit Holders on
December 2, 2021. The TRA provides for the payment by Hagerty, Inc. to the Legacy Unit Holders of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, under U.S.
federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax realized as a result of (i) any increase in tax basis of Hagerty, Inc.'s assets resulting from (a) the purchase of
The Hagerty Group units from any of the Legacy Unit Holders using the net proceeds from any future offering, (b) redemptions or exchanges by the Legacy Unit
Holders of Class V Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units for shares of Class A Common Stock or (c) payments under the TRA and (ii) tax benefits
related to imputed interest deemed arising as a result of payments made under the TRA.

Legacy Unit Holders may, subject to certain conditions and transfer restrictions as described in the Legacy Unit Holders Exchange Agreement executed in
connection with the Business Combination, redeem or exchange their Class V Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units for shares of Class A Common
Stock of Hagerty, Inc. on a one-for-one basis. The Hagerty Group made an election under Section 754 of the IRC with the filing of its 2019 income tax return,
which cannot be revoked without the permission of the IRS Commissioner and will be in place for any future exchange of The Hagerty Group units. The
redemptions and exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of The Hagerty Group. These increases in
tax basis may reduce the amount of tax that Hagerty, Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future. This payment obligation as a part of the TRA is an
obligation of Hagerty, Inc. and not of The Hagerty Group. For purposes of the TRA, the cash tax savings in income tax will be computed by comparing the actual
income tax liability of Hagerty, Inc. (calculated with certain assumptions) to the amount of such taxes that Hagerty, Inc. would have been required to pay had
there been no increase to the tax basis of the assets of The Hagerty Group as a result of the redemptions or exchanges and had Hagerty, Inc. not entered into
the TRA. Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the TRA is by nature imprecise, insofar as the calculation of amounts payable depends
on a variety of factors.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and other commitments as of December 31, 2023:

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than 1

year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than 5

years

in thousands
Debt $ 134,915 $ 3,654 $ 3,221 $ 103,040 $ 25,000 
Interest payments 20,710 2,814 4,396 4,000 9,500 
Operating leases 71,113 9,067 16,893 15,867 29,286 
Purchase commitments 8,618 8,350 268 — — 

Total $ 235,356 $ 23,885 $ 24,778 $ 122,907 $ 63,786 

Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt within Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information regarding outstanding debt balances.
Excludes variable rate debt interest payments and commitment fees related to borrowings under our JPM Credit Facility and BAC Credit Facility.

On June 23, 2023, we issued 8,483,561 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $80.0 million. Dividends on the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are cumulative and accrue from the date of issuance at the rate per annum of 7% of the Series A Purchase Price of each
share, plus the amount of previously accrued dividends, compounded annually (the "Accruing Dividends"). The Company may elect to pay the Accruing
Dividends either in cash or in additional shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. In addition, shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are
contingently redeemable for cash under certain circumstances. The table of contractual obligations above excludes any potential cash payments related to the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Refer to Note 18 — Convertible Preferred Stock in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information on the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2023.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make significant judgments, assumptions, and estimates that
materially affect the amounts reported in the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements. Management's judgments, assumptions, and estimates are based
on historical experience, future expectations, and other factors that are believed to be reasonable as of the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Actual results may ultimately differ from management's original estimates, as future events and circumstances sometimes do not develop as expected. The
following is a discussion of the critical accounting estimates that may have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Description

The provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is the difference between management's estimate of the ultimate cost of losses incurred by
Hagerty Re and the amount of paid losses as of the reporting date. These reserves reflect management's best estimate of unpaid losses related to both reported
claims and IBNR claims. These reserves also include management's best estimate of all expenses associated with processing and settling reported and
unreported claims. Management regularly reviews its reserve estimates and updates those estimates as new information becomes available or as events
emerge that may affect the resolution of unsettled claims. Updates made to reserve estimates based on new information may cause changes in prior reserve
estimates. These changes are recorded within losses and loss adjustment expenses in the period such changes are determined.

(1)

(2)

(1)    

(2)    
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The following table presents Hagerty Re's provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses, both gross and net of reinsurance recoverables, as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31, 2023
Gross % of Total Net % of Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Outstanding losses reported $ 86,420 63.3 % $ 84,651 63.0 %
IBNR 50,087 36.7 % 49,621 37.0 %

Total provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 136,507 100.0 % $ 134,272 100.0 %

December 31, 2022
Gross % of Total Net % of Total

in thousands (except percentages)
Outstanding losses reported $ 66,824 59.8 % $ 65,981 59.5 %
IBNR 44,917 40.2 % 44,917 40.5 %

Total provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 111,741 100.0 % $ 110,898 100.0 %

The following table summarizes the development of management's estimate of gross and net ultimate losses and loss adjustment expenses for the 2019 to
2022 accident years:

Gross Ultimate Loss & Loss Adjustment Expenses Net Ultimate Loss & Loss Adjustment Expenses
Accident Year 2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

in thousands
2019 $ 60,495 $ 60,495 $ — $ 60,495 $ 60,495 $ — 
2020 $ 85,313 $ 86,113 $ (800) $ 85,313 $ 86,113 $ (800)
2021 $ 126,391 $ 130,016 $ (3,625) $ 126,391 $ 130,016 $ (3,625)
2022 $ 188,012 $ 191,815 $ (3,803) $ 183,188 $ 186,463 $ (3,275)
2023 $ 231,231 N/A N/A $ 228,465 N/A N/A

Judgments and Uncertainties

Estimating the ultimate cost of claims and claims expenses is an inherently complex and subjective process that involves a high degree of judgment. The factors
considered by management in estimating the provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses include the following:

• historical trends in claim frequency and severity;

• the changing mix of business due to the large growth in modern collectible cars which carry a different risk profile than the risks associated with classic
cars;

• emerging economic and social trends;

• inflation, both economic and social;

• retention limits under current catastrophe and treaty reinsurance programs;

• legislative and judicial changes in the jurisdictions in which we write insurance; and

• management's assessment of broader industry experience and trends.
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Claims are analyzed and reported based on the year in which the loss occurred - i.e., on an accident year basis. Accident year data is classified and utilized
within actuarial models to prepare estimates of required reserves for payments to be made in the future. The timing of claim settlement varies and depends on
the type of claim being reported. Claims involving property damage are generally settled faster than bodily injury claims. Historical loss patterns are then applied
to actual paid losses and reported losses by accident year to develop expectations of future claim payments. Implicit within the actuarial models are estimates of
the impacts of inflation, especially for claims with longer expected cycle times. Refer to Note 12 — Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report for additional information regarding the methodologies used to estimate loss and loss adjustment expense reserves.

Reserves are reviewed quarterly and periodically throughout the year by combining historical results and current actual results to calculate new development
factors. When estimating loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, our actuarial reserving group considers claim cycle time, claims settlement practices,
adequacy of case reserves over time, the seasonality of our business, and current economic conditions.

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Estimates and Assumptions

Because actual experience can differ from key assumptions used in estimating reserves, there may be significant variation in the development of reserves and
the amount of actual losses and loss adjustment expenses ultimately paid in the future. Any adjustments to the provision for losses and loss adjustment
expenses are recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period in which management determines that an adjustment is required.

If the actual level of loss frequency and/or severity is higher or lower than our expectations, the ultimate cost of claims paid will differ from management's
estimates. An illustration of the potential effect of higher or lower levels of loss frequency and severity on our ultimate cost of claims for the 2023 accident year is
provided in the following table:

Change in both loss frequency and severity

Ultimate Cost of
Claims Occurring in

2023 Change
in thousands

3% Higher $ 242,379 $ 13,914 
2% Higher $ 237,695 $ 9,230 
1% Higher $ 233,057 $ 4,592 
Base Scenario $ 228,465 $ — 
1% Lower $ 223,919 $ (4,546)
2% Lower $ 219,418 $ (9,047)
3% Lower $ 214,963 $ (13,502)

Deferred Income Taxes

Description

Where applicable, income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying values of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and
operating loss and tax-credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. In determining the provision for income taxes for financial statement
purposes, we make estimates and judgments which affect our evaluation of the carrying value of our deferred tax assets, as well as our calculation of certain tax
liabilities.

Judgments and Uncertainties

We evaluate the carrying value of our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. In completing this evaluation, we consider all available positive and negative
evidence. Such evidence includes historical operating results, the existence of cumulative earnings and losses in the most recent fiscal years, taxable income in
prior carryback year(s) if permitted under the tax law, expectations for future taxable income, the time period over which our temporary differences will reverse,
and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. Estimating future taxable income is inherently uncertain and requires judgment. Deferred
tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of this evidence, it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the recorded deferred tax
assets will not be realized in future periods.
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded deferred tax assets of $ 184.2  million, of which $ 146.0  million relates to the difference between the
outside tax basis and book basis of its investment in the assets of The Hagerty Group. As of December 31, 2023, based on an assessment of all available
positive and negative evidence, management believes it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets, including the deferred tax asset for the
investment in the assets of The Hagerty Group, will not be realized. As a result, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $ 169.6  million against its
deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023.

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Estimates and Assumptions

If management's projections of future taxable income and other positive evidence considered in evaluating the need for the valuation allowance prove, with the
benefit of hindsight, to be inaccurate, it could prove more difficult to support the realization of the net deferred tax asset. As a result, an additional valuation
allowance could be required, which would have an adverse impact on the Company’s effective income tax rate and results. Conversely, if management
determines that sufficient positive evidence exists in the jurisdiction in which a valuation allowance is recorded, the Company may reverse all or a portion of the
valuation allowance in that jurisdiction. In such situations, the adjustment made to the deferred tax asset would have a favorable impact on the Company’s
effective income tax rate and results in the period such determination was made.

Liabilities under Tax Receivable Agreement

Description

In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into a TRA with the Legacy Unit Holders. The TRA provides for payment to the Legacy Unit
Holders of 85% of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax savings realized by Hagerty, Inc. as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax
benefits as outlined in the Business Combination Agreement (provided as Exhibit 2.1, incorporated by reference within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual Report)
upon the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Hagerty, Inc. Class V Common Stock for Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock or cash. The Hagerty Group
made an election under Section 754 of the IRC with the filing of its 2019 income tax return, which cannot be revoked without the permission of the IRS
Commissioner and will be in place for any future exchange of The Hagerty Group units. The remaining 15% cash tax savings resulting from the basis
adjustments will be retained by Hagerty, Inc.

Judgments and Uncertainties

The amount and timing of any payments under the TRA will vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the increase in tax basis of The
Hagerty Group's assets, the timing of any future redemptions, exchanges or purchases of The Hagerty Group units held by Legacy Unit Holders, the price of
Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock at the time of the purchase, redemption or exchange, the extent to which redemptions or exchanges are taxable, the
amount and timing of the taxable income that Hagerty, Inc. generates in the future, the tax rates then applicable and the portion of the payments under the TRA
constituting imputed interest.

If we do not generate sufficient taxable income in the aggregate over the term of the TRA to utilize the tax benefits, then we would not be required to make the
related payment under the TRA. Therefore, we only recognize a liability for the TRA if we determine it is probable that we will generate sufficient future taxable
income over the term of the TRA to utilize the related tax benefits. Estimating future taxable income is inherently uncertain and requires significant management
judgment.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recognized a liability of $0.6 million relating to its obligations under the TRA, which is limited by its ability to
currently utilize the related tax benefits.

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Estimates and Assumptions

Changes in the liability resulting from historical exchanges under the TRA may occur based on changes in anticipated future taxable income, changes in
applicable tax rates, or other changes in tax attributes that may occur and impact the expected future tax benefits to be received by the Company. Changes in
the projected liability under the TRA are and will be recorded as a component of "Interest and other income (expense)" each period. Actual taxable income may
differ from estimates, which could significantly impact the liability under the TRA and the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Description

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is not amortized, but is
tested annually for impairment at the reporting unit level as of October 1 and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist. These indicators
could include a decline in the Company’s stock price and market capitalization, a significant change in the outlook for the reporting unit's business, lower than
expected operating results, increased competition, legal factors, or the sale or disposition of a significant portion of a reporting unit. For reporting units with
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the reporting unit's carrying value, including goodwill, exceeds its fair value.

Our intangible assets are evaluated for impairment only when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
these assets may not be recoverable.

Judgments and Uncertainties

Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units and the determination of the estimated fair value of
reporting units. For reporting units with goodwill, we perform a qualitative analysis to determine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of the reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount. When assessing goodwill for impairment, our decision to perform a qualitative assessment for an individual reporting unit is
based on a number of factors, including the carrying value of the reporting unit's goodwill, the amount of time in between quantitative fair value assessments,
macro-economic conditions, industry and market conditions and the operating performance of the reporting unit. If it is determined, based on qualitative factors,
that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is performed, in which we
determine the estimated fair value of the reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis. This analysis requires significant judgment, including the
estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, available industry/market data, the estimation of the long-term rate of growth for the
reporting unit including expectations and assumptions regarding the impact of general economic conditions on the reporting unit, the estimation of the useful life
over which cash flows will occur (including terminal multiples), the determination of the respective weighted average cost of capital and market participant
assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of estimated fair value and potential impairment for each
reporting unit.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded goodwill of $114.2 million, including $ 103.6  million attributable to the Marketplace reporting unit, and
intangible assets of $91.9 million, consisting principally of internally developed software, renewal rights, and trade names and trademarks.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Estimates and Assumptions

Fair value determinations require considerable judgment and are sensitive to changes in underlying assumptions and factors. As a result, there can be no
assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the annual goodwill impairment test will prove to be an accurate prediction of the future.
Examples of events or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to negatively affect the underlying key assumptions and ultimately impact the estimated
fair value of our reporting units may include such items as: (i) failure to meet business plans; (ii) deterioration of the U.S. economy; (iii) an increase in interest
rates; or (iv) other unanticipated events and circumstances that may decrease the projected cash flows or increase the discount rates and could potentially result
in an impairment charge.

While historical performance and current expectations have generally resulted in the conclusion that our goodwill is not impaired, if our assumptions are not
realized, it is possible that an impairment charge may need to be recorded in the future. There can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made
for purposes of the annual goodwill impairment tests will prove to be an accurate prediction of the future.

Warrant Liabilities

Description

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 5,750,000 Public Warrants outstanding, 257,500 Private Placement Warrants outstanding, 28,750 Underwriter
Warrants, 1,300,000 OTM Warrants outstanding, and 12,147,300 PIPE Warrants outstanding.

The Company accounts for these warrants as liabilities as they do not meet the criteria for equity treatment. Accordingly, the warrants are measured at fair value
each reporting period with the change in fair value between reporting periods recorded within "Change in fair value of warrant liabilities" in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
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Judgments and Uncertainties

The Company's Private Placement Warrants, Underwriter Warrants, OTM Warrants, and PIPE Warrants are Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The
Company utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation model to measure the fair value of these warrants. The Company’s Monte Carlo simulation model includes
assumptions related to the expected stock price volatility, expected term, dividend yield, and risk-free interest rate.

The following table summarizes the significant inputs used in the valuation model for the private warrants as of December 31, 2023:

Inputs
Private Placement

Warrants Underwriter Warrants OTM Warrants PIPE Warrants
Exercise price $ 11.50 $ 11.50 $ 15.00 $ 11.50
Common stock price $ 7.80 $ 7.80 $ 7.80 $ 7.80
Volatility 48.6 % 48.6 % 46.0 % 48.6 %
Expected term of the warrants 2.92 2.92 7.93 2.92
Risk-free rate 4.00 % 4.00 % 3.90 % 4.00 %
Dividend yield — % — % — % — %

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Estimates and Assumptions

We believe that the significant inputs and assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation model are reasonable and appropriately value our Level 3 warrants.
However, to the extent that the significant inputs and assumptions used in the valuation model change between reporting periods, the recorded amount of our
warrant liabilities would be impacted, resulting in an increase or decrease to the liability and our earnings.

Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements, in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report, for additional information related to the significant inputs to the Monte
Carlo simulation model.

New Accounting Standards

New accounting standards are described in Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Standards, in Item 8 of Part II of this
Annual Report, which are incorporated herein by reference.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA

We define Adjusted EBITDA as consolidated Net income excluding interest and other income (expense), income tax expense, and depreciation and amortization,
adjusted to exclude (i) changes in the fair value of our warrant liabilities; (ii) share-based compensation expense; and when applicable, (iii) restructuring,
impairment and related charges, net; (iv) the net gain or loss from asset disposals; (v) losses and impairments related to divestitures; (vi) the revaluation gain on
a previously held equity method investment; and (vii) certain other unusual items.

We present Adjusted EBITDA because we consider it to be an important supplemental measure of the Company's performance and believe it is frequently used
by securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our industry. Management uses Adjusted EBITDA as a measure
of the operating performance of our business on a consistent basis, as it removes the impact of items not directly resulting from our core operations.

By providing this non-GAAP financial measure, together with a reconciliation to net income (loss), which is the most comparable GAAP measure, we believe we
are enhancing investors’ understanding of our business and our results of operations, as well as assisting investors in evaluating how well we are executing our
strategic initiatives. However, Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation, or as an alternative to, or a
substitute for net income (loss) or other financial statement data presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements as indicators of financial performance.
Hagerty's definition of Adjusted EBITDA may be different than similarly titled measures used by other companies in our industry, which could reduce the
usefulness of this non-GAAP financial measure when comparing our performance to that of other companies.
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The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, which is Net income:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Net income $ 28,179 $ 2,403 

Interest and other income (22,821) (2,028)
Income tax expense 16,593 7,017 
Depreciation and amortization 45,809 33,887 

EBITDA 67,760 41,279 
Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net 8,812 18,324 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (11,543) (41,899)
Share-based compensation expense 17,729 12,129 
Losses and impairments related to divestitures 4,013 — 
Revaluation gain previously held equity method investment — (34,735)
Net loss from asset disposals — 1,970 
Other unusual items 1,391 992 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 88,162 $ (1,940)

Other unusual items primarily includes certain legal settlement expenses (net) recognized in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and certain non-restructuring
severance expenses recognized in the year ended December 31, 2022.

Adjusted EPS

We define Adjusted Earnings (Loss) Per Share ("Adjusted EPS") as consolidated Net income (loss), less changes in the fair value of our warrant liabilities and,
when applicable, the revaluation gain on a previously held equity method investment, divided by our outstanding and total potentially dilutive securities, which
includes (i) the weighted-average issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock; (ii) all issued and outstanding non-controlling interest units of The
Hagerty Group; (iii) all unexercised warrants; (iv) all unissued share-based compensation awards; and (v) all issued and outstanding shares of our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock on an as-converted basis.

The most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EPS is basic earnings per share ("Basic EPS"), which is calculated as Net income (loss) available to
Class A Common Stockholders divided by the weighted average number of Class A Common Stock shares outstanding during the period.

We present Adjusted EPS because we consider it to be an important supplemental measure of our operating performance and believe it is used by securities
analysts, investors and other interested parties in evaluating the consolidated performance of other companies in our industry. We also believe that Adjusted
EPS, which compares our consolidated Net income (loss) with our outstanding and potentially dilutive shares, provides useful information to investors regarding
our performance on a fully consolidated basis.

Management uses Adjusted EPS:

• as a measurement of operating performance of our business on a fully consolidated basis;

• to evaluate the performance and effectiveness of our operational strategies; and

• as a preferred predictor of core operating performance, comparisons to prior periods and competitive positioning.

We caution investors that Adjusted EPS is not a recognized measure under GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to,
the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, including Basic EPS, and that Adjusted EPS, as we define it, may be defined or
calculated differently by other companies. In addition, Adjusted EPS has limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered as a measure of profit or
loss per share.

(1)

(1)    
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The following table reconciles Adjusted EPS to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, which is Basic EPS:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands (except per share amounts)
Numerator:

Net income available to Class A Common Stockholders $ 15,881 $ 32,078 
Undistributed earnings allocated to Series A Convertible Preferred Stock 673 — 
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock 3,677 — 
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest 7,948 (29,675)

Consolidated net income 28,179 2,403 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (11,543) (41,899)
Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment — (34,735)

Adjusted consolidated net income (loss) $ 16,636 $ (74,231)

Denominator:
Weighted average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding — basic 84,180 82,728
Total potentially dilutive securities outstanding:

Conversion of non-controlling interest units of The Hagerty Group to Class A Common Stock 255,499 255,758 
Conversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to Class A Common Stock 6,785 — 
Total unissued share-based compensation awards 8,385 6,902 
Total warrants outstanding 19,484 19,484 

Potentially dilutive shares outstanding 290,153 282,144 
Fully dilutive shares outstanding 374,333 364,872 

Basic EPS $ 0.19 $ 0.39 

Adjusted EPS $ 0.04 $ (0.20)

Numerator and Denominator, respectively, of the GAAP measure Basic EPS
Numerator and Denominator, respectively, of the non-GAAP measure Adjusted EPS

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(1)    

(2)    
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to interest rate risk as part of our ongoing business operations. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in prevailing market interest rates.

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $68.0 million of variable rate indebtedness (after taking into consideration $35.0 million in interest rate swaps
which effectively convert variable-rate debt to fixed-rate debt), representing approximately 50% of our total debt outstanding, at an average interest rate during
the year ended December 31, 2023 of approximately 7.30%. Based on variable-rate borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2023, a 100-basis point (or
1.0%) change in our borrowing rates would result in our annual interest payments changing by approximately $0.7 million.

We also have a portfolio of loans secured by collector cars of approximately $52.9 million as of December 31, 2023, upon which interest is earned predominately
at variable rates including Prime Rate and Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR").
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Hagerty, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hagerty, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in temporary and stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and the schedules listed in the index at Item 8 (collectively referred to as the
"financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2023, and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Detroit, Michigan
March 12, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

REVENUE: in thousands (except per share amounts)
Commission and fee revenue $ 365,512  $ 307,238  $ 271,571  
Earned premium 531,866  403,061  295,824  
Membership, marketplace and other revenue 102,835  77,289  51,684  
Total revenue 1,000,213  787,588  619,079  

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and benefits 216,896  199,542  171,901  
Ceding commission, net 251,805  191,150  140,983  
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 220,658  182,402  122,080  
Sales expense 156,378  140,781  107,483  
General and administrative services 85,434  89,068  64,558  
Depreciation and amortization 45,809  33,887  22,144  
Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net 8,812  18,324  —  
Losses and impairments related to divestitures 4,013  —  —  

Total operating expenses 989,805  855,154  629,149  
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 10,408  ( 67,566 ) ( 10,070 )

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 11,543  41,899  ( 42,540 )
Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment —  34,735  —  
Interest and other income (expense) 22,821  2,028  ( 1,993 )

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 44,772  11,096  ( 54,603 )
Income tax expense ( 16,593 ) ( 7,017 ) ( 6,751 )
Loss from equity method investment, net of tax —  ( 1,676 ) —  

NET INCOME (LOSS) 28,179  2,403  ( 61,354 )
Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest ( 7,948 ) 29,675  398  
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest —  —  14,598  
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ( 3,677 ) —  —  

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO CLASS A COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $ 16,554  $ 32,078  $ ( 46,358 )

Earnings (loss) per share of Class A Common Stock:
Basic $ 0.19  $ 0.39  $ ( 0.56 )
Diluted $ 0.09  $ ( 0.07 ) $ ( 0.56 )

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding:
Basic 84,180  82,728  82,327  
Diluted 340,323  336,147  82,327  

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Net income (loss) $ 28,179  $ 2,403  ( 61,354 )
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 1,564  ( 1,834 ) ( 792 )
Derivative instruments ( 1,060 ) 2,699  1,019  

Other comprehensive income 504  865  227  
Comprehensive income (loss) 28,683  3,268  ( 61,127 )

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest ( 8,327 ) 29,675  398  
Comprehensive loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest —  —  14,598  
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ( 3,677 ) —  —  

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Class A Common Stockholders $ 16,679  $ 32,943  $ ( 46,131 )

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2023 2022

ASSETS in thousands (except share amounts)

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,326  $ 95,172  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 615,950  444,019  

Accounts receivable 71,530  58,255  

Premiums receivable 137,525  100,700  

Commissions receivable 79,115  60,151  

Notes receivable 35,896  25,493  

Deferred acquisition costs, net 141,637  107,342  

Other current assets 60,239  45,651  

Total current assets 1,250,218  936,783  

Notes receivable 17,018  11,934  

Property and equipment, net 20,764  25,256  

Lease right-of-use assets 50,515  82,398  

Intangible assets, net 91,924  104,024  

Goodwill 114,214  115,041  

Other long-term assets 43,559  37,082  

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,588,212  $ 1,312,518  

LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 87,175  $ 77,049  

Losses payable 62,001  55,516  

Provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 136,507  111,741  

Commissions payable 108,739  77,075  

Due to insurers 79,815  68,171  

Advanced premiums 20,471  17,084  

Unearned premiums 317,275  235,462  

Contract liabilities 30,316  25,257  

Total current liabilities 842,299  667,355  

Long-term lease liabilities 50,459  80,772  

Long-term debt, net 130,680  108,280  

Warrant liabilities 34,018  45,561  

Deferred tax liability 15,937  12,850  

Contract liabilities 17,335  19,169  

Other long-term liabilities 4,139  11,162  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,094,867  945,149  

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 24) —  —  

TEMPORARY EQUITY

Preferred stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 20,000,000 shares authorized, 8,483,561 Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of

December 31, 2023 and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022) 82,836  —  

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Class A Common Stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 500,000,000 shares authorized, 84,588,536 and 83,202,969 issued and outstanding as of December 31,

2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively) 8  8  

Class V Common Stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 300,000,000 authorized, 251,033,906 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and

December 31, 2022) 25  25  

Additional paid-in capital 561,754  549,034  

Accumulated earnings (deficit) ( 468,995 ) ( 489,602 )

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ( 88 ) ( 213 )

Total stockholders' equity 92,704  59,252  

Non-controlling interest 317,805  308,117  

Total equity (Note 19) 410,509  367,369  

TOTAL LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 1,588,212  $ 1,312,518  

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Temporary Equity and Stockholders' Equity

Temporary Equity Stockholders' Equity

Series A Convertible

Preferred Stock Class A Common Stock Class V Common Stock Additional

Paid in

Capital

Accumulated

Earnings

(Deficit)

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

Total

Stockholders'

Equity

Non-

controlling

Interest Total Equityin thousands Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2022 —  $ —  83,203  $ 8  251,034  $ 25  $ 549,034  $ ( 489,602 ) $ ( 213 ) $ 59,252  $ 308,117  $ 367,369  

Net income — — — — — — — 20,231  — 20,231  7,948  28,179  

Accretion of Series A

Convertible Preferred Stock — 3,677  — — — — ( 3,677 ) — — ( 3,677 ) — ( 3,677 )

Other comprehensive income — — — — — — — — 125  125  379  504  

Issuance of shares under

employee plans — — 1,126  — — — 1,526  — — 1,526  — 1,526  

Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 18,017  — — 18,017  — 18,017  

Conversion of The Hagerty

Group units to Class A Common

Stock — — 260  — — — 2,311  — — 2,311  ( 2,311 ) —  

Issuance of Series A Convertible

Preferred Stock, net of issuance

costs 8,484  79,159  — — — — — — — — — — 

Non-controlling interest issued

capital — — — — — — — — — — 779  779  

Termination of MHH Joint

Venture (see Note 10) — — — — — — ( 1,038 ) 376  — ( 662 ) ( 1,526 ) ( 2,188 )

Reallocation between controlling

and non-controlling interest — — — — — — ( 4,419 ) — — ( 4,419 ) 4,419  —  

Balance at December 31, 2023 8,484  $ 82,836  84,589  $ 8  251,034  $ 25  $ 561,754  $ ( 468,995 ) $ ( 88 ) $ 92,704  $ 317,805  $ 410,509  

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Temporary Equity and Stockholders' Equity

Temporary
Equity Stockholders' Equity

Redeemable

Non-

controlling

Interest

Members'

Equity

Class A Common Stock Class V Common Stock Additional

Paid in

Capital

Accumulated

Earnings

(Deficit)

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income/(Loss)

Total

Stockholders'

/ Members'

Equity

Non-

controlling

Interest Total Equityin thousands Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ —  $ 62,320  —  $ —  —  $ —  $ —  $ 56,832  $ ( 1,954 ) $ 117,198  $ 123  $ 117,321  

Net income (loss) before Business

Combination — — — — — — — ( 3,089 ) — ( 3,089 ) ( 312 ) ( 3,401 )

Other comprehensive income before

Business Combination — — — — — — — — 248  248  — 248  

Distributions before Business

Combination — ( 4,056 ) — — — — — — — ( 4,056 ) — ( 4,056 )

Non-controlling interest issued capital

before Business Combination — — — — — — — — — — 1,580  1,580  

Business Combination 238,265  ( 58,264 ) 82,327  8  251,034  25  526,711  ( 489,661 ) — ( 21,181 ) — ( 21,181 )

Net income (loss) after Business

Combination ( 11,510 ) — — — — — — ( 46,358 ) ( 46,358 ) ( 86 ) ( 46,444 )

Other comprehensive income (loss)

after Business Combination — — — — — — — — ( 21 ) ( 21 ) — ( 21 )

Fair value adjustment for redeemable

non-controlling interest 366,522  — — — — — ( 366,522 ) — — ( 366,522 ) — ( 366,522 )

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 593,277  $ —  82,327  $ 8  251,034  $ 25  $ 160,189  $ ( 482,276 ) $ ( 1,727 ) $ ( 323,781 ) $ 1,305  $

( 322,476

)

Net income (loss) before exchange

agreement amendment ( 11,205 ) — — — — — — ( 3,679 ) — ( 3,679 ) ( 172 ) ( 3,851 )

Other comprehensive income before

exchange agreement amendment — — — — — — — — 1,657  1,657  — 1,657  

Redemption value adjustment for

redeemable non-controlling interest 1,560,418  — — — — — ( 162,095 ) ( 1,398,325 ) — ( 1,560,420 ) — 

( 1,560,420

)

Removal of the redeemable feature of

the non-controlling interest ( 2,142,490 ) — — — — — 528,615  1,398,325  — 1,926,940  215,550  2,142,490  

Net income (loss) after exchange

agreement amendment — — — — — — — 35,757  — 35,757  ( 18,298 ) 17,459  

Other comprehensive income (loss)

after exchange agreement amendment — — — — — — — — ( 792 ) ( 792 ) — ( 792 )

Exercise of warrants — — 125  — — — 1,906  — — 1,906  — 1,906  

Issuance of shares under employee

plans — — 37  — — — — — — — — — 

Stock-based compensation — — — — — — 12,129  — — 12,129  — 12,129  

Non-controlling interest issued capital — — — — — — — — — — 1,700  1,700  

Broad Arrow acquisition — — 714  — — — 9,613  — — 9,613  63,640  73,253  

Cumulative effect of adoption of ASC

842 — — — — — — — 1,066  — 1,066  3,248  4,314  

Reallocation between controlling and

non-controlling interest — — — — — — ( 1,323 ) ( 40,470 ) 649  ( 41,144 ) 41,144  — 

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ —  $ —  83,203  $ 8  251,034  $ 25  $ 549,034  $ ( 489,602 ) $ ( 213 ) $ 59,252  $ 308,117  $ 367,369  

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES: in thousands

Net income (loss) $ 28,179  $ 2,403  $ ( 61,354 )

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ( 11,543 ) ( 41,899 ) 42,540  

Loss on equity method investment —  1,676  —  

Revaluation gain on previously held equity method investment —  ( 34,735 ) —  

Depreciation and amortization 45,809  33,887  22,144  

Provision for deferred taxes 2,921  2,973  3,038  

Impairment of operating lease right-of-use assets 1,147  4,698  —  

Loss on disposals of equipment, software and other assets 1,894  4,316  2,425  

Losses and impairments related to divestitures 2,827  —  —  

Share-based compensation expense 18,017  12,129  —  

Non-cash lease expense 11,681  10,875  —  

Other ( 1,459 ) 533  155  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts, premiums and commission receivable ( 69,879 ) ( 52,036 ) ( 39,123 )

Deferred acquisition costs ( 34,295 ) ( 25,807 ) ( 22,963 )

Losses payable 6,485  21,034  12,502  

Provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 24,766  36,872  19,882  

Commissions payable 31,664  16,472  16,805  

Due to insurers 11,510  10,427  8,883  

Advanced premiums 3,370  3,259  124  

Unearned premiums 81,813  60,263  50,491  

Operating lease liabilities ( 11,243 ) ( 9,779 ) —  

Other assets and liabilities, net ( 9,958 ) ( 2,233 ) ( 13,268 )

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 133,706  55,328  42,281  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Capital expenditures ( 26,403 ) ( 44,375 ) ( 43,370 )

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ( 8,683 ) ( 15,404 ) ( 14,609 )

Purchase of previously held equity method investment —  ( 15,250 ) —  

Issuance of note receivable to previously held equity method investment —  ( 7,000 ) —  

Issuance of notes receivable ( 24,939 ) ( 6,123 ) —  

Collection of notes receivable 10,357  370  —  

Purchase of fixed income securities ( 10,568 ) ( 4,234 ) ( 12,246 )

Maturities of fixed income securities 7,468  1,216  1,183  

Other investing activities 121  ( 721 ) 48  

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities ( 52,647 ) ( 91,521 ) ( 68,994 )

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Payments on long-term debt ( 139,850 ) ( 122,500 ) ( 42,500 )

Proceeds from long-term debt, net of issuance costs 161,547  94,367  108,038  

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs 79,159  —  —  

Contribution from non-controlling interest 779  1,700  1,580  

Distributions —  —  ( 4,056 )

Cash received in Business Combination —  —  789,661  

Cash consideration to HHC at closing of Business Combination —  —  ( 489,661 )

Payment of capitalized transaction costs —  ( 1,651 ) ( 30,991 )

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 1,526  —  —  

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities 103,161  ( 28,084 ) 332,071  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents 865  ( 504 ) ( 464 )

Change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents 185,085  ( 64,781 ) 304,894  

Beginning cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents 539,191  603,972  299,078  

Ending cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 724,276  $ 539,191  $ 603,972  

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 23 for information regarding Related-Party Transactions.
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Hagerty, Inc.
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements

1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Standards

In these Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the terms "Hagerty," and "the Company" refer to Hagerty, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries,
including The Hagerty Group, LLC ("The Hagerty Group"), unless the context requires otherwise. In addition, the Company's insurance policyholders and paid
Hagerty Drivers Club ("HDC") subscribers are collectively referred to herein as "Members".

Description of Business — Hagerty is a market leader in providing insurance for classic cars and enthusiast vehicles. Through Hagerty's insurance model, the
Company acts as a Managing General Agent ("MGA") by underwriting, selling and servicing classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies. The Company
then reinsures a large portion of the risks written by its MGA subsidiaries through its wholly owned subsidiary, Hagerty Reinsurance Limited ("Hagerty Re"). In
addition, Hagerty offers HDC memberships, which can be bundled with its insurance policies and give subscribers access to an array of products and services,
including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive enthusiast events, Hagerty's proprietary vehicle valuation tool, emergency roadside assistance, and
special vehicle-related discounts. Lastly, to complement its insurance membership offerings, the Company offers Hagerty Marketplace ("Marketplace"), where
car enthusiasts can buy, sell, and finance collector cars.

Basis of Presentation — The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America ("GAAP") and pursuant to the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and include the accounts of Hagerty, Inc., which is
comprised of The Hagerty Group and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all normal recurring adjustments and accruals that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair
statement of the Company's financial position and results of operations for periods presented.

Principles of Consolidation — The Consolidated Financial Statements contain the accounts of Hagerty, Inc. and its majority-owned or controlled subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, Hagerty, Inc. had economic ownership of 24.9 % and 24.5 %, respectively, of The Hagerty Group and is its sole managing
member. Hagerty, Inc. reports a non-controlling interest representing the economic interest in The Hagerty Group held by other parties.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, The Hagerty Group owned 100 % and approximately 80 %, respectively, of Member Hubs Holding, LLC ("MHH"), which
operates as Hagerty Garage + Social. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures for additional information related to MHH and
Hagerty Garage + Social.

The financial statements of The Hagerty Group and MHH are consolidated by the Company under the voting interest method guidance in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 810, Consolidations ("ASC 810"). The non-controlling interests related to The Hagerty Group and MHH are
presented separately on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), Consolidated Balance Sheets,
and Consolidated Statements of Changes in Temporary Equity and Stockholders' Equity.

All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities — Broad Arrow Capital LLC ("BAC") and certain of its subsidiaries transfer notes receivable to wholly owned, bankruptcy-remote,
special purpose entities (each, an "SPE") to secure borrowings under the BAC Credit Agreement (as defined in Note 17 — Long-Term Debt).

These SPEs are considered to be variable interest entities (each, a "VIE") under GAAP and their financial statements are consolidated by BAC, which is the
primary beneficiary of the SPEs and a consolidated subsidiary of the Company. BAC is considered to be the primary beneficiary of the SPEs because it has (i)
power over the significant activities of the SPEs through its role as servicer of the notes receivable used to secure borrowings under the BAC Credit Agreement
and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns that could be significant through its interest in the residual cash flows of the SPEs.

Refer to 4 — Notes Receivable and Note 17 — Long-Term Debt for additional information.
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The following table presents the assets and liabilities of the Company's consolidated variable interest entities:

December 31,
2023 2022

ASSETS in thousands
Cash and cash equivalents $ 83  $ —  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 961  —  
Accounts receivable 190  —  
Notes receivable 30,125  —  
Other assets 2,900  —  

TOTAL ASSETS $ 34,259  $ —  

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 1,881  $ —  
Long-term debt, net 25,782  —  

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 27,663  $ —  

Emerging Growth Company — The Company currently qualifies as an "emerging growth company" under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012
and can delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards until those standards would apply to private companies.

The Company intends to avail itself of this extended transition period and, therefore, the Company may not be subject to the same new or revised accounting
standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies or have opted out of using such extended transition period. As of December 31,
2023, the Company has not delayed the adoption of any new or revised accounting standards despite qualifying as an emerging growth company.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the Consolidated
Financial Statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Although the estimates are considered reasonable,
actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Significant estimates made by management include, but are not limited to: (i) the provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, including incurred
but not reported ("IBNR") claims (see Note 12); (ii) the valuation of the Company's deferred income tax assets (see Note 22); (iii) the amount of the liability
associated with the Tax Receivable Agreement ("TRA") (see Note 22); (iv) the fair values of the reporting units used in assessing the recoverability of goodwill
(see Note 11); (v) the valuation and useful lives of intangible assets (see Note 11); and (vi) the fair value of the Company's warrant liabilities (see Note 16).
Although some variability is inherent in these estimates, management believes that the current estimates are reasonable in all material respects. These
estimates are reviewed regularly and adjusted as necessary. Adjustments related to changes in estimates are reflected in the Company’s results of operations
in the period during which those estimates changed.

Segment Information — The Company has one operating segment and one reportable segment. The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") is
the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), who makes resource allocation decisions and assesses performance based on consolidated financial information. The
Company’s segment presentation reflects a management approach that utilizes a decision making framework with its Members and customers at the center of
all decisions, which requires the CODM to have a consolidated view of the Company's results.

Foreign Currency Translation — The Company translates its foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities into United States ("U.S.") dollars at current
rates of exchange as of the balance sheet date, and foreign currency denominated income and expense items at the average exchange rate for the reporting
period. Translation adjustments resulting from exchange rate fluctuations are recorded in "Foreign currency translation adjustments", a component of
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recognized within "Interest and other income (expense)" in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents includes amounts held in banks in operating
accounts and money market funds. The Company considers money market funds with maturities within 90 days of the purchase date to be equivalent to cash.
At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits.
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The Company's MGA subsidiaries collect premiums from insureds on behalf of insurance carriers. Prior to remittance to the insurance carrier, these funds are
required to be held in trust and segregated from the Company's operating cash. These funds are recorded within "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" with a
corresponding liability recorded within "Due to insurers" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Hagerty Re maintains a trust account for the benefit of the ceding insurer as security for their obligations for losses, loss expenses, unearned premium and
profit-sharing commissions. The use of the funds in this trust account is restricted to the payment of these amounts and is reported within "Restricted cash and
cash equivalents" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Broad Arrow Capital LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries maintain bank accounts that are required for the operation of the BAC Credit Facility (as defined in
Note 17 — Long-Term Debt). The funds in these bank accounts represent security under the BAC Credit Facility and their use is restricted to the servicing of the
debt outstanding under that facility. The funds held in these bank accounts are reported within "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,326  $ 95,172  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 615,950  444,019  

Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 724,276  $ 539,191  

The table below presents information regarding the Company's non-cash investing and financing activities, as well as the cash paid for interest and taxes for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES: in thousands
Capital expenditures $ 282  $ 1,592  $ 4,668  
Broad Arrow acquisition $ —  $ 73,253  $ —  
Other acquisitions and investments $ 2,142  $ 8,273  $ 3,774  
Warrant liabilities recognized in Business Combination $ —  $ —  $ 46,826  
Termination of MHH Joint Venture (Refer to Note 10) $ 2,929  $ —  $ —  

CASH PAID FOR:
Interest $ 6,126  $ 4,868  $ 2,502  
Income taxes $ 10,500  $ 5,253  $ 2,160  

Deferred Acquisition Costs, net — Deferred acquisition costs are the ceding commissions paid by Hagerty Re to insurance carriers for the risk assumed under
the quota share agreements with those carriers. Deferred acquisition costs are recorded net of commissions received by Hagerty Re for the risk ceded to
various reinsurers. Net acquisition costs are deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the related policies, which is generally 12 months.

Deferred acquisition costs are considered to be recoverable if the sum of expected future earned premiums exceeds expected future claims and expenses.
Anticipated investment income is also a factor in the recoverability analysis. If, as a result of the recoverability analysis, a loss is determined to be probable, a
premium deficiency reserve is recognized in the period in which such determination is made. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, deferred acquisition costs were
considered fully recoverable and no premium deficiency reserve was recorded.
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Other Assets — Other assets, current and long-term, primarily consists of prepaid sales, general and administrative expenses, prepaid software-as-a-service
("SaaS") implementation costs, fixed income investments, and deferred reinsurance premiums ceded.

• Prepaid expenses are recorded at cost and amortized over the applicable service term.

• The Company expenses SaaS implementation costs incurred during the preliminary project stage and, upon management approval, capitalizes direct
implementation costs once the development phase begins. Capitalized SaaS implementation costs are recorded within prepaid expenses and are
amortized over the term of the underlying service agreement. The Company monitors SaaS implementation projects on an ongoing basis and capitalizes
the costs of any major improvements or new functionality. Once the software is fully implemented, ongoing maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

• Fixed income investments consist of Canadian provincial and municipal bonds which qualify as debt securities under ASC Topic 320, Investments – Debt
Securities. Fixed income investments are classified as held-to-maturity because the Company has the intent and ability to hold these investments to
maturity. As a result, fixed income investments are carried at amortized cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortized cost is the amount at which
an investment is acquired, adjusted for applicable accrued interest and accretion of discount or amortization of premium. Premium or discount is
amortized on a straight-line basis to maturity. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements for additional information.

• Deferred reinsurance premiums ceded consists of the unearned portion of premiums ceded by Hagerty Re to various reinsurers. Deferred reinsurance
premiums are recognized on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related reinsured policies as a reduction to "Earned premium" in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Notes Receivable — Notes receivable includes loans underwritten by BAC secured by collector cars. Notes receivable are recorded on the date the loan is
funded based on the amount stipulated in the underlying agreement. Loans made by BAC carry either a fixed or variable rate of interest and typically have an
initial maturity of up to two years , often with an option for the borrower to renew for one year increments, provided the borrower remains in good standing.
Finance revenue on the loans is recognized when earned based on the amount of the outstanding loan, the applicable interest rate on the loan, and the length
of time the loan was outstanding during the period.

Notes receivable are recorded net of an allowance for expected credit losses, which is based on management's quarterly risk assessment and takes into
consideration a number of factors including the level of historical losses for similar loans, the quality of collateral, the low loan-to-value ratio of the loans,
management's overall assessment of the current circumstances and risks related to each loan, and, to a lesser extent, the circumstances related to each
borrower. The valuation of collector cars is inherently subjective, and the realizable value of collector cars often fluctuates over time. Refer to Note 4 — Notes
Receivable for additional information.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful life of each asset. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of either the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. Estimated useful lives range from three
to seven years for computers, automobiles and office furniture. Building and building improvements have estimated useful lives of 39 years. Upon sale or
retirement, the cost and related accumulated depreciation of the assets disposed are derecognized, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Annual depreciation is calculated based on the straight-line method. Maintenance, repair costs and minor renovations
are expensed as incurred, while expenditures that increase the asset's estimated useful life are capitalized.

Leases — At inception, contracts are evaluated to determine whether they are or contain a lease. A contract is or contains a lease if it conveys the right to
control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of time in exchange for consideration. At commencement, leases are evaluated for
classification as an operating lease or finance lease. Operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the
lease based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted using the Company's incremental borrowing rate. The Company estimates
the incremental borrowing rate based on qualitative factors including company specific credit rating, lease term, impact of collateral, general economics and the
interest rate environment. Operating lease liabilities represent the present value of lease payments not yet paid. Operating lease ROU assets are recorded
based upon the operating lease liabilities adjusted for prepayments or accrued lease payments, initial direct costs, lease incentives, and previously recognized
impairments. The Company does not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases. The Company has real estate lease agreements that
contain lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease component.

The Company’s leases often contain fixed rent escalations over the lease term. The Company recognizes expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The Company also has lease agreements that are subject to annual changes in the Consumer Price Index ("CPI"). While lease liabilities are not
remeasured as a result of changes to the CPI, changes to the CPI are treated as variable lease payments and recognized in the period in which the obligation
for those payments has incurred.
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The Company’s lease agreements may contain variable costs such as common area maintenance, operating expenses, real estate taxes or other costs.
Variable lease costs are expensed as incurred within "General and administrative services" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company’s lease
agreements generally do not contain any residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants.

The Company has the option to extend most of its lease agreements, with renewals ranging from one to 20 years. The Company includes renewal options in
lease terms that are deemed reasonably certain of being exercised in the lease term. As it is not reasonably certain that the Company will exercise these
renewal options, they are not included in the lease terms for purposes of calculating the Company's lease liability. The Company adopted ASC Topic 842,
Leases ("ASC 842") effective January 1, 2022 under the modified retrospective approach.

The Company’s primary operating leases consist of office space. The Company’s leases have remaining terms of one to 13 years. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, the Company had not entered into any finance leases. Refer to Note 7 — Leases for additional information.

Intangible Assets — Intangible assets are recorded at cost and amortized over the estimated life of each intangible asset. Acquired intangible assets are
initially recorded at fair value using generally accepted valuation methods appropriate for the type of intangible assets. Intangible assets primarily consist of
insurance policy renewal rights, internally developed software, trade names, non-compete agreements and customer relationships. Amortization is recorded
using the straight-line method over their estimated lives as it approximates the pattern over which economic benefits are realized. Insurance policy renewal
rights, internally developed software, trade names, non-complete agreements and customer relationships are amortized over three to 25 years. The Company
expenses internally developed software costs incurred during the preliminary project stage and, upon management approval, capitalizes direct development
costs including the associated payroll and related costs for employees working on development and outside contractor costs.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — The Company reviews all long-lived assets that have finite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC Topic 360, Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
("ASC 360"). If it is determined the carrying amount of the asset (or asset group) is not recoverable, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as an
operating expense in the current period in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The determination of the recoverability of a long-lived asset (or asset group) is based on an estimate of the undiscounted cash flows resulting from the use of the
asset (or asset group) and its eventual disposition. If the carrying value of the long-lived asset (or asset group) is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow
basis, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques
including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals, as necessary.

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination, as defined in ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations ("ASC 805"), over the
fair value of net assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested annually for impairment at the reporting unit
level as of October 1 and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist.

For reporting units with goodwill, the Company performs a qualitative analysis to determine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of the reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount. When assessing goodwill for impairment, the Company's decision to perform a qualitative assessment for an individual reporting
unit is based on a number of factors, including the carrying value of the reporting unit's goodwill, the amount of time in between quantitative fair value
assessments, macro-economic conditions, industry and market conditions and the operating performance of the reporting unit. If it is determined, based on
qualitative factors, that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is
performed, in which the Company determines the estimated fair value of the reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis. This analysis requires
significant judgment, including the estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, available industry/market data, the estimation of the
long-term rate of growth for the reporting unit including expectations and assumptions regarding the impact of general economic conditions on the reporting unit,
the estimation of the useful life over which cash flows will occur (including terminal multiples), the determination of the respective weighted average cost of
capital and market participant assumptions.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded goodwill of $ 114.2 million, including $ 103.6  million attributable to
the Marketplace reporting unit. The Company did not recognize any goodwill impairments during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Losses Payable — Losses payable represents the amount due to insurance carriers by Hagerty Re for paid and billed losses as of the balance sheet date.
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Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses — The provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is the difference between
management's estimate of the ultimate cost of losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred by Hagerty Re and the amount of paid losses as of the reporting
date. These reserves reflects management’s best estimate of unpaid losses related to both reported claims and IBNR claims.

Estimating the ultimate cost of claims and claims expenses is an inherently complex and subjective process that involves a high degree of judgment. Reserves
are reviewed by management quarterly and periodically throughout the year by combining historical results and current actual results to calculate new
development factors. When estimating loss and loss adjustment expense reserves, the Company's actuarial reserving group considers claim cycle time, claims
settlement practices, adequacy of case reserves over time, seasonality, and current economic conditions. Because actual experience can differ from key
assumptions used in estimating reserves, there may be significant variation in the development of reserves and the amount of actual losses and loss adjustment
expenses ultimately paid in the future. Any adjustments to the provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses, and any related reinsurance recoverables, are
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period in which management makes the determination that an adjustment is required.

The amount of any reinsurance recoverable is determined by applying the contract terms specific to Hagerty Re's various reinsurance treaties to incurred losses
arising from a qualifying event. Reinsurance recoverables are recorded within "Other current assets" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Refer to Note 12 — Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses for additional information regarding the methodologies used to estimate loss
and loss adjustment expense reserves.

Due to Insurers — Due to insurers represents the net amount of premium owed to insurance carriers by the Company's MGA subsidiaries based on the
respective contract with each carrier. The net amount due is equal to the gross written premium less the Company’s commission for policies that have reached
their effective date.

Advanced Premiums — Advanced premiums represent the gross written premium received by the Company's MGA subsidiaries from insurance Members prior
to the effective date of the policy. At the effective date of the policy, "Advanced premiums" are reclassified to "Due to insurers" in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets and commission revenue is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Warrant Liabilities — The Company accounts for its outstanding warrants in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging ("ASC 815"). The
warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and as such, are recorded at fair value as a non-cash liability. The warrant liability is subject to
remeasurement each reporting period with the change in fair value between reporting periods recorded within "Change in fair value of warrant liabilities" in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements for additional information.

Derivative Instruments — The Company enters into certain derivative financial instruments, when available on a cost-effective basis, to mitigate its risk
associated with changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. The Company accounts for derivatives in accordance with ASC 815, which
establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that all derivative instruments (including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts),
whether designated as hedging relationships or not, be recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. If a
derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge for accounting purposes, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivative is recorded in "Other
comprehensive income". If a derivative is not designated as a hedge for accounting purposes, the change in fair value is recognized within "Interest and other
income (expense)" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations each reporting period. All derivative instruments are managed on a consolidated basis to
efficiently minimize exposures.

Gains and losses related to the derivative instruments are expected to be largely offset by gains and losses on the underlying asset or liability. The Company
does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties on derivative contracts. It is the Company’s policy to manage its
credit risk on these transactions by dealing only with financial institutions having a long-term credit rating of "A" or better.

Business Combinations — The Company accounts for acquisitions of entities or asset groups that qualify as a business
using the acquisition method in accordance with ASC 805. Purchase consideration is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on the estimated fair values as of the acquisition date, which are measured in accordance with the principles outlined in ASC Topic 820, Fair
Value Measurement ("ASC 820"). The determination of fair value requires management to make estimates about discount rates, future expected cash flows,
market conditions and other future events that are highly subjective in nature. The excess of the total purchase consideration over the fair value of the identified
net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. The results of the acquired businesses are included in the results of operations beginning from the date of
acquisition. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the allocation of purchase
consideration and to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed to the extent that additional information becomes available. After this period, any
subsequent adjustments are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Revenue Recognition — The Company recognizes revenue under both ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC 606") and ASC Topic
944, Financial Services — Insurance ("ASC 944").

Commission and fee revenue

The Company's MGA subsidiaries earn commission and fee revenue primarily from the underwriting, sale, and servicing of classic car and enthusiast vehicle
insurance policies written on behalf of the Company's insurance carrier partners. Approximately 93 % of commission and fee revenue is earned through the
policies sold by Hagerty's U.S. MGAs. These policies are underwritten by a subsidiary of Markel Group, Inc. ("Markel"), which is a related party. Refer to Note 23
— Related-Party Transactions for additional information.

The Company has identified the insurance carrier as its customer and determined that the transaction price is the estimated commissions to be received over
the term of the policy. The transaction price is determined based on an estimate of premiums placed, net of a constraint for policy changes and cancellations.
These commissions and fees, including those paid via installment plan, are earned when the policy becomes effective, as our performance obligation is
substantially complete when the policy is issued, all rights are passed to the insured, and the obligation to pay a claim resides with the carrier.

Under the terms of certain of its contracts with insurance carriers, the Company has the opportunity to earn a contingent underwriting commission ("CUC"), or
profit share, based on written or earned premium and the loss ratio results of the insurance book of business. Each insurance carrier partner contract and related
CUC is calculated independently. The CUCs represent a form of variable consideration associated with the placement of insurance coverage. Under ASC 606,
the Company must estimate the amount of consideration that it will become entitled to receive during the calendar year such that a significant reversal of
revenue is not probable. As such, CUCs are recognized as a contract asset within "Commissions receivable" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets in the period
that the policy is issued using the applicable premium and payout factors based on the estimated loss ratio from the contract.

Earned premium

Hagerty Re, which is registered as a Class 3A reinsurer under the Bermuda Insurance Act of 1978, earns reinsurance premium revenue for risks assumed
primarily from the classic car and enthusiast vehicle insurance policies underwritten by the Company's MGA subsidiaries. In the third quarter of 2023, AM Best
assigned a financial strength rating of A- (Excellent) to Hagerty Re.

Earned premium represents the earned portion of written premiums that Hagerty Re has assumed under quota share reinsurance agreements with the
Company's insurance carrier partners, net of premiums ceded to various reinsurers and the cost of catastrophe reinsurance coverage. Premiums assumed and
ceded are earned on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related insurance policies, which is generally 12 months, with the unearned portion recorded as
"Unearned premiums" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The cost of catastrophe reinsurance coverage is recognized over the contract period in proportion
to the related earned premium.

Membership, marketplace and other revenue 

Subscription revenue is earned through HDC memberships, which can be bundled with the Company's insurance policies and give subscribers access to an
array of products and services, including Hagerty Drivers Club Magazine, automotive enthusiast events, the Company's proprietary vehicle valuation tool,
emergency roadside assistance, and special vehicle-related discounts. The Company also earns fee-based revenue from Hagerty Garage + Social
memberships, which include storage services in addition to the HDC Member benefits. Revenue from the sale of HDC and storage memberships is recognized
ratably over the period of the membership. The membership is treated as a single performance obligation to provide access to stated member benefits over the
life of the membership, which is currently one year.

Marketplace earns fee-based revenue from the sale of collector cars through live auctions, time-based online auctions, and brokered private sales. In addition,
Marketplace earns revenue from financing provided to qualified collectors and businesses secured by their collector cars. Fee-based revenue earned by
Marketplace is recognized when the underlying sale is completed. Finance revenue is recognized when earned based on the amount of the outstanding loan,
the applicable interest rate on the loan and the length of time the loan was outstanding during the period.

Lastly, other revenue includes sponsorship, admission, advertising, valuation and registration income. Other revenue is recognized when the performance
obligation for the related product or service is satisfied.
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Contract Assets and Liabilities — The Company recognizes contract assets for amounts due to the Company's MGA subsidiaries for CUCs earned but not yet
billed under terms of the contract. Contract assets are recorded within "Commissions receivable" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Contract liabilities are recorded primarily as deferred revenue when payments are received in advance of performance under a contract before the transfer of
goods or services to a customer or fulfillment of the contract obligations. Contract liabilities consist primarily of an advanced commission payment, along with the
obligation to fulfill HDC membership benefits over the one-year life of a membership.

Contract Costs — The Company accounts for contract costs under ASC Topic 340, Other Assets and Deferred Costs, ("ASC 340"), which requires companies
to defer certain incremental costs to obtain customer contracts and certain costs to fulfill customer contracts.

The Company capitalizes the incremental costs to obtain contracts, which are primarily related to commission payments on new policy sales. These deferred
costs are amortized within "Sales expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations based on the average expected life of the insurance policy and are
included within "Other current assets" on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Advertising — Advertising and sales promotion costs are expensed the first time the advertising or sales promotion takes place. Advertising costs were $ 25.5
million, $ 27.8 million, and $ 24.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and are reflected as a component of "Sales
expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Income Taxes — The Hagerty Group is taxed as a pass-through ownership structure under the Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") and a similar section of state
income tax law, except for certain U.S. corporate subsidiaries and foreign subsidiaries. Any taxable income or loss generated by The Hagerty Group is passed
through to and included in the taxable income or loss of all of The Hagerty Group unit holders, which includes Hagerty, Inc. Hagerty, Inc. is taxed as a
corporation and pays corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from The Hagerty Group. Hagerty, Inc., Hagerty Re, Broad Arrow
Group, Inc. ("Broad Arrow"), Hagerty Radwood, Inc., and various foreign subsidiaries are treated as taxable entities and income taxes are provided where
applicable. Refer to Note 22 — Taxation for additional information.

Where applicable, income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying values of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and
operating loss and tax-credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period of the enactment date.

The Company evaluates the carrying value of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. In completing this evaluation, management considers all available
positive and negative evidence. Such evidence includes historical operating results, the existence of cumulative earnings and losses in the most recent fiscal
years, taxable income in prior carryback year(s) if permitted under the tax law, expectations for future pre-tax operating income, the time period over which
temporary differences will reverse, and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. Estimating future taxable income is inherently
uncertain and requires judgment. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of this evidence, it is more likely than not that
all or a portion of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods.

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability — In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into a TRA with Hagerty Holding Corp. ("HHC")
and Markel (together the "Legacy Unit Holders"). The TRA provides for payment to the Legacy Unit Holders of 85 % of the U.S. federal, state and local income
tax savings realized by Hagerty, Inc. as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits as outlined in the Business Combination Agreement
(provided as Exhibit 2.1, incorporated by reference within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual Report) upon the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Class V
Common Stock of the Company for Class A Common Stock of the Company or cash. The Hagerty Group made an election under Section 754 of the IRC with
the filing of the 2019 income tax return, which cannot be revoked without the permission of the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") commissioner and will be in
place for any future exchange of The Hagerty Group units. The remaining 15 % cash tax savings resulting from the basis adjustments will be retained by
Hagerty, Inc. Refer to Note 8 — Business Combination for additional information regarding the Business Combination.
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In general, cash tax savings result in a year when the tax liability of Hagerty, Inc. for the year, computed without regard to the deductions attributable to the
amortization of the basis increase and other deductions that arise in connection with the payment of the cash consideration under the TRA or the exchange of
The Hagerty Group units and Class V Common Stock for Class A Common Stock, would be more than the tax liability for the year taking into account such
deductions. Payments under the TRA will not be due until the Company produces taxable income and the resulting cash tax liability is reduced by deducting the
amortization of the basis increase on a filed tax return. The payments under the TRA are expected to be substantial. The estimated value of the TRA is recorded
in "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Hagerty, Inc. accounted for the effects of the basis increases as follows:

• Hagerty, Inc. recorded an increase in deferred tax assets for the income tax effects of the increases in tax basis based on enacted federal and state
income tax rates at the date of the exchange.

• Hagerty, Inc. evaluated the ability to realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset based on an analysis that considered expectations of
future earnings, among other things. If Hagerty, Inc. determined that the full benefit is not likely to be realized, a valuation allowance was established to
reduce the amount of the deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

• Hagerty, Inc. recorded 85 % of the estimated realizable tax benefit as an increase to the liability due under the TRA, which is recorded within "Other long-
term liabilities", with a decrease to "Additional paid-in capital" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The remaining 15 % of the estimated realizable tax
benefit will be retained by Hagerty, Inc.

All of the effects of changes in any of the estimates after the date of the redemption or exchange are recorded within "Interest and other income (expense)" in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Earnings Per Share — The Company calculates basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share ("EPS") in accordance with ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share
("ASC 260").

Basic EPS is computed under the Two-Class Method by using Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders divided by the weighted-average
number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated using diluted Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders divided by the weighted average
number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period, adjusted to give effect to potentially dilutive securities. The Company's potentially
dilutive securities consist of (i) unexercised warrants, unvested share-based compensation awards, and shares issuable under the employee stock purchase
plan, with the dilutive effect calculated using the Treasury Stock Method, and (ii) non-controlling interest units of The Hagerty Group and the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, with the dilutive effect calculated using the more dilutive of the If-Converted Method and the Two-Class Method.

In periods in which the Company reports a net loss attributable to Class A Common Stockholders, diluted net loss per share attributable to Class A Common
Stockholders would be equal to basic net loss per share since potentially dilutive Class A Common Stock is not assumed to be issued if their effect is anti-
dilutive.

Share-Based Compensation — The Company issues restricted stock units and performance restricted stock units under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. The
grant date fair value for restricted stock units is determined based on the closing price of the Company's Class A Common Stock on the business day prior to
grant. The Company uses a Monte Carlo simulation model to estimate the fair value of performance restricted stock units when the terms of the grant are based
on the Company's stock price. Share-based compensation expense is recognized over the applicable requisite service period of the award, generally using the
straight-line method. Forfeitures are recorded in the period in which they occur. Refer to Note 21 — Share-Based Compensation for additional information.

Self-Insurance — The Company has elected to self-insure certain costs related to U.S. employee health benefit and short-term disability programs. Costs
resulting from self-insured losses are charged to expense when incurred. The Company has purchased insurance that limits its aggregate annual exposure for
healthcare costs to approximately $ 16.3 million, $ 11.4 million, and $ 10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Total
expenses for healthcare claims incurred for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were approximately $ 14.2 million, $ 13.2 million, and $ 10.9
million, respectively. Healthcare claims are recorded within "Salaries and benefits" on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, the Company has recorded approximately $ 1.4 million and $ 1.2 million as an estimate of IBNR claims, respectively. The amount of actual losses
incurred could differ materially from the estimate reflected in these financial statements.
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Postretirement Benefits — The Company offers postretirement benefits. In the U.S., the Company offers a 401(k) plan covering substantially all U.S.
employees. The plan provides for 4.0 % matching contributions. Contributions to the plan were $ 6.0 million, $ 6.2 million, and $ 4.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Credit Losses —  In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-13, Financial
Instruments - Credit Losses (ASC 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments , which amends previously issued guidance regarding the
impairment of financial instruments by creating an impairment model that is based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. This standard requires
financial assets measured on the amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The following financial assets held by the
Company are within the scope of ASU No. 2016-13: (i) Accounts receivable, (ii) Premiums receivable, (iii) Commissions receivable, (iv) Notes receivable, (v)
consignor advances, and (vi) certain fixed income securities. The amount of any required allowance for expected credit losses is determined utilizing historical
loss rates, which are then adjusted, if necessary, for specific financial assets that are judged to have a higher-than-normal risk profile. Additional credit loss
allowances may also be recorded after taking into account macro-economic and industry risk factors. For Notes receivable and consignor advances, to the
extent necessary, the amount of any required allowance for credit losses takes into account the estimated realizable value of the collateral securing the loan or
advance. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13 on January 1, 2023 without a material effect on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and with
no required cumulative-effect adjustment to "Accumulated earnings (deficit)" within the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Temporary Equity and
Stockholders' Equity .

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

Income Taxes — In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 - Income Taxes (ASC 740), Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which
enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures through changes to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information.
ASU No. 2023-09 modifies the rules on income tax disclosures to require entities to disclose (i) specific categories in the rate reconciliation, (ii) the income or
loss from continuing operations before income tax expense or benefit (separated between domestic and foreign), and (iii) income tax expense or benefit from
continuing operations (separated by federal, state and foreign). ASU No. 2023-09 also requires entities to disclose their income tax payments to international,
federal, state and local jurisdictions, among other changes. The effective date of ASU No. 2023-09 is for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024.
The Company is still assessing the impact of ASU No. 2023-09 and upon adoption may be required to include certain additional disclosure in the footnotes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment Reporting — In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07 - Segment Reporting (ASC 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures, which enables investors to better understand an entity's overall performance and assess potential future cash flows through improved reportable
segment disclosure requirements. The amendments enhance disclosures about significant segment expenses, clarify circumstances in which an entity can
disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provide new segment disclosure requirements for entities with a single reportable segment, and contain
other disclosure requirements. The effective date of ASU 2023-07 is for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023. The Company does not expect this
standard to have a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures.

2 — Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue —  The following tables present Hagerty's revenue by distribution channel, as well as a reconciliation to total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. Commission and fee revenue and contingent commission revenue earned from the agent distribution channel
includes revenue generated through Hagerty's relationships with independent agents and brokers. Commission and fee revenue and contingent commission
revenue earned from the direct distribution channel includes revenue generated by Hagerty's employee agents.
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Year Ended December 31, 2023
Agent Direct Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 158,354  $ 131,178  $ 289,532  
Contingent commission revenue 42,408  33,572  75,980  
Membership revenue —  52,460  52,460  
Marketplace and other revenue —  50,375  50,375  

Total revenue from customer contracts 200,762  267,585  468,347  
Earned premium 531,866  

Total revenue $ 1,000,213  

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Agent Direct Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 133,584  $ 113,864  $ 247,448  
Contingent commission revenue 32,899  26,891  59,790  
Membership revenue —  45,234  45,234  
Marketplace and other revenue —  32,055  32,055  

Total revenue from customer contracts 166,483  218,044  384,527  
Earned premium 403,061  

Total revenue $ 787,588  

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Agent Direct Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 115,310  $ 98,926  $ 214,236  
Contingent commission revenue 29,552  27,783  57,335  
Membership revenue —  40,605  40,605  
Marketplace and other revenue —  11,079  11,079  

Total revenue from customer contracts 144,862  178,393  323,255  
Earned premium 295,824  

Total revenue $ 619,079  

The following tables present Hagerty's revenue disaggregated by geographic area, as well as a reconciliation to total revenue for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
U.S. Canada Europe Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 264,137  $ 20,597  $ 4,798  $ 289,532  
Contingent commission revenue 75,810  —  170  75,980  
Membership revenue 48,902  3,558  —  52,460  
Marketplace and other revenue 45,769  1,594  3,012  50,375  

Total revenue from customer contracts 434,618  25,749  7,980  468,347  
Earned premium 531,866  

Total revenue $ 1,000,213  
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Year Ended December 31, 2022
U.S. Canada Europe Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 224,255  $ 19,142  $ 4,051  $ 247,448  
Contingent commission revenue 59,664  —  126  59,790  
Membership revenue 41,893  3,341  —  45,234  
Marketplace and other revenue 29,920  767  1,368  32,055  

Total revenue from customer contracts 355,732  23,250  5,545  384,527  
Earned premium 403,061  

Total revenue $ 787,588  

Year Ended December 31, 2021
U.S. Canada Europe Total

in thousands
Commission and fee revenue $ 193,520  $ 16,782  $ 3,934  $ 214,236  
Contingent commission revenue 57,424  ( 383 ) 294  57,335  
Membership revenue 37,688  2,917  —  40,605  
Marketplace and other revenue 9,448  301  1,330  11,079  

Total revenue from customer contracts 298,080  19,617  5,558  323,255  
Earned premium 295,824  

Total revenue $ 619,079  

Refer to Note 13 — Reinsurance for information regarding "Earned premium" recognized under ASC 944.

Contract Assets and Liabilities — The following table is a summary of the Company's contract assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Contract assets $ 75,891  $ 60,151  
Contract liabilities $ 47,651  $ 44,426  

Contract assets, which are reported within "Commissions receivable" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, consist of CUC receivables, which are earned
throughout the year and have historically been settled by a cash payment from the insurance carrier in the first quarter of the following year. In December 2023,
the Company amended its alliance agreement and associated agency agreement with Markel and, as a result, beginning in 2024, 80 % of the CUC receivables
from Markel will be settled monthly rather than on an annual basis. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the increase in contract assets was primarily due to
$ 74.9 million of CUC revenue that was recognized but not received, partially offset by $ 59.2 million of CUC payments collected in the current year.

Contract liabilities consist of cash collected in advance of revenue recognition and primarily includes the unrecognized portion of HDC membership fees, as well
as the unrecognized portion of the advanced commission payment received from State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm") in 2020
(refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions for additional information). For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized approximately $
56.5 million of net revenue that was in recorded in the contract liabilities balance as of December 31, 2022.
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3 — Deferred Acquisition Costs

The following table presents a reconciliation of the changes in deferred acquisition costs for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

in thousands
Deferred acquisition costs as of January 1, $ 107,342  $ 81,535  

Acquisition costs deferred, net 286,100  216,957  
Amortization of acquisition costs, net ( 251,805 ) ( 191,150 )

Deferred acquisition costs as of December 31, $ 141,637  $ 107,342  

4 — Notes Receivable

BAC provides financing solutions to qualified collectors and businesses by structuring loans secured by their collector cars. The loans underwritten by BAC
include term loans and short-term bridge financings. BAC also provides advances to consignors who agree to sell their cars via auction or private sale through
Broad Arrow subsidiaries. The loans underwritten by BAC are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets within "Notes receivable" while consignor advances
are recorded within "Other current assets".

Loans carry either a fixed or variable rate of interest and typically have an initial maturity of up to two years , often with an option for the borrower to renew for
one year increments, provided the borrower remains in good standing. The carrying value of the BAC loan portfolio approximates its fair value due to the
relatively short-term maturities and the market rates of interest associated with most loans.

In certain situations, BAC makes loans to refinance accounts receivable balances generated by Broad Arrow auction or private sale purchases. These loans are
accounted for on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as non-cash reclassifications between "Accounts receivable" and "Notes receivable" and are, therefore, not
presented within Investing Activities in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Upon repayment, the cash received in settlement of such loans
is classified within Operating Activities in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Beginning in December 2023, a substantial portion of the lending activities of BAC are funded with borrowings drawn from the BAC Credit Facility, with the
remainder funded by the Company's available liquidity. Prior to December 2023, the lending activities of BAC were funded primarily by the Company's available
liquidity. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt for additional information regarding the BAC Credit Facility.

BAC aims to mitigate the risk associated with a potential devaluation in collateral by targeting a maximum loan-to-value ("LTV") ratio of 65 % (i.e., the principal
loan amount divided by the estimated value of the collateral at the time of underwriting). The LTV ratio is reassessed on a quarterly basis or if the loan is
renewed, and more frequently if there is a material change in the circumstances related to the loan, including the value of the collateral, the borrower's disposal
plans for the collateral, or if an event of default occurs. If, as a result of this reassessment, the LTV ratio increases above the target level, the borrower may be
asked to make principal payments and/or post sufficient additional collateral to reduce the LTV ratio as a condition of future financing, renewal, or to avoid a
default. In the event of a default by a borrower, BAC is entitled to sell the collateral to recover the outstanding principal, accrued interest balance, and any
expenses incurred with respect to the recovery process.

Management considers the valuation of the underlying collateral and the LTV ratio as the two most critical credit quality indicators for the loans made by BAC. In
estimating the value of the underlying collateral for BAC's loans, management utilizes its expertise in the collector car market and considers an array of factors
impacting the current and expected sale value of each car including the year, make, model, mileage, history, and in the case of classic cars, the provenance,
quality of restoration (if applicable), the originality of the body, chassis, and mechanical components, and comparable market transaction values.

The repayment of BAC's loans can be adversely impacted by a decline in the collector car market in general or in the value of the collateral, which may be
concentrated within certain marques, vintages, or types of cars. In addition, in situations when BAC’s claim on the collateral is subject to a legal process, the
ability to realize proceeds from the collateral may be limited or delayed.

As of December 31, 2023, BAC's net notes receivable balance was $ 52.9  million, of which $ 35.9  million was classified within current assets and $ 17.0  million
was classified within long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2022, BAC's net notes receivable balance was $ 37.4  million,
of which $ 25.5  million was classified within current assets and $ 11.9  million was classified within long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
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classification of a loan as current or long-term takes into account the contractual maturity date of the loan, as well as known renewals after the balance sheet
date.

The table below provides the aggregate LTV ratio for BAC's loan portfolio as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Secured loans $ 52,914  $ 37,427  
Estimate of collateral value $ 108,496  $ 75,802  
Aggregate LTV ratio 48.8  % 49.4  %

As of December 31, 2023, two borrowers had loan balances that exceeded 10% of the total loan portfolio. These loans total $ 21.6 million, representing 41 % of
the total loan portfolio. The collateral related to these loans was $ 50.7 million, resulting in an aggregate LTV ratio of 43 %.

Management considers a loan to be past due when an interest payment is not paid within 10 business days of the monthly due date, or if the principal amount is
not repaid by the contractual maturity date. Typically, a loan becomes past due only for a short period of time during which the loan is renewed or collateral is
sold to satisfy the borrower's obligations. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the amount of past due interest payments was immaterial and there were no past
due principal payments.

A non-accrual loan is a loan for which future interest income is not recorded due to management’s determination that it is probable that future interest on the loan
will not be collectible. BAC did not have any non-accrual loans as of December 31, 2023 or 2022.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the allowance for expected credit losses related to the BAC loan portfolio was not material based on management’s
quarterly risk assessment, which takes into consideration a number of factors including the level of historical losses for similar loans, the quality of the collateral,
the low LTV ratio of the loans, management's overall assessment of the current circumstances and risks related to each loan, and, to a lesser extent, the
circumstances related to each borrower.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, management performed an analysis on the loan portfolio for indicators of impairment and determined that there were no
impaired loans outstanding.

5 — Other Assets

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, other assets, current and long-term, consisted of:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Prepaid sales, general and administrative expenses $ 21,300  $ 24,234  
Prepaid SaaS implementation costs 21,941  18,501  
Fixed income investments 16,472  12,986  
Deferred reinsurance premiums ceded 10,474  91  
Contract costs 8,851  6,576  
Inventory 5,038  2,074  
Digital media content 2,151  5,580  
Deferred financing costs 5,053  1,387  
Other 12,518  11,304  

Other assets $ 103,798  $ 82,733  

Deferred reinsurance premiums ceded consists of the unearned portion of premiums ceded by Hagerty Re to various reinsurers. Refer to Note 13 — Reinsurance for additional information on
the Company’s reinsurance programs.
Inventory primarily includes vehicles owned by Broad Arrow that have been purchased for resale purposes.

(1)

(2)

(1)    

(2)    
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The reduction in digital media content when compared to December 31, 2022 is primarily attributable to $ 4.3  million of impairments recorded during 2023 as a
result of lower than anticipated advertising and sponsorship revenue associated with these assets.

As of December 31, 2023, other primarily included $ 4.4 million of other investments, $ 2.8 million related to an outstanding reinsurance recoverable, $ 2.7
 million of collector vehicle investments, and the $ 2.2 million fair value of an interest rate swap. As of December 31, 2022, other primarily included $ 4.0 million
of other investments, the $ 3.3 million fair value of an interest rate swap, $ 2.5 million of collector vehicle investments, and $ 1.4 million related to an outstanding
reinsurance recoverable.

6 — Property and Equipment

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, property and equipment consisted of:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Land and land improvements $ 930  $ 930  
Buildings 1,200  1,200  
Leasehold improvements 9,005  9,299  
Furniture and equipment 12,212  13,194  
Computer equipment and software 20,922  21,698  
Automobiles 697  791  

Total property and equipment 44,966  47,112  
Less: accumulated depreciation ( 24,202 ) ( 21,856 )

Property and equipment, net $ 20,764  $ 25,256  

Property and equipment depreciation expense was $ 6.2 million, $ 6.6 million, and $ 6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively.

7 — Leases

The following table summarizes the components of the Company's operating lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Operating lease expense $ 11,681  $ 10,737  
Short-term lease expense 378  187  
Variable lease expense 4,307  3,943  
Sublease revenue ( 704 ) ( 156 )

Lease cost, net $ 15,662  $ 14,711  

Classified within "General and administrative services" on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Amounts include payments for maintenance, taxes, insurance, and payments affected by the Consumer Price Index.
Classified within "Membership, marketplace and other revenue" on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(1)

(1)

(1) (2)

(3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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The following tables summarize supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Operating lease ROU assets $ 50,515  $ 82,398  

Current lease liabilities 6,500  7,556  
Long-term lease liabilities 50,459  80,772  

Total operating lease liabilities $ 56,959  $ 88,328  

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 632  $ 82,398  
Gains on sales and leaseback transactions, net $ —  $ 4,314  
Weighted-average lease term 9.01 10.23
Weighted-average discount rate 4.8  % 5.5  %

Current lease liabilities are recorded within "Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Represents the amount of ROU assets obtained during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, which includes the transition adjustment of $ 72.8 million for operating lease ROU assets

recorded as of January 1, 2022, upon the adoption of ASC 842.

The total decrease in operating lease ROU assets and liabilities when compared to December 31, 2022 was primarily attributable to the termination of the joint
venture agreement governing MHH, which resulted in the divestiture of certain Hagerty Garage + Social locations and the termination of the lease for the
Hagerty Garage + Social location in Culver City, California. The termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH resulted in decreases of $ 14.8
 million in operating lease ROU assets and $ 15.2 million in operating lease liabilities in the third quarter of 2023. The termination of the Culver City, California
lease resulted in decreases of $ 9.3 million in operating lease ROU assets and $ 10.1 million in operating lease liabilities in the third quarter of 2023. Refer to
Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures for additional information regarding the Company's termination of the joint venture agreement
governing MHH.

The following table summarizes information about the amount and timing of the Company's future operating lease commitments as of December 31, 2023:

in thousands
2024 $ 9,067  
2025 8,737  
2026 8,156  
2027 7,921  
2028 7,946  
Thereafter 29,286  

Total lease payments 71,113  
Less: imputed interest ( 14,154 )

Total lease liabilities $ 56,959  

(1)

(2)

(1)    

(2)    
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8 — Business Combination

On December 2, 2021, through The Hagerty Group, the Company completed a business combination pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, with
Aldel Financial Inc. ("Aldel") and Aldel Merger Sub LLC ("Merger Sub"), a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of Aldel (the "Business
Combination"), with The Hagerty Group surviving as a subsidiary of the Company immediately following the Business Combination. In connection with the
closing, (i) Aldel changed its name from Aldel Financial Inc. to Hagerty, Inc., and (ii) the Company reorganized into what is commonly known as an "Up-C"
structure in which substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Hagerty, Inc. are held by The Hagerty Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement: (1) Merger Sub was merged with and into The Hagerty Group, whereupon the separate limited
liability company existence of Merger Sub ceased to exist and The Hagerty Group became the surviving company and continues to exist under the Delaware
Limited Liability Company Act and (2) the existing limited liability company agreement of The Hagerty Group was amended and restated to, among other things,
make Aldel a member of The Hagerty Group.

As outlined within the Business Combination Agreement, certain accredited investors or qualified institutional buyers (the "PIPE Investors") entered into the
Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which the PIPE Investors agreed to purchase 70,385,000 shares (the "PIPE Shares") of Class A Common Stock and
12,669,300 warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock (the "PIPE Warrants" and, together with the PIPE Shares, the "PIPE Securities") for an
aggregate purchase price of $ 703.9 million. The sale of the PIPE Securities was consummated concurrently with the closing of the Business Combination.

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination:

• all of the existing limited liability company interests of The Hagerty Group held by HHC were converted into (1) $ 489.7  million in cash, (2) 176,033,906
units of The Hagerty Group, and (3) 176,033,906 shares of Class V Common Stock;

• all of the existing limited liability company interests of The Hagerty Group held by Markel were converted into (1) 75,000,000 units of The Hagerty Group,
and (2) 75,000,000 shares of Class V Common Stock;

•  3,005,034 shares of Aldel's 11,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock subject to redemption were redeemed, resulting in 8,494,966 shares of Class
A Common Stock remaining outstanding;

• all of the 2,875,000 outstanding shares of Aldel's Class B Common Stock were converted into shares of Class A Common Stock on a one -for-one basis;
and

•  572,500 outstanding shares of Aldel Class A Common Stock became Hagerty Class A Common Stock.

Immediately after giving effect to the Business Combination, there were 82,327,466 shares of Hagerty Class A Common Stock outstanding, 251,033,906 shares
of Hagerty Class V Common Stock outstanding and 20,005,550 warrants outstanding which can be converted on a one -for-one basis to Class A Common
Stock. Refer to Note 16 — Fair Value Measurements for additional information on the Company's warrants.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company incurred direct and incremental costs of approximately $ 41.9  million, consisting of primarily
investment banking, insurance, and professional fees, of which $ 32.6  million were recorded as a reduction of "Additional-paid-in-capital" within the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into the TRA with the Legacy Unit Holders. The TRA provides for payment to the Legacy
Unit Holders of 85 % of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax savings realized by Hagerty, Inc. as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other
tax benefits related to the transactions contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement upon the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Class V
Common Stock for Class A Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units or cash. Refer to Note 22 — Taxation for additional information related to the TRA.
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The following table is a summary of the cash inflows and outflows related to the Business Combination:

Business Combination
in thousands

Cash in trust, net of redemptions $ 85,811  
Cash, PIPE 703,850  
Less: transaction costs and advisory fees ( 41,859 )
Less: cash consideration to HHC at Closing ( 489,661 )

Net cash received from Business Combination $ 258,141  

9 — Acquisitions and Investments

Broad Arrow Acquisition

In January 2022, the Company entered into a joint venture with Broad Arrow, pursuant to which it invested $ 15.3  million in cash in exchange for equity
ownership of approximately 40 % of Broad Arrow. Following its entry into the joint venture, the Company used the equity method of accounting for its investment
in Broad Arrow with its share of income (loss) recorded within "Loss from equity method investment, net of tax" on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In August 2022, the Company acquired the remaining 60 % of Broad Arrow from the former Broad Arrow shareholders in exchange for equity consideration
consisting of shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units. The number of Class A Common Stock shares and The Hagerty
Group units issued was calculated using a 20-day volume weighted average stock price of the Class A Common Stock prior to the closing date on August 16,
2022. The fair value of the purchase consideration of $ 73.3  million was calculated based on the Class A Common Stock price of $ 13.47 as of the closing date.
As a result of the Broad Arrow Acquisition, the Company and Broad Arrow are further leveraging their respective product offerings and continue to build
Marketplace.

Fair Value of Consideration Transferred

The following table summarizes the fair value of Broad Arrow as of the date of the acquisition:

in thousands
Total equity consideration $ 73,253  
Fair value of previously held equity interest in Broad Arrow 48,309  

Total consideration and value to be allocated to net assets $ 121,562  

The Broad Arrow Acquisition was accounted for as a step acquisition. Accordingly, the Company remeasured its existing 40 % equity interest in Broad Arrow immediately prior to the completion of
the acquisition to its estimated fair value of $ 48.3 million. This fair value was derived from the Hagerty, Inc. stock price of $ 13.47 as of the closing date and thus represents a Level 1 fair value
measurement. As a result of the remeasurement, the Company recorded a net gain of $ 34.7 million in the third quarter of 2022, representing the excess of the $ 48.3 million estimated fair value of
its existing 40 % equity interest over its closing date carrying value of $ 13.6 million.

(1)

(1)    
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Allocation of Consideration Transferred

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase consideration to the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the
date of the Broad Arrow Acquisition:

in thousands
Notes receivable $ 21,594  
Intangible assets, net 3,100  
Other assets 11,756  
Other liabilities ( 13,449 )

Total identifiable net assets acquired 23,001  
Goodwill 98,561  

Total purchase consideration allocated to net assets acquired $ 121,562  

Broad Arrow makes loans secured by collector cars. The fair value of the acquired loans approximated their carrying value due to the relatively short-term maturities and market rates of interest
associated with most of the loans. Refer to Note 4 — Notes Receivable for additional information.
The fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired is a Level 3 fair value measurement, estimated using significant assumptions that are not observable in the market through the use of a

discounted cash flow model. Inputs utilized in this model include the discount rate and terminal growth rate, as well as the return on assets. Identifiable intangible assets acquired consisted of trade
names of $ 3.1 million with a 5 -year estimated useful life.
Other assets includes $ 2.8  million of cash acquired, $ 2.6 million of Accounts receivable and $ 6.2 million of Other current assets.
Other liabilities includes a $ 7.0 million Note payable, $ 5.3 million of Contract liabilities and $ 0.7 million of Accounts payable.

The excess of the purchase consideration over the aggregate estimated fair values of identifiable assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed, was recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill recognized is primarily a result of the expected enhancement of Marketplace through Broad Arrow's various service offerings, including
the buying, selling and financing of collector cars through live auctions and facilitating private sales, as well as the assembled workforce and various other
factors.

The acquisition of Broad Arrow was not material to the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. Therefore, pro forma results of operations related to
this acquisition have not been presented. Following the Broad Arrow Acquisition, the financial statements of Broad Arrow are consolidated into the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Speed Digital Acquisition

In April 2022, Hagerty acquired Speed Digital LLC ("Speed Digital") for a purchase price of $ 15.0  million. The Company paid $ 7.5 million at closing with an
additional two annual installments of $ 3.75 million to be paid in 2023 and 2024. The first annual installment was paid during the year ended December 31, 2023
and the second annual installment will be paid in the first quarter of 2024. Speed Digital was previously wholly owned indirectly by Robert Kauffman, a member
of the Company's Board of Directors (the "Board"), who will receive 100 % of the proceeds of the purchase price. Speed Digital operates a SaaS business
primarily serving collector car dealers and auction houses, and an advertising and content syndication platform, which includes Motorious.com. The Company
acquired Speed Digital to enhance the Marketplace business to establish relationships with their dealer partners and facilitate growth in Marketplace products;
augment the Company's automotive intelligence data; and allow Motorious.com to drive audience engagement, content distribution, and advertising revenue.

10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures

In 2023, m anagement conducted a review of certain components of the Company's operations which resulted in the sale or reorganization of certain
businesses, including Hagerty Garage + Social and DriveShare, as discussed below. This initiative supported the Company's strategy to prioritize investments
and resources in the areas of its business that offer the strongest growth and profit potential.

Hagerty Garage + Social

On September 29, 2023, Hagerty Ventures LLC ("HV"), a wholly owned subsidiary of The Hagerty Group, entered into an agreement with HGS Hub Holdings
LLC ("H3") to terminate the joint venture agreement governing MHH, which operates as Hagerty Garage + Social. In connection with this agreement, H3's
approximately 20 % equity interest in MHH was redeemed and MHH's equity interests in the Palm Beach, Florida and Redmond, Washington locations of
Hagerty Garage + Social were distributed to H3. Following the termination of the joint venture agreement, HV now owns 100 % of MHH and its remaining
Hagerty Garage + Social locations in Delray Beach, Florida; Miami, Florida; Van Nuys, California; and Burlington, Ontario.

(1)

(2)

(3)

 (4)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    

(4)    
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As a result of the joint venture termination, the Company recognized a loss of $ 2.9  million in the third quarter of 2023, representing the difference between the
fair value of the approximately 20 % equity interest in MHH received by HV and the carrying value of the equity interests distributed to H3. The fair value of the
approximately 20 % equity interest received by MHH is a Level 3 fair value measurement and was determined using a combination of the discounted cash flow
model and the adjusted book value method. This loss is recorded within "Losses and impairments related to divestitures" on the Company's Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Immediately prior to the joint venture termination, MHH entered into an agreement to terminate the real estate lease held by the Culver City, California location
of Hagerty Garage + Social. In connection with this lease termination agreement, MHH paid a termination fee funded by the Company and H3 in exchange for
the extinguishment of its remaining obligations under the lease. As a result of this lease termination, the Company recognized a loss of $ 0.6  million in the third
quarter of 2023, consisting of the lease termination fee paid to the landlord, partially offset by the net effect of the derecognition of the assets and liabilities
related to the lease. This loss is reported within "Losses and impairments related to divestitures" on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Following this lease termination, MHH no longer operates a Hagerty Garage + Social location in Culver City, California.

Hagerty DriveShare

In the third quarter of 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into an agreement to sell Hagerty DriveShare, LLC ("DriveShare"), a peer-to-peer rental platform for
collector vehicles, to a third party. The sale was completed on October 9, 2023 and the Company recognized a $ 0.4  million loss related to this sale. This loss is
recorded within "Losses and impairments related to divestitures" on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

11 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The following is a reconciliation of the changes in the Company's goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022

in thousands
Goodwill as of January 1, $ 115,041  $ 11,488  
Acquisitions —  103,605  
Divestitures ( 846 ) —  
Effect of foreign currency translation 19  ( 52 )

Goodwill as of December 31, $ 114,214  $ 115,041  

The acquisition of Speed Digital in April 2022 and Broad Arrow in August 2022 together resulted in the recognition of $ 103.6 million of goodwill in the
Marketplace reporting unit during the year ended December 31, 2022. Refer to Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments for additional information.

The termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH and the divestiture of DriveShare together resulted in the derecognition of $ 0.8 million of
goodwill in the third quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures for additional information .
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Intangible Assets

The cost and accumulated amortization of intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Weighted Average Useful
Life

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Renewal rights 10.0 $ 20,226  $ 17,282  
Internally developed software 3.4 126,972  109,764  
Trade names and trademarks 14.0 12,541  12,541  
Relationships and customer lists 15.7 8,876  13,890  
Other 4.4 1,445  1,434  

Intangible assets 170,060  154,911  
Less: accumulated amortization ( 78,136 ) ( 50,887 )

Intangible assets, net $ 91,924  $ 104,024  

The termination of the joint venture agreement governing MHH resulted in the derecognition of $ 5.0  million of relationships and customer lists in the third
quarter of 2023. Refer to Note 10 — Losses and Impairments Related to Divestitures for information related to the termination of the joint venture agreement
governing MHH, which resulted in the divestiture of certain Hagerty Garage + Social locations.
Intangible asset amortization expense was $ 28.6 million, $ 21.8  million, and $ 12.8  million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively.

E stimated future aggregate amortization expense related to intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 is as follows:

in thousands
2024 $ 27,879  
2025 20,544  
2026 13,341  
2027 9,314  
2028 7,499  
Thereafter 13,347  

Total $ 91,924  
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12 — Provision for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The following table presents Hagerty Re's provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Outstanding losses reported $ 84,651  $ 65,981  
IBNR 49,621  44,917  

Net reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 134,272  110,898  
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 2,235  843  

Gross reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 136,507  $ 111,741  

The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses related to Hagerty Re, net of
amounts recoverable from various reinsurers:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Gross reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, beginning of year $ 111,741  $ 74,869  $ 54,988  

Less: Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 843  —  —  
Net reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, beginning of year 110,898  74,869  54,988  
Incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses:

Current accident year 228,358  186,478  132,481  
Prior accident year ( 7,700 ) ( 4,076 ) ( 10,401 )

Total incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses 220,658  182,402  122,080  
Payments:

Current accident year 138,263  109,555  76,559  
Prior accident year 59,128  36,803  25,656  

Total payments 197,391  146,358  102,215  
Effect of foreign currency rate changes 107  ( 15 ) 16  
Net reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, end of period 134,272  110,898  74,869  

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 2,235  843  —  

Gross reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, end of period $ 136,507  $ 111,741  $ 74,869  

Prior accident year development reflects a lower frequency and severity of claims than originally estimated for accident years 2017 to 2022.

 (1)

(1)    
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Hagerty Re's loss reserve estimates are updated based on an evaluation of inputs from many sources, including actual claims data, the performance of prior
reserve estimates, observed industry trends, and internal review processes, including the views of the Company’s actuary. These inputs are used to improve
evaluation techniques and to analyze and assess the change in estimated ultimate losses for each accident year by line of business. These analyses produce a
range of indications from various methods, from which an actuarial point estimate is recorded.

The factors considered by management in estimating the provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, include
the following:

• historical trends in claim frequency and severity;

• the changing mix of business due to the large growth in modern collectible cars which carry a different risk profile than the risks associated with classic
cars;

• emerging economic and social trends;

• inflation, both economic and social;

• retention limits under current catastrophe and treaty reinsurance programs;

• legislative and judicial changes in the jurisdictions in which the Company writes insurance; and

• management's assessment of broader industry experience and trends.

The following factors are relevant to the additional information included in the tables below:

• Table organization: The tables are organized by accident year and include policies written on an occurrence basis.

• Groupings: Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses are grouped by line of business. The Company believes that losses included in each line
of business have homogenous risk characteristics with similar development patterns and would generally be subject to similar trends.

• Claim counts: The Company considers a reported claim to be one claim for each claimant for each loss occurrence.

• Limitations: There are limitations that should be considered on the reported claim count data in the tables below, including that claim counts are
presented only on a reported (not an ultimate) basis.
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The following table presents a summary of total reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses by line of business for the periods specified below:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Gross reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
Auto $ 136,294  $ 111,575  
Marine 213  166  

Total gross reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 136,507  $ 111,741  

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
Auto $ 2,235  $ 843  
Marine —  —  

Total reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 2,235  $ 843  

Net reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
Auto $ 134,059  $ 110,732  
Marine 213  166  

Total net reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 134,272  $ 110,898  

99



TABLE OF CONTENTS

The following table presents incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses, by accident year, undiscounted and net of reinsurance recoveries:

Auto Insurance

(dollars in thousands)

Reserves for Losses
and Loss Adjustment

Expenses Incurred But
Not Reported

Cumulative Number of
Reported ClaimsReporting Years Ended December 31,

Accident Year 2019* 2020* 2021* 2022* 2023 As of December 31, 2023
2019 $ 63,642  $ 63,642  $ 59,660  $ 59,660  $ 59,660  $ 445  23,800  
2020 90,110  86,608  85,111  84,311  1,600  27,204  
2021 131,643  129,259  125,634  1,851  35,430  
2022 186,073  182,783  10,032  39,199  
2023 228,071  35,318  39,738  

Total 680,459  49,246  165,371  
Cumulative paid losses and loss adjustment expenses from the table below ( 547,214 ) — 
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses before 2019, net of reinsurance 707  303  
Effect of foreign currency rate changes 107  — 
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, undiscounted and net of
reinsurance $ 134,059  $ 49,549  

The following table presents cumulative paid losses and loss adjustment expenses by accident year:

Auto Insurance
(in thousands) As of December 31,
Accident Year 2019* 2020* 2021* 2022* 2023
2019 $ 37,910  $ 51,491  $ 55,617  $ 57,393  $ 58,415  
2020 53,167  73,402  78,079  80,656  
2021 75,933  105,475  114,884  
2022 109,255  155,157  
2023 138,102  

Total $ 547,214  

*    Unaudited required supplemental information.

The following table presents supplementary information about average historical claims duration as of December 31, 2023 based on the cumulative incurred and
paid losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses presented above.

Average Annual Percentage of Payout of Incurred Claims by Age (in Years), Net of Reinsurance (Unaudited)
Years Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Auto Insurance 61.1  % 24.4  % 5.8  % 3.9  % 2.5  %
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13 — Reinsurance

The following table presents Hagerty Re's total premiums assumed and ceded on a written and earned basis for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Premiums:

Assumed $ 636,366  $ 474,294  $ 353,925  
Ceded ( 33,070 ) ( 10,749 ) ( 7,920 )

Net $ 603,296  $ 463,545  $ 346,005  

Premiums earned:
Assumed $ 554,553  $ 414,030  $ 303,434  
Ceded ( 22,687 ) ( 10,969 ) ( 7,610 )

Net $ 531,866  $ 403,061  $ 295,824  

The following table presents gross, ceded, and net losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Gross losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 222,895  $ 187,754  $ 122,080  
Ceded losses and loss adjustment expenses ( 2,237 ) ( 5,352 ) —  

Net losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 220,658  $ 182,402  $ 122,080  

Ceded Reinsurance

Hagerty Re purchases catastrophe reinsurance to protect its capital from large catastrophic events and to provide earnings protection and stability. Hagerty Re
renegotiated its catastrophe reinsurance coverage effective January 1, 2024, with terms and limits similar to 2023. The 2024 catastrophe reinsurance program
for accounts with total insured values ("TIV") of up to $ 5.0  million affords coverage in excess of a per event retention of $ 28.0  million in two layers; $ 22.0
 million excess of $ 28.0  million, and $ 55.0  million excess of $ 50.0  million for a total of $ 105.0  million.

Beginning in 2023, Hagerty Re entered into quota share agreements with various reinsurers to cede 70 % of its physical damage exposure on U.S. accounts
written or renewed with TIV equal to or greater than $ 5.0  million ("High-Net-Worth Accounts"). These High-Net-Worth Accounts are assumed 100 % from
Evanston Insurance Company ("Evanston"). Commencing January 1, 2024, Hagerty Re will cede to various reinsurers 100 % of its High-Net-Worth Accounts
physical damage exposure. Some of the reinsurers involved in this quota share are related parties. Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions for additional
information.
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Hagerty Re receives ceding commissions related to premiums ceded under reinsurance contracts related to High-Net-Worth Accounts. Ceding commissions are
recognized ratably over the terms of the related policies, which are generally 12 months, and are recorded within "Ceding commission, net" in the Company's
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Deferred portions of ceding commissions received are included in "Deferred acquisition costs, net" on the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following table presents the reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses as of December 31, 2023 and December 31,
2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 548  $ 605  
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 2,235  843  

Total reinsurance recoverable $ 2,783  $ 1,448  

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve Hagerty Re from its primary liability to the ceding carriers according to the terms of its reinsurance treaties. Failure of
reinsurers to honor their obligations could result in additional losses to Hagerty Re. Hagerty Re evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors
concentration of credit risk arising from its exposure to individual reinsurers. All of Hagerty Re's reinsurers have an A.M. Best rating of A- (Excellent) or better, or
fully collateralize their maximum obligation under the treaty.

14 — Statutory Capital and Surplus

Dividend Restrictions — Under Bermuda law, Hagerty Re is prohibited from declaring or issuing a dividend if it fails to meet its minimum solvency margin or
minimum liquidity ratio. Prior approval from the Bermuda Monetary Authority ("BMA") is also required if Hagerty Re's proposed dividend payments would exceed
25% of its prior year-end total statutory capital and surplus. The amount of dividends which could be paid in 2024 without prior approval is $ 54.7  million.

Capital Restrictions — In Bermuda, Hagerty Re is subject to the Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement ("BSCR") administered by the BMA. No regulatory
action is taken by the BMA if an insurer’s capital and surplus is equal to or in excess of its enhanced capital requirement, as determined by the BSCR model. In
addition, the BMA has established a target capital level for each insurer, which is 120% of the enhanced capital requirement. Hagerty Re maintained sufficient
statutory capital and surplus to comply with regulatory requirements as of December 31, 2023.

Statutory Financial Information — Hagerty Re prepares its statutory financial statements in conformity with the accounting principles set forth in the Bermuda
Insurance Act 1978, amendments thereto and related regulations. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the general business statutory capital and surplus of
Hagerty Re was $ 218.9 million and $ 131.7  million, respectively. Statutory capital and surplus as of December 31, 2023 included $ 25.0  million of "Other Fixed
Capital" represented by the State Farm Term Loan to Hagerty Re. The general business statutory net income of Hagerty Re was $ 62.3 million, $ 24.4 million,
and $ 25.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively.

15 — Restructuring, Impairment and Related Charges

In 2022, management approved an initiative to increase operational efficiencies and flexibility by transitioning to a "remote first" work model for employees. This
initiative primarily included the rationalization of the Company's office space throughout the U.S., Canada, and the United Kingdom ("U.K.") Additionally, in the
fourth quarter of 2022, the Board approved a voluntary retirement program ("VRP") and a reduction in force (the "2022 RIF"). As a result of these actions
(collectively, the "2022 Restructuring Actions"), the Company recognized $ 18.3 million within "Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net" in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. These charges consisted of $ 8.0 million of severance-related costs associated
with the 2022 RIF and $ 4.2 million of severance-related costs associated with the VRP, as well as an impairment charge of $ 4.7 million related to operating
lease ROU assets and a $ 1.5 million loss on the disposal of leasehold improvements associated with the impaired leases.

In 2023, the Board approved a further reduction in force (the "2023 RIF") following a strategic review of business processes as the Company focuses on driving
efficiencies in order to achieve growth and profitability goals. As a result of these actions (collectively, the "2023 Restructuring Actions"), the Company
recognized $ 8.8  million within "Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. These charges consisted of
$ 5.4  million of severance-related costs associated with the 2023 RIF and a $ 0.4  million impairment charge to write-down the value of certain digital media
content assets. In addition, the Company recognized $ 3.1  million of charges associated with operating lease ROU assets and leasehold improvements for
office space that was vacated and listed for sublease in the period as a result of the Company's continuing transition to a "remote first" work model.
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The following is a reconciliation of the liability related to the 2022 Restructuring Actions and the 2023 Restructuring Actions, which is recorded within "Accounts
payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

in thousands
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 9,470  
Costs incurred and charged to expense 8,812  
Costs paid or otherwise settled ( 18,282 )

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ —  

 Includes cash payments made for severance, as well as $ 3.1 million of impairment and related charges associated with operating lease ROU assets and associated leasehold improvements, a
$ 0.4 million non-cash impairment related to certain digital media content assets and the non-cash share-based compensation effects related to the 2023 RIF.

16 — Fair Value Measurements

The Company's recurring significant fair value measurements primarily relate to interest rate swaps, warrant liabilities, and fixed income investments. The
Company uses valuation techniques based on inputs such as observable data, independent market data, and/or unobservable data. Additionally, the Company
makes assumptions in valuing its assets and liabilities, including assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation techniques.

The Company classifies fair value measurements within one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy. The level assigned to a fair value measurement is based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgment. The
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement date. Active markets are
those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

• Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable for substantially the full term of the asset
or liability.

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that management believes are predicated on the assumptions market participants would use to measure the asset or
liability at fair value.

The Company's policy is to recognize significant transfers between levels, if any, at the end of the reporting period.

Recurring fair value measurements

Interest rate swaps

Interest rate swap agreements are used to fix the interest rate on a portion of the Company's existing variable rate debt to reduce the exposure to interest rate
fluctuations. The notional amounts of the interest rate swap agreements are used to measure interest to be paid or received and do not represent the amount of
exposure to credit loss. The differential paid or received on the interest rate swap agreements is recognized as an adjustment to interest expense within "Interest
and other income (expense)" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had one outstanding interest rate swap, which was entered into in December 2020, with an original notional amount of
$ 35.0 million and maturity in December 2025. In September 2022, the interest rate swap was amended to replace LIBOR with Term Secured Overnight
Financing Rate ("SOFR") and, as a result, the fixed swap rate is now 0.81 %. The estimated fair value of the interest rate swap is included within either "Other
long-term assets" or "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(1)

(1)    
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The Company designated its outstanding interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge and formally documented the relationship between the interest rate swap and
the variable rate borrowings, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction. The Company also assessed, at the
hedge's inception and will continue to assess on an ongoing basis, whether the interest rate swap was highly effective in offsetting variability in the cash flows of
the variable rate borrowings. The hedge is deemed effective, and therefore, the change in fair value is recorded within "Derivative instruments" in the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). In the event the cash flow hedge is no longer deemed effective, such amounts would be reclassified
into interest expense, net from "Other comprehensive income". There were no such reclassifications during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021. The Company does not expect to have a reclassification into earnings within the next 12 months.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the interest swap was in an asset position and had a fair value of $ 2.2 million and $ 3.3 million, respectively.

Interest rate swaps are determined to be Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The significant inputs used to determine the fair value of interest rate swaps,
such as the SOFR forward curve, are considered observable market inputs. The Company monitors the credit and nonperformance risk associated with its
counterparty and believes them to be insignificant.

Warrant liabilities

The following table summarizes the Company's outstanding warrants as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Public warrants 5,750  5,750  
Private placement warrants 258  258  
Underwriter warrants 29  29  
OTM warrants 1,300  1,300  
PIPE warrants 12,147  12,147  

Total 19,484  19,484  

The Public warrants may be exercised on a cash basis only and expire in December 2026.
The Private Placement, Underwriter and PIPE warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis and expire in December 2026.
The OTM warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis and expire in December 2031.

The Company's Public Warrants are Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy as they are measured utilizing quoted market prices. The Company's Private
Placement Warrants, Underwriter Warrants, OTM Warrants, and PIPE Warrants are Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The Company utilizes a Monte Carlo
simulation model to measure the fair value of these warrants. The Company’s Monte Carlo simulation model includes assumptions related to the expected stock
price volatility, expected term, dividend yield, and risk-free interest rate.

The following table summarizes the significant inputs used in the valuation model for the private warrants as of December 31, 2023:

Inputs
Private Placement

Warrants Underwriter Warrants OTM Warrants PIPE Warrants
Exercise price $ 11.50 $ 11.50 $ 15.00 $ 11.50
Common stock price $ 7.80 $ 7.80 $ 7.80 $ 7.80
Volatility 48.6 % 48.6 % 46.0 % 48.6 %
Expected term of the warrants 2.92 2.92 7.93 2.92
Risk-free rate 4.00 % 4.00 % 3.90 % 4.00 %
Dividend yield — % — % — % — %

The Company estimates the volatility of its common stock based on factors including, but not limited to, implied volatility of the Public Warrants, the historical
performance of comparable companies, and management's understanding of the volatility associated with similar instruments of other entities.

(1)

(2)

(2)

(3)

(2)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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The risk-free rate is based on the yield of the U.S. Treasury Constant Maturity for a term that approximates the expected remaining life of the warrants, which is
assumed to be the remaining contractual term.

The dividend rate is based on the Company’s historical rate, which is expected to remain at zero .

The fair value of the Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, are shown in the tables below:

Estimated Fair Value as of December 31, 2023
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

in thousands
Financial Assets
Interest rate swaps $ 2,234  $ —  $ 2,234  $ —  

Total $ 2,234  $ —  $ 2,234  $ —  

Financial Liabilities
Public warrants $ 9,488  $ 9,488  $ —  $ —  
Private placement warrants 476  —  —  476  
Underwriter warrants 53  —  —  53  
OTM warrants 3,981  —  —  3,981  
PIPE warrants 20,020  —  —  20,020  

Total $ 34,018  $ 9,488  $ —  $ 24,530  

Estimated Fair Value as of December 31, 2022
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

in thousands
Financial Assets
Interest rate swaps $ 3,294  $ —  $ 3,294  $ —  

Total $ 3,294  $ —  $ 3,294  $ —  

Financial Liabilities
Public warrants $ 12,880  $ 12,880  $ —  $ —  
Private placement warrants 673  —  —  673  
Underwriter warrants 75  —  —  75  
OTM warrants 4,706  —  —  4,706  
PIPE warrants 27,227  —  —  27,227  

Total $ 45,561  $ 12,880  $ —  $ 32,681  

The following table presents a reconciliation of the Company's warrant liabilities that are classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Private Placement
Warrants

Underwriter
Warrants OTM Warrants PIPE Warrants Total

in thousands
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 1,248  $ 139  $ 6,849  $ 55,887  $ 64,123  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ( 575 ) ( 64 ) ( 2,143 ) ( 26,754 ) ( 29,536 )
Exercise of warrants —  —  —  ( 1,906 ) ( 1,906 )

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 673  $ 75  $ 4,706  $ 27,227  $ 32,681  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ( 197 ) ( 22 ) ( 725 ) ( 7,207 ) ( 8,151 )

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 476  $ 53  $ 3,981  $ 20,020  $ 24,530  
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, 522,000 PIPE warrants were exercised, on a cashless basis, for an equivalent of 124,748 shares of Class A
Common Stock. The cashless exercise resulted in a decrease in "Warrant liabilities" and an increase in "Class A Common Stock" and "Additional paid-in capital"
of $ 1.9  million on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. No warrants were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Fixed Income Investments

The Company has fixed income investments that consist of Canadian Sovereign, Provincial and Municipal fixed income securities held in a trust account to meet
the requirements of a third-party insurer in connection with Hagerty Re's reinsurance agreement. These fixed income investments are classified as held-to-
maturity because the Company has the intent and ability to hold these investments to maturity. The Company has determined that its fixed income investments
are Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy, as these investments are valued using observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets at the measurement
date. The critical credit quality indicator for the fixed income investments is the credit ratings of the issuer. Management considers all of the fixed income
investments currently held by Hagerty Re to be investment grade.

The following table discloses the fair value and related carrying amount of fixed income investments held within Hagerty Re as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Carrying Amount
Estimated Fair

Value Carrying Amount
Estimated Fair

Value

in thousands
Short-term $ 10,946  $ 10,864  $ 6,296  $ 6,205  
Long-term 5,526  5,398  6,690  6,316  

Total $ 16,472  $ 16,262  $ 12,986  $ 12,521  

Each reporting period management reviews the credit rating of each security to ensure it is considered investment grade. Based on the factors outlined above,
as of December 31, 2023, the Company does not expect any credit losses related to the fixed income investments and therefore there is no allowance for credit
losses recorded. The Company did not record any gains or losses on these securities during the years ended December 31, 2023 or 2022.

17 — Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, "Long-term debt, net" consisted of the following:

December 31,
Maturity 2023 2022

in thousands
JPM Credit Facility October 2026 $ 77,258  $ 105,000  
BAC Credit Facility December 2026 25,782  —  
State Farm Term Loan September 2033 25,000  —  
Notes payable 2024-2025 6,875  3,280  

Total debt 134,915  108,280  
Less: Notes payable, current portion ( 3,654 ) —  
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs ( 581 ) —  

Total long-term debt, net $ 130,680  $ 108,280  

JPM Credit Facility

The Hagerty Group has a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("JPM"), as administrative agent, and the other financial institutions party thereto
from time to time as lenders, as amended (the "JPM Credit Agreement"). The JPM Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility (the "JPM Credit
Facility") with an aggregate borrowing capacity of $ 230.0  million. The JPM Credit Agreement also provides for an uncommitted incremental facility under which
the Company may request one or more increases in the amount of the commitments available under the JPM Credit Facility in an aggregate amount not to
exceed $ 50.0  million. Additionally, the JPM Credit Agreement provides for the issuance of letters of credit of up to $ 25.0  million and borrowings in the British
Pound and Euro of up to $ 25.0  million in the aggregate. The JPM Credit Agreement matures in October 2026, but may be extended if agreed to by the
Company and the lenders party thereto. Any unpaid balance on the JPM Credit Facility is due at maturity.
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In the fourth quarter of 2023, The Hagerty Group entered into a Tenth Amendment to the JPM Credit Agreement, which provides additional operational flexibility
to The Hagerty Group and its subsidiaries, and includes, among other things, (i) additional baskets for investments, incurrence of indebtedness and liens; (ii)
changes to financial covenants; and (iii) the ability to raise additional indebtedness in the form of either incremental debt on a pari-passu basis or on an asset-
backed securitization basis.

The JPM Credit Facility accrues interest at the applicable reference rate (primarily SOFR) depending on the currency of the borrowing plus an applicable margin
determined by the Company's net leverage ratio for the preceding period (as defined in the Credit Agreement). The effective interest rate related to the JPM
Credit Facility was 7.28 % and 6.57 % for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

JPM Credit Facility borrowings are collateralized by assets and equity interests in The Hagerty Group and its consolidated subsidiaries, except for (a) the assets
held by the special purpose entities related to the BAC Credit Facility and (b) all or a portion of foreign and certain excluded or immaterial subsidiaries.

Under the JPM Credit Agreement, The Hagerty Group is required, among other things, to meet certain financial covenants (as defined in the JPM Credit
Agreement), including a fixed charge coverage ratio and a leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance
with the financial covenants under the JPM Credit Agreement.

BAC Credit Facility

On December 21, 2023, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and its wholly owned subsidiary BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC, as borrower, entered into the BAC Credit
Agreement. The BAC Credit Agreement provides for the BAC Credit Facility, which has an aggregate borrowing capacity of $ 75.0  million and is subject to a
borrowing base that is determined by a calculation that is primarily based upon a percentage of the carrying value of certain BAC notes receivable. As of
December 31, 2023, the borrowing base for the BAC Credit Agreement was $ 25.8  million.

The revolving borrowing period provided by the BAC Credit Agreement expires on December 21, 2025 and the BAC Credit Agreement matures on December
21, 2026. The revolving borrowing period and the maturity date of the BAC Credit Agreement may be extended by one year if requested by Broad Arrow Capital
LLC and agreed to by the administrative agent. Broad Arrow Capital LLC is not a borrower or guarantor of the BAC Credit Facility.

In conjunction with the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries transfer certain notes receivable originated by Broad
Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries to wholly owned, bankruptcy remote special purpose entities (each, an "SPE") to secure the borrowings under
the BAC Credit Agreement. These SPEs have the limited purpose of acquiring notes receivable or a certificate representing beneficial ownership interest therein
from Broad Arrow Capital LLC and certain of its subsidiaries. Assets transferred to each SPE are legally isolated from the Company and its subsidiaries. Further,
the assets of each SPE are owned by such SPE and are not available to satisfy the debts or other obligations of the Company or any of its other subsidiaries.
Broad Arrow Capital LLC continues to service the notes receivable transferred to the SPEs.

Recourse to the Company and its subsidiaries that originated and transferred notes receivable that represent collateral under the BAC Credit Facility is limited to
(i) an obligation of the applicable seller to repurchase a note receivable if it is determined that there was a breach of any representation or warranty relating to
such note receivable as of the relevant date specified in the related transfer agreement and (ii) a limited guarantee covering certain liabilities that may result
under certain foreign exchange hedging activity of one of the SPEs.

Under the BAC Credit Agreement, Broad Arrow Capital LLC and BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC are required, among other things, to meet certain financial
covenants, including the requirement of Broad Arrow Capital LLC, as the servicer, to maintain a minimum tangible net worth, minimum liquidity balances, and an
indebtedness to tangible net worth ratio. As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the BAC Credit
Agreement.

State Farm Term Loan

On September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into an unsecured term loan credit facility with State Farm in the aggregate principal amount of $ 25.0  million (the
"State Farm Term Loan"). The State Farm Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 8.0 % per annum and will mature on September 19, 2033. State Farm is a
related party to the Company. Refer to Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions for additional information.
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Notes Payable

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had outstanding notes payable, which are used to fund certain loans made by BAC in the
U.K., totaling $ 6.9 million and $ 3.3 million, respectively. The effective interest rates for these notes payable range from 7.0 % to 9.8 % with repayment due
between October 2024 and August 2025. Refer to Note 4 — Notes Receivable for additional information on the lending activities of BAC.

Letters of Credit

The Company authorized three letters of credit for a total of $ 11.1 million for operational purposes related to Section 953(d) tax structuring election and lease
down payment support.

18 — Convertible Preferred Stock

On June 23, 2023, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with certain accredited investors (the "Investors"),
pursuant to which it closed, issued and sold (the "Closing") to the Investors an aggregate of 8,483,561 shares of the Company’s newly-designated Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $ 0.0001 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $ 80.0 million, at a per-share purchase price of $ 9.43 (the
"Series A Purchase Price" and the transaction, the "Private Placement").

The Investors include State Farm, Markel, and persons related to HHC. State Farm and Markel are both significant stockholders of the Company, each holding
in excess of 5% of the outstanding common stock. McKeel Hagerty is the Company’s CEO and a member of the Company’s Board. Mr. Hagerty and Tammy
Hagerty may be deemed to control HHC, which is the controlling stockholder of the Company. Prior to and continuing after the Private Placement, each of State
Farm and Markel have the right to nominate one director to the Company’s Board and HHC has the right to nominate two directors to the Company’s Board.
Refer to Note 19 — Stockholders' Equity and Note 23 — Related-Party Transactions for additional information.

The net proceeds from the Private Placement, after deducting issuance costs of approximately $ 0.8  million, were $ 79.2  million, which was recorded within
Temporary Equity on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company is using the net proceeds from the Private Placement for general corporate
purposes.

As of December 31, 2023, the estimated redemption value of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock was $ 123.4 million, which represents the maximum cash
payment, including cumulative dividends, that would be required to be paid if the Optional Term Redemption provision in the Certificate of Designations, as
summarized below, is exercised as of the earliest possible redemption date of June 23, 2028. The decision to redeem the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
for cash is made at the discretion of the Company; however, the Company is controlled by HHC through its voting control of the Company. Accordingly, the
redemption of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is considered outside the control of the Company and, as a result, the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock is recorded within Temporary Equity on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company has elected to apply the accretion method to adjust the carrying value of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to its estimated redemption
value. Amounts recognized to accrete the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to its estimated redemption value are treated as a deemed dividend and are
recorded as a reduction to "Additional paid-in capital". The estimated redemption value may vary in subsequent periods and the Company has elected to
recognize such changes prospectively.

The captioned sections below provide a summary of the material terms of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, as set forth in the Certificate of
Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the "Certificate of Designations").

Ranking — The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Class A Common Stock, the Class V Common Stock and each other class or series of
shares of the Company that the Company may issue in the future the terms of which do not expressly provide that such class or series ranks equally with, or
senior to, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights and/or rights upon liquidation, winding up or dissolution.

Dividends — Dividends on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are cumulative and accrue from the date of issuance at the rate per annum of 7 % of the
Series A Purchase Price of each share, plus the amount of previously accrued dividends, compounded annually (the "Accruing Dividends"). The Company may
elect to pay the Accruing Dividends either in cash or in additional shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Prior to the third anniversary of the Closing,
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will participate on an as-converted basis in dividends declared and paid on the Class A Common Stock.
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Conversion — Any shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock may, at the option of the holder, be converted at any time into shares of Class A Common
Stock. The conversion price for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is initially $ 11.79 and is subject to adjustment upon certain events, including a stock
split, a reverse stock split, or a dividend of the Class A Common Stock or Class V Common Stock to the Company’s common stockholders (as adjusted, the
"Conversion Price"). The Company may require such conversion (i) if the closing price per share of Class A Common Stock, for at least twenty ( 20 ) of any
thirty ( 30 ) consecutive trading days, exceeds: (a) on or after the third and prior to the seventh anniversary of the Closing, 150 % of the Conversion Price; or (b)
on or after the seventh and prior to the tenth anniversary of the Closing, 100 % of the Conversion Price; and (ii) on or after the tenth anniversary of the Closing.
The conversion rate in effect at any applicable time (the "Conversion Rate") is the quotient obtained by dividing the Series A Purchase Price by the Conversion
Price.

As of December 31, 2023, no shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have been converted and the outstanding Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
was convertible into 6,785,410 shares of Class A Common Stock.

Voting — The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock votes together with the Class A Common Stock on an as-converted basis, and not as a separate class. The
Investors have veto rights over (i) changes to the terms of the Certificate of Designations or the Company's certificate of incorporation or bylaws that adversely
impact the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and (ii) the issuance of equity securities senior to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or other securities
convertible thereto.

Liquidation Preference — In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be
paid the greater of (i) the Series A Purchase Price plus any Accruing Dividends accrued but unpaid thereon, and (ii) the amount that such share of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock would have received had it converted into the Class A Common Stock immediately prior to such liquidation, dissolution or winding
up of the Company (the "Liquidation Preference"). After payment of the Liquidation Preference, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will no longer be
convertible and will not participate in any distribution made to the holders of the Class A Common Stock or Class V Common Stock.

Change of Control — Upon a merger, consolidation, sale or other change of control transaction as described in the Certificate of Designations (a "Change of
Control"), either (i) the Company may elect to redeem the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or (ii) each holder of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock,
individually, may require the Company to redeem all or any portion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The redemption price per share to be paid by
the Company would be the greater of: (a) the Series A Purchase Price plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends multiplied by (i) if prior to or on the third
anniversary of the Closing, 120 %; (ii) if after the third but prior to or on the fifth anniversary of the Closing, 110 %; (iii) if after the fifth anniversary of the Closing,
100 %; and (b) the amount such share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock would have received had it converted into the Class A Common Stock prior to
the Change of Control. Any shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock that are not so redeemed will automatically convert into shares of Class A Common
Stock and be paid in connection with the Change of Control.

Fundamental Transaction — In the event of any acquisition by the Company with a transaction value of at least $ 500.0  million or any equity or debt financing by
the Company that raises at least $ 500.0  million, either (i) the Company may elect to redeem the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, or (ii) each holder of
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, individually, may require the Company to redeem all or any portion of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The
redemption price per share to be paid by the Company would be the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends
multiplied by: (a) if prior to or on the third anniversary of the Closing, 120 %; (b) if after the third but prior to or on the fifth anniversary of the Closing, 110 %; (c) if
after the fifth but prior to or on the sixth anniversary of the Closing, 108 %; (d) if after the sixth but prior to or on the seventh anniversary of the Closing, 106 %;
(e) if after the seventh but prior to or on the eighth anniversary of the Closing, 104 %; (f) if after the eighth but prior to or on the ninth anniversary of the Closing,
102 %; or (g) if after the ninth anniversary of the Closing, 100 %.

Optional Term Redemption — Any time after the fifth anniversary of the Closing, the Company may redeem all or any portion of the then-outstanding shares of
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for cash (a "Term Redemption"). The redemption price per share to be paid by the Company would be equal to the
greater of: (i) the Series A Purchase Price plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends multiplied by: (a) if after the fifth but prior to the sixth anniversary of
the Closing, 110 %; (b) if on or after the sixth but prior to the seventh anniversary of the Closing, 108 %; (c) if on or after the seventh but prior to the eighth
anniversary of the Closing, 106 %; (d) if on or after the eighth but prior to the ninth anniversary of the Closing, 104 %; (e) if on or after the ninth but prior to tenth
anniversary of the Closing, 102 %; or (f) if on or after the tenth anniversary of the Closing, 100 %; and (ii) the amount such share of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock would have received had it converted into Class A Common Stock prior to the Term Redemption.

Registration Rights Agreement — In connection with the Private Placement, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement with the Investors (the
"Registration Rights Agreement") pursuant to which, the Investors will be entitled to certain demand, shelf and piggyback registration rights with respect to the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and shares of the Class A Common Stock issuable upon conversion thereof.
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19 — Stockholders' Equity

Class A Common Stock — Hagerty is authorized to issue 500,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share. Holders of
Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were 84,588,536 and 83,202,969
shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding, respectively.

Class V Common Stock — Hagerty is authorized to issue 300,000,000 shares of Class V Common Stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share. Class V
Common Stock represents voting, non-economic interests in Hagerty. Holders of Class V Common Stock are entitled to 10 votes for each share. In connection
with the Business Combination, Hagerty issued shares of Class V Common Stock to the Legacy Unit Holders along with an equivalent number of The Hagerty
Group units, as discussed below. Each share of Class V Common Stock, together with the corresponding unit of The Hagerty Group, is exchangeable for one
share of Class A Common Stock. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were 251,033,906 shares of Class V Common Stock issued and
outstanding.

Preferred Stock — Hagerty is authorized to issue 20,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock with a par value of $ 0.0001 per share. Hagerty's Board has the
authority to issue shares of Preferred Stock with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time.

On June 23, 2023, the Company issued 8,483,561 shares of the Company’s newly-designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $ 0.0001 per
share, for an aggregate purchase price of $ 80.0 million, at a per-share purchase price of $ 9.43 . As of December 31, 2023, there were 8,483,561 shares of
Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. Refer to Note 18 — Convertible Preferred Stock for additional information.

As of December 31, 2022, there were no shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding.
Non-controlling Interests — Hagerty, Inc. is the sole managing member of The Hagerty Group and, as a result,
consolidates the financial statements of The Hagerty Group into its Consolidated Financial Statements. Hagerty, Inc. reports a non-controlling interest
representing the economic interest in The Hagerty Group held by other unit holders of The Hagerty Group. Each Hagerty Group Unit and, if applicable, the
associated share of Class V Common Stock, is exchangeable for one share of Class A Common Stock.

The following table summarizes the ownership of The Hagerty Group units as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Units Owned Ownership Percentage Units Owned Ownership Percentage

The Hagerty Group units held by Hagerty, Inc. 84,588,536  24.9  % 83,202,969 24.5  %
The Hagerty Group units held by other unit holders 255,499,164  75.1  % 255,758,466  75.5  %

Total 340,087,700  100.0  % 338,961,435  100.0  %

In connection with the Private Placement, the Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of The Hagerty Group was amended and
restated in the form of a Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement, to, among other things, create a new series of preferred units within
The Hagerty Group ("The Hagerty Group Preferred Units"), which are all held by Hagerty, Inc., to parallel the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The Hagerty
Group Preferred Units are recorded on the standalone unconsolidated financial statements of The Hagerty Group at their estimated redemption value, which
represents the maximum cash payment, including cumulative dividends, that would be required to be paid to Hagerty, Inc. upon a Term Redemption of the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Amounts recognized to accrete The Hagerty Group Preferred Units to their estimated redemption value are treated as a
deemed dividend due to Hagerty, Inc. The amount of this deemed dividend is attributed entirely to Hagerty, Inc. prior to allocating the remainder of The Hagerty
Group's net income between controlling and non-controlling interests. Refer to Note 18 — Convertible Preferred Stock for additional information on the Private
Placement and the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

At the end of each reporting period, The Hagerty Group equity attributable to Hagerty, Inc. and the non-controlling unit holders, respectively, is reallocated to
reflect their current ownership in The Hagerty Group.
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Redeemable Non-controlling Interest — In connection with the Business Combination, Hagerty, Inc. entered into the Legacy Unit Holders Exchange
Agreement. The Legacy Unit Holders Exchange Agreement permitted the Legacy Unit Holders to exchange shares of Class V Common Stock and the
associated units of The Hagerty Group for an equivalent amount of shares of Class A Common Stock or, at the option of the Company, for cash. Because the
Company had the option to redeem the non-controlling interest for cash and the Company is controlled by the Legacy Unit Holders through their voting control,
the non-controlling interest was considered redeemable as the redemption was considered outside the Company's control. This redeemable non-controlling
interest represented the economic interests of the Legacy Unit Holders. Income or loss was attributed to the redeemable non-controlling interest based on the
weighted average ownership of The Hagerty Group units outstanding during the period held by the Legacy Unit Holders.

The redeemable non-controlling interest was measured at the greater of the initial fair value or the redemption value and was required to be presented as
Temporary Equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding adjustment to "Additional paid-in capital" and "Accumulated earnings (deficit)". The
total redeemable non-controlling interest as of December 31, 2021 was $ 593.3  million. For the period from January 1, 2022 to March 23, 2022, additional
accretion of $ 1.6  billion was recognized, with a corresponding adjustment of $ 162.1  million and $ 1.4  billion to "Additional paid-in capital" and "Accumulated
earnings (deficit)", respectively.

On March 23, 2022, the Legacy Unit Holders Exchange Agreement was amended to revise the option for the Company to settle the exchange of Class V
Common Stock and associated The Hagerty Group units in cash. Under the terms of the amendment, a cash exchange is only allowable in the event that net
cash proceeds are received from a new permanent equity offering. The redeemable non-controlling interest balance of $ 2.1  billion as of March 23, 2022 was
recorded in equity as non-controlling interest with corresponding adjustments of $ 1.4  billion, $ 528.6  million, and $ 215.6  million to "Accumulated earnings
(deficit)", "Additional paid-in capital" and "Non-controlling interest", respectively.

20 — Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated under the Two-Class Method using Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders, divided by the
weighted average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated using diluted Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders divided by the weighted average
number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period, adjusted to give effect to potentially dilutive securities.

The Company's potentially dilutive securities consist of (i) unexercised warrants, unvested share-based compensation awards, and shares issuable under the
employee stock purchase plan, with the dilutive effect calculated using the Treasury Stock Method, and (ii) non-controlling interest units of The Hagerty Group
and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, with the dilutive effect calculated using the more dilutive of the If-Converted Method and the Two-Class Method.
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The following table summarizes the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

in thousands (except per share amounts)
Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock, Basic

Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders $ 15,881  $ 32,078  $ ( 46,358 )

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding 84,180  82,728  82,327  

Net income (loss) per share of Class A Common Stock, basic $ 0.19  $ 0.39  $ ( 0.56 )

Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock, Diluted
Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders $ 31,769  $ ( 23,956 ) $ ( 46,358 )

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding 340,323  336,147  82,327  

Net income (loss) per share of Class A Common Stock, Diluted $ 0.09  $ ( 0.07 ) $ ( 0.56 )

Net Income (Loss) Available to Class A Common Stockholders
Net income (loss) $ 28,179  $ 2,403  $ ( 61,354 )

Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest ( 7,948 ) 29,675  398  
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest —  —  14,598  
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ( 3,677 ) —  —  
Undistributed earnings allocated to Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ( 673 ) —  —  

Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders, Basic 15,881  32,078  ( 46,358 )

Undistributed earnings allocated to Series A Convertible Preferred Stock 347  —  —  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive units of The Hagerty Group 15,526  ( 28,642 ) —  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive Series A Convertible Preferred Stock —  —  —  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive share-based compensation awards 15  —  —  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive warrant liabilities —  ( 27,392 ) —  

Net income (loss) available to Class A Common Stockholders, Diluted $ 31,769  $ ( 23,956 ) $ ( 46,358 )

Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common Stock Outstanding
Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding, Basic 84,180  82,728  82,327  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive units of The Hagerty Group 255,559  252,806  —  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive Series A Convertible Preferred Stock —  —  —  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive share-based compensation awards 584  —  —  

Adjustment for potentially dilutive warrants —  613  —  

Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding, Diluted 340,323  336,147  82,327  

The following table summarizes the weighted-average potential shares of Class A Common Stock excluded from diluted earnings (loss) per share of Class A
Common Stock as their effect would be anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
The Hagerty Group units —  —  251,034  
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock 3,569  —  —  
Unvested shares associated with share-based compensation awards 3,767  7,048  —  
Warrants 19,484  7,050  20,006  

Total 26,820  14,098  271,040  
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21 — Share-Based Compensation

The Company's 2021 Equity Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of up to approximately 38.3 million shares of Class A Common Stock to employees and
non-employee directors. The 2021 Equity Incentive Plan allows for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and performance restricted stock units. As of December 31, 2023, there were approximately 29.0 million shares
available for future grants under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

Share-based compensation expense related to employees is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within "Salaries and benefits" and, to a
much lesser extent, when applicable, "Restructuring, impairment and related charges, net." Share-based compensation expense related to non-employee
directors is recognized within "General and administrative services." The Company recognizes forfeitures of share-based compensation awards in the period in
which they occur.

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. As the first share-based
compensation grant occurred in the second quarter of 2022, there was no share-based compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Restricted stock units $ 14,991  $ 9,814  
Performance restricted stock units 2,861  2,146  
Employee stock purchase plan 165  169  

Total share-based compensation expense $ 18,017  $ 12,129  

Restricted Stock Units

RSU grants typically vest over a two to five-year period. The grant date fair value is determined based on the closing market price of the Class A Common Stock
on the business day prior to the grant date. The total fair value of RSUs that vested during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $ 10.0 million and
$ 0.4 million, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value of RSUs granted during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $ 9.12 and $
10.76 , respectively. There was no share-based compensation activity during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The tax impact related to vested shares for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was not material to the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statements due to the full valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset for the investment in the assets of The Hagerty Group.

Unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs as of December 31, 2023 was $ 31.6  million, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted
average period of 3.35 years.

The following table provides a summary of the RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Restricted Stock Units
Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value
Unvested balance as of December 31, 2022 3,195,038 $ 10.76  
Granted 2,628,874 9.12  
Vested ( 927,891 ) 10.75  
Forfeited ( 217,989 ) 9.85  

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2023 4,678,032 $ 9.88  
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Performance Restricted Stock Units

In April 2022, the CEO was granted performance-based RSUs, which provide him the opportunity to receive up to 3,707,136 shares of Class A Common Stock.
The award had a grant date fair value of approximately $ 19.2  million, which was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The performance-based
RSUs have both market-based and service-based vesting conditions. Shares of Class A Common Stock issuable under this award will be earned based on the
achievement of the following stock price targets: (i) 25 % of the shares can be earned when the stock price of the Class A Common Stock exceeds $ 20.00 per
share for 60 consecutive days, (ii) 25 % of the shares can be earned when the stock price of the Class A Common Stock exceeds $ 25.00 per share for 60
consecutive days, and (iii) 50 % of the shares can be earned when the stock price of the Class A Common Stock exceeds $ 30.00 per share for 60 consecutive
days. These market-based conditions must be met in order for these performance-based RSUs to vest, and it is therefore possible that no shares will ultimately
vest. If the market-based conditions are met, shares of Class A Common Stock earned will vest over the earlier of three years after achievement of the stock
price target or the end of the seven-year performance period. The Company will recognize the entire $ 19.2  million of compensation expense for this award,
regardless of whether such market-based conditions are met, over the requisite service period.

The following table summarizes the assumptions and related information used to determine the grant-date fair value of performance-based RSUs awarded in
April 2022:

Inputs
Performance Restricted

Stock Units
Weighted average grant-date fair value per share $ 5.19
Expected stock volatility 35 %
Expected term (in years) 7.0
Risk-free interest rate 2.5 %
Dividend yield — %

The following table provides a summary of performance-based RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Performance Restricted
Stock Units

Weighted Average
Fair Value

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 3,707,136  $ 5.19  
Granted — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 3,707,136 $ 5.19  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") allows substantially all of the Company's employees to purchase shares of the Class A Common Stock.
The ESPP allows purchases of Class A Common Stock to be made at a discount of up to 15 % and for the purchase price to occur at the lesser of the fair
market value of the Class A Common Stock on (i) the offering date and (ii) the applicable purchase date. The Company's two previous offering periods offered
discounts of 10 % and 5 %. Employees are allowed to terminate their participation in the ESPP at any time during the purchase period prior to the purchase of
shares. As of December 31, 2023, 197,819 shares had been purchased under the ESPP and there were approximately 11.3 million shares available for future
purchases.
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22 — Taxation

United States — The Hagerty Group is taxed as a pass-through ownership structure under provisions of the IRC and a similar section of state income tax law
except for certain U.S. corporate subsidiaries and foreign subsidiaries. Any taxable income or loss generated by The Hagerty Group is passed through to and
included in the taxable income or loss of The Hagerty Group unit holders, including Hagerty, Inc. Hagerty, Inc. is taxed as a corporation under the IRC and pays
corporate, federal, state, and local taxes with respect to income allocated from The Hagerty Group. Hagerty, Inc., Hagerty Re, Broad Arrow, Hagerty Radwood,
Inc., and various foreign subsidiaries are treated as taxable entities and income taxes are provided where applicable.

The Company has a TRA with the Legacy Unit Holders that requires the Company to pay 85 % of the tax savings that are realized as a result of increases in the
tax basis in The Hagerty Group's assets as a result of an exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Class V Common Stock for Class A Common Stock or
cash. See "Tax Receivable Agreement Liability" below for additional information.

Canada — Canadian entities are taxed as non-resident corporations and subject to income tax in Canada under provisions of the Canadian Revenue Agency.

United Kingdom — U.K. entities are taxed as corporations and subject to income tax in the U.K. under provisions of HM Revenue & Customs.

Bermuda — Hagerty Re made an irrevocable election under Section 953(d) of the U.S. IRC, as amended, to be taxed as a U.S. domestic corporation. As a
result of this "domestic election", Hagerty Re is subject to U.S. taxation on its world-wide income as if it were a U.S. corporation. In accordance with an
agreement between Hagerty Re and the IRS, Hagerty Re established an irrevocable letter of credit with the IRS in 2021.

Tax Legislation — In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act ("IRA") was enacted into law. Among the provisions in the IRA was a 15% corporate minimum
tax effective for years beginning after December 31, 2022, and a 1% tax on share repurchases after December 31, 2022. The Company does not expect the tax
provisions of the IRA to have a material impact on its effective tax rate or its Consolidated Financial Statements.

On December 27, 2023, Bermuda enacted legislation implementing a corporate income tax, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2025.
Without making an election, Hagerty Re would not be considered a Bermuda Constituent Entity since Hagerty, Inc. owns less than 80% of the economic value of
Hagerty Re. Hagerty Re has not made and does not intend to make an election to be a Bermuda Constituent Entity and therefore is not subject to the corporate
income tax regime in Bermuda.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD") has a framework to implement a global minimum corporate tax of 15% for companies
with global revenues and profits above certain thresholds (referred to as "Pillar 2"), with certain aspects of Pillar 2 effective January 1, 2024 and other aspects
effective January 1, 2025. While its uncertain whether the U.S. will enact legislation to adopt Pillar 2, certain countries in which the Company operates have
adopted legislation, and other countries are in the process of introducing legislation to implement Pillar 2. The Company is still assessing the impact of Pillar 2.

Income Tax Expense — Income (loss) before income tax expense includes the following components:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
United States $ 62,030  $ 24,778  $ ( 44,434 )
Foreign ( 17,258 ) ( 13,682 ) ( 10,169 )

Total $ 44,772  $ 11,096  $ ( 54,603 )
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Total income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 consists of the following components:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands
Current:

Federal $ 13,664  $ 4,041  $ 3,753  
State 8  3  —  
Foreign —  —  ( 40 )

$ 13,672  $ 4,044  $ 3,713  
Deferred:

Federal $ 2,899  $ 2,999  $ 3,038  
State 22  ( 26 ) —  
Foreign —  —  —  

2,921  2,973  3,038  

Total $ 16,593  $ 7,017  $ 6,751  

Income tax expense (benefit) reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements differs from the tax computed by applying the statutory U.S. federal rate of 21%
to "Income (loss) before income tax expense" as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands (except percentages)
Income tax (benefit) expense at statutory rate $ 9,402  21  % $ 2,330  21  % $ ( 11,467 ) 21  %
State taxes ( 232 ) ( 1 )% ( 479 ) ( 4 )% ( 163 ) —  %
Loss not subject to entity-level taxes 5,000  11  % 8,727  79  % 6,485  ( 12 )%
Foreign rate differential ( 529 ) ( 1 )% ( 375 ) ( 3 )% ( 276 ) 1  %
Change in valuation allowance 393  1  % 5,647  51  % 2,759  ( 5 )%
Change in fair value of warrant liability ( 2,424 ) ( 5 )% ( 8,799 ) ( 79 )% 8,933  ( 16 )%
Permanent items 914  2  % 852  8  % 477  ( 1 )%
Effect of changes in tax rates 4,018  9  % ( 851 ) ( 8 )% —  —  %
Other, net 51  —  % ( 35 ) —  % 3  —  %

Income tax expense $ 16,593  37  % $ 7,017  65  % $ 6,751  ( 12 )%

116



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities — Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amount recognized for tax purposes, as adjusted for foreign currency translation. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax provision are as follows:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands
Deferred tax assets:

Discount on provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 1,019  $ 802  
Unearned premiums 12,886  9,886  
Unrealized foreign currency gain 110  229  
Excess tax basis 145,970  159,337  
Net operating loss ("NOL") and other carryforwards 23,768  17,197  
Other 419  457  

Gross deferred tax assets 184,172  187,908  
Less: valuation allowance ( 169,632 ) ( 176,116 )
Total net deferred tax assets $ 14,540  $ 11,792  

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred acquisition costs $ ( 29,744 ) $ ( 22,542 )
Excise tax accrual —  ( 1,068 )
Unrealized foreign currency gain ( 110 ) ( 229 )
Unrealized investment gain ( 46 ) ( 37 )
Intangible assets ( 555 ) ( 759 )
Other ( 22 ) ( 7 )

Total deferred tax liabilities $ ( 30,477 ) $ ( 24,642 )

Net deferred tax liability $ ( 15,937 ) $ ( 12,850 )

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded deferred tax assets of $ 184.2  million and $ 187.9  million, respectively, of which $ 146.0
 million and $ 159.3  million, respectively, relates to the difference between the outside tax basis and book basis of its investment in the assets of The Hagerty
Group. The Company's deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when management believes it is more likely than not that some, or all, of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. After considering all positive and negative evidence of taxable income in the carryback and carryforward periods, as
permitted by law, the Company believes it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets, including the deferred tax asset for the investment in the assets
of The Hagerty Group, will not be realized. As a result, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $ 169.6 million and $ 176.1 million against its
deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In the event that management subsequently determines that it is more likely than not that
the Company will realize its deferred tax assets in the future over the recorded amount, a decrease to the valuation allowance will be made, which will reduce the
provision for income taxes.
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The Company has income tax NOL carryforwards related to U.S. and foreign operations of approximately $ 129.1 million and $ 93.5 million as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset of $ 23.3 million reflecting the benefit of these loss carryforwards as of
December 31, 2023. Of these deferred tax assets, $ 13.6 million does not expire, and the remaining $ 9.6 million expires as follows:

in thousands
2036 $ 404  
2037 $ 725  
2038 $ 867  
2039 $ —  
2040 $ 1,179  
2041 $ 1,459  
2042 $ 1,998  
2043 $ 3,018  

Tax Examinations — The Company is subject to taxation and files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, as well as many state and foreign
jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2023, tax years 2020 to 2022 are subject to examination by various tax authorities. With few exceptions, as of December 31,
2023, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, local or foreign examinations for years before 2020. The Hagerty Group is currently under audit
by the IRS for the 2021 tax year.

The Canadian statute of limitation for tax year 2018 was open as of December 31, 2023 and remains open because the Company is currently under examination
by the Canadian Revenue Agency for that year.

Uncertain Tax Positions — The calculation of the Company's tax liabilities involves uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in a
multitude of jurisdictions across its global operations. ASC 740 states that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely
than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical
merits.

The Company records uncertain tax benefits ("UTB") as liabilities in accordance with ASC 740 and adjusts these liabilities when management's conclusion
changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available. Because of the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate
resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from the current estimate of the UTB liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or
decreases to income tax expense in the period in which new information is available.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits and had no material accrued interest or penalties related to
uncertain tax positions. If recorded, interest and penalties would be recorded within "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Tax Receivable Agreement Liability — The TRA provides for payment to the Legacy Unit Holders of 85 % of the U.S. federal, state and local income tax
savings realized by Hagerty, Inc. as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits as outlined in the Business Combination Agreement
(provided as Exhibit 2.1, incorporated by reference within Item 6. Exhibits, in this Annual Report) upon the exchange of The Hagerty Group units and Hagerty,
Inc. Class V Common Stock for Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock or cash. The Hagerty Group made an election under Section 754 of the IRC with the filing
of its 2019 income tax return, which cannot be revoked without the permission of the IRS Commissioner and will be in place for any future exchange of The
Hagerty Group units. The remaining 15 % cash tax savings resulting from the basis adjustments will be retained by Hagerty, Inc.

The amount and timing of any payments under the TRA will vary depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the increase in tax basis of The
Hagerty Group's assets, the timing of any future redemptions, exchanges or purchases of The Hagerty Group units held by Legacy Unit Holders, the price of
Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock at the time of the purchase, redemption, or exchange, the extent to which redemptions or exchanges are taxable, the
amount and timing of the taxable income that Hagerty, Inc. generates in the future, the tax rates then applicable and the portion of the payments under the TRA
constituting imputed interest. The estimated value of the TRA recorded by the Company within "Other long-term liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
was $ 0.6  million and $ 3.2  million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which was limited by the ability to currently utilize tax benefits. The
decrease in value of $ 2.7  million was recorded in "Interest and other income (expense)" within the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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In general, cash tax savings result in a year when the tax liability of Hagerty, Inc. for the year, computed without regard to the deductions attributable to the
amortization of the basis increase and other deductions that arise in connection with the payment of the cash consideration under the TRA or the exchange of
The Hagerty Group units and Hagerty, Inc. Class V Common Stock for Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock, would be more than the tax liability for the year
taking into account such deductions. Payments under the TRA will not be due until the Company produces taxable income and the resulting cash tax liability is
reduced by deducting the amortization of the basis increase on a filed tax return. The payments under the TRA are expected to be substantial.

23 — Related-Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2023, Markel and State Farm had the following equity interests in Hagerty and as a result, are considered related parties:

Markel State Farm

Equity Interest Shares/Units
Percentage of total

outstanding Shares/Units
Percentage of total

outstanding 
Hagerty, Inc. Class A Common Stock 3,000,000  3.5  % 50,000,000  59.1  %
Hagerty, Inc. Class V Common Stock 75,000,000  29.9  % —  —  %
Hagerty, Inc. Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock 1,590,668  18.8  % 5,302,226  62.5  %
The Hagerty Group units 75,000,000  22.1  % —  —  %

Controlling Interest 3,000,000  3.5  % 50,000,000  59.1  %
Non-controlling Interest 75,000,000  29.4  % —  —  

The percentages reflected represent only the ownership of the specific security identified in each row, and are not reflective of the total economic ownership in Hagerty. Further, these
percentages do not reflect any ownership of warrants.

Refer to Note 19 — Stockholders' Equity for a description of each equity interest in the table above.

State Farm

Alliance Agreement

Hagerty has a 10-year master alliance agreement with State Farm under which State Farm’s customers, through State Farm agents, are able to access
Hagerty's features and services. This program began issuing policies in four initial states in September 2023. Under this agreement, State Farm paid Hagerty an
advanced commission of $ 20.0 million in 2020, which is being recognized as "Commission and fee revenue" over the remaining life of the arrangement.

In conjunction with the master alliance agreement, the Company also entered into a managing general underwriter agreement whereby the State Farm Classic+
policy is offered through State Farm Classic Insurance Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of State Farm. The State Farm Classic+ policy is available to new
and existing State Farm customers through their agents on a state-by-state basis. Hagerty is paid a commission under the managing general underwriter
agreement and ancillary agreements for servicing the State Farm Classic+ policies. Additionally, the Company has the opportunity to offer HDC membership to
State Farm Classic+ customers which provides Hagerty an additional revenue opportunity. Commission revenue associated with the State Farm Classic+
policies issued were not material for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(1) (1)

(1)    
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Reinsurance Agreement

Effective March 1, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into a quota share reinsurance agreement to cede 50 % of the risk assumed from Evanston in relation to High-Net-
Worth Accounts to Oglesby Reinsurance Company, a subsidiary of State Farm. Refer to Note 13 — Reinsurance for additional information on the Company's
reinsurance programs.

The following tables summarize all balances related to the risk ceded by Hagerty Re to State Farm subsidiaries:

December 31,
2023

Assets: in thousands
Commissions receivable $ 1,963  
Deferred acquisition costs, net ( 3,898 )
Other current assets 9,268  

Total assets $ 7,333  

Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 3,775  

Total liabilities $ 3,775  

Represents unearned ceding commission received from State Farm subsidiaries.

Year Ended December
31, 2023

Revenue: in thousands

Earned premium $ ( 5,883 )

Expenses:
Ceding commission, net $ ( 3,059 )
Losses and loss adjustment expenses ( 1,877 )

Total expenses $ ( 4,936 )

Represents premiums ceded to State Farm subsidiaries, which are accounted for as a reduction to Earned premium.
Represents commissions from State Farm subsidiaries related to ceded reinsurance, which are accounted for as a reduction to Ceding commission, net.
Represents loss recoveries associated with reinsurance ceded to State Farm subsidiaries, which are accounted for as a reduction to Losses and loss adjustment expenses.

State Farm Term Loan

On September 19, 2023, Hagerty Re entered into an unsecured term loan facility with State Farm in an aggregate principal amount of $ 25.0  million and an
interest rate of 8.0 % per annum. The State Farm Term Loan will mature on September 19, 2033. Refer to Note 17 — Long-Term Debt for additional information.

(1)

(1)    

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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Markel

Alliance Agreement

The Company and Markel have an alliance agreement (the "Markel Alliance Agreement") and associated agency agreement pursuant to which policies sold by
Hagerty's U.S. MGAs are underwritten by Essentia Insurance Company ("Essentia") and reinsured with Essentia's affiliate, Evanston, which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Markel.

On December 18, 2023, the Markel Alliance Agreement was amended to, among other things, (i) include a new definition of "Enthusiast Business" and remove
Enthusiast Business from both definitions of "Restricted Business" and "Alliance Business"; (ii) delay the Company's acquisition rights to Essentia until 2026 at
the earliest and 2030 at the latest and; (iii) grant the Company a new waiver to pursue a strategic opportunity with a third party insurance company. In connection
with the amendments to the Markel Alliance Agreement, the Company and Markel also amended the agency agreement referenced in the Markel Alliance
Agreement to increase the base commission rate earned on personal lines U.S. auto coverage to 37 % and to adjust the profit share commission factors to
scale from - 5 % to a maximum + 5 % of written premium, with 80 % of the expected CUC being paid monthly, beginning in 2024.

The following tables provide information related to Markel-affiliated Due to insurer liabilities and Commission revenue associated with the Markel Alliance
Agreement:

December 31,
2023 2022

in thousands (except percentages)
Due to insurer $ 75,922  $ 64,873  
Percent of total 95  % 95  %

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

in thousands (except percentages)
Commission revenue $ 340,534  $ 285,254  $ 239,432  
Percent of total 95  % 95  % 90  %

Reinsurance Agreement

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, under a quota share agreement with Evanston, a wholly owned subsidiary of Markel, Hagerty Re assumed
approximately 80 % and 70 %, respectively, of the risks written through the Company’s U.S. MGAs. Additionally, under a quota share agreement with Markel
International Insurance Company Limited, Hagerty Re reinsured approximately 80 % and 70 % of the risks for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, written through the Company’s U.K. MGA.

Effective January 1, 2023, the quota share agreement with Evanston was amended to increase Hagerty Re's participation on High-Net-Worth Accounts from 80
% to 100 %. At the same time, Hagerty Re entered into a reinsurance agreement to cede 10 % of the High-Net-Worth Accounts physical damage risks assumed
from Evanston to Markel International, a subsidiary of Markel.
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The following tables summarize all balances related to the Company's reinsurance business with Markel affiliates:

December 31,
2023 2022

Assets: in thousands
Premiums receivable $ 134,376  $ 97,897  
Commissions receivable 630  —  
Deferred acquisition costs, net 141,880  103,869  
Other current assets 1,915  —  

Total assets $ 278,801  $ 201,766  

Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 1,553  $ —  
Losses payable 60,253  53,800  
Provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses 129,267  106,436  
Commissions payable 107,286  75,898  
Unearned premiums 307,504  227,192  

Total liabilities $ 605,863  $ 463,326  

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenue: in thousands

Earned premium $ 535,352  $ 386,696  $ 281,794  

Expenses:
Ceding commission, net $ 247,918  $ 184,124  $ 134,946  
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 214,401  182,340  116,396  

Total expenses $ 462,319  $ 366,464  $ 251,342  

Pursuant to the terms of the quota share agreement with Evanston, Hagerty Re maintains funds in trust for the benefit of Evanston. These funds are included
within "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. The balance held in trust for the benefit of Evanston was $ 517.2
 million and $ 360.2  million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Broad Arrow

In January 2022, the Company entered into a joint venture with Broad Arrow and acquired approximately 40 % equity ownership interest in Broad Arrow. In
August 2022, the Company acquired the remaining 60 % of Broad Arrow in exchange for $ 73.3  million of Class A Common Stock and The Hagerty Group units
exchangeable for Class A Common Stock. Prior to the Company's joint venture with Broad Arrow in January 2022, Broad Arrow was majority owned by Kenneth
Ahn, the President of Marketplace, who received The Hagerty Group units as a part of this transaction. Refer to Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments for
additional information.

Speed Digital

In April 2022, Hagerty acquired Speed Digital for a purchase price of $ 15.0  million. Speed Digital was previously wholly owned indirectly by Robert Kauffman, a
director on Hagerty's Board, who will receive 100 % of the proceeds of the purchase price. Refer to Note 9 — Acquisitions and Investments for additional
information.

Other Related Party Transactions

From time-to-time, in the ordinary course of business, related parties, such as members of the Board and management, buy and sell collector cars through
Marketplace auctions or private sales.
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24 — Commitments and Contingencies

Employee Compensation Agreements — In the ordinary course of conducting its business, the Company enters into certain employee compensation agreements
from time to time which commit the Company to severance obligations in the event an employee terminates employment with the Company. If applicable, these
obligations are included in the accrued expenses lines of the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Litigation — From time to time, the Company is involved in various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. Management is
required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes related to these legal contingencies, as well as potential ranges of probable or
reasonably possible losses. The determination of the amount of any losses to be recorded or disclosed as a result of these contingencies is based on a careful
analysis of each individual exposure with, in some cases, the assistance of outside legal counsel. The amount of losses recorded or disclosed for such
contingencies may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or a change in legal or settlement strategy. While the impact of any one or
more legal claims or proceedings could be material to the Company's operating results in any period, management does not believe that the outcome of any of
these pending claims or proceedings (including the Data Security Incident discussed below), individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect
on the Company's consolidated financial condition.

Data Security Incident — In 2021, the Company experienced an unauthorized access into its online insurance quote feature whereby attackers used personal
information already in their possession to obtain additional consumer data, including driver’s license numbers. The unauthorized access issue has been
remediated. This incident is the subject of coordinated industry-wide regulatory investigations in New York state. The Company could be subject to litigation,
fines and/or penalties related to this incident. In 2023, the Company accrued an estimated liability related to this incident based on the facts known by
management and developed through its assessment of the current status of ongoing dialog with the regulatory investigators. The amount of the estimated
liability is not material to the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements. The amount of any fines, penalties, and/or settlements related to this incident could
differ from the amount currently accrued and such difference is not currently estimable.

25 — Subsequent Events

On January 12, 2024, the Company's subsidiary, Hagerty Insurance Holdings, Inc., agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of
Consolidated National Insurance Company ("CNIC") for approximately $ 18.4  million, subject to upward or downward adjustment in accordance with the terms
of the agreement. The closing price will be comprised of approximately $ 10  million for CNIC's approved state licenses and $ 8  million for the expected capital
and surplus. Subject to the satisfactory completion of various closing conditions, the Company expects to complete the CNIC acquisition during the second
quarter of 2024.
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Schedule I - Condensed Financial Information of Registrant Parent Company

Hagerty, Inc.
Condensed Statement of Operations (Parent Company Only)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

OPERATING EXPENSES: (in thousands)
Sales expense $ 7  $ 14  $ —  
General and administrative services 791  1,018  43  

Total operating expenses 798  1,032  43  
OPERATING LOSS ( 798 ) ( 1,032 ) ( 43 )

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 11,543  41,899  ( 42,540 )
Interest and other income (expense) 2,788  529  —  
Intercompany dividend income 3,677  —  —  
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 17,210  41,396  ( 42,583 )
Income tax expense —  ( 3 ) —  
Equity earnings (loss) in subsidiaries, net of tax 10,969  ( 38,990 ) ( 18,771 )

NET INCOME (LOSS) 28,179  2,403  ( 61,354 )
Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interest ( 7,948 ) 29,675  398  
Net loss attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest —  —  14,598  
Accretion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ( 3,677 ) —  —  

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO CLASS A COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $ 16,554  $ 32,078  $ ( 46,358 )

 Eliminated in consolidation.

(1)

(1)    
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Hagerty, Inc.
Condensed Balance Sheets (Parent Company Only)

December 31,
2023 2022

ASSETS in thousands (except share amounts)
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 604  $ 24,177  
Other current assets 549  514  

Total current assets 1,153  24,691  
Other long-term assets 1,498  2,011  
Investment in subsidiaries 526,130  395,580  

TOTAL ASSETS $ 528,781  $ 422,282  

LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ —  $ 30  
Intercompany payable 846  6,114  

Total current liabilities 846  6,144  
Warrant liabilities 34,018  45,561  
Other long-term liabilities 572  3,208  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 35,436  54,913  

TEMPORARY EQUITY
Preferred Stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 20,000,000 shares authorized, 8,483,561 Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and no shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2022) 82,836  —  
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Class A Common Stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 500,000,000 shares authorized, 84,588,536 and 83,202,969
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively) 8  8  
Class V Common Stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 300,000,000 authorized, 251,033,906 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022) 25  25  
Additional paid-in capital 561,754  549,034  
Accumulated deficit ( 468,995 ) ( 489,602 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ( 88 ) ( 213 )

Total stockholders' equity 92,704  59,252  
Non-controlling interest 317,805  308,117  

Total equity 410,509  367,369  

TOTAL LIABILITIES, TEMPORARY EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 528,781  $ 422,282  

 Eliminated in consolidation .

(1)

(1)

(1)    
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Hagerty, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (Parent Company Only)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $ 28,179  $ 2,403  $ ( 61,354 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:

Equity in undistributed income (loss) of subsidiaries ( 14,646 ) 38,990  18,771  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ( 11,543 ) ( 41,899 ) 42,540  
Other ( 2,636 ) ( 300 ) —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets 478  513  ( 3,038 )
Intercompany payable —  1,616  ( 1,334 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ( 32 ) ( 50 ) 140  

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities ( 200 ) 1,273  ( 4,275 )
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Investment in subsidiaries ( 102,635 ) ( 30,000 ) ( 210,179 )
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities ( 102,635 ) ( 30,000 ) ( 210,179 )

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs 79,262  —  —  
Cash received in Business Combination —  —  789,661  
Cash consideration to HHC at closing of Business Combination —  —  ( 489,661 )
Payment of capitalized transaction costs —  ( 1,651 ) ( 30,991 )
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan —  —  —  

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 79,262  ( 1,651 ) 269,009  
Change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents ( 23,573 ) ( 30,378 ) 54,555  
Beginning cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents 24,177  54,555  —  

Ending cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 604  $ 24,177  $ 54,555  

CASH PAID FOR:
Taxes $ —  $ 3  $ —  

Eliminated in consolidation.

(1)

(1)

(1)    
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Hagerty, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (Parent Company Only)

1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations — Hagerty, Inc. (the "Parent Company") was formed in 2020 as a Delaware corporation and is a holding company with no direct
operations. The Parent Company's assets and liabilities primarily consist of its equity interest in The Hagerty Group and its consolidated subsidiaries, as well as
its warrant liabilities.

Basis of Presentation — The Parent Company's Condensed Financial Statements have been prepared using the equity method, whereby the investment in
consolidated subsidiaries is stated at cost plus equity in undistributed earnings of consolidated subsidiaries since the date of acquisition. These Condensed
Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of the Parent Company's Condensed Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the
Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Although the estimates are
considered reasonable, actual results could materially differ from those estimates.
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Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Additions

in thousands

Balance at
beginning of

period
Charged to costs

and expenses
Charge to other

accounts (Deductions)
Balance at end of

period
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets $ 176,116  $ 393  $ ( 6,877 ) $ —  $ 169,632  

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets $ 174,821  $ 5,647  $ ( 4,352 ) $ —  $ 176,116  

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets $ 4,771  $ 2,759  $ 167,291  $ —  $ 174,821  

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.

Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2023 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
(i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms specified by the SEC and (ii) accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2023, which were identified in
connection with management's evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange act, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule
13a-15(f). Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, with assistance from other members of management, assessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(2013 Framework), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation, management has concluded
that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

Inherent Limitations over Internal Controls

Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the
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Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S.
GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Company's internal controls will prevent or detect all
errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As we are an "emerging growth company" under the JOBS Act of 2012, the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, is
not required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and no attestation report has been included in this Annual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

A portion of the compensation of our executive officers is delivered in the form of deferred equity awards, including time and performance-based restricted stock
unit awards. This compensation design is intended to align our executive compensation with the interests of our stockholders. Following the delivery of shares of
our Class A Common Stock under those equity awards, once any applicable service time vesting standards have been satisfied, our executive officers from time
to time may engage in the open-market sale of some of those shares. Our executive officers may also engage from time to time in other transactions involving
our securities.

Transactions in our securities by our executive officers are required to be made in accordance with our Insider Trading Policy, which, among other things,
requires that the transactions be in accordance with applicable U.S. federal securities laws that prohibit trading while in possession of material nonpublic
information. Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense that enables prearranged transactions in securities in a manner that avoids
concerns about initiating transactions at a future date while possibly in possession of material nonpublic information. Our Insider Trading Policy permits our
executive officers to enter into trading plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1. Accordingly, sales under these plans may occur at any time, including
possibly before, simultaneously with, or immediately after significant events involving our company.

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer of the Company has adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or
“non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTION THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with the solicitation of proxies
for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 ("2024 Proxy
Statement").

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNER AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial statements and financial statement schedules filed as part of this report are listed in the index included in Item 8 of Part II Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this report.

(b) Exhibits. The following exhibits, as required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K, are filed with or incorporated by reference in this report as stated below.

Exhibit No. Description

2.1*
Business Combination Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, by and among Aldel Financial Inc. Aldel Merger Sub LLC and The Hagerty
Group, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 18, 2021).

3.1
Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated December 2, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of
the Company’s Amendment No.3 to Form S-1 (File No. 333-261810), filed with the SEC on January 20, 2023).

3.2
Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company, dated December 2, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K
(File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

3.3
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company dated June 23, 2023 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on June 23, 2023).

4.1
Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.2
Form of Class V Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.3
Form of Warrant Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with
the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.4
Warrant Agreement, dated April 8, 2021, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 333-253166), filed with the SEC on April 13, 2021).

4.5
Warrant Agreement, dated December 2, 2021, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

4.6 Description of Registrant's Securities, filed herewith.

10.1
Form of Subscription Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, by and between the Company and certain institutional and accredited investors
party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 18, 2021).

10.2

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, among the Company, Aldel Investors LLC, FG SPAC
Partners LP, ThinkEquity, a division of Fordham Financial Management, Inc., HHC, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, Markel
Corporation, and certain other parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the
SEC on August 18, 2021).

10.3

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, among Hagerty Holding Corp., State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company,
Markel Corporation and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the
SEC on August 18, 2021).

10.4
Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2021, by and between the Company, Hagerty Holding Corp. and Markel Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.5

Amendment No. 1 to Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and among the Company, The Hagerty Group, LLC, Hagerty
Holding Corp. and Markel Group Inc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the
SEC on June 23, 2023).

10.6
Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of The Hagerty Group, LLC, dated December 18, 2023 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 22, 2023).

10.7
Sponsor Warrant Lock-Up Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2021, by and among the Company, Aldel Investors LLC and FG SPAC Partners,
LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).
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10.8

Amended and Restated Exchange Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2022, by and among the Company, The Hagerty Group, LLC, Markel
Corporation, and Hagerty Holding Corp. Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its directors and officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.9†
Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.10†
Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with
the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.11†
Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244),
filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.12*

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and among the Company, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company,
Markel Group Inc., McKeel O Hagerty Revocable Trust dated September 18, 2003, and First Restated Tammy J. Hagerty Revocable Trust dated
September 2, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on June 23,
2023).

10.13

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2023, by and among the Company, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company,
Markel Group Inc., McKeel O Hagerty Revocable Trust dated September 18, 2003, and First Restated Tammy J. Hagerty Revocable Trust dated
September 2, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on June 23,
2023).

10.14†
Employment Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2021, by and between The Hagerty Group, LLC and Paul E. Rehrig (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.15†
Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2023, by and between the Company and Paul E. Rehrig (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.16†
Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2018, by and between Hagerty Holding Corp. and McKeel O Hagerty (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 8, 2021).

10.17†
Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated March 10, 2023, by and between the Company and McKeel O Hagerty (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.18†
Employment Agreement, dated August 19, 2022, by and between the Company and Patrick McClymont (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 23, 2022).

10.19†
Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2023, by and between the Company and Patrick McClymont (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.17 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.20†
Employment Agreement, dated December 1, 2021, by and between the Company and Kenneth Ahn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18
of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.21†
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2023, by and between the Company and Kenneth Ahn (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023).

10.22†
Executive Retention, Transition and Release Agreement, dated July 31, 2023, by and between The Hagerty Group, LLC and Barbara Matthews
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 2, 2023).

10.23†
Employment Agreement, dated August 1, 2023, by and between the Company and Diana Chafey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of
the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on November 8, 2023).

10.24

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2023, among The Hagerty Group LLC, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent to the Lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-
40244), filed with the SEC on May 9, 2023).

10.25

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2023, among The Hagerty Group LLC, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent to the Lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-
40244), filed with the SEC on May 9, 2023).
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10.26*

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2023, among The Hagerty Group LLC, Broad Arrow
Capital Europe Limited, Broad Arrow Capital UK Limited, the Lenders party hereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on August 8, 2023).

10.27

Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2023, among The Hagerty Group LLC, Broad
Arrow Capital Europe Limited, Broad Arrow Capital UK Limited, the Lenders party hereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative
Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on November 8, 2023).

10.28*

Tenth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 28, 2023, among The Hagerty Group, LLC, the Foreign
Subsidiary Borrowers party hereto, the Lenders party hereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on December 1, 2023).

10.29*
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December 18, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-40244), filed with the SEC on
December 22, 2023).

10.30†
Form 1 of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to the Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3
of the Company's Form S-8 (File No. 333-263989), filed with the SEC on March 30, 2022).

10.31†
Form 2 of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to the Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4
of the Company's Form S-8 (File No. 333-263989), filed with the SEC on March 30, 2022).

10.32†
Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement pursuant to the Hagerty, Inc. 2021 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
99.5 of the Company's Form S-8 (File No. 333-263989), filed with the SEC on March 30, 2022).

10.33† Amended and Restated Annual Incentive Plan of The Hagerty Group, LLC., effective January 1, 2023, filed herewith.

10.34† Amended and Restated Deferred Incentive Awards Plan of Hagerty Insurance Agency, LLC., effective January 1, 2019, filed herewith.

19.1 Hagerty Insider Trading Policy, dated December 14, 2023, filed herewith.

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company, filed herewith.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accountant of the Company, filed herewith.

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the Signature Pages of this Annual Report on Form 10-K), filed herewith .

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), filed herewith.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), filed herewith.

32.1# Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, filed herewith.

32.2# Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, filed herewith.

97.1
Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Incentive Compensation, adopted by the Board of the Company dated November 16, 2023,
filed herewith.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL).

* The schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted
schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request.

† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
# This certification is deemed not filed for purpose of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor

shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, on March 12, 2024.

HAGERTY, INC.

By: /s/ McKeel O Hagerty
McKeel O Hagerty
Chief Executive Officer
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Power Of Attorney
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints McKeel O Hagerty and Diana M.
Chafey, jointly and severally, his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities indicated on March 12, 2024.

Name Title Date

/s/ McKeel O Hagerty
McKeel O Hagerty Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Patrick McClymont
Patrick McClymont Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) March 12, 2024

/s/ Kevin M. Delaney
Kevin M. Delaney Chief Accounting Officer and Controller (Principal Accounting Officer) March 12, 2024

/s/ Michael E. Angelina
Michael E. Angelina Chairman of the Board March 12, 2024

/s/ F. Michael Crowley
F. Michael Crowley Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Laurie L. Harris
Laurie L. Harris Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Robert I. Kauffman
Robert I. Kauffman Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Sabrina Kay
Sabrina Kay Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Mika Salmi
Mika Salmi Director March 12, 2024

/s/ William H. Swanson
William H. Swanson Director March 12, 2024

/s/ Randall Harbert
Randall Harbert Director March 12, 2024
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DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES  

The following description of the securities of Hagerty, Inc. ("we," "our," "us," "Hagerty," "HGTY," and the "Company") is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject
to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, our Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (“Amended and Restated Charter”), our Amended and Restated Bylaws
(“Bylaws”), and our Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Certificate of Designations”). This description also summarizes relevant
provisions of General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). We encourage you to read these materials for additional information.

Authorized and Outstanding Stock  

The Amended and Restated Charter provides that the total number of authorized shares of all classes of capital stock is 820,000,000 shares, consisting of the below described

classes, including 500,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 300,000,000 shares of Class V Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share and

20,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share. The Certificate of Designations provides that the Company is authorized to issue 16,688,449 shares of Series A

Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Series A Preferred Stock”).

Common Stock 

The holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to 1 vote for each such share. The holders of Class V Common Stock are entitled to 10 votes for each such share until the earlier

of (1) the date on which such share of Class V Common Stock is transferred other than pursuant to a Qualified Transfer (as defined in the Amended and Restated Charter) or (2) the

date that is 15 years from the effective date of the Amended and Restated Charter. The holders of shares of Common Stock do not have cumulative voting rights.

The holders of shares of Class A Common Stock are entitled to receive such dividends and other distributions as declared by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), equally on a per

share basis. The holders of Class V Common Stock are not entitled to receive dividends.

No holder of shares of Common Stock (in its capacity as such and without limiting any contractual rights) is entitled to preemptive rights.

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, after payment or provision for payment of the debts and other liabilities of the

Company, and subject to the rights of the holders of shares of Preferred Stock in respect thereof, the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock will be entitled to receive all of the

remaining assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders, ratably in proportion to the number of shares of Class A Common Stock held by them. The holders of

shares of Class V Common Stock, as such, will not be entitled to receive any assets of the Company in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of

the affairs of the Company.

Series A Preferred Stock
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Ranking. The Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Class A Common Stock, the Class V Common Stock and each other class or series of shares of the Company that the

Company may issue in the future the terms of which do not expressly provide that such class or series ranks equally with, or senior to, the Series A Preferred Stock, with respect to

dividend rights and/or rights upon liquidation, winding up or dissolution.

Voting. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to 1 vote for each such share, and vote together with the Class A Common Stock on an as-converted basis and not as a

separate class. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock have veto rights over (i) changes to the terms of the Certificate of Designations or the Company's Amended and Restated

Charter or Bylaws that adversely impact the Series A Preferred Stock and (ii) the issuance of equity securities senior to the Series A Preferred Stock or other securities convertible

thereto.

Dividends. The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends which are cumulative and accrue from the date of issuance at the rate of 7% per

annum of the per-share purchase price of $9.43 (“Series A Purchase Price”) plus the amount of previously accrued dividends, compounded annually (“Accruing Dividends”). The

Company may elect to pay the Accruing Dividends either in cash or in additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock. Prior to June 23, 2026, holders of Series A Preferred Stock will also

participate on an as-converted basis in dividends declared and paid on Class A Common Stock.

Conversion. Any shares of Series A Preferred Stock may, at the option of the holder, be converted at any time into shares of Class A Common Stock. The conversion price for the

Series A Preferred Stock is initially $11.79 and is subject to adjustment upon certain events, including a stock split, a reverse stock split, or where a dividend is declared and paid on

Class A Common Stock or Class V Common Stock (the “Conversion Price”). The Company may require such conversion (i) if the closing price per share of the Class A Common Stock,

for at least twenty (20) of any thirty (30) consecutive trading days, exceeds: (a) on or after June 23, 2026, and prior to June 23, 2030, 150% of the Conversion Price; or (b) on or after the

June 23, 2030, and prior to June 23, 2033, 100% of the Conversion Price; and (ii) on or after June 23, 2033. The conversion rate in effect at any applicable time (the “Conversion Rate”)

is the quotient obtained by dividing the Series A Purchase Price by the Conversion Price.

Liquidation Preference . In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, after payment or provision for payment of the debts and

other liabilities of the Company, each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be paid the greater of (i) the Series A Purchase Price plus any Accruing Dividends accrued but unpaid

thereon, and (ii) the amount that such share of Series A Preferred Stock would have received had it converted into Class A Common Stock immediately prior to such liquidation,

dissolution or winding up of the Company (the “Liquidation Preference”). After payment of the Liquidation Preference, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock will no longer be convertible

and will not participate in any distribution made to the holders of Common Stock.

Change of Control. Upon a Change of Control, as defined in the Certificate of Designations, we may elect to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock or each holder of Series A

Preferred Stock, individually, may require us to redeem all or a portion of itsSeries A Preferred Stock. The redemption price per share to be paid by the Company would be the greater of

(i) the Series A Purchase Price plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends multiplied
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by either (a) 120% if redeemed prior to or on June 23, 2026; (b) 110% if redeemed after June 23, 2026, but prior to or on June 23, 2028; or (c) 100% if redeemed after June 23, 2028;

and (ii) the amount such share of Series A Preferred Stock would have received had it converted into Class A Common Stock prior to the Change of Control. Any shares of Series A

Preferred Stock that are not so redeemed will automatically convert into shares of Class A Common Stock and be paid in connection with the Change of Control.

Fundamental Transaction. In the event of any acquisition by the Company with a transaction value of at least $500.0 million or any equity or debt financing by the Company that

raises at least $500.0 million, we may elect to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock or each holder of Series A Preferred Stock, individually, may require us to redeem all or a portion of

its Series A Preferred Stock. The redemption price per share to be paid by the Company would be the Series A Purchase Price plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends

multiplied by: (i) 120% if redeemed prior to or on June 23, 2026; (ii) 110% if redeemed after June 23, 2026, but prior to or on June 23, 2028; (iii) 108% if redeemed after June 23, 2028,

but prior to or on June 23, 2029; (iv) 106% if redeemed after June 23, 2029, but prior to or on June 23, 2030; (v) 104% if redeemed after June 23, 2030, but prior to or on June 23, 2031;

(vi) 102% if redeemed after June 23, 2031, but prior to or on June 23, 2032; or (vii) 100% if redeemed after June 23, 2032.

Optional Term Redemption. We may elect to optionally redeem all or any portion of the Series A Preferred Stock any time after June 23, 2028, for cash. The redemption price per

share to be paid by the Company would be equal to the greater of: (i) the Series A Purchase Price plus any accrued but unpaid Accruing Dividends multiplied by: (a) 110% if redeemed

after June 23, 2028, but prior to June 23, 2029; (b) 108% if redeemed on or after June 23, 2029, but prior to June 23, 2030; (c) 106% if redeemed on or after June 23, 2030, but prior to

the June 23, 2031; (d) 104% if redeemed on or after June 23, 2031, but prior to June 23, 2032; (e) 102% if redeemed on or June 23, 2032, but prior to June 23, 2033; or (f) 100% if

redeemed on or after June 23, 2033; and (ii) the amount such share of Series A Preferred Stock would have received had it converted into Class A Common Stock prior to the Term

Redemption.

Preferred Stock 

The Amended and Restated Charter provides that shares of preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board is authorized to fix the voting rights, if

any, designations, powers, preferences, the relative, participating, optional or other special rights and any qualifications, limitations and restrictions, applicable to the shares of each

series.

Warrants 

Public Warrants 

Each whole warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of our Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as discussed below, at

any time commencing on April 12, 2022. Pursuant to the warrant agreement, a warrant holder may exercise its warrants only for a whole number of shares of
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Class A Common Stock. No fractional warrants will be issued upon separation of the units and only whole warrants will trade.

  

The Public Warrants will expire at 5:00 PM, New York City time, on December 1, 2026 or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. On the exercise of any warrant, the warrant exercise

price will be paid directly to us.

We will not redeem the warrants for cash unless an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering the Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the

warrants is effective and a current prospectus relating to those shares of Class A Common Stock is available throughout the 30-day redemption period, except if the warrants may be

exercised on a cashless basis and such cashless exercise is exempt from registration under the Securities Act. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise

our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

If our shares of Class A Common Stock are at the time of any exercise of a warrant not listed on a national securities exchange such that they satisfy the definition of a “covered

security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, we may, at our option, require holders of public warrants who exercise their warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance

with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event we so elect, we will not be required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, and in the event we do not so elect, we

will use our best efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available.

Once the warrants become exercisable, we may redeem the outstanding warrants for cash (except as described herein with respect to the Private Placement Warrants):

• in whole and not in part;

• at a price of $0.01 per warrant;

• upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption, which we refer to as the 30-day redemption period; and

• if, and only if, the closing price of our Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock capitalizations, reorganizations,

recapitalizations and the like and for certain issuances of Class A Common Stock and equity-linked securities for capital raising purposes in connection with the closing the

Business Combination as described elsewhere in this prospectus) for any 20 trading days within a 30- trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on

which we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

The redemption criteria for our warrants have been established at a price which is intended to provide warrant holders a reasonable premium to the initial exercise price and provide

a sufficient differential between the then-prevailing share price and the warrant exercise price so that if the share price declines as a result of our redemption call, the redemption will not

cause the share price to drop below the exercise price of the warrants; however, such redemption may occur at a time when the redeemable warrants are “out-of-the-money,” in which

case you would lose any potential embedded value from a subsequent increase in the value of our common stock had your warrants remained outstanding.
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In the event we determine to redeem the public warrants, holders of redeemable warrants will be notified of such redemption as described in our warrant agreement. Specifically, in

the event that we elect to redeem all of the redeemable warrants as described above, we will fix a date for the redemption (the “Redemption Date”). Notice of redemption will be mailed

by first class mail, postage prepaid, by us not less than 30 days prior to the Redemption Date to the registered holders of the warrants to be redeemed at their last addresses as they

appear on the registration books. Any notice mailed in the manner provided in the warrant agreement will be conclusively presumed to have been duly given whether or not the

registered holder received such notice. In addition, beneficial owners of the redeemable warrants will be notified of such redemption via posting of the redemption notice to DTC.

If we call the warrants for redemption as described above, we will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise warrants to do so on a “cashless basis.” In determining

whether to require all holders to exercise their warrants on a “cashless basis,” we will consider, among other factors, our cash position, the number of warrants that are outstanding and

the dilutive effect on our stockholders of issuing the maximum number of shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of our warrants. In such event, each

holder would pay the exercise price by surrendering the warrants for that number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the

number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants, multiplied by the excess of the “fair market value” of our Class A Common Stock (defined below) over the exercise

price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market value” will mean the average reported closing price of the Class A Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the

third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants.

If we take advantage of this option, the notice of redemption will contain the information necessary to calculate the number of shares of Class A Common Stock to be received upon

exercise of the warrants, including the “fair market value” in such case. Requiring a cashless exercise in this manner will reduce the number of shares to be issued and thereby lessen

the dilutive effect of a warrant redemption.

A holder of a warrant may notify us in writing in the event it elects to be subject to a requirement that such holder will not have the right to exercise such warrant, to the extent that

after giving effect to such exercise, such person (together with such person’s affiliates), to the warrant agent’s actual knowledge, would beneficially own in excess of 4.9% or 9.8% (as

specified by the holder) of the Class A Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise.
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If the number of outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock is increased by a share capitalization payable in shares of Class A Common Stock, or by a split-up of Class A

Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such share capitalization, split-up or similar event, the number of shares of Class A Common Stock issuable on

exercise of each warrant will be increased in proportion to such increase in the outstanding shares of common stock. A rights offering to holders of Common Stock entitling holders to

purchase Class A Common Stock at a price less than the fair market value will be deemed a share capitalization of a number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the product of

(i) the number of shares of Class A Common Stock actually sold in such rights offering (or issuable under any other equity securities sold in such rights offering that are convertible into or

exercisable for Class A Common Stock) multiplied by (ii) 1 minus the quotient of (x) the price per share of Class A Common Stock paid in such rights offering and divided by (y) the fair

market value. For these purposes (i) if the rights offering is for securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of Class A Common Stock, in determining the price payable for Class A

Common Stock, there will be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional amount payable upon exercise or conversion and (ii) fair market

value means the volume weighted average price of shares of Class A Common Stock as reported during the 10 trading day period ending on the trading day prior to the first date on

which the Class A Common Stock trades on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way, without the right to receive such rights.

In addition, if we, at any time while the warrants are outstanding and unexpired, pay a dividend or make a distribution in cash, securities or other assets to the holders of Class A

Common Stock on account of such Class A Common Stock (or other securities into which the warrants are convertible), other than (a) as described above, (b) certain ordinary cash

dividends, (c) to satisfy the redemption rights of the holders of Class A Common Stock in connection with a proposed initial business combination, or (d) in connection with the

redemption of our public shares upon our failure to complete our initial business combination, then the warrant exercise price will be decreased, effective immediately after the effective

date of such event, by the amount of cash and/or the fair market value of any securities or other assets paid on each share of Class A Common Stock in respect of such event.

If the number of outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse share split or reclassification of Class A Common Stock or

other similar event, then, on the effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse share split, reclassification or similar event, the number of shares of Class A Common Stock

issuable on exercise of each warrant will be decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding share of Class A Common Stock.

Whenever the number of shares of Class A Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants is adjusted, as described above, the warrant exercise price will be

adjusted by multiplying the warrant exercise price immediately prior to such adjustment by a fraction (x) the numerator of which will be the number of shares of Class A Common Stock

purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants immediately prior to such adjustment, and (y) the denominator of which will be the number of shares of Class A Common Stock so

purchasable immediately thereafter.
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In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding Class A Common Stock (other than those described above or that solely affects the par value of such Class A

Common Stock), or in the case of any merger or consolidation of us with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or merger in which we are the continuing corporation and

that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of our outstanding Class A Common Stock), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the

assets or other property of us as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which we are dissolved, the holders of the warrants will thereafter have the right to purchase

and receive, upon the basis and upon the terms and conditions specified in the warrants and in lieu of the Class A Common Stock immediately theretofore purchasable and receivable

upon the exercise of the rights represented thereby, the kind and amount of shares of Class A Common Stock or other securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such

reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a dissolution following any such sale or transfer, that the holder of the warrants would have received if such holder had

exercised their warrants immediately prior to such event. If less than 70% of the consideration receivable by the holders of Class A Common Stock in such a transaction is payable in the

form of Class A Common Stock in the successor entity that is listed for trading on a national securities exchange or is quoted in an established over-the-counter market, or is to be so

listed for trading or quoted immediately following such event, and if the registered holder of the warrant properly exercises the warrant within thirty days following public disclosure of

such transaction, the warrant exercise price will be reduced as specified in the warrant agreement based on the Black-Scholes Warrant Value (as defined in the warrant agreement) of

the warrant. The purpose of such exercise price reduction is to provide additional value to holders of the warrants when an extraordinary transaction occurs during the exercise period of

the warrants pursuant to which the holders of the warrants otherwise do not receive the full potential value of the warrants.

Private Placement Warrants

Except as described in this section, the Private Placement Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to the Public Warrants. The Private Placement Warrants

(including the Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Private Placement Warrants) became transferable, assignable or salable on January 1, 2022 (except, in certain

limited exceptions) to our officers and directors and other persons or entities affiliated with the initial purchasers of the Private Placement Warrants) and they will not be redeemable by

us so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. Each Private Placement Warrant became exercisable for one share of Class A Common Stock at a

price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, on December 2, 2022, and subject to additional vesting requirements. The Private Placement Warrants may be exercised only for a

whole number of shares of Class A Common Stock. The initial purchasers, or their permitted transferees, have the option to exercise the Private Placement Warrants on a cashless

basis so long as they are held by the Sponsor or any of its permitted transferees. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by holders other than the initial purchasers or their permitted

transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by us for cash and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants. The Private Placement

Warrants expire on December 1, 2026.

If holders of the Private Placement Warrants elect to exercise the Private Placement Warrants on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its

warrants for that number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the

warrants, multiplied by the excess of the “fair market value” of our Class A Common
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Stock over the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market value” will mean the average closing price of the Class A Common Stock for the 10 trading

days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant agent.

OTM Warrants

Except as described in this section, the OTM Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to the Public Warrants. Each OTM Warrant became exercisable for one share of

Class A Common Stock at a price of $15.00 per share, subject to adjustments, on December 2, 2022, and subject to additional vesting requirements. The OTM Warrants are non-

redeemable, and may be exercised on a cashless basis so long as they continue to be held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. The OTM Warrants expire on

December 1, 2031.

If holders of the OTM Warrants elect to exercise the OTM Warrants on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its warrants for that number of

shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants, multiplied by the

excess of the “fair market value” of our Class A Common Stock (defined below) over the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market value” will mean the

average closing price of the Class A Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant

agent.

Underwriter Warrants 

Except as described in this section, the Underwriter Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to the Public Warrants. Each Underwriter Warrant became exercisable for

one share of Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, on April 12, 2022. The Underwriter Warrants may be exercised only for a whole number of

shares of Class A Common Stock. The Underwriter Warrants are entitled to registration rights and for so long as they are held by the underwriters, will not be exercisable more than five

years from April 8, 2021 in accordance with FINRA Rule 5110(g)(8)(A). If the Underwriter Warrants are held by holders other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the

Underwriter Warrants will be redeemable by us for cash and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants. The Underwriter Warrants expire on December 1,

2026.

If holders of the Underwriter Warrants elect to exercise the Underwriter Warrants on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its warrants for

that number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants,

multiplied by the excess of the “fair market value” of our Class A Common Stock (defined below) over the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market

value” will mean the average closing price of the Class A Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise

is sent to the warrant agent.

PIPE Warrants
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Except as described in this section, the PIPE Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to the Public Warrants. Each PIPE Warrant became exercisable for one share of

Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, on January 1, 2022. The PIPE Warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis. The PIPE Warrants expire

on December 1, 2026.

If holders of the PIPE Warrants elect to exercise the PIPE Warrants on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its warrants for that number of

shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants, multiplied by the

excess of the “fair market value” of our Class A Common Stock (defined below) over the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market value” will mean the

average closing price of the Class A Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant

agent.

Sponsor Warrant Lock-up Agreement  

In connection with the completion of the business combination on December 2, 2021 (the “Business Combination”), the Sponsor and FGSP entered into the Sponsor Warrant Lock-

Up Agreement with the Company, pursuant to which the Sponsor and FGSP agreed as described below with respect to (i) the Private Placement Warrants and (ii) the OTM Warrants

held by them. Pursuant to the Sponsor Warrant Lock-Up Agreement:

• the Private Placement Warrants are not exercisable until the date on which the volume weighted average trading price of the Class A Common Stock exceeds $15.00 per share

(as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations and recapitalizations) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period commencing one year after the

Business Combination;

• the OTM Warrants are not exercisable until the date on which the volume weighted average trading price of the Class A Common Stock exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted

for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations and recapitalizations) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period commencing 18 months after the Business

Combination; and

• prior to being exercisable, the Sponsor may transfer the Private Placement Warrants and the OTM Warrants, subject to any requirements set forth in the purchase agreements

related to the purchase of the Private Placement Warrants and OTM Warrants, provided that such transfers may be implemented only upon the respective transferee’s written

agreement to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Sponsor Warrant Lock-up Agreement.

Dividends 

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date. The payment of cash dividends in the future will depend upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital

requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any future cash dividends will be within the discretion of the Board at such time.

Rule 144 
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Pursuant to Rule 144, a person who has beneficially owned restricted shares of our common stock or warrants for at least six months would be entitled to sell their securities

provided that (i) such person is not deemed to have been one of our affiliates at the time of, or at any time during the three months preceding, a sale and (ii) we are subject to

the Exchange Act periodic reporting requirements for at least three months before the sale and have filed all required reports under Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the 12

months (or such shorter period as we were required to file reports) preceding the sale.

Persons who have beneficially owned restricted shares of our common stock or warrants for at least six months but who are our affiliates at the time of, or at any time during the

three months preceding, a sale, would be subject to additional restrictions, by which such person would be entitled to sell within any three-month period only a number of securities that

does not exceed the greater of:

• 1% of the total number of shares of common stock then-outstanding; or

• the average weekly reported trading volume of the common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to the sale.

Sales by our affiliates under Rule 144 are also limited by manner of sale provisions and notice requirements and to the availability of current public information about us.

Restrictions on the Use of Rule 144 by Shell Companies or Former Shell Companies
 

Rule 144 is not available for the resale of securities initially issued by shell companies (other than business combination related shell companies) or issuers that have been at any

time previously a shell company. However, Rule 144 also includes an important exception to this prohibition if the following conditions are met:

• the issuer of the securities that was formerly a shell company has ceased to be a shell company;

• the issuer of the securities is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act;

• the issuer of the securities has filed all Exchange Act reports and material required to be filed, as applicable, during the preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the

issuer was required to file such reports and materials), other than Form 8-K reports; and

• at least one year has elapsed from the time that the issuer filed current Form 10 type information with the SEC reflecting its status as an entity that is not a shell company.

Registration Rights 

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, the Company filed a shelf registration statement registering the resale of the Company’s equity held by the

Holders, and granted to the Holders certain registration rights, including customary piggyback registration rights and demand registration rights, which are subject to customary terms

and conditions, including with respect to cooperation and reduction of underwritten shelf
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takedown provisions (subject to certain lock-up restrictions referenced therein, including those documented in the Lock-up Agreement).

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and The Amended and Restated Charter  

Some provisions of Delaware law, the Amended and Restated Charter and the Amended and Restated Bylaws contain or will contain provisions that could make the following

transactions more difficult: an acquisition of us by means of a tender offer; an acquisition of us by means of a proxy contest or otherwise; or the removal of our incumbent officers and

directors. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish or could deter transactions that stockholders may otherwise consider to be in their best interest or

in our best interests, including transactions which provide for payment of a premium over the market price for our shares.

Stockholder Meetings 

Special meetings of stockholders may be called by the chairperson of the Board, the chief executive officer (or his or her designee) of Hagerty or the Board, and, until a Change of

Control Trigger Event occurs, by stockholders holding a majority of the voting power of Hagerty.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals  

Hagerty’s Amended and Restated Bylaws include advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals to be brought before a stockholder meeting and the nomination

of candidates for election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of the Board or a committee of the Board.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent  

The Amended and Restated Charter provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders may be effected (a) at a duly called annual or special meeting of

the stockholders or (b) until a Control Trigger Event has occurred, by written consent in lieu of a meeting.

Removal of Directors 

Directors may be removed (a) prior to a Control Trigger Event for any reason by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all then-outstanding

shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, and (b) after a Control Trigger Event, by the stockholders of

the Company only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled

to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

 

Stockholders Not Entitled to Cumulative Voting  

The Amended and Restated Charter does not permit stockholders to cumulate their votes in the election of directors. Accordingly, the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares

of common stock entitled to vote in any
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election of directors can elect all of the directors standing for election, if they choose, other than any directors that holders of our preferred stock may be entitled to elect.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute  

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits persons deemed to be “interested stockholders” from engaging in a “business combination” with a publicly held

Delaware corporation for three years following the date these persons become interested stockholders unless the business combination is, or the transaction in which the person

became an interested stockholder was, approved in a prescribed manner or another prescribed exception applies. Generally, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with

affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of a corporation’s voting stock. Generally, a

“business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. The existence of this provision may have

an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by the Board.

Choice of Forum 

The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder to bring (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of Hagerty

under Delaware law; (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or other employee of Hagerty to Hagerty or Hagerty’s

stockholders; (iii) any action asserting a claim against Hagerty, its directors, officers or other employees arising under the DGCL, the Amended and Restated Charter or the Bylaws of

Hagerty (in each case, as may be amended from time to time); (iv) any action asserting a claim against Hagerty or any of its directors, officers or other employees governed by the

internal affairs doctrine of the State of Delaware or (v) any other action asserting an “internal corporate claim,” as defined in Section 115 of the DGCL, in all cases subject to the court

having personal jurisdiction over all indispensable parties named as defendants. Unless a majority of the Board, acting on behalf of Hagerty, consents in writing to the selection of an

alternative forum (which consent may be given at any time, including during the pendency of litigation), the federal district courts of the United States of America, to the fullest extent

permitted by law, is the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any action asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.

Amendment of Charter Provisions 

The Amended and Restated Charter requires an affirmative vote of holders of the majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock for the amendment,

alteration, change or repeal of any provision in the charter; provided, however, that upon a Control Trigger Event the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the voting power of

all then-outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to amend, alter, repeal or adopt any

provision of the Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with the purpose and intent of Article V, Article VI, Article VII or Article IX (including, without limitation, any such Article as

renumbered as a result of any amendment, alternation, repeal or adoption of any other Article).
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2 HAGERTY AMENDED AND RESTATED ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN THE PLAN The Hagerty Group, LLC (“Company”) established this Amended and Restated Annual Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The terms of the Plan follow below. 1. Purpose The purpose of this Plan is to advance the interests of the Company by attracting and retaining employees capable of contributing to the future success of the Company and by providing annual incentive bonus awards to eligible Employees for outstanding achievement related to the successful accomplishment of individual and/or company-wide performance goals. 2. Definitions As used in this Plan, the terms set forth below have the following meanings (such meanings to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined): (a) “Actual Earnings” means the non-exempt employee Participant’s total wages, including any applicable overtime and discretionary bonus pay earned during the Plan Year, but excluding the annual incentive awarded under this Plan. (b) “Affiliate” means an entity directly or indirectly controlled by the Company or a division or designated group of the Company. (c) “Base Salary” means the exempt employee Participant’s actual base salary paid for the Plan Year, which will be prorated to include any changes in base salary rate that may occur during a Plan Year. “Base Salary” for certain sales employees will be the Participant’s actual base salary paid for the Plan Year, which will be prorated to include any changes in base salary rate that may occur during a Plan Year, plus any sales incentive payment earned during the Plan Year. (d) “Bonus” means the dollar amount of incentive compensation that may be earned by a Participant under the Plan for a Plan Year determined in accordance with Section 5. (e) “Bonus Pool” means the total Target Incentive for all Participants in the Bonus Pool multiplied by the Company Modifier. Separate Bonus Pools may be established by the Committee for the Company, an Affiliate, business unit, functional unit, geographic region, or any other subdivision of the Company. (f) “Committee” means the Talent, Culture and Compensation Committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company duly appointed to administer the Plan which



 

3 shall have such powers as specified by the Board. If no Committee has been appointed to administer the Plan, the Board shall exercise all of the powers of the Committee granted herein, and, in any event, the Board may in its discretion exercise any or all of such powers. (g) “Company” means The Hagerty Group, LLC. (h) “Company Modifier” means the level of achievement of Company Performance Goals expressed as a percentage of target performance. (i) “Company Performance Goals” means, for a particular Plan Year, the targets for Company performance used to determine the amount of funding of the Participants’ Bonuses, which may be based on overall Company performance or performance by an Affiliate, business unit or any other subdivision of the Company as determined by the Committee. (j) “Compensation” means a Participant’s Actual Earnings or Base Salary, as applicable. (k) “EBITDA” means earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. (l) “Employee” means an individual employed as a common-law employee, on the regular payroll, of the Company or an Affiliate. (m) “Gross Loss and Expense Ratio” means the measure of the relationship between (i) claim losses plus operating expenses and total other income (expense) items from internal financial statements and (ii) earned premiums plus sales revenue not derived from insurance premium. (n) “HDC Paid Members” means the Company’s paid membership count, including global Hagerty Drivers Club and Hagerty Garage and Social members. (o) “Individual Modifier” means the level of achievement of Participant Performance Goals expressed as a percentage of target performance. (p) “Loss Ratio” means the measure of the relationship between the Company’s (i) claim losses and (ii) earned premiums (q) “Participant” means any active Employee of the Company who is eligible to participate in the Plan in accordance with Section 4. (r) “Participant Performance Goals” means, for a particular Plan Year, the targets for a Participant’s individual performance. (s) “Plan” means The Hagerty Group, LLC Annual Incentive Plan as may be amended or restated from time to time. (t) “Plan Year” means the calendar year.



 

4 (u) “Retirement” means a Participant’s voluntary termination of employment with the Company or any of its Affiliates on or after attainment of age 55 and completing at least 10 years of continuous service since the Participant’s most recent date of hire. (v) “Target Incentive” means the amount equal to a fixed dollar amount or a percentage of a Participant’s Compensation that the Committee has established for a Participant assuming 100% achievement level for all Company Performance Goals and Participant Performance Goals. 3. Administration (a) This Plan shall be administered by the Committee, subject to the oversight of the Board of Directors. The Committee shall have full and final authority, in its sole discretion, but subject to the express provisions of this Plan, to establish the terms and conditions of Bonuses, set the Company Performance Goals and Participant Performance Goals, establish guidelines for determining individual awards, determine eligibility levels for any Bonuses, determine the method for satisfaction of any tax withholding obligation arising in connection with the Bonuses, interpret this Plan and make all determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of this Plan. Subject to subparagraph (b) of this Section 3, the Committee may delegate any or all of its administrative duties and responsibilities under this Plan to any individual or group of individuals it deems appropriate. (b) The Committee shall act by vote of a majority of its members; provided, that any tie shall be resolved by the Company’s Board of Directors. (c) The determination of the Committee on all matters relating to this Plan within its responsibility shall be made in its sole discretion, and shall be conclusive and final and binding on all parties. No member of the Committee shall be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to this Plan or any Bonus. 4. Eligibility To be eligible for a Bonus under this Plan, an Employee must: (a) be classified by the Company as a full time or part-time regular employee. Individuals classified by the Company as temporary employees, interns, independent contractors and authorized agents are not regular employees and are not eligible to participate in this Plan. (b) meet the performance goals and objectives established for the Plan Year as determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of Section 5; and (c) be actively employed

on the date of payment of Bonuses, except as follows: i. To be eligible for a Bonus, an Employee must be actively employed as a regular employee for a minimum of three months during the applicable Plan Year. Employees who began their work with the Company as a temporary employee and who became a regular employee on or before October 1 of the Plan Year are not eligible for such year.



 

5 ii. Participants who begin employment during any Plan Year and meet the above eligibility criteria will be eligible for a pro-rated Bonus. If any Participant’s employment terminates at any time during the Plan Year or prior to the time of payment of any Bonus, for any reason, including, but not limited to, resignation or termination by the Company, such Participant shall not be eligible to receive any Bonus or consideration in respect of such a Bonus. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant terminates employment as a result of death, disability or retirement prior to payment of the Bonus for such Plan Year, Company may, in its sole discretion, pay a Bonus or pro-rated Bonus to such Participant. (d) Employees who qualify for the Hagerty Individual Sales incentive shall not have any Participant Performance Goals or any Individual Modifier under this Plan, but shall be eligible for a Bonus based on a Target Incentive that will be modified by Company Performance. 5. Bonus Determinations (a) Bonus Threshold. Notwithstanding anything else in this Plan, the Committee may establish a threshold Performance Goal for any Plan Year and provide that no Bonus shall be paid to any employee under this Plan if the threshold Performance Goal is not attained. Any threshold Performance Goal shall be communicated to the Participants within the first ninety (90) days of the applicable Plan Year. The failure to attain a threshold Performance Goal shall not prevent the award of discretionary bonuses under Section (f) below. (b) Performance Goals. Bonuses shall be paid based on the achievement of specified Company Performance Goals and Participant Performance Goals. (i) On or before March 1 of each Plan Year, the Committee shall present to the Board for approval, recommended Company Performance Goals. Specific financial and/or performance objectives will be established for each Plan Year for the Company, an Affiliate, business unit, functional unit, geographic region or any other subdivision of the Company, and may include revenue, revenue growth percentage, EBITDA, EBITDA margin percentage, Loss Ratio, Gross Loss and Expense Ratio, HDC Paid Members, and other criteria established by the Committee in its sole discretion. (ii) On or before March 1 of each Plan Year, and subject to amendment, each team manager will establish Participant Performance Goals that include specific

objectives for individual performance and/or individual goals related to team/line of business performance and certain strategic/tactical assignments. The Participant Performance Goals shall be set by the team manager with such input from the Participant as the manager deems appropriate and ultimately shall be reviewed and approved by the team manager’s direct supervisor. Each Plan Year the Committee also may establish separate additional Participant Performance Goals for Participants in its discretion. (c) Bonus Awards. After the Company has completed its year-end financial statements following the end of each Plan Year but no later than the 15th day of the third month after the end of the Plan Year, the Committee will, subject to the review and approval of the Board, determine



 

6 the Company’s actual performance for the Plan Year and establish the Company Modifier that will set the Bonus Pool from which Bonuses will be paid, if any, and determine the Participants’ actual performance for the Plan Year and establish the Individual Modifiers that will apply for each Participant. The Committee will have the full authority and discretion to determine the extent to which the Participant Performance Goals and Company Performance Goals have been achieved. (d) Payment. Bonuses shall be calculated as provided under this paragraph. Each Bonus Pool will first be determined based on the Target Incentives and the Company Modifier. The adjusted Bonus Pool shall then be divided amongst all Participants in the Bonus Pool on a pro rata basis based on each Participant’s Target Incentive (the Participant’s “Adjusted Target Incentive”). Each Participant’s Adjusted Target Incentive shall then be multiplied by the Participant’s Individual Modifier to determine the Participant’s Bonus. In no event may the total Bonuses paid to all Participants in a Bonus Pool exceed the total amount of the Bonus Pool. Payment of any Bonus to a Participant shall be made not later than the 15th day of the third month after the end of the Plan Year. There shall be no deferral of Bonuses under this Plan. Should an individual who is entitled to a bonus at the end of the Plan Year become ineligible for payment of the bonus based on termination of employment or for any other reason under this Plan, the bonus forfeited shall be added back to the Bonus Pool. (e) Discretionary Adjustments. Once established, Company Performance Goals and Participant Performance Goals will not be changed during the Plan Year. However, if the Committee, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines that there has been (i) a change in the business, operations, corporate or capital structure, (ii) a change in the manner in which business is conducted, or (iii) any other material change or event that will impact one or more Company Performance Goals or Participant Performance Goals in a manner the Committee did not intend or anticipate, then the Committee may, reasonably contemporaneously with such change or event, make such adjustments as it shall deem appropriate and equitable in the manner of computing the relevant Company Performance Goals and Participant

Performance Goals for the Plan Year. (f) Discretionary Bonuses. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein to the contrary, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, subject to Board approval if over $5,000 for any one Participant, make such other or additional Bonus payments to a Participant as it shall deem appropriate. 6. Participation By Other Employers The Company may permit Affiliates to participate in this Plan. 7. Non-Transferability Except as otherwise provided herein, no benefit or interest payable under this Plan shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, loan or change and any such attempted action shall be void and no such benefit or interest shall be, in any manner, liable for, or subject to, debts, contracts, liabilities or torts of any Participant. Any other attempted assignment or alienation shall be void and of no force or effect.



 

7 8. Withholding Taxes The Company may withhold or cause to be withheld from any or all payments made under this Plan such amounts as are necessary to satisfy all U.S. federal, state and local withholding tax requirements or foreign withholding tax requirements related thereto. 9. Funding Payments under this Plan shall be paid directly by the Company. The Company shall not be required to fund, or otherwise segregate assets to be used for Bonuses under this Plan. To the extent any person acquires any rights to receive payments hereunder from the Company, such rights shall be no greater than those of an unsecured creditor. 10. Committee Members Not Liable The Committee and each of its members shall be entitled to rely upon certificates of appropriate officers of the Company with respect to financial and statistical data in order to determine if the objective Company Performance Goals and Participant Performance Goals for a Plan Year have been met. Neither the Committee nor any member shall be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to this Plan or any Bonus paid hereunder. 11. No Employment Rights This Plan does not constitute an employment contract and participation in the Plan does not give a Participant the right to continue in the employ of the Company, nor affect the right of the Company to discharge a Participant. Neither the establishment of this Plan, nor the granting of any Bonus, shall be construed to: (a) alter or extend any Participant’s or employee’s terms and conditions of employment with the Company, and specifically does not alter the at-will nature of employment with the Company; (b) give any employee the right to any benefits not specifically provided by this Plan, or (c) in any manner modify the right of the Company or any of its Affiliates to modify, amend, or terminate any of its employee benefit plans. 12. Nature of Payments Any and all Bonuses paid hereunder shall constitute special incentive bonus payments to the Participant, and shall not be taken into account in computing the amount of salary or compensation of the Participant for the purposes of determining any pension, retirement, death or other benefits under (a) any qualified, non-qualified or supplemental pension, retirement or profit- sharing plan of the Company or any of its affiliated companies, (b) any bonus, life insurance or other employee

benefit plan of the Company or any of its affiliated companies, or (c) any agreement between the Company or any of its affiliated companies, on the one hand, and the Participant, on the other hand, except as such plan or agreement shall otherwise expressly provide. 13. Non-Uniform Determinations The Committee’s determinations under this Plan need not be uniform, and may be made by the Committee selectively among individuals who receive, or are eligible to receive, Bonuses (whether or not such individuals are similarly-situated).



 

14. Amendment of this Plan The Committee may in its discretion terminate or, from time to time amend, modify or suspend this Plan at any time, for any reason, with or without notice. 15. Governing Law The construction and administration of this Plan and all questions pertaining thereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of Michigan, except to the extent that such law is preempted by Federal law. The jurisdiction and venue for any disputes arising under, or any action brought to enforce (or otherwise relating to), this Plan shall be exclusively in the District and Circuit courts in Grand Traverse County, Michigan. 16. Headings The headings of Sections herein are included solely for convenience, and if there is any conflict between headings and the text of the Plan, the text shall control. 17. Severability of Provisions If any provision of this Plan is determined to be void by any court of competent jurisdiction, this Plan shall continue to operate and, for the purposes of the jurisdiction of the court only, shall be deemed not to include the provision determined to be void. 18. Miscellaneous Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, all Bonuses made under this Plan are intended to be exempt from or, in the alternative, comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the interpretive guidance thereunder, including the exceptions for short-term deferrals. The Plan shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent. 19. Effective Date This Plan as amended shall become effective as of January 1, 2023, and shall remain in effect until such time as it may be terminated, amended, modified or suspended pursuant to Section 15.



 



 

HAGERTY AMENDED AND RESTATED DEFERRED INCENTIVE AWARDS PLAN EXHIBIT 10.34



 

HAGERTY AMENDED AND RESTATED DEFERRED INCENTIVE AWARDS PLAN SECTION 1 Declaration 1.1 Establishment of Plan. This is the Hagerty Amended and Restated Deferred Incentive Awards Plan (“plan” or “this plan”), established by Hagerty Insurance Agency, LLC (the “Company”), as a nonqualified plan for a select group of management personnel employed by Company. This plan is intended to be a plan described in Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3), and 401(a)(1) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”). This plan is a nonqualified supplemental retirement program that is not subject to limitations in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”), applicable to benefits provided through a qualified, tax-exempt employee benefit plan established under Section 401(a) of the Code. This plan is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code. 1.2 Effective Date. This plan was originally effective January 1, 2013, and the “Effective Date” of this amended and restated plan is January 1, 2019, unless a provision of this plan specifies a different effective date. Each plan provision applies until the effective date of an amendment of that provision. 1.3 Freeze. No employees may become Participants in this plan on or after the Effective Date, no deferral elections may be made for Incentive Periods beginning on or after the Effective Date, and no subsequent deferral elections may be made on or after the Effective Date. The final credits to this plan will be made effective January 1, 2021, for the Incentive Period beginning January 1, 2018, and the final payments under this plan will be made between January 1 and March 15, 2026, unless forfeited or paid earlier per the terms of this plan. SECTION 2 Definitions 2.1 Affiliate. “Affiliate” means an entity directly or indirectly controlled by, or controlling, the Company or a division or designated group of the Company. 2.2 Cause. “Cause” means a Participant’s: (i) unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s trade secrets or other confidential or proprietary information that causes material harm to the Company or material breach of any confidentiality or proprietary rights agreement; (ii) willful misconduct, willful and



 

2 continued failure to substantially perform the Participant’s duties as an executive or key employee of the Company, or a material breach of any employment agreement between the Company and the Participant, in each case, after receipt of written notice from the Company setting forth with reasonable specificity such misconduct or material breach, and only after the Participant’s failure to (a) initiate corrective action within thirty (30) business days of receipt of such notice, and (b) correct the behavior described in the notice within sixty (60) days following receipt of such notice; (iii) conviction of, or plea of “guilty” or “no contest” to, a felony offense; (iv) use of illegal drugs on the Company’s premises or in the course of the Company’s business; (v) commission of a crime involving any unlawful act that is materially detrimental to the reputation, character or standing of the Company; or (vi) conviction of a crime involving a material act of dishonesty, fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation or financial dishonesty. 2.3 Change in Control. “Change in Control” means the acquisition, by a person or persons acting as a group, of either the Company’s or The Hagerty Group, LLC’s (i) equity that together with equity held by such person or group constitutes more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting power of the applicable entity’s equity; or (ii) assets that have a total gross fair market value equal to or exceeding forty percent (40%) of the total gross fair market value of the applicable entity’s assets in a single transaction or within a twelve month period ending with the most recent acquisition. For the purpose of this section, gross fair market value means the value of the assets of the entity, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets. Notwithstanding those general rules, however, a direct or indirect transfer of equity within the family of Kim Hagerty, McKeel O Hagerty and Tammy J. Hagerty or trusts established by the Hagerty family will not be considered a Change in Control. 2.4 Committee. “Committee” means the Human Resources and Compensation Committee that may be appointed by the Board of Managers of the Company to administer the plan, which will have such powers as specified by the Board. If no Committee has been appointed to administer the plan, the Board

will exercise all of the powers of the Committee granted herein, and, in any event, the Board may at any time in its discretion exercise any or all of such powers. 2.5 Company. “Company” means Hagerty Insurance Agency, LLC and any Affiliate that adopts this Plan. Actions taken on behalf of the Company will be taken by the Board of Managers except as delegated to the Committee. 2.6 Disability. “Disability” means that the Participant is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months: (i) unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity; or (ii) receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than 3 months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the Company or an Affiliate. 2.7 Incentive Award. “Incentive Award” has the meaning provided for under the Long Term Incentive Plan.



 

3 2.8 Incentive Period. “Incentive Period” has the meaning provided for under the Long Term Incentive Plan. This plan will apply only to Incentive Periods beginning from January 1, 2013, through January 1, 2018. There shall be no new Incentive Periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 2.9 Long Term Incentive Plan. “Long Term Incentive Plan” means the Hagerty Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time. 2.10 Participant. “Participant” means any active executive or key employee of the Company who is recommended by the CEO of the Company and approved by the Committee to participate in the plan no later than the Incentive Period beginning January 1, 2018. 2.11 Plan Year. “Plan Year” means the 12-month period beginning each January 1. 2.12 Retirement. “Retirement” means a Participant’s voluntary termination of employment with the Company and its Affiliates on or after attainment of age 55 and completing at least 10 years of service. SECTION 3 Participation No new participants may join the plan on or after January 1, 2019. An employee who was a Participant in the plan as of January 1, 2019, will remain a Participant until all deferred compensation credited under this plan is either forfeited or paid pursuant to the terms of the plan. SECTION 4 Deferred Incentive Award Credits 4.1 Deferred Incentive Award Credits. Amounts credited under this Section will result in the deferral of a corresponding dollar amount from the Participant’s Incentive Awards to be paid under this plan as deferred compensation to the Participant rather than being paid under the Long Term Incentive Plan. As soon as administratively feasible following the end of each Incentive Period beginning on or after January 1, 2013, through January 1, 2018, the Company will credit a Participant with the amounts (“Deferred Incentive Award Credit”) determined under this Section. (a) Mandatory Deferral. Twenty percent (20%) of a Participant’s Incentive Award for an Incentive Period will automatically be deferred and credited to this plan.



 

4 (b) Elective Deferral. Up to an additional thirty percent (30%) of a Participant’s Incentive Award for an Incentive Period, in whole ten percent (10%) increments may be deferred and credited to this plan by a Participant pursuant to a written and timely irrevocable deferral election. 4.2 Prior Irrevocable Deferral Election. A Participant’s election to defer an Incentive Award under this plan is to be made by the Participant on a form provided for that purpose no later than thirty days after the performance measures are established for an Incentive Period and will become irrevocable for that Incentive Period at the end of the thirty day period. A separate deferral election must be made for each Incentive Period and failure to make a timely deferral election for an Incentive Period will result in no additional elective deferral in excess of the twenty percent (20%) mandatory deferral. A new Participant who is added to the plan before the performance measures are established for an Incentive Period may make an irrevocable election to defer a portion of the Incentive Award for that Participant’s initial Incentive Period no later than thirty days after the performance measures are established for the Incentive Period and that election will apply to the entire Incentive Award for that Incentive Period. The Participant will have no claim or right to payment of the amounts deferred and will be limited solely to the rights and benefits conferred under the terms of this plan. SECTION 5 Accounting; Earnings Credits 5.1 Accounting Records. The Committee will maintain separate accounting records for each Participant for the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits under Section 4. That separate account will be the Participant’s “Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account.” Deferred Incentive Award Credits from each Incentive Period will be accounted for separately. 5.2 Timing of Credits. Each Deferred Incentive Award Credit will be credited to the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account as of January 1 immediately following the end of the applicable Incentive Period. 5.3 Earnings Credits and Debits. Each Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account will be credited with investment earnings credits (or debits), unless otherwise provided for under Section 6. Investment earnings credits (or debits) will be eighty percent (80%) of the annual percentage change in the equity book value of The

Hagerty Group, LLC as determined by the Company’s calculation of “Value” for purposes of the Long Term Incentive Plan. Investment earnings, or losses, will be credited (or debited) for each Plan Year from the date the amount is credited to the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account through December 31 of the year preceding when the deferred amount is actually paid. No investment experience will apply from December 31 of the year preceding when the deferred amount is actually paid through the date of payment.



 

5 SECTION 6 Vesting; Payment of Benefits 6.1 Payment of Deferred Incentive Award Credits. (a) General Rule. Each Deferred Incentive Award Credit credited to the Participant’s account in this plan will be distributed in a lump sum during the period of January 1 to March 15 following the fifth calendar year after the end of the Incentive Period from which the amount was deferred. (b) Subsequent Deferral Election. No subsequent deferrals may be elected under this plan on or after January 1, 2019. 6.2 Effect of Termination of Employment; Demotion; Change in Control. (a) Death, Disability or Retirement. If a Participant terminates employment with the Company due to death, Disability or Retirement, the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account will be paid as provided under Section 6.1 as if the Participant continued in employment, including investment experience as provided for under Section 5.3 and any subsequent deferral elected before January 1, 2019, but the Participant, or the Participant’s beneficiary or personal representative, will no longer be eligible to make a subsequent deferral election if such an election had not been elected before January 1, 2019. (b) Termination of Employment for Cause. If a Participant’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company for Cause, the following will occur: (i) the portion of the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account that relates to Incentive Periods during which the Participant’s actions constituted Cause will immediately be forfeited; (ii) the portion of the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account that relates to Incentive Periods before the Participant’s actions that constituted Cause, if any, will be paid as provided under Section 6.1 as if the Participant continued in employment, including any subsequent deferral elected before January 1, 2019, but the Participant will no longer be eligible to make a subsequent deferral election if such an election had not been elected before January 1, 2019, and the Participant’s investment experience under Section 5.3 will be disregarded, except that if the investment experience results in net loss to the principal amount of the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits then the investment experience will apply; and (iii) upon notice from the Company, whether written or otherwise, the Participant must promptly

repay to the Company the gross amount of any payments that the Participant received from the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account while the Participant’s actions constituted Cause, but not to exceed the five payments immediately preceding the termination for Cause. The Company will undertake all reasonable efforts to exercise its clawback rights under this Section 6.2(b). (c) Involuntary Termination of Employment. If a Participant's employment with the Company is terminated by the Company for any reason other than for Cause, the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account will be paid as provided under Section 6.1 as if the Participant continued in employment, including any subsequent deferral elected before January 1, 2019, and including the investment experience provided for under Section 5.3, but the Participant will no longer be eligible to make a subsequent deferral election if such an election had not been elected before January 1, 2019. (d) Voluntary Termination. If a Participant voluntarily terminates employment with the Company for any reason other than Retirement, death or Disability, (i) all amounts related to Incentive Periods



 

6 that have not ended will be forfeited and (ii) the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account that relate to Incentive Periods that have ended will be paid as provided under Section 6.1 as if the Participant continued in employment, including any subsequent deferral elected before January 1, 2019, but the Participant will forfeit the investment experience provided for under Section 5.3 and will no longer be eligible to make a subsequent deferral election if such an election had not been elected before January 1, 2019. (e) Change in Control. Upon a Change in Control, the Participant’s entire Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account, including investment experience, will be paid in a lump sum within thirty days after the Change in Control. If the thirty day period overlaps two calendar years, then the payment will be made in the later calendar year. Upon payment due to a Change in Control, investment experience under Section 5.3 will be calculated based on the value used for purposes of the Change in Control rather than the value determined under this plan and investment experience will be calculated through the date of the Change in Control. (f) Demotion. If a Participant is demoted to a position that at the time of such demotion is not eligible to be designated for participation in the Plan, the Participant’s Deferred Incentive Award Credits Account will be paid as provided under Section 6.1 as if the Participant had not been demoted, including any subsequent deferral elected before January 1, 2019, and including the investment experience provided for under Section 5.3, but the Participant will no longer be eligible to make a subsequent deferral election if such an election had not been elected before January 1, 2019. 6.3 Administrative Rules. (a) The Participant, or the Participant’s personal representative, will have no power or authority to require a different time or method of payment than the time and method provided in Section 6. (b) The Company has the right to withhold and deduct from a Participant’s payments, or make arrangements for the collection of, all amounts deemed necessary to satisfy federal, state and local withholding and employment-related tax requirements attributable to a Participant’s payments pursuant to this plan. (c) Payment may not be accelerated or deferred except in compliance with Section 409A of the Code. (d) All

amounts will be paid in cash. (e) If a Participant dies, the Participant’s payments will be paid to a beneficiary designated by the Participant on a form approved by the Committee, or if no beneficiary has been designated, to the personal representative of the Participant’s estate.



 

7 SECTION 7 General Provisions 7.1 Amendment; Termination. The Committee will have the right at any time to amend this plan prospectively or retroactively, or to terminate this plan, provided that an amendment or termination may not reduce or revoke the accrued benefits of Participants as of the end of the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year in which the amendment or termination is adopted. Upon termination of this plan, the accrued benefits of affected Participants will become nonforfeitable. Each Participant’s vested accrued benefits will be distributed in accordance with the provisions of this plan. This plan will automatically terminate when all amounts have been paid or forfeited under the provisions of this plan. 7.2 Employment Relationship. Nothing in this plan will be construed as creating a contract of employment between the Company and any Participant or otherwise conferring upon any Participant or other person a legal right to continuation of employment or any rights other than those specified in this plan. This plan will not limit or affect the right of the Company to discharge or retire a Participant. 7.3 Rights Not Assignable. Amounts promised under this plan will not be subject to assignment, conveyance, transfer, anticipation, pledge, alienation, sale, encumbrance, or charge, whether voluntary or involuntary, by the Participant or any beneficiary of the Participant, even if directed under a qualified domestic relations order or other divorce order. An interest in any amount promised will not provide collateral or security for a debt of a Participant or beneficiary or be subject to garnishment, execution, assignment, levy, or to another form of judicial or administrative process or to the claim of a creditor of a Participant or beneficiary, through legal process or otherwise. Any attempt to assign, convey, transfer, anticipate, pledge, alienate, sell, encumber, charge, or otherwise dispose of benefits payable, before actual receipt of the benefits, or a right to receive benefits, will be void and will not be recognized. 7.4 Unsecured Obligation. The right to a benefit under this plan constitutes merely the unsecured promise of Company to pay benefits from Company’s general assets. Nothing contained in this plan, and no action taken pursuant to the provisions of this plan, will create or be construed to create a trust of any kind, a fund, or any fiduciary relationship between

Company and any Participant, beneficiary, or any other person. Any reserve or fund established by Company in connection with this plan will be and will remain, until paid to any Participant or beneficiary, solely the property and rights of Company, subject to the rights and claims of Company’s general creditors. No Participant, beneficiary, or any other person other than Company will have any right, title, or interest in or to such funds or other assets. Any right to a benefit under this plan will be no greater than the claim of any other unsecured general creditor of Company.



 

8 7.5 Construction; Interpretation. The singular includes the plural, and the plural includes the singular, unless the context clearly indicates the contrary. Capitalized terms (except those at the beginning of a sentence or part of a heading) have the meaning specified in this plan. All questions or issues regarding interpretation or application of the provisions of this plan, including, but not limited to, questions of eligibility for benefits, the amount of benefits, and forfeiture, payment, or termination of benefits, will be resolved by the Committee, whose determination will be final and binding. 7.6 Governing Law. This plan will be interpreted, construed, enforced, and performed in accordance with applicable federal law and, to the extent not preempted by federal law, in accordance with the laws of the state of Michigan. 7.7 Unfunded Plan. This will be an unfunded plan within the meaning of ERISA. Benefits provided herein will consist solely of aggregate unfunded credits which are the sum of Deferred Incentive Award Credits and earning credits and will constitute only an unsecured contractual promise to pay in accordance with the terms of this plan by the Company. 7.8 Section 409A. This plan is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code and the interpretive guidance thereunder. The Incentive Awards are intended to constitute “performance-based compensation” as that term is defined for purposes of Section 409A and the deferral election rules applicable to performance- based compensation are intended to apply to this plan. Any reference to termination of employment that triggers payment of deferred compensation is to be construed as requiring a “separation from service” as that term is defined for purposes of Section 409A. The plan will be construed and interpreted in accordance with these intentions. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument is executed as an act of the Company as of __________________, 2019. HAGERTY INSURANCE AGENCY, LLC By ____________________________________ Its ________________________________ 8787361-4
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As a public company, Hagerty, Inc. (“Hagerty” or the “Company”) is required to comply with many federal securities laws and regulations. These laws
also extend to employees, directors, and officers of the Company. This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) describes the federal and state securities
laws you may be subject to and Hagerty’s standards regarding trading, or causing the trading of, Company securities or securities of certain other
publicly traded companies while in possession of certain confidential information.

This Policy applies to (collectively, “Covered Persons”): (1) members of Hagerty’s Board of Directors (the “Board”); (2) all employees of Hagerty and
its subsidiaries; (3) independent contractors and consultants and any other persons who have access to material nonpublic information about the
Company and its subsidiaries; and (4) for those listed in (1)-(2) above,

• anyone else who lives in your household whether they are a family member or not, and
• anyone whose securities transactions are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, as well as trusts or other entities for which

you make investment decisions.

This Policy continues to apply to all Covered Persons even after termination of service to or employment with Hagerty for as long as you are in
possession of MNPI. You may not trade in Hagerty securities until such MNPI has become public or is no longer material and may not engage in any
other action to take advantage of, or pass on to others, that information.

A violation of this Policy may subject individual(s) to disciplinary action, up to and including employment termination, whether or not the Policy
violation results in a violation of law or external proceedings.

1. Purpose
One of the principal purposes of the federal securities laws is to prevent insider trading. Insider trading occurs when a person takes material
information that is not available to the public about the Company its subsidiaries, suppliers, or others with whom Hagerty does (or may do) business,
and: (1) buys or sells the Company’s stock or other securities while in possession of such material nonpublic information; or (2) shares that information
with others outside of Hagerty and those people trade Hagerty’s securities.

Insider Trading is illegal and penalties for trading on or communicating material nonpublic information can be severe, both for individuals involved in
the unlawful conduct and for the Company.



It is critical that Hagerty, its employees, officers, and directors act with integrity and the highest form of ethical conduct. Given the severity of insider
trading, compliance with this Policy is mandatory. Throughout this Policy you will be encouraged (and sometimes required) to reach out for guidance if
you have any questions about how you treat information or engage in transactions in the Company’s securities. The requirements and procedures
outlined here were written to comply with federal securities laws, to help you avoid costly mistakes, and to help Hagerty maintain the trust of our
community.

2. Definitions
Below is a list of several common terms that are part of the day-to-day operations of public companies. These terms are important for everyone to
understand and are defined below to help provide additional guidance regarding our compliance with federal securities laws and regulations.

Compliance Officer- Hagerty has appointed the Chief Legal Officer, or her/his designee, as the designated Compliance Officer for this Policy and any
other communications and disclosures covered under federal securities laws. The duties of the Compliance Officer, with support from other personnel
in Hagerty’s Legal and Compliance department pursuant to direction of the Compliance Officer, include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Assisting with implementation and enforcement of this Policy;
• Circulating this Policy to all employees and ensuring that this Policy is amended as needed to remain current with insider trading laws;
• Pre-clearing all trading in Company securities for Pre-Clearance Persons (defined below) in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section

5 below;
• Providing approval of any Rule 10b5-1 plans (if applicable) and any prohibited transactions as detailed below;
• Providing written waivers of this Policy when circumstances dictate; and
• Providing a reporting system with an effective whistleblower protection mechanism.

Covered Persons- all people subject to this policy. This includes, (1) members of the Board; (2) all employees of Hagerty and its subsidiaries; (3)
independent contractors and consultants and any other persons who have access to material nonpublic information about the Company and its
subsidiaries; and (4) for those listed in (1)-(2) above,

• anyone else who lives in your household whether they are a family member or not, and
• anyone whose securities transactions are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, as well as trusts or other entities for which

you make investment decisions.

.



Material Information- Under the federal securities laws, information is considered material if it would influence a reasonable investor’s decision to
buy, sell, or trade stock and would therefore be likely to affect the price of the stock. This can be either positive or negative information, and it could be
from the past, present, or something you know that either could or will happen in the future. Materiality really depends upon the facts and
circumstances of individual situations and will always be judged with the benefit of hindsight. Below are some examples of material information:

• Financial results and projections (including the Company’s own expectations regarding its future financial results or how they differ from market
expectations);

• Significant mergers, acquisitions, tender offers, joint ventures, or changes in assets or divestitures;
• Major management changes;
• Changes in control;
• Changes in sales, earnings, estimates, or dividends;
• Sales figures and forecasts;
• Significant process or product developments
• Developments regarding significant litigation, regulatory updates, or government agency investigations;
• Bankruptcies, receiverships, or liquidity problems;
• Significant changes with a supplier, customer, or other collaborator;
• A major cybersecurity incident;
• Events regarding the Company’s securities (such as defaults on senior securities, calls of securities for redemption, repurchase plans, stock

splits or changes in dividends, changes in the rights of security holders, or public or private sales of additional securities);
• An important financing transaction; and
• Award or loss of a significant contract.

*Note that this list is merely illustrative and not exhaustive.

Nonpublic Information- Any information that has not been publicly and widely released is considered nonpublic for insider trading purposes.

For information to be considered public, it must be made available in a manner that is designed to reach investors generally, such as in a filing by
Hagerty with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), a press release issued by Hagerty, or an announcement of the information
in a news publication. A few examples of nonpublic information may include: information available to a select group of analysts, brokers, or
institutional investors; or undisclosed facts that are the subject of rumors, even if the rumors are widely circulated.

Even after Hagerty makes a public disclosure of information about the Company, investors need to be given time to absorb the information, and you
must wait at least one full trading day (any day on which the New York Stock Exchange or other national



exchange on which the Company’s securities are then traded is open for trading, a “Trading Day”) to pass before you can trade in Company stock.
For example, if Hagerty released information in a press release on Monday at 4:00 pm Eastern time, and Tuesday was an open trading day, the
information would be deemed to be public on Wednesday.

Material Nonpublic Information or “MNPI”- Material information about Hagerty that has not been publicly and widely released.

Pre-Clearance Persons- This group is subject to some additional regulations and trading restrictions as set forth in Section 5 of this Policy. Pre-
Clearance Persons include the following individuals:

• All members of the Board; and
• Hagerty employees specifically designated in Appendix A to this Policy.

Securities- Class A common stock, Class V common stock, warrants, and any other securities that Hagerty has or may issue, like options, preferred
stock, notes, bonds, convertible securities, as well as derivative securities relating to any Company security, even if not issued by Hagerty.

3. General Rules and Policy: No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of Material Nonpublic Information
The following rules apply to all Covered Persons (which includes all Hagerty employees):

1) Do not trade Hagerty securities while you are in possession of MNPI. A Covered Person may not purchase or sell, or offer to purchase or
sell, or have someone else purchase or sell on their behalf, any Hagerty security, regardless of whether it is issued by the Company, while in
possession of Material Nonpublic Information about Hagerty. The acquisition of stock under an employee stock purchase plan or employee
incentive plan is not subject to this Policy. However, the sale of any stock acquired under these plans is subject to this Policy, and the
procedures of the Policy must be followed.

2) Do not give “tips” or otherwise share MNPI with others. A Covered Person who knows of any Material Nonpublic Information about Hagerty
may not communicate that information to any other person, i.e., tip them, including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose such
information without the Company’s authorization. This includes giving trading advice. For example, making the following statement is not
compliant and is illegal: “I am not going to share information with you, but I would sell those shares if I were you ….”



3) Do not trade or give “tips” on material nonpublic information of another company. A Covered Person may not purchase or sell any
security of another company while in possession of material nonpublic information about that company, which was obtained in the course of the
Covered Person’s involvement with Hagerty. A Covered Person who knows of any such material nonpublic information about another company
may not tip any other person, including family members and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the Company’s
authorization.

4) Do not assist anyone else engaged in any of the preceding activities in (1) through (3).

5) Covered Persons are generally permitted to purchase and sell Hagerty securities when no Blackout Period is in effect – this is called
an “Open Trading Window.”  Generally, this means that Covered Persons can purchase or sell Hagerty stock (i.e., trade) during the period
that begins on the day that one Blackout Period (defined below) ends until the next Blackout Period begins (unless a Special Blackout Period
(also defined below) is instituted). However, no Covered Person may trade at any time if they are in possession of Material Nonpublic
Information at the time of the trade.

6) No Covered Person is permitted to trade Hagerty securities during a Blackout Period.

Blackout Periods. All Covered Persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities during the period that begins at the close of
the market on the last Trading Day that is two weeks before the end of each fiscal quarter and ends at the close of business on the second
Trading Day following the date Hagerty financial results are publicly disclosed and the Company’s Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, as applicable, is
filed (such period, a “Blackout Period”).

Other Blackout Periods. From time to time, other types of MNPI regarding Hagerty (such as negotiation of mergers, acquisitions or
dispositions, or new product developments) may be pending and not yet publicly disclosed. When this type of information is pending, Hagerty
may impose “Special Blackout Periods”, during which all Covered Persons may not trade in Hagerty securities. If Hagerty does impose a
Special Blackout Period, the Company will provide notification of such period.

7) If you are a director, officer, or Hagerty employee identified in Appendix A to this Policy, you must pre-clear all trades to ensure
compliance with federal law and that all proper disclosures are made. These individuals are Pre-Clearance Persons and the procedures
for these individuals are set forth in Section 5 below.

8) Only approved Hagerty spokespersons may share nonpublic information about Hagerty with the public through certain approved
communication methods. Otherwise, any Material Nonpublic Information that someone else



chooses to share with press, analysts, clients, suppliers, or even online via social media, could create significant liability for both the person
who shared the information and for Hagerty.

4. Violations of Insider Trading Laws
Penalties for trading on or communicating material nonpublic information can be severe, both for individuals involved in the unlawful conduct and for
Hagerty, and may include jail terms, criminal fines, civil penalties, and civil enforcement injunctions. Given the severity of the potential penalties,
compliance with this Policy is mandatory.

Legal Penalties. A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions in a company’s securities when he or she has material
nonpublic information can be sentenced to a substantial jail term and required to pay a criminal penalty of several times the amount of profits gained
or losses avoided.

In addition, a person who tips others may also be liable for transactions by the tippees to whom he or she has disclosed material nonpublic
information. Tippers can be subject to the same penalties and sanctions as the tippees, and the SEC has imposed large penalties even when the
tipper did not profit from the transaction.

The SEC can also seek substantial civil penalties from any person who, at the time of an insider trading violation, “directly or indirectly controlled the
person who committed such violation,” which would apply to Hagerty and/or management and supervisory personnel. These control persons may be
held liable for large financial penalties. Even for violations that result in little to no profit, the SEC can seek penalties from a company and/or its
management and supervisory personnel as control persons.

Hagerty-Imposed Penalties. Hagerty employees who violate this Policy may be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including
termination of employment.

5. Additional Rules and Trading Restrictions for “Pre-Clearance Persons”

Individuals who are defined as “Pre-Clearance Persons” are subject to compliance with additional regulations. If you are not identified as a “Pre-
Clearance Person” in the definition in Section 2, and you do not have possession of MNPI, then you are not subject to the additional restrictions in this
section unless you have been informed you are by the Compliance Officer.

1) Pre-Clearance of Securities Transactions. Because Pre-Clearance Persons are likely to possess MNPI on a regular basis, a Pre-Clearance
Person may not directly or indirectly purchase or sell (or make any transfer, gift, pledge, or loan) any Hagerty security at any time without first
obtaining prior written approval from the Compliance Officer (“Approval”). This pre-clearance requirement also applies to transactions by
anyone else who lives in a Pre-Clearance Persons’ household whether they are family member or non, and anyone whose securities
transactions are directed by a Pre-Clearance Person.

a. Pre-Clearance of Securities Transactions.



Pre-Clearance Persons must email the Compliance Officer and get Approval in writing for any purchase of Hagerty securities. To
Maintain compliance with SEC rules, Approval for purchases of Hagerty securities will be made during an Open Trading Window and
when the Pre-Clearance Person confirms he or she is not in possession of MNPI. In the event the Compliance Officer approves a
purchase of Hagerty securities by a Pre-Clearance Person, such Approval will generally remain valid until the close of trading two
business days after the day it was granted, unless it is revoked earlier by the Compliance Officer. If the transaction does not occur during
the two-day period, Approval must be requested again.

Pre-Clearance Persons may also, but are not required to, enter into an Approved 10b5-1 Plan (defined below) to purchase Hagerty
securities. The Approval of the 10b5-1 Plan by the Compliance Officer will act as the Approval for all purchases made under the
Approved 10b5-1 Plan.

b. Selling Hagerty Securities

At Hagerty, all Pre-Clearance Persons are required by this Policy to enter into a pre-approved 10b5-1 Plan (“Approved 10b5-1
Plan”) in order to sell Hagerty securities at ANY time. An Approved 10b5-1 Plan satisfies this Policy’s Approval requirement for Pre-
Clearance Persons.

Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) provides an affirmative defense against an insider trading
charge by the SEC or other authorities. Rule 10b5-1 authorizes trades made pursuant to a pre-existing written plan that satisfies the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1. To be eligible for this defense, and satisfy the Approval requirement of this Policy, Pre-Clearance Persons
may enter into an Approved 10b5-1 Plan by contacting the Company’s Designated Broker. For the Designated Broker’s information please
contact the HR team at askhr@hagerty.com.

All Approved 10b5-1 Plans must comply with the following:
• be entered into during an Open Trading Window, unless timing is otherwise approved by the Compliance Officer, and when you are not

in possession of MNPI;
• be approved by the Compliance Officer and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and other legal requirements;
• explicitly specify the security or securities to be purchased or sold, the number of shares, the prices and/or dates of the transactions, or

other formula describing these transactions; or give a third-party the discretionary authority to execute such purchases or sales, outside
your control, so long as the third-party does not possess any MNPI;

• the first trade under any Approved 10b5-1 Plan cannot be executed until a “Cooling Off Period” has expired:
o For directors and officers of Hagerty, the Cooling Off Period is the later of: (a) ninety (90) days after the Approved 10b5-1 Plan is

executed; or (b) two business days after the disclosure of Hagerty’s financial results for the fiscal quarter in which the Approved
10b5-1 Plan was executed.

o For all other Pre-Clearance Persons the Cooling Off Period is thirty (30) days after the plan has been executed.



• any modification of the amount, price, or timing of a purchase or sale of a security in an Approved 10b5-1 Plan is considered a
termination of such plan and the modification will not be in effect until the applicable Cooling Off Period has expired;

• trades under any Approved 10b5-1 Plan must comply with the “Opposite Way Trade Rule”, meaning you cannot purchase a security
and then have or set up a 10b5-1 Plan to sell that same security within 6-months of purchasing it;

• for Board members and officers of Hagerty, the Approved 10b5-1 plan must include a representation from the director or officer certifying
at the time of execution of the plan that (a) you are not aware of MNPI about Hagerty or its securities, and (b) you are adopting the plan
in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5;

• with respect to any purchase or sale under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan of a Board member or officer of Hagerty, the broker completing the
transactions on behalf of the Board member or officer must submit duplicate confirmations of all transactions under the plan to the
Compliance Officer; and

• Hagerty retains the right to require the inclusion of additional provisions in Approved 10b5-1 Plans either before or after the initial
approval of any Approved 10b5-1 Plan.

Trades made under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan act as exceptions to the prohibition in this Policy against trading during a Blackout Period.

The Compliance Officer will record the date each request is received and the date and time each request is approved or disapproved. In the
event the Compliance Officer approves a sale by a Pre-Clearance Person outside of an Approved 10b5-1 Plan, an approval will generally
remain valid until the close of trading two business days after the day it was granted, unless it is revoked earlier by the Compliance Officer. If
the transaction does not occur during the two-day period, pre-clearance must be requested again.

2) Prohibited Transactions. Pre-Clearance Persons, including anyone else who lives in a Pre-Clearance Person’s household whether they are a
family member or not, and anyone whose securities transactions are directed by a Pre-Clearance Person are prohibited from engaging in the
following transactions in the Company’s Securities:

c. Short-term trading/Opposite Way Trade Rule. Pre-Clearance Persons are prohibited from selling Hagerty securities within six months of a
purchase, or purchasing Hagerty securities within six months of a sale (i.e. opposite way trades are prohibited within six months of each
other);

d. Short sales. Pre-Clearance Persons may not sell the Company securities short;
e. Options trading. Pre-Clearance Persons may not purchase or sell puts or calls or other derivative securities on the Company’s securities;
f. Trading on margin. Pre-Clearance Persons may not hold Company securities in a margin account;



g. Hedging. Pre-Clearance Persons may not enter into a hedging or monetization transaction or similar arrangement with respect to Company
securities; and

h. Pledging. Pre-Clearance Persons may not pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan unless both the Compliance Officer and the
Board provide written approval.

3) Pre-Transaction Notification & Form 144 Reports. Members of the Board and certain officers are required to file a Form 144 before making
an open market sale of Hagerty securities. Form 144 notifies the SEC of an individual’s intent to sell Hagerty securities. Although often
prepared and filed by a broker, this form and its timely filing is each individual’s personal responsibility and is in addition to the Section 16
reports filed by Hagerty. If a Pre-Clearance Person is required to make a Form 144 filing they must inform the Compliance Officer at least two
business days before the Form 144 is required to be filed.

4) Post-Transaction Notification. Because Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that certain transactions by members of the Board and
certain officers of Hagerty be reported on Form 4s filed within two business days following the date of the transaction, Hagerty requires
immediate notification of sufficient details of any transaction to allow time to prepare and file the required reports within the two-business-day
deadline. Hagerty requires a day to prepare the Form 4 and a day to file the form with the SEC, so all members of the Board and officers
subject to the filing requirements of Section 16(a) must report the details of any transaction in Hagerty’s securities to the Compliance Officer or
his/her designee at least by the close of business of the date the transaction occurred. This includes all purchases, sales, and transfers by gift
or otherwise, trades pursuant to Approved 10b5-1 Plans, and option exercises, as well as those by your family members who reside with you,
anyone else who lives in your household, and family members who do not live in your household but whose securities transactions are directed
by you or are subject to your influence or control, as well as trusts or other entities for which you make investment decisions.

5) Use of Knowledgeable Stockbroker. With the exception of members of the Board, all Pre-Clearance Persons are required to use the Hagerty
“Designated Stockbroker” to effect all transactions in Hagerty’s securities. The Designated Stockbroker works with the Company’s equity plan
administrator to facilitate the Company’s equity plans. Members of the Board are encouraged to select one stockbroker to effect all transactions
in Hagerty’s securities and identify that stockbroker to the Compliance Officer, and that broker should become familiar with this Policy and the
restrictions that apply to his or her transactions in Hagerty securities. Brokers have no legal responsibility for applicable pre-clearance
obligations, Section 16 filings, or short-swing profit rule violations, so the best protection will always come from your own awareness of the
requirements of this Policy.

6. Inquiries

If you have any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please reach out to askemployeestock@hagerty.com and someone will assist
you in getting your questions answered. If you receive any inquiries from the press or media, please reach out to press@hagerty.com.



7. Acknowledgement and Certification

All Covered Persons are required to provide an acknowledgement and certification that they have read, understand, and agree to comply
with Hagerty’s Insider Trading Policy and that failure to abide by the requirements of the insider trading rules and the Policy could subject them to
legal penalties and Company-imposed penalties, up to and including termination of employment.



Appendix A

The following persons (or persons holding the offices/positions) below are “Pre-Clearance Persons” for purposed of this Policy:

• Members of the Board of Directors
• Chief Executive Officer
• All Direct Reports to the CEO, including Executive Assistants of these individuals
• Executive Officers of the Company identified in the Company’s most recent Proxy Statement
• SVP of Insurance Operations
• SVP of Brand
• VP of Transformation Management
• Investor Relations Leader
• Members of the Company’s Disclosure Committee
• Legal and Compliance employees as specified by the Chief Legal Officer
• Finance and Accounting employees as specified by the Chief Financial Officer
• Additional employees specified by the Chief Legal Officer
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Name
State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation Doing Business As

The Hagerty Group, LLC  Delaware

Hagerty Asset Management, LLC  Michigan   

Hagerty International Holdings Limited  United Kingdom   

Classic Car Analytics GMBH  Germany   

Hagerty International Limited  United Kingdom   

Hagerty Enthusiast Limited  United Kingdom   

Hagerty Insurance Agency, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Canada, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Classic Marine Insurance Agency, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Driveshare, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Motorsports, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Drivers Club, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Drivers Club Canada, LLC  Delaware   

Historic Vehicle Association, LLC  Delaware   

Historic Vehicle Association Canada, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Media Properties, LLC  Michigan  Hagerty Magazine

Hagerty Classic Analytics, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Insurance Holdings Inc  Delaware   

Hagerty Reinsurance Limited  Bermuda   

Hagerty Management, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Wellness Center, LLC  Michigan   

Cavallino Café, LLC  Michigan   

Hagerty Ventures, LLC  Delaware   

Hagerty Events, LLC  Delaware  
Concours of America, Madison Avenue Sports Car Driving and
Chowder Society, Greenwich Concours D'Elegance, California Mille

Member Hubs Holdings, LLC  Delaware   

Member Hubs Hospitality LLC  Delaware  Hagerty Garage + Social

Member Hubs Miami, LLC  Delaware  Hagerty Garage + Social

Hagerty Garage and Social Services, LLC  Delaware   

Member Hubs Canada ULC  Canada  Hagerty Garage + Social

Member Hubs Savannah, LLC Delaware Hagerty Garage + Social

Member Hubs Haskell, LLC Delaware Hagerty Garage + Social

Speed Digital, LLC North Carolina

Hagerty Radwood, Inc. Delaware

Broad Arrow Group, Inc. Delaware

1000022443 Ontario Inc. Canada   

Broad Arrow Auctions LLC Michigan

Broad Arrow Capital Europe Limited United Kingdom

Broad Arrow Capital LLC Michigan Broad Arrow Group

Broad Arrow Licenses, LLC Michigan Broad Arrow Group, Broad Arrow Auctions

Broad Arrow Private Sales, LLC Michigan Hagerty Marketplace
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Broad Arrow Group UK Limited United Kingdom

Broad Arrow Capital UK Limited United Kingdom

Broad Arrow Capital FP Limited United Kingdom

Broad Arrow Capital Financial Trust Delaware

BAC Funding 2023-1, LLC Delaware

BAC Funding UK Limited United Kingdom

Broad Arrow Deutschland GmbH Germany
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EXHIBIT 23.1 - CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-274046 on Form S-3 of our report dated March 12, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedules of Hagerty, Inc. appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Detroit, Michigan
March 12, 2024
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, McKeel O Hagerty, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Hagerty, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; and

b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and

c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
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5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2024
By: /s/ McKeel O Hagerty

McKeel O Hagerty
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Patrick McClymont, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Hagerty, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; and

b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and

c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
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5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2024
By: /s/ Patrick McClymont

Patrick McClymont
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, McKeel O Hagerty, Chief Executive Officer of
Hagerty, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, that, to my knowledge:

1.    The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and
for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 12, 2024
By: /s/ McKeel O Hagerty

McKeel O Hagerty
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Patrick McClymont, Chief Financial Officer of
Hagerty, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, that, to my knowledge:

1.    The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and
for the period covered by the Report.

Date: March 12, 2024
By: /s/ Patrick McClymont

Patrick McClymont
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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HAGERTY, INC.
POLICY FOR RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED INCENTIVE COMPENSATION

(Adopted Nov 16, 2023)

1.     INTRODUCTION

Hagerty, Inc. (the “Company”) is adopting this policy (this “Policy”) to provide for the Company’s recovery of certain Incentive Compensation (as defined
below) erroneously awarded to Affected Officers (as defined below) under certain circumstances.

This Policy is administered by the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). The Committee shall
have full and final authority to make any and all determinations required or permitted under this Policy. Any determination by the Committee with respect to this
Policy shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties. The Board may amend or terminate this Policy at any time.

This Policy is intended to comply with Section 10D of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 10D-1
thereunder and the applicable rules of any national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed (the “Exchange”) and will be interpreted
and administered consistent with that intent.

2.     EFFECTIVE DATE

This Policy shall apply to all Incentive Compensation that is received or deemed received (as described in Section 4) by an Affected Officer on or after
October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”).

3.     DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this Policy, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

“Affected Officer” means any current or former Section 16 Officer designated by the Board and any other senior executives as determined by the
Committee.

“Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of Incentive Compensation received that exceeds the amount of Incentive Compensation
that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based on the Restatement, computed without regard to any taxes paid. In the case of Incentive
Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical
recalculation directly from the information in the Restatement, the amount shall reflect a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock price
or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive Compensation was received, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Committee may
determine the form and amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in its sole discretion. The Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of
that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the Exchange in accordance with its listing standards.

“Financial Reporting Measure” means any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing
the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures, whether or not such measure is presented within
the financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Stock price and total shareholder return are Financial Reporting
Measures.

“Incentive Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based in whole or in part on the attainment of a Financial
Reporting Measure. For purposes of clarity, base salaries, bonuses or equity awards paid solely upon satisfying one or more subjective standard(s),



strategic or operational measures, or continued employment are not considered Incentive Compensation, unless such awards were granted, paid or vested
based in part on a Financial Reporting Measure.

“Restatement” means an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the
securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously
issued financial statements (i.e., a “Big R” restatement), or that would result in a material misstatement if the error was corrected in the current period or left
uncorrected in the current period (i.e., a “little r” restatement).

4.    RECOVERY

If the Company is required to prepare a Restatement, the Company shall seek to recover and claw back from any Affected Officer reasonably promptly
the Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is received by the Affected Officer:

(1) after the person begins service as an Affected Officer;

(2) who serves as an Affected Officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive Compensation;

(3) while the Company has a class of securities listed on the Exchange; and

(4) during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the Company was required to prepare the Restatement
(including any transition period within or immediately following those years that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year, provided that a
transition period of nine to 12 months will be deemed to be a completed fiscal year). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the three-year period shall not
include fiscal years completed prior to the Effective Date

If, after the release of earnings for any period for which a Restatement subsequently occurs and prior to the announcement of the Restatement for such
period, the Affected Officer sold any securities constituting, or any securities issuable on exercise, settlement or exchange of any equity award constituting,
Incentive Compensation, the excess of (a) the actual aggregate sales proceeds from the Affected Officer’s sale of those shares, over (b) the aggregate sales
proceeds the Affected Officer would have received from the sale of those shares at a price per share determined appropriate by the Committee in its discretion
to reflect what the Company’s common stock price would have been if the Restatement had occurred prior to such sales, shall be deemed to be Erroneously
Awarded Compensation; provided, however, that the aggregate sales proceeds determined by the Committee under this clause (b) with respect to shares
acquired upon exercise of an option shall not be less than the aggregate exercise price paid for those shares.

For purposes of this Policy:

• Erroneously Awarded Compensation is deemed to be received in the Company’s fiscal year during which the Financial Reporting Measure
specified in the Incentive Compensation is attained, even if the payment or grant of the Incentive Compensation occurs after the end of that
period; and

• the date the Company is required to prepare a Restatement is the earlier of (x) the date the Board, the Committee or any officer of the Company
authorized to take such action concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare the Restatement, or (y)
the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare the Restatement.

For purposes of clarity, in no event shall the Company be required to award any Affected Officers an additional payment or other compensation if the
Restatement would have resulted in the grant,
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payment or vesting of Incentive Compensation that is greater than the Incentive Compensation actually received by the Affected Officer. The recovery of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not dependent on if or when the Re statement is filed.

5.    SOURCES OF RECOUPMENT

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Committee may, in its discretion, seek recoupment from the Affected Officer(s) through any means it
determines, which may include any of the following sources: (i) prior Incentive Compensation payments; (ii) future payments of Incentive Compensation;
(iii) cancellation of outstanding Incentive Compensation; (iv) direct repayment; and (v) non-Incentive Compensation or securities held by the Affected Officer. To
the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company may offset such amount against any compensation or other amounts owed by the Company to the Affected
Officer.

6.    LIMITED EXCEPTIONS TO RECOVERY

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee, in its discretion, may choose to forgo recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation under the following
circumstances, provided that the Committee (or a majority of the independent members of the Board) has made a determination that recovery would be
impracticable because:

(i)    The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the recoverable amounts; provided that the Company has
made a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, has documented such attempt and has (to the extent required)
provided that documentation to the Exchange;

(ii)    Recovery would violate home country law where the law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, and the Company provides an opinion of home
country counsel to that effect to the Exchange that is acceptable to the Exchange; or

(iii)    Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan to fail to meet the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended.

7.    NO INDEMNIFICATION OR INSURANCE

The Company will not indemnify, insure or otherwise reimburse any Affected Officer against the recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation.

8.    NO IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER REMEDIES

This Policy does not preclude the Company from taking any other action to enforce an Affected Officer’s obligations to the Company, including
termination of employment, institution of civil proceedings, or reporting of any misconduct to appropriate government authorities. This Policy is in addition to the
requirements of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that are applicable to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and to
any other compensation recoupment policy and/or similar provisions in any employment, equity plan, equity award, or other individual agreement, to which the
Company and Affected Officer are parties or to which the Company has adopted or may adopt and maintain from time to time.

9.    REQUIRED FILINGS

The Company shall make any disclosures and filings with respect to this Policy that are required by law, including as required by the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
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